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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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CITIGROUP REVENUES AND NET INCOME—SEGMENT AND PRODUCT VIEW
{in millions of dollars)

Revenues Net Income

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change
GLOBAL CONSUMER
U.S. Cards $13,418 $13,508 (1%) $2,873 $3.890 (26%)
U.S. Retail Distribution 10,209 9,584 7% 1,343 2,027 (34%)
U.S. Consumer Lending 6,459 5,519 7% (626) 1912 NM
U.S, Commercial Business 1,649 1,983 (17%) 518 561 (8%])
Total U.S. Consumer §31,735 $30,594 49 $4,108 $8,390 (51%)
International Cards $9.228 $5,959 55% $2,013 $1137 77%
Internationatl Consumer Finance 3,182 3,318 (4%) (508) 40 NM
International Retail Banking 12,878 10,518 22% 2,688 2,840 (5%)
Total International Consumer $25,288 $19,795 28% $4,193 $4,017 4%
Other {39) (90} 57% {433) (35H {23%)
Total Global Consumer $56,984 $50,299 13% $7,868 $12,056 (35%}
MARKETS & BANKING
Securities and Banking $2,684 $21,218 (87%) (5$7.604) 55763 NM
Transaction Services 7.840 5971 3% 2,215 1,426 55%
Other {2) (2} - 136 (62) NM
Total Markets & Banking $10,522 $27,187 {61%) ($5,253) $7127 NM
GLOBAL WEALTH MANAGEMENT
Smith Barney $10,529 $8,160 29% $1,351 $1.005 34%
Private Bank 2,457 2,017 22% 623 439 42%
Total Global Wealth Management $12,986 $10,177 28% $1,974 $1,444 I
ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS $2,103 52,901 (28%) $672 $1,276 (47%)
CORPORATE/OTHER (5897 (5949 5% {$1,644} {$654) NM
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS $3,617 $21,249 (B83%)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS - 289 -
TOTAL CITI $81,698 £89,615 (9%) $3,617 $21,538 (83%)
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE $0.72 $4.25 (83%)
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
INTERNATIOMNAL RESULTS $43,980 §38,211 15% 47,035 §%,169 {23%)

NM—Not Meaningful




DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS,

It is with a great sense of honor and pride that | address my
first letter to you.

2007 was a year marked by both great successes and
significant disappointments. Many of our large businesses,
including International Consumer, Global Wealth Management,
Global Transaction Services, and our franchises in Asia and
Latin America, generated record results and strong momentum,
These firm-wide successes were overshadowed, however, by
unprecedented losses resulting from the sudden and severe
deterioration in the U.S. sub-prime market. These losses,
combined with higher credit costs in the U.S. Consumer
portfolio, drove a sharp decline in earnings. Our overall results
for 2007 were clearly unacceptable to us all.

But 2008 is a new year, and | hope that after reading this letter
you will share my excitement about our businesses. In my first
few months as CEQ, we have taken decisive action on a number
of issues. Qur actions will leverage Citi's footprint and many
fundamental strengths, and enhance the company’s ability to
generate sustainable, long-term growth in earnings.

STRENGTHENING OUR BALANCE SHEET

Since November we have raised more than $30 billion of new
capital through public and private offerings to long-term
investors. The success of these transactions speaks to the
underlying strength of our franchise and the growth
opportunities before us. Having raised this capital, we are well
positioned to endure a potential economic slowdown and stand
firmly by our clients in these volatile markets.

RESETTING OUR DIVIDEND

In January 2008, the company lowered the dividend to $0.32.
This was a very difficult but necessary decision. We realize its
significance for many of you, particularly in these tough market
conditions. Nonetheless, this new dividend level will allow us to
reinvest in growth and at the same time ensure Citi is properly
positioned for both favorable and unfavorable economic conditions.

REVIEWING OUR BUSINESSES

With our capital base strengthened, we have been conducting
an objective review of every one of our businesses to ensure
that the company is well positioned in light of new global
trends. | am keenly aware of the need to distinguish between
our strong operating assets and those that are lower-returning.
Our lower-returning assets need to be astutely managed as
they mature and wind down, and we are doing just that.

Citi's strong operating businesses will fuel our future earnings
power. We are fortunate to have businesses that are specifically
positioned to capture trends in global growth. With capital flows
around the world rising rapidly and sizable new wealth being
created in developing markets, the need for financial products
and services is growing at a multiple of economic growth. Citi
sits squarely in the middle of these trends.

For example, our institutional businesses, such as Global
Transaction Services, have benefitted from the dramatic rise in
the number and influence of multinational corporations as well
as from the enormous growth in trade flows, Furthermore, our
Securities and Banking business is preeminently positioned to
take advantage of increasing foreign exchange, emerging
markets, and cross-border capital flows the world over.

Our consumer-related operations are capturing the gains from
the rising affluence of a new middle class in emerging
countries. As people begin to be able to purchase more goods,
they need dependable credit and payment vehicles and our
credit card business is serving such customers around the
world. For the developed and emerging markets’ booming
affluent communities, which may be new to financial decisions,
Citi Private Bank and Smith Barney, as well as our CitiGold
offering, are helping clients to simplify and manage their assets
and liabilities.

Each business is firmly situated on a highway of vast global

and cross-border flows, in large part due to our long presence =
more than 100 years each - in countries such as Mexico, India,
Poland, and China; we were also early among international
banks in establishing a local bank in Russia, in 1994, Part of
Citi's strength lies in its ability to bring its global reach together
with its local depth.

OUR PRIORITIES

| am sharply focused on excellence in productivity, efficient use
of capital, operating excellence, and making sure the right
people are in the right place. Let me elaborate:

0 Capital allocation. This is my top priority, and I am
aggressively building a new risk culture at Citi. We have
named a new Chief Risk Officer and | will stay actively
involved in strengthening and reshaping our risk philosophy
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and strategy. My goal is to have the best risk management in
the business, to transform it into a key competitive advantage
driving bottom-line results.

A key component of excellence in capital allocation is asset
productivity. We are eliminating low-return, nonstrategic
assets that do not support our growth strategy. During

the fourth guarter, we decreased assets by $176 billion, the
first time in six years that we saw a reduction in Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) assets on a continu-
ing operations basis. This strategy began in the third quarter;
since then we have reduced our positions in mortgage-backed
securities in the U.S. lending business, decreased low-
returning assets in our Markets & Banking business, divested
Nikko Cordial's Simplex Investment Advisors, and sold a
portion of our stake in Redecard.

We have also ensured that our subprime-related exposures
in Securities and Banking are being managed actively and
separately. As these assets mature or are sold, that capital
will be redirected to higher-return opportunities to drive
shareholder value in the future. We are applying the same
strategy in an ongoing way to segregate other low-returning
assets from those that will increase our earnings power.

Operations. Core to our priorities are strong expense
management and the ability to execute productively against
our plans. Chief Financial Officer Gary Crittenden is leading
our efforts in reengineering and expense management to
make Citi simpler, leaner, and more efficient. Reengineering
has been established as an ongoing process embedded in our
operating culture,

Client relationships. Citi has been serving clients since 1812,
Qur goal is to make financial matters better and easier for
them in every way that we can. The marketplace is becoming
ever more complex, a situation which encourages a deepening
interdependency between Citi and its clients. During our
business reviews | have found it incredibly gratifying to see the
depth of relationships that Citi enjoys around the world. The
company's rich and enduring history has enabled global
partnerships that remain strong over time, and we will continue
to augment and prize them as we go forward.

Technology. Key te deepening our client relationships will be
the benefits of emerging technology. As we respond quicker,
communicate more effectively, simplify transactions, and
innovate faster, we will be able to drive superior service to our
clients across the globe. The more we harness emerging
technologies, the easier it will be for our clients to work with
us. As our clients increasingly incorporate technology into their
financial routines, Citi will be positioned to capitalize on this by
building on our deep history of technological innovation.

Our longstanding presence in growing markets abroad has
atlowed us to build a huge repository of information. Our
innovations in technology let us better take advantage of our
size and scope. As Walter Wriston, the longtime chairrn\an of
Citicorp in the 1970s, said, “Information about money is as
important as money itself.” By sharing Insights and ideas
across borders, we create profitable synergies among our
business segments and ultimately drive down costs.

=]

Talent. The difference between success and failure in financial
services is the quality of the people who work with our
clients. Citi has the single largest pool of talent in the
financial services business. We must manage that talent even
more effectively by rewarding demonstrated performance
and by putting the right people in the right positions, | have
appointed a Chief Talent Officer who is mandated to find,
track, and deploy the best talent. Qur goal is to empower our
business leaders and create a more demanding performance-
management system to instill a meritacracy at every level, By
encouraging respect, teamwork, and a supportive culture that
drives excellence in performance, we want Citi to be the
financial services industry's employer of choice.

While we approach 2008 with tempered optimism, there are
global economic realities that we cannot ignore. As a worldwide
business, Citi's financial results are closely tied to the global
economic environment, and we see a risk of a U.S. and/or a
global downturn in 2008, My decisions and actions will
continue to be firmly rooted in accountability to you, our
owners, and we will continue to be candid about both our
successes and our sethacks.

Before closing, I'd like to thank the board members for their
support. They have been extraordinary in their dedication and
efforts to strengthen the company. The power of the Citi brand
is unparalleled in the world, and each of us is personally proud
to represent that brand every day. Although these are
challenging times in the financial markets, Citi is a strong
franchise unmatched in scale, expertise, or talent. | have been
inspired by the commitment of our people and the support
from our clients. | look forward to leading this great company
into the future.

Vikram Pandit
Chief Executive Officer, Citigroup Inc.




BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

U.5. CONSUMER

0 Average deposits and loans grew by 16% and 10%,
respectively. Revenues increased 6% for the fourth quarter
and 4% for the year, continuing the positive trend.

o CitiFinancial opened 110 branches in 2007, bringing its total
branch network to 2,499. CitiFinancial is the leading
community-based lender in the U.S., with the largest
distribution network of any consumer finance business in
North America.

o Citi Cards significantly grew new accounts through affiliate
channels, partners, and online acquisitions while
transforming its customer experience with e-mail alerts
and award-winning color statements.

o CitiMortgage completed its acquisition and integration of
ABN Amro Holdings' U.S.-based mortgage group, which
included $9 billion In net assets and a $224 billion mortgage
servicing portfolio. CitiMortgage is the fourth-largest
originator and the No. 3 servicer of residential mortgage
loans, accerding to Inside Mortgage Finance.

0 Forrester Research in November named Citibank.com the
No. 1U.S. online banking site, saying Citibank “has the
strongest overall site” among the largest U.S. banks,

INTERNATIONAL CONSUMER

D Average loans and deposits grew by 25% and 15%, respectively.
Investment sales rose 20%. Revenues increased 45% for the
fourth quarter and 28% for the year, driven primarily by organic
volume growth and the impact of recent acquisitions.

o Citi continued to grow market share in key growth countries,
with a 21% increase of 6 million card accounts, 12% increase
of 6 million retail banking accounts, and the opening or
acquisition of 510 new branches in 2007.

O Acquisitions helped spur growth of revenues and our
international client base. Citi acquired the Bank of Overseas
Chinese, expanding Citi's network by 55 branches in Taiwan.
Citi completed the acquisition of Grupo Financiero Uno and
Grupo Cuscatlan in Central America. The company also
established a strategic partnership with Quifienco through
which Citi operations in Chile will be combined with Banco de
Chile, the second-largest bank in Chile, These deals added
258 new branches, 3 million new retail accounts, and
4.2 million new card accounts internationally.

GLOBAL WEALTH MANAGEMENT

o Client assets under fee-based management rose by 27% to
$507 billion. Gains in Citi Private Bank as well as Citi Smith
Barney combined to boost total Global Wealth Management
revenues by 28% and net income by 37%.

O GWM's international revenues and net income maore
than doubled, leveraging market share gains in Asia,
Latin America, and the Middle East.

o GWM added 2.3 million new client accounts and 1,487
new Financial Advisors through Citi's acquisition of Nikko
Cordial Corporation.

o {4.S. Banker magazine named GWM “Top Wealth Management
Team," and Citi Private Bank earned the title of “Qverall Best
Global Private Bank” from AsiaMoney magazine for the third
straight year.

CITI ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS

o CAl client capital under management grew by 26% across its
diverse product line mainly from inflows from institutional
and high-net-worth clients and the acquisition of Old Lane.

o CAl made several key acquisitions and strengthened its
management team in its effort to create a world-class
alternatives platform characterized by outstanding investment
management, client service, and innovative products.

CITI MARKETS AND BANKING

o 2007 was a record year in Asia and Latin America. In Asia,
revenues and net income increased, up 38% and 56%,
respectively. In Latin America, revenues grew 60% and net
income grew 70%.

o Citi advised on seven of the world's ten largest announced
mergers and acquisitions deals for 2007.

o Citi was the leading debt and equity underwriter globally for
the sixth straight year.

0 |n Japan, Citi took a 49% joint venture position with Nikko
Cordial Corporation, a leading Japanese securities firm, to
100% ownership in early January 2008.

o Global Transaction Services reached record revenues of
$7.8 billion, up 31%, net income was $2.2 billion, up 55%, and
the business won more than 450 industry awards.

o Revenue in Equity Markets rose 24%, reflecting high equity
valuations, robust turnover and increased market share.
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THE COMPANY

Citigroup Inc. (Citigroup and, together with its subsidiaries, the Company)
is a global diversified financial services holding company whose businesses
provide a broad range of financial services to consumer and corporate
customers. Citigroup has more than 200 million customer accounts and
does business in more than 100 countries. Citigroup was incorporated in

" 1988 under the laws of the State of Delaware.

The Company is a bank holding company within the meaning of the
U.S. Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 registered with, and subject to
examination by, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
(FRB). Some of the Company'’s subsidiaries are subject to supervision and
examination by their respective federal and state authorities. At
Decemnber 31, 2007, the Company had approximately 147,000 full-time and
13,000 part-time employees in the United States and approximately 227,000
full-time employees outside the United States. The Company has completed

certain strategic business acquisitions and divestitures during the past

three years, details of which can be found in Notes 2 and 3 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 122 and 125, respectively.
The principal executive offices of the Company are located at 399 Park

.Avenue, New York, New York 10043, telephone number 212 559 1000.

Additional information about Citigroup is available on the Company’s Web
site at www.citigroup.com. Citigroup’s annual report on Form 10-K, its
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, its current reports on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to these reports are available free of charge through the
Company’s Web site by clicking on the “Tnvestor Relations” page and
selecting “All SEC Filings." The Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) Web site contains reports, proxy and information statements, and
other information regarding the Company al www sec.gov.

Citigroup is managed along the following segment and product lines:

CITIGROUP SEGMENTS AND PRODUCTS

Global Citi Global Wealth Citi
Consumer Markets & Management Alternative Cogpt?_lreartel
Group Banking (CMB) (GWM) Investments (CAI)
] » Securlties and ¢ Smith Barney ~Private equity —Treasury
Banking —Advisory —Hedge funds —Operations and
(S&B) ~Financial planning —Real esiate technology
u.s. International ~Investment ~Brokerage ~Structured products ~Corporate expenses
* Cards  Cards banking « Private Bank —Managed futures ~D|sconpnued
~MasterCard, VISA, ~MasterCard, VISA, ~Debt and equity ~Wealth operations
Diners Club, private Diners Club and _ markes management
label and Amex private label g services
« Consumer Lending « Consumer Flnance | * Transaction * Citigroup
—Real estate lending ~Real esiate lending Services Investment
—Student lozns —Personal loans —Cash management Research
—Auto loans —uto loans :‘(E:'rade semﬁ i —Equity and fixed
e Retail Distribution e Retail Banking uszpdy andtun income rescarch
—Citihank branches ~Retail bank branches _éﬁ;lgis services
~{itiFinancial ~Small and middle _Agmm,%m[
branches market cornmercial seTvices
~Primerica banking
Financlal Services —Iavestment services
¢ Commercial —Retirernent services
Business —Real estate lending
—$mall and middle —Personal loans
market commercial —Sales finance
banking

The following are the six regions in which Citigroup operates. The regional results are fully reflected in the product results.

CITIGROUP REGIONS

Europe,
United States” : Middle East &
sy Mexico Africa

(EMEA)

Japan

Asia
{excl. Japan)

Latin America

(1) Disclosure includes Canada and Puerta Rica.




FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA Cuigroup Inc. and Subsickiarics

in millions of dollars, except per Share amounts 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Revenues, net of interest expense $ 81698 & BI9615 $ 83642 $ 79635 $ 71,504
Operating expenses 61,488 52,021 45,163 49,782 37,500
Provisions for credit losses and for benefits and claims 18,509 7,955 9,046 7117 8,924
Income from continuing operations before taxes, minority

interest, and cumulative effect of accounting change $ 1,700 § 29639 $ 29433 § 2273 § 25170
Provision {enefits) for income taxes {2,201} 8,101 3,078 6,464 7838
Minority interest, net of taxes 285 289 549 218 274
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of

accounting change $ 3617 ¢$ 21249 $ 19806 $ 16054 § 17,058
Income from discantinued operations, net of taxes — 289 4,832 992 795
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes @ _— — 49 -— —
Net income $ 3617 § 21538 $ 24589 § 17046 § 17,853
Eamings per share
Basic:
Income from continuing cperations $ 073 § 433§ 390 &% 313 % 334
Net income 0.73 4,39 4.84 332 349
Diluted:
Income from continuing cperations 072 4.25 382 3.07 3.27
Net income 0.72 431 475 3.26 3.42
Dividends declared per common share 216 1.96 1.76 1.60 3.0
At December 31
Total assets $2,187,631  $1.884,318  $1,494037  $1,484101  $1,264,032
Total deposits 826,230 712,041 hgt. 828 561,513 473614
Long-term debt 427,112 288,494 217,499 207,910 162,702
Mandatorily redeemable securities of subsidiary trusts ® 23,594 9,579 6,264 6,209 8,057
Common stockholders' equity 113,598 118,783 111,412 108,166 96,889
Total stockholders' equity 113,598 119,783 112,537 109,291 98,014
Ratios:
Return on common stockholders' equity # 2.9% 18.8% 22.3% 17.0% 19.8%
Return on total stockholders' equity 3.0 18.6 22.2 16.8 19.6
Tier 1 Capital 7.12% 8.58 8.79 8.74 8.9
Total Capital 10.70 11.65 12.02 11.85 12.04
Leverage & 4.03 5.16 5.35 5.20 5.56
Common stockhotders equity to assets 5.19% 6.30% 7.46% 7.20% T87%
Total stockhofders' equity to assets 5.19 6.36 7.53 7.36 7.75
Dividend payout ratio © 300.0 455 3ra 491 322
Book value per common share $ 274 § 2418 $§ 2237 $ 208 $ 1879
Ratio of earnings ta fixed charges and preferred stock dividends 1.02x 151 1.79x 2.00x 241

{7) Discontinuec operations for 2003 to 2006 include the operations and associated gain on sale of substantiatly all of its Asset Management business. The majority of the sale closed on December 1, 2005. Discontinyed
operations from 2003 to 2006 also include the operations and associated gain on sale of Citigroup's Travelers Life & Annuity, substantially all of Citigroup's interational insurance business and Citigroup's Argenting
pension business to MetLife Inc. The sale clased on July 1, 2005. See Noie 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 125.

(2) Accounting change of ${4} million in 2005 represents the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation ol
SFAS No. 143, HIN 47"

(3) During 2004, the Company deconsalidated the subsidiary issuer trusts in accordance with FIN 46-R. For requiatory capital purposes, thesa trust securities remiain a component of Tier 1 Capital, See “Capital Resources
and Liquidity™ on page 75.

(4) The return on average commen stockholders” equity is calculated wsing niet income less preferred stock dividends divided by average common stockhokders' egusty. The retum on i0iat stockholders’ equily is calculated
using et incoma divided by average siockhotders' equity.

(5) Tier 1 Capital divided by adjusted average assets,
{6) Dividends ceclared per common shars as a percentage of net income per diluted share.

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including, but not expeclations and are subject to uncertainty and changes in circumstances,
limited to, statements made in “Management's Discussion and Analysis,” Actual results may differ materially from those included in these statements
particularly in the “Outlook” sections, are “forward-locking statements” due to a variety of factors including, but not limited to, those described under
within the meaning of the Private Securitles Litigation Reform Act of 1995, “Risk Factors” on page 38.

These statements are based on management’s current




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2007 IN SUMMARY

There were 2 number of highlights in 2007, including record performance of
our lnternational Consumer, Global Wealth Management and Transaction
Services business segments.

These positives, however, were offset by disappointing results in our
Markets & Banking business, which was significantly affected by write-downs
related to direct subprime exposures, including CDOs, leveraged lending, and
by significantly higher credit costs in our U.S. Consumer business. In 2007,
Citigroup eamed $3.6 billion from continuing operations on revenues of
$81.7 billion. Income and EPS were both down 83% from 2006 levels.

Customer volume growth was strong, with average loans up 17%, average
deposits up 20% and average interest-eaming assets up 29% from year-ago
levels. International Cards purchase sales were up 37%, while U.S. Cards
sales were up 8%. In Global Wealth Management, client assets under
fee-based management were up 27%. Branch activity included the opening
or acquisition of 712 new branches during 2007 {510 internationally and
202 in the U.5.). We also completed several strategic acquisitions or
invesiments (including Nikko Cordial, Egg, Quilter, GFU, Grupo Cuscatlan,
ATD, and Akbank), which were designed to strengthen our lranchises.

Revenues of $81.7 billion decreased 9% from 2006, primarily driven by
significantly lower revenues in CMB due to write-downs related to subprime
CDOs and leveraged lending. Revenues outside of CMB grew 14%. Our
international operations recorded revenue growth of 15% in 2007, including
2 28% increase in International Consumer and a $1.8 billion increase in
International GWM, partially offset by a 9% decrease in International CMB.

Net interest revenue grew 19% from 2006, reflecting volume increases
across all products. Net interest margin in 2007 was 2.45%, down 21 basis
points from 2006, as higher funding costs exceeded the Company’s actions to
better manage interest earning assels and reduce low-yielding asset balances,
and increased ownership in Nikko Cordial (see the discussion of net interest
margin on page 70). Non-interest revenue decreased 31% from 2006,
primarily reflecting subprime write-downs. Securities and Banking finished
the year ranked #1 in equity underwriting and #2 in completed mergers and
acquisitions activity.

Operating expenses increased 18% from the previous year primarily
driven by the impact of acquisitions, increased business volumes, charges
related to the structural expense initiative and the impact of foreign
exchange.

Qur equity capital base and trust preferred securities grew to $137.2
billion at December 31, 2007. Stockholders’ equity decreased by $6.2 billion
during 2007 to $113.6 billion, which included the distribution of
$10.7 billion in dividends to common shareholders. Citigroup maintained its
“well-capitalized” position with a Tier 1 Capital Ratio of 7.12% at
Decemnber 31, 2007. Return on common equity was 2.9% for 2007,

During December 2007 and January 2008 we raised over §30 billion to
strengthen our capital base. See page 75 for a discussion of our pro forma
year-end capital ratios.

On January 14, 2008, the Board decreased the quarterly dividend on the
Company's common stock to $0.32 per share. This new dividend level will
allow the Company to reinvest in growth opportunities and properly position
the Company for both favorable and unfavorable economic conditions.

Credit costs increased $10.6 billion from vear-ago levels, driven by an
increase in NCLs of $3.1 billion and a net charge of $7.5 billion to build loan
loss reserves.

1.8, Consumer credit costs increased $7.1 billion from year-ago levels,
driven by 2 change in estimate of loan losses, increased NCLs and net builds
10 loan loss reserves. The increases were due to a weakening in credit
indicators and sharply higher delinquencies on first and second mortgages
related to the deterioration in the U.S. housing market. The NCL ratio
increased 27 basis points to 1.46%.

International Consumer credit costs increased $2.3 billion, reflecting a
change in estimate of loan losses, along with volume growth and credit
weakness in certain countries, the impact of recent acquisitions, and the
increase of NCLs in Japan Consumer Finance due to grey zone issues.

Markets & Banking credit costs increased $1.0 billion, driven by higher
NCLs associated with subprime-related direct exposures. Corporaie cash-basis
loans increased $1.2 billion from year-ago levels to §1.8 billion.

The Company recorded an income tax benefit for 2007, resulting from the
significant amount of consolidated pretax losses in the Company's S68 and
U.S. Consumer Lending businesses and the tax benefits of permanent
differences.

On November 4, 2007, Charles Prince, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, elected to retire from Citigroup. Robert Rubin served as Chairman
between November 4 and December 11, On December 11, 2007, the Board
appointed Vikram Pandit as CEO and Sir Win Bischoff as Chairman.




OUTLOOK FOR 2008

We enter the challenging environment of 2008 after a disappointing 2007.
We are focused on establishing stability for our Company and developing
cpportunities for enduring growth. We have a stronger capital structure in
place and are working to establish a mix of assets and businesses that
maximize returns to shareholders.

Business Reviews

We are currently conducting business reviews through all of our franchises.
The possible outcomes from these reviews include the focus on establishing
stability for our Company; repositioning of low-refurn, nen-strategic assets
that do not support our growth strategy; redirection of capital to higher-
returm apportunities to drive shareholder value in the future; and
streamlining certain businesses.

Our Goals in 2008

* Our main goal is capital allocation excellence and we are agpressively
building a new risk management culture. Our goal is to have the best risk
management in the industry, transforming it into 2 key competitive
advantage that will drive bottom-line results.

= Strong expense management and the ability to execute productively
against our plans are core to our priorities. Qur re-engineering and
expense management program is designed to make Citigroup more
efficient.

* Another priority is to make financial matters better and easier for our
clients in every way that we can. Financial markets are becoming more
and more complex, encouraging a deepening interdependency between
Citigroup and our clienis.

+ We intend 10 leverage the benefits of emerging technology to respond
more quickly, communicate more effectively, simplify transactions, and
innovate faster, thus serving our global clients better.

* We are focused on managing our talent more effectively by rewarding
demonstrated performance and by putting the right people in the right
positions.

Economic Environment

As aworldwide business, Citigroup's financial results are closely tied to the
global economic environment. There is a risk of a US. and/for global
downturn in 2008. A U.5-led economic downturn could negatively impact
other markets and economies around the world and could restrict the
Company's growth opportunities internationally. Should economic
conditions further deteriorate, the Company could see revenue reductions
across its businesses and increased costs of credit. In addition, continuing
deterioration of the U.S. or global rea] estate markets could adversely impact
the Company’s revenues, including additional write-downs of subprime and
other exposures, additional write-downs of leveraged loan commitments and
cost of credit, including increased credit losses in mortgage-related and other
activities. Further adverse rating actions by credit rating agencies in respect
of structured credit products or other credit-related exposures, or of monoline
insurers could result in revenue reductions in those or similar securities. See
“Risk Factors” on page 38 for a further discussion of risks.

Credit Costs and Income Taxes

Credit costs in U.S. Consumer are expected to increase across most portfolios
hue to deterioration in the 11.8. housing markel, as well as higher levels of
unemployment and bankruptcy filings.

Credit costs are expected 10 increase across all international businesses as
their growing portfolios season or mature, and may be affected by economic
and eredit conditions in the U.S. and around the world,

The impact of changes to consumer lending laws enacted in 2006, as well
as deterforating consumer credit conditions will increase credit costs in the
Japan Consumer Finance business.

While corporate loan default rates are near historic lows, they are
projected to increase in 2008, Classified loan exposures are on a rising trend
and credit markets are difficult. These credit markets negatively affect a wide
range of products, including auction rate securities, credit default swaps and
the leveraged loan syndication market,

The 2008 effective tax rate is expected to return to 4 normalized rate
depending on pretax income levels and geographic mix of earnings.

A detailed review and outlook for each of our business segments are
included in the discussions that follow, and the risks are more fully discussed
on pages 38 1o 65.



Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2002 in Citigroup's

The following graph compares the cumulative total return on Citigroup’s common stock, the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Financial Index and that all
common stock with the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Financial Index over dividends were reinvested.

the five-year period extending through December 31, 2007. The graph
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EVENTS IN 2007

ITEMS IMPACTING THE SECURITIES AND BANKING
BUSINESS

Losses on Subprime-Related Direct Exposures

During the second half of 2007, the Company's Securities and Banking
(S&8) business recorded unrealized losses of $19.6 billion pretax, net of
hedges, on subprime-related direct exposures.

The Company’s remaining $37.3 billion in U.S. subprime net direct
exposure in $&8 at December 31, 2007 consisted of (a) approximately $3.0
billion of subprime-related exposures in its lending and structuring business
and (b) approximately $29.3 billion of net exposures to the super senior
tranches of collateralized debt obligations, which are collateralized by asset-
backed securities, derivatives on asset-backed securities or both. See
“Exposure to Real Estate” on page 48 for a further discussion.

Write-Downs on Highly Leveraged Loans and
Commitments

During the second half of 2007, Cittgroup recorded write-downs of
approximately $1.5 billion pretax, net of underwriting fees, on funded and
unfunded highly leveraged finance commitments in the $&8 business. Of
this amount, approximately $1.1 billion related to debt underwriting
activities and $381 million related to lending activities, Write-downs were
recotded on alt highly leveraged finance commitments where there was
value impairment, regardless of the expected funding date. See “Highly
Leveraged Funding Commitments” on page 96 for a further discussion,

CREDIT, RESTRUCTURING AND INCOME TAXES

Credit Reserves

During 2007, the Company recorded a net build of $7.1 billion to its credit
reserves, which included an increase in the allowance for unfunded lending
commitments of $150 million. The build consisted of $6.3 billion in Global
Consumer ($5.0 billion in U $. Consumer and $1.3 billion in Internationat
Consumer), $100 million in Global Wealth Management and $715 million
in Markets & Banking.

The $5.0 billion build in U.S. Consumer reflected a weakening of leading
credit indicators including delinquencies on first and second mortgages and
deterioration in the housing market (approximately $3.0 billion), a
downturn in other economic trends including unemployment and GDP, as
well a5 the impact of housing market deterioration, affecting all other
portfolios ($1.3 billion), and a change in the estimate of loan losses inherent
in the portfolio, but not vet visible in delinguency statistics (approximately
$700 million).

The $1.3 billion build in international Consumer included a change in
estimate of loan losses inherent in the portfolio but not yet visible in
delinguency statistics {approximately $600 million), along with volume
growth and credit deterioration in certain countries. With the exception of
Mexico, Japan and India, the International Consumer credit environment
remained generally stable,

The build of $715 million in Markets & Banking primarily reflected 4
slight weakening in overall portfolio credit quality, as well as loan loss
reserves for specific counterparties. The loan loss reserves for specific
counterparties include $327 million for subprime-related direct exposures.

During 2007, the Company changed its estimate of loan losses inherent in
the Global Consumer portfolio that were not yet visible in delinquency
statistics. The changes in estimate were accounted for prospectively in
accordance with FASB Statement No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections” (SFAS 154). For the quarter ended March 31, 2007, the change
in estimate decreased the Company’s pretax net income by approximately
$170 million, or $0.02 per diluted share, For the quarter ended June 30,
2007, the change in estimate decreased the Company's pretax net income by
$240 million, or $0.03 per diluted share. For the quarter ended
Septernber 30, 2007, the change in estimate decreased the Company's pretax
net income by approximately $900 million, or $0.11 per diluted share.

Structural Expense Review
Tn 2007, the Company completed a review of its structural expense base in 2
Company-wide effort to create a more streamlined organization, reduce
expense growth, and provide investment funds for future growth initiatives,
As a result of the review, a pretax restructuring charge of $1.4 billion
($871 million after-tax) was recorded in Corpotate/Other during the first
quarter of 2007. Additional charges of $200 million were recognized later in
2007. Separate from the restructuring charge, additional implementation
costs of approximately $100 million pretax were recorded throughout 2007,



Because these charges are a Company-wide initiative, they are reflected in
Corporate/Other.

See Note 10 on page 138 for additional information.

In addition, during 2007 several businesses took on their own
re-engineering initiatives to further reduce expenses beyond this Company-
wide review. These additional initiatives resulted in total repositioning
charges of $539 miltion pretax. These charges, which were incurred by
Markets & Banking for $438 million, Global Consumer for $25 million and
Global Wealth Management for $67 million, are included in each of these
business groups’ 2007 results.

Income Taxes

The Company recorded an income tax benefit for 2007. The effective tax rate
(benefit) of (129)% primarily resulted from the pretax losses in the
Company's $&8 and U.S. Consumer Lending businesses (the U.S. isa
higher tax jurisdiction). In addition, the tax benefits of permanent
differences, including the tax benefit for not providing U.S. income taxes on
the earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that are indefinitely invested,
favorably alfected the Company's effective tax rate.

The Gompany's effective tax rate on continuing operations of 27.3% in
2006 included 2 $598 million benefit from the resolution of the Federal Tax
Audit and a $237 million benefit from the resolution of the New York Tax
Audits,

CAI'S STRUCTURED INVESTMENT VEHICLES (51Vs)

On December 13, 2007, Citigroup announced its decision to commit, not
legally required, to provide a support facility that would resolve uncertainties
regarding senior debt repayment facing the Citi-advised Structured
Investment Vehicles (SI¥s). As a result of the Company's commilment,
Citigroup included the SIVs' assets and liabilities in its Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of December 31, 2007. This resulted in an increase of assets of $59
billion. On February 12, 2008, Citigroup finalized the terms of the support
facility, which takes the form of a commitment to provide mezzanine capital
to the SIV vehicles in the event the market value of their capital notes
approaches zero,

RECENTLY ANNOUNCED FINANCIAL ACTIONS TO
ENHANCE CITIGROUP'S CAPITAL BASE

During the fourth quarter of 2007 and the first quarter of 2008, the Company
raised approximately $30 billion of qualifying Tier ! Capital. These
transactions include the issuance of convertible preferred and straight (non-
convertible) preferred securities, equity units and enhanced trust-preferred
securities. In addition, Citigroup purchased the Nikko Cordial shares that it
did not already own, by issuing 175 million Citigroup common shares
(approximately $4.4 billion based on the exchange terms) in exchange for
those Nikke Cordial shares.

The Company reported a Tier 1 Capital ratio of 7.12% and a Tangible
Common Equity (TCE) as a percent of Risk Weighted Managed Assets
(RWMA) ratio of 5.6% at December 31, 2007, On a pro forma basis, after
giving effect to the issuance of the new securities referred to above (and
including the common shares issued in connection with the Nikko Cordial
transaction), the Company's December 31, 2007 Tier | Capital ratio would
be approximately 8 8% and its TCE/RWMA would be approximaely 6.9%. See
“Capital Resources and Liquidity” on page 75 for further details.

Lowering the Company’s Quarterly Dividend to $0.32

Per Share

On January 14, 2008 the Boand declared a quarterly dividend on the Company’s
common stock of $0.32 per share, which was paid on February 22, 2008, to
stockholders of record on February 4, 2008. This action would result in a
reduction in the dividend level of approximately $4.4 billion from the previous
year. This new dividend level will allow the Company to reinvest in growth
opportunities and properly position the Company for both favorable and
unfavorable economic conditions. The Board is responsible for setting dividend
levels and declaring dividends.

STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS
U.s.

Acquisition of ABN AMRO Mortgage Group

In 2007, Citigroup acquired ABN AMRO Mortgage Group (AMG), a
subsidiary of LaSalle Bank Corporation and ABN AMRO Bank N.V. AAMG is a
national originator and servicer of prime residential mortgage loans. As part
of this acquisition, Citigroup purchased approximately §12 billion in assets,
including $3 billion of mortgage servicing rights, which resulted in the
addition of approximately 1.5 million servicing customers. Results for AAMG
are included within Gitigroup's U.S. Consumer Lending business from
March 1, 2007 forward.

Acquisition of Old Lane Partners, L.P.

In 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of Old Lane Partners, L.P.
and O1d Lane Partners, GP, LLC (Old Lane). Old Lane is the manager of a
global, multi-strategy hedge fund and a private equity fund with total assets
under managerment and private equity commitments of approximately $4.5
billion. Results for Old Lane are included within Citi Alternative Investments
(CAD), Citigroup’s integrated alternative investments platform, from July 2,
2007 forward.




Acquisition of Bisys

In 2007, the Company cormpleted its acquisition of Bisys Group, Inc. (Bisys)
for $1.47 billion in eash. In addition, Bisys' shareholders received $18.2
million in the form of a special dividend paid by Bisys simultaneously.
Citigroup completed the sale of the Retirement and [nsurance Services
Divisions of Bisys to affitiates of |.G. Flowers & Co. LLG, making the net cost
of the transaction to Citigroup approximately $300 million. Citigroup
retained the Fund Services and Alternative Investment services businesses of
Bisys, which provides administrative services for hedge funds, mutual funds
and private equity funds. Results for Bisys are included within Citigroup’s
Transaction Services business from August 1, 2007 forward.

Acquisition of Automated Trading Desk

In 2007, Citigroup completed its acquisition of Automated Trading Desk
(ATD), a leader in electronic market making and proprietary trading, for
approximately $680 million ($102.6 million in cash and approximately
11.17 miltion shares of Citigroup commen stock). ATD operates as a unit of
Citigroup’s Global Equities business, adding a network of broker-dealer
custoimers to Citigroup’s diverse base of institutional, broker-dealer and retail
customers. Results for ATD are included within Citigroup's Securities and
Banking business from October 3, 2007 forward.

Japan

Nikko Cordial

Citigroup began consolidating Nikko Cordial's financial resuits and the
related minority interest under the equity method of accounting on May 9,
2007, when Nikko Cordial became a 61%-owned subsidiary. Gitigroup later
increased its ownership stake in Nikko Cordial to approximately 68%. Nikko
Cordial results are included within Citigroup's Secarities and Banking,
Smith Barney and International Consumer businesses.

On Jamaary 29, 2008, Citigroup completed the acquisition of the
remaining Nikke Cordial shares that it did not already own, by issuing 175
million Citigroup common shares (approximately $4.4 billion based on the
exchange terms) in exchange for those Nikko Cordial shares. The share
exchange was completed following the listing of Citigroup’s common shares
on the Tokyo Stock Exchange on November 5, 2007.

Latin America

Acquisition of Grupo Financiero Uno
In 2007, Citigroup completed its acquisition of Grupo Financiero Uno
(GFU), the largest credit card issuer in Central America, and its affiliates.
The acquisition of GFU, with $2.2 billion in assets, expands the presence
of Citigroup’s Latin America consumer franchise, enhances its credit card
business in the region and establishes a platform for regional growth in
Consumer Finance and Retail Banking, GFU has more than one million
retail clients and operates a distribution network of 75 branches and more
than 100 mini-branches and points of sale. The results for GFU are included
within Citigroup’s lnternational Cards and International Retafl Banking
businesses from March 5, 2007 forward.

Acquisition of Grupe Cuscatlan

In 2007, Citigroup completed the acquisition of the subsidiaries of Grupo ,
Cuscatlan for $1.51 billion {$755 million in cash and 14.2 million shares of
Citigroup comimon stock) from Corporacion UBC Internacional S.A. Grupo
Cuscatlan is one of the leading financial groups in Central America, with
assets of $5.4 billion, leans of $3.5 billion, and deposits of $3.4 billion.
Grupo Cuscatlan has operations in El Salvador, Guatemala, Costa Rica,
Honduras and Panama. The resutlts of Grupo Cuscatlan are included from'
May 11, 2007 forward and are recorded in fraternational Retafl Banking.

Agreement to Establish Partnership with Quifienco-
Banco de Chile
In 2007, Citigroup and Quifienco entered into a definitive agreement to
establish a strategic partnership that combines Citigroup operations in Chile
with Banco de Chile's local banking franchise to create a banking and
financial services institution with approximately 20% market share of the
Chilean banking industry. The transaction closed on January 1, 2008.
Under the agreement, Gitigroup contributed Citigroup's Chilean
operations and other assets, and acquired an approximate 32.96% stake in
LQIF, a wholly owned subsidiary of Quifienco that controls Banco de Chile,
and is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. As part of the
overall transaction, Citigroup also acquired the U.S. branches of Banco de
Chile for approximately $130 million. Citigroup has entered into an
agreement to acquire an additional 17.04% stake in LQIF for approximately
$1 billion within three years. The new partnership cails for active
participation by Citigroup in the management of Banco de Chile including
board representation at both LQIF and Banco de Chile.

Asia

Acquisition of Bank of Overseas Chinese

In 2007, Citigroup completed its acquisition of Bank of Overseas Chinese
(BOOC) in Taiwan for approximately $427 million. BOOC offers 4 broad
suite of corporate hanking, consumer and wealth management products and
services to more than one million clients through 55 branches in Taiwan.
This transaction will strengthen Citigroup’s presence in Asia, making it the
largest international bank and 13th largest by total assets among all
domestic Taiwan banks. Results for BOOC are included in Citigroup's
International Retail Banking, International Cards and Securities and
Banking businesses from December 1, 2007 forward.




EMEA

Acquisition of Quilter

In 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of Quilter, a UK. wealth
advisoty firm with over §10.9 billion of assets under management, from
Morgan Stanley. Quilter has more than 18,000 clients and 300 staff located
in 10 offices throughout the UK., Ireland and the Channel Islands. Quilter's
results are included in Gitigroup’s Smith Barney business from March 1,
2007 forward.

Acqguisition of Eqq

In 2007, Gitigroup completed its acquisition of Egg Banking plc (Egg), one
of the U.K's leading online financial services providers, from Prudential PLC
for approximately §1.39 billion. Egg offers various financial products and
services including online payment and account aggregation services, credit
cards, personat loans, savings accounts, mortgages, insurance and
investments. Results for Egg are included in Citigroup's International Cards
and international Retuil Banking businesses from May 1, 2007 forward.

Purchase of 20% Equity Interest in Akbank

In 2007, Citigroup completed its purchase of a 20% equity intesest in Akbank
for approximately §3.1 billion and is accounted for under the equity method
of accounting. Akbank, the second-largest privately owned bank by assets in
Turkey, is a premier, full-service retail, commercial, corporate and private
bank.

Sabanci Holding, a 34% owner of Akbank shares, and its subsidiaries have
granted Citigroup a right of first refusal or first offer over the sale of any of
their Akbank shares in the future, Subject to certain exceptions, including
purchases from Sabanci Holding and its subsidiaries, Citigroup has otherwise
agreed not to increase its percentage ownership in Akbank.
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OTHER ITEMS

Sale of MasterCard Shares

Tn 2007, the Company recorded a $367 million after-tax gain ($581 million
preiax) on the sale of approximately 4.9 million MasterCard Class B shares
that had been received by Citigroup as a part of the MasterCard Initial Public
Offering (1PO) completed in June 2006. The gain was recorded in the
following businesses:

2007 2007 2006 2006

Pretax  Afler-tax  Pretax  After-tax

In miltions of doflars total total total total

.8, Cards $394 $250 $ 09 $37

{1.5. Retail Distribution 55 33 7 5

International Cards 72 46 35 22
International Retail

Banking 41 26 20 13

Markets & Banking 19 12 2 1

Total $581 $367 $123 $78

Redecard IPO

In 2007, Citigroup (a 31.9% shareholder in Redecard S.A, the only merchant
acquiring company for MasterCard in Brazil) sold approximately

48.8 million Redecard shares in connection with Redecard’s IPQ in Brazil
Following the sale of these shares, Citigroup retained approximately 23.9%
ownership in Redecard. An after-tax gain of approximately $469 million
($729 million pretax} was recorded in Citigroup’s 2007 financial results in
the international Cards business.

Visa Restructuring and Litigation Matters

In 2007, Visa USA, Visa International and Visa Canada were merged into Visa
Inc. (Visa). As a result of that reorganization, Citigroup recorded a $534
million (peetax) gain on its holdings of Visa International shares primarily
recognized in the frternational Consumer business, which are carried on
Citigroup’s balance sheet at the new cost basis. In addition, Citigroup
recorded a $306 million (pretax) charge refated to certain of Visa USA's
litigation matters primarily recognized in the U.S, Consumer business.

Both the Visa-related gain and charge are subject to change, depending
on the timing and success of Visa's planned 1PO and other factors. For
example, in connection with its upcoming planned 1PO, Visa has announced
plans to withhold, on a pro rata basis, shares 1o be distributed to its USA
member banks (including Citigroup), which would be used to fund an
escrow account 10 satisfy certain of Visa USA's litigation matters. Such a
withholding could enable Citigroup 1o release portions of its $306 million
reserve.

Sale of Simplex Investment Advisors Inc. Shares

In 2007, Nikko Cordial sold all of its shares of Simplex Investment Advisors
Inc. (SI4) for an after-tax gain of $106 million ($313 million pretax), which
was recorded in fnternational Retail Banking. Nikko Cordial held 42.5% of
SIA.




ACCOUNTING CHANGES

Adoption of SFAS 157-Fair Value Measurements

The Company elected to earty-adopt SFAS No, 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” (SFAS 157, as of January 1, 2007. SFAS 157 defines fair
value, expands disclosure requirements around fair value and specifies 4
hierarchy of valuation techniques based en whether the inputs to these
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable, Observable inputs
reflect market data obtained from independent sourees, while unchservable
inputs reflect the Company’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs
create the following fair value hierarchy:

« Level 1-Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

* Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active;
and model-derived valuations in which all significant inptits and
significant value drivers are observable in active markets,

» Level 3-Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or
more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data,
when available, and to minimize the use of unchservable inputs when
determining fair value,

For some products or in certain market conditions, observable inputs may
not be available. For example, during the market dislocations that occurred
in the second half of 2007, certain markets became illiquid, and some key
inputs used in valuing certain exposures were unobservable. When and if
these markets are liquid, the valuation of these exposures will use the related
observable inputs available at that time from these markets.

Under SFAS 157, Citigroup is required to take into account its own credit
risk when measuring the fair value of derivative positions as well as other
liabilities for which fair value accounting has been elected under SFAS 155,
“hccounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instrumerts™ (SFAS 155) and
SFAS 159, after taking into consideration the effects of credit-risk mitigants.
The adoption of SFAS 157 has also resulted in some other changes to the
valuation techniques used by Citigroup when determining the fair value of
derivatives, most notably changes to the way that the probability of default of
a counterparty is factored in, and the elimination of a derivative valuation
adjustment which is no longer necessary under SFAS 157, The cumulative
effect at January 1, 2007 of making these changes was a gain of $250 million
after-tax ($402 million pretax), or $0.05 per diluted share, which was
recorded in the 2007 first quarter earnings within the Secuerities and
Banking business.

SFAS 157 also precludes the use of block discounts for instruments traded
in an active market, which were previously applied to large holdings of
publicly traded equity securities, and requires the recognition of trade-date
gains related to certain derivative teades that use unobservable inputs in
determining their fair value. Previous accounting guidance allowed the use
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of block discounts in certain circumstances and prohibited the recognition of
day-one gains on certain derivative trades when determining the fair value of
instruments not traded in an active market. The cumulative effect of these
changes resulted in an increase lo January 1, 2007 retained earnings of $75
million.

Adoption of SFAS 159-Falr Value Option
In conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 157, the Company earty-adopted
SFAS 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities” (SFAS 159}, as of January 1, 2007. SFAS 159 provides an option
on an instrument-by-instrument basis for most financial assets and
liabilities to be reported at fair value with changes in fair value reported in
earnings. After the initial adoption, the election is made at the time of the
acquisition of a financial asset, financial liability, or a firm commitment,
and it may not be revoked. SFAS 159 provides an opportunity to mitigate
volatility in reported earnings that resulied prior to its adoption from being
required to apply fair value accounting to certain economic hedges (e.g.,
derivatives) while having to measure the assets and iiabilities being
economically hedged using an accounting method other than fair value,

Under the SFAS 159 transition provisions, the Company elected to apply
fair value accounting to certain financial instruments held at January 1,
2007 with future changes in value reported in eamings. The adoption of
SFAS 159 resulted in an afier-tax decrease to January 1, 2007 retained
earnings of $99 million ($157 million pretax).

See Note 26 10 the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 167 for
additional information,

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On February 20, 2008, the Company entered into a $500 million credit
facility with the Falcon multi-strategy fixed income funds (the “Funds™)
managed by Citigroup Alternative Investments, As a result of providing this
facility, the Company became the primary beneficiary of the Funds and will
include the Funds' assets and liabilities in its Consolidated Balance Sheet
commencing on February 20, 2008. The consolidation of the Funds will
increase Citigroup's assets and liabilities by approximately $10 billion.



EVENTS IN 2006

Strategic Investment and Cooperation Agreement with
Guangdong Devetopment Bank

In 2006, a Gitigroup-led consortium acquired an 85.6% stake in Guangdong
Development Bank (“GDB"). Citigroup’s share is 20% of GDB and its
investrnent of approximately $725 million is accounted for under the equity
method of accounting,

Sale of Avantel

In 2006, Citigroup sold its investment in Avantel, a leading long-distance
telecom service provider in Mexico, to AXTEL. The transaction resulted in an
after-tax gain of $145 million (§234 million pretax) in the 2006 fourth
quarter. The investment in Avantel was initiatly acquired by Citigroup as part
of its acquisition of Banamex in 2001 and was subsequently increased with
the purchase of an additional stake in 2005.

Repositioning of the Japan Consumer Finance Business
In 2007, Citigroup announced that it would reposition its consumer finance
business in fapan. This decision resulted from changes in the operating
environment in the consumer finance business in fapar, and the passage on
December 13, 2006, of changes to Japan’s consumer lending laws. The
change in law will lower the interest rates permissible on new consumer
finance loans by 2010,

In 2006, the Company recorded a $375 miltion after-tax (§581 million
pretax) charge to increase reserves for estimated losses resulting from
customer refund settlements in the business. This charge was recorded as a
reduction to interest revenue on loans. The Company also recorded a $40
miltion after-tax {§60 million pretax) repositioning charge for costs
associated with closing approximately 270 branches and 100 automated
loan machines.

Finalizing the 2005 Sale of Asset Management Business
In 2005, the Company sold substantially all of its Asset Management
Business to Legg Mason Inc. (Legg Mason) in exchange for Legg Mason's
hroker-dealer and capital markets businesses, $2.298 billion of Legg Mason’s
common and preferred shares (valued as of the closing date), and $500
million in cash. This cash was obtained via a lending facility provided by
Citigroup's lending business. The transaction did not include Citigroup's
asset managerment business in AMexico, its retirement services business in
Latin America (both of which are included in fnternational Retail
Banking) or its interest in the CitiStreet joint venture (which is included in
Smith Barney). The total value of the transaction at the time of closing was
approximately §$4.369 bilfion, resulting in an after-tax gain for Citigroup of
approximately $2.082 billion ($3.404 billion pretax), which was reported in
discontinued operations.

Concurrent with this sale, the Company sold Legg Mason’s capital
markets business to Stife) Financial Corp. (The transactions described in the
above two paragraphs are referred to as the “Sale of the Asset Management
Business.”)
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With the receipt of Legg Mason's broker-dealer business, the Comnpany
added 1,226 financial advisors in 124 branch offices to its Global Wealth
Management business.

During March 2006, the Company sold 10.3 million shares of Legg Mason
stock through an underwritten public offering. The net sale proceeds of
$1.258 billion resulted in a pretax gain of $24 million for the Company.

In September 2006, the Company received from Legg Mason the final
closing adjustment payment related to this sale. This payment resulted in an
additional after-tax gain of $51 million ($83 million pretax), recorded in
discontinued operations.

Additional information can be found in Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements on page 125.

RESOLUTION OF TAX AUDITS

New York State and New York City

In 2006, Citigroup reached a settlement agreement with the New York State
and New York City taxing authorities regarding various tax liabilities for the
vears 1998 — 2005 (referred to above and hereinafter as the “resolution of
the New York Tax Audits”).

For the third quarter of 2006, the Company released $254 million from its
tax contingency reserves, which resulted in increases of §237 million in
after-tax Income from continuing operations and $17 million in after-tax
Income from discontinued operations.

Federal
In 2006, the Company received a notice from the Internal Revenue Service
{IRS) that they had concluded the tax audit for the years 1999 through 2002
(referredt to above and hereinafter as the “resolution of the Federal Tax
Audit™). For the 2006 first quarter, the Company released a total of $657
million fror its tax contingency reserves related to the resolution of the
Federal Tax Audit.

The following table summarizes the 2006 tax benefits, by business, from
the resolution of the New York Tax Audits and Federal Tax Audit:

New York City

and New York  Federal
in miftions of dofiars State Audits Audit  Total
Global Consumer $ 79 $200  $369
Markets & Banking 116 176 292
Global Wealth Management 34 13 47
Alternative Investments — 58 58
Corporate/Other 8 61 69
Continuing Operations $237 $598  $835
Discontinued Operations $ 17 $59 §$76
Total 5254 $657  $911




Finalizing the 2005 Sale of Travelers Life & Annuity

[n 2005, the Company sofd Citigroup's Travelers Life & Annuity and
substantially all of Gitigroup's international insurance businesses to MetLife.
The businesses sold were the primary vehicles through which Citigroup
engaged in the Life Insurance and Annuities business. This transaction
encompassed Travelers Life & Annuity’s U.S. businesses and its international
operations, other than Citigroup’s life insurance business in Mexfco (which
is now included within fnfernational Retatl Banking). (This transaction is
referred to hereinafter as the “Sale of the Life Insurance and Annuities
Business™.)

A closing, Citigroup received $1.0 hillion in MetLife equity securities and
$10.830 billion in cash, which resulted in an after-tax gain of approximately
$2.126 billicn ($3.386 billien pretax), which was included in discontinued
operations.

During 2006, Citigroup recognized an $85 million after-tax gain from the
sale of MetLife shares. This gain was reported within Income from
continuing eperations in the Alternative Investments business.

In July 2006, the Company received the final closing adjustment payment
related to this sale, resulting in an after-tax gain of $75 million ($115
million pretax), which was recorded in discontinued operations.

Additienal information can be found in Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements on page 125.

Sale of Upstate New York Branches

In 2006, Citigroup sold the Upstate New York Financial Center Network,
consisting of 21 branches in Rochester, N.Y. and Buffalo, N.Y. to M&T Bank
(referred to hereinafter as the “Sale of New York Branches”). Citigroup
received a premium on deposit balances of approximately §1 hillion. An
after-tax gain of $92 million ($163 million pretax} was recognized in 2006.

Acquisition of Federated Credit Card Portfolio and Credit
Card Agreement With Federated Department Stores
{Macy's)
In 2005, Citigroup announced a long-term agreement with Federated
Department Stores, Inc. (Macy's) under which the companies partner to
acquire and manage approximately $6.2 billion of Macy’s credit card
receivables, including existing and new accounts, executed in three phases.

For the first phase, which closed in October 2005, Citigroup acquired
Macy's receivables under management, totaling approximately §3.3 billion.
For the second phase, which closed in May 2006, additional Macy's
receivables totaling approximately $1.9 biltion were transferred to Citigroup
from the previous provider. For the final phase, in July 2006, Citigroup
acquired the approximately $1.0 billion credit card receivable portfolio of
The May Department Stores Company (May), which merged with Macy’s.

Citigroup paid a premium of approximately 11.5% to acquire these
portfolios. The multi-year agreement also provides Macy's the ability to
participate in the portfolio performance, based on credit sales and certain
other performance metrics,

The Macy's and May credit card portfolios comprised a total of
approximately 17 million active accounts.
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Consolidation of Brazil's CrediCard

In 2006, Citigroup and Banco Itau dissolved their joint venture in CrediCard,
4 Brazitian consumer credit card business. In accordance with the
dissolution agreement, Banco Ttau received half of CrediCard’s assets and
custormer accounts in exchange for its 50% ownership, leaving Citigroup as
the sole owner of CrediCard.

Adoption of the Accounting for Share-Based Payments

I 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 123 {revised 2004}, “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123(R)),
which replaced the existing SFAS 123 and superseded Accounting Principles
Board (APB) 25, SFAS 123(R) requires companies to measure and record
compensation expense for stock options and other share-based payments
based on the insirurments’ fair value, reduced by expected forfeitures.

In adopting this standard, the Company conformed to recent accounting
guidance that requires restricted or deferred stock awards issued to
retirement-eligible employees who meet certain age and service requirements
to be either expensed on the grant date or accrued over a service period prior
to the grant date. This charge consisted of $398 million after-tax {$648
million pretax) for the immediate expensing of awards granted to
retirement-eligible employees in January 2006.

The following table summarizes the SFAS 123(R) impact, by segment, on
the 2006 first quarter pretax compensation expense for stock awards granted
to retirement-eligible emplovees in January 2006:

in mitkons of doffars 2006 first quarter
Global Consumer 3121
Markets & Banking 354
Global Wealth Management 145
Alternative Investments 7
Corporate/Other 1
Total $648

Additional information ¢an be found in Notes 1 and 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements on pages 111 and 129, respectively.

Credit Reserves

In 2006, the Company recorded a net release/utilization of its credit reserves
of $356 million, consisting of a net release/utilization of $626 million in
Global Consumer and a net build of $270 million in CMB. The net release/
utilization in Global Consumer was primarily due to lower bankruptcy
filings, a stable credit environment in the U.5. Consumer portfolicand -
International portfolio and a release of approximately $200 million related
to Hurricane Katrina. Partially offsetting the net releases were builds in
Mevico, primarily driven by target market expansion in Cards, Taiwan, due
to the impact of industry-wide credit conditions in Cards, and fapan, related
to the changes in the consumer lending environment. Developments in 2007
have led to a significant build in reserves in Global Consumer in 2007, as
described above.

The net build of $270 million in CMB was primarily composed of §261
willion in Seeurities and Banking, which included a $232 million reserve |
increase for unfunded lending commitments during the year. The net build *
reflected growth in loans and unfunded commitments and a changein
credit rating of certain counterparties in certain industries.




EVENTS IN 2005

Change in EMEA Consumer Write-off Policy

Prior to the third quarter of 2005, certain Western European consumer
portfolios were granted an exception to Citigroup’s global write-off policy.
The exception extended the write-off period from the standard 120-day policy
for personal instaltment loans, and was granted because of the higher
recovery rates experienced in these portfolios. During 2005, Citigroup

" ohserved lower actual recovery rates, stemming primartly from a change in

bankruptcy and wage gamishment laws in Germany and, 4s a result,
rescinded the exception to the global standard. The net charge was $332
mitlion ($490 million pretax) resulting from the recording of $1.153 billion
of write-offs and a corresponding utilization of $663 million of reserves in
the third quarter of 2005.

Hurricane Katrina

In 2005, the Company recorded a $222 million after-tax charge ($357
million pretax) for the estimated probable losses incurred from Hurricane
Katrina, This charge consisted primarily of additional credit costs in .5,
Cards, U.S, Commercial Business, U.S. Consumer Lending and U.S.
Retail Distribution businesses, based on total credit exposures of
approximately $3.6 billion in the Federal Emergency Management Agency
(FEMA) Individual Assistance designated areas. This charge did not include
an after-tax estimate of $75 million ($109 million pretax) for fees and
interest due from related customers that were waived during 2005. These
reserves were ulilized or released in subsequent years,

United States Bankruptcy Legisiation

In 2005, the Bankruptcy Reform Act (the Act) became effective. The Act
imposed a means test to determine if people who file for Chapter 7
bankruptcy eamn more than the median income in their state and could
repay at least $6,000 of unsecured debt over five years. Bankruptey filers who
meet this test are required to enter into 4 repayment plan under Chapter 13,
instead of canceling their debt entirely under Chapter 7. As a result of these
mére siringent guidelines, bankruptcy claims accelerated prior to the
‘effective date. The incremental bankruptey losses aver the Company's
estimated baseline in 2005 that was atiributable to the Act in U1.5. Cards
business was approximately $970 million on a managed basis (§550 million
in the Company’s on-balance-sheet portfolio and $420 million in the
securitized portfolio). In addition, the 1. Retail Distribution business
incurred incremental bankruptcy losses of approximately $90 million during
2005.

Bank and Credit Card Customer Rewards Costs
Tn 2005, the Company conformed its global policy approach for the
accounting of rewards costs for bank and credit card customers. Conforming
the global policy resulted in the write-off of $354 million after-tax ($565
miflion pretax) of unamortized deferred rewards costs. Previously,
accounting practices for these costs varied across the Company.

The revised policy requires all businesses to recognize rewards costs as
incurred.

Sale of Nikko Cordial Stake

During 2005, Citigroup reduced its stake in Nikko Cordial from
approximately 11.2% to 4.9%, which resulted in an after-tax gain of $248
million (§386 million pretax).

Sale of the Merchant Acquiring Businesses
In 2005, Citigroup sold its European merchant acquiring business to
EuroConex for $127 million. This transaction resulted in‘a $62 million
after-tax gain ($98 million pretax).

In 2005, Citigroup sold its U.5. merchant acquiring business, Citigroup
Payment Service Inc., to First Data Corporation for $70 million, resulting in
a $41 milki 1on after-tax gam ($61 million pretax).

i Homeland Investment Act Beneﬂt

The Company’s 2005 full-year results from continuing operations include a
$198 million tax benefit frons the Homeland Investment Act provision of the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, net of the impact of remitting income
earned in 2005 and prior years that would otherwise have been indefinitely
invested overseas. The amount of dividends thal were repatriated relating to
this benefit was approximately $3.2 billion.

Copelco Litigation Settlement

In 2000, Citigroup purchased Copelco Capital, Inc., a leasmg business, from
ftochu International-Inc. and 111 Holding Inc. (formerly known as Gopelco
Financial Services Group, Inc., collectively referred to herein as “Itochu”) for
$666 million. During 2001, Citigroup filed a lawsuit asserting breach of
representations and wareanties, among other causes of action, under the
Stock Purchase Agreement entered into between Citigroup and Itochu in
March 2000. During the third quarter of 2005, Gitigroup and Ttochu signed a
settlement agreement that mutually released all claims, and under which
Ttochu paid Citigroup $185 million, which was recorded in pretax income.

~ Mexico Value Added Tax (VAT) Refund
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1n 2005, Citigroup Mexico received a $182 million refund of VAT taxes from
the Mexican government related to the 2003 and 2004 tax years as a result of
4 Mexico Supreme Court ruling, The refund was recorded as a reduction of
$140 million (pretax) in Other operating expense and $42 million {pretax)
in Other revenue.

Settlement of Enron Class Action Litlgation

As described in the “Legal Proceedings™ discussion on page 195, in 2005,
Citigroup settled class action litigation brought on behalf of purchasers of
Enron securities. '

Settlement of the Securitles and Exchange Commission's
Transfer Agent lnvestiQat:on

I 2005, the Company settled an investigation by the ﬁecurmes and
Exchange Commission (SEC) into matters.relating to arrangements between
certain Smith Barney mutual funds (the Funds), an affiliated transfer
agent, and an unaffiliated sub-transfer agent.

Under the terms of the settlement, Citigroup paid 2 total of $208 million,
consisting of $128 million in disgorgement and $80 million in penalties.
These funds, less $24 million already credited to-the Funds, have been paid
to the U.S. Treasury and will be distribiited pursuant to a distribution plan
prepared by Citigroup and to be approved by the SEC. The terms of the
settlement had been fully reserved by Citigroup in prior periods.




Merger of Bank Holding Companies

Tne 2005, Citigroup merged its two intermediate bank holding companies,
Citigroup Holdings Company and Citicorp, into Citigroup Inc. Coinciding
with this merger, Citigroup assumed all existing indebtedness and
outstanding guarantees of Citicorp. See Note 28 on page 176,

Repositioning Charges

The Gompany recorded a $272 miltion after-tax ($435 million pretax)
charge in 2005 for repositioning costs. The repositioning charges were
predominantly severance-related costs recorded in CMB ($151 million after-
tax} and in Global Consumer {(§95 million after-tax). These repositioning
actions were consistent with the Company’s objectives of controlling
expenses while continuing to invest in growth opportunities.

Resolution of Glendale Litigation

During 2005, the Company recorded a $72 million after-tax gain ($114
million pretax) following the resolution of Glendale Federal Bank v.
Uniled States, an action brought by Glendale Federal Bank.

Acquisition of First American Bank

In 2005, Citigroup completed the acquisition of First American Bank in
Texas (FAB). The transaction established Citigroup’s retail branch presence
in Texas, giving Citigroup 106 branches, $4.2 billion in assets and
approximately 120,000 new customers in the state at the time of the
transaction’s closing. The results of FAB are included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements from March 2005 forward.
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Divestiture of the Manufactured Housing Loan Portfolio
In 2005, Citigroup completed the sale of its manufactured housing loan
portfolio, consisting of $1.4 billion in loans, to 21st Mortgage Corp. The
Company recognized a $109 million after-tax loss ($157 million pretax) in
the divestituse.

Divestiture of CitiCapital's Transportation Finance
Business

In 2005, the Company completed the sale of GitiCapital's Transportation
Finance Business based in Dallas and Toronto to GE Commercial Finance
for total cash consideration of approximately $4.6 billion. The sale resulted
in an after-tax gain of $111 million ($161 million pretax).

Shutdown of the Private Bank in Japan and Related
Charge and Other Activities in Japan

On September 29, 2005, the Company officially closed its Private Bank
business in japar.

In September 2004, the Financial Services Agency of Japan (FSA) issued
an administrative order against Citibank Japan. This order includeda
requirement that Citigroup exit all private hanking operations in fgpan by
Septernber 30, 2005. In connection with this required exit, the Company
established 2 $400 million ($244 million after-tax) reserve (the Exit Plan
Charge) during 2004.

On QOctober 25, 2004, Gitigroup announced its decision to wind down
Cititrust and Banking Corporation (Cititrust), 4 licensed trust bank in japan,
after concluding that there were internal control, compliance and
governance issies in that subsidiary. On April 22, 2005, the FSA issued an
administrative order requiring Cititrust o suspend from engaging in all new
trust business in 2005, Cititrust closed all customer accounts in 2005,



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SIGNIFICANT ESTIMATES

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 111 contain a
summary of the Company's significant accounting policies, including a
discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements. These policies, as
well as estimates made by management, are integral to the presentation of
the Company's financial condition. It is important to note that they require
management to make difficult, complex or subjective judgments and
estimates, at times, regarding matters that are inberently uncertain.
Management has discussed each of these significant accounting policies, the
related estimates and its judgments with the Audit and Risk Management
Committee of the Board of Directors. Additional information about these
policies can be found in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on
page 111.

Valuations of Financial Instruments

The Company holds fixed income and equity securities, derivatives, retained
interests in securitizations, investrnents in private equity and other financial
instrurnents. In addition, the Company purchases securities under
agreements to resell and sells securities under agreements to repurchase. The
Company holds its investments, trading assets and liabilities, and resale and
repurchase agreements on the balance sheet to meet customer needs, to
manage liquidity needs and interest rate risks, and for proprietary trading
and private equity investing,

Substantially all of these assets and liabilities are reflected at fair value on
the Company’s balance sheet. In addition, certain loans, short-term
borrowings, long-term debt and deposits as well as certain securities
borrowed and loaned positions that are collateralized with cash are carried at
fair value. In total, approximately 38.9% and 35.2% of assets, and 23.1% and
8.9% of liabilities, are accounted for at fair value as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. The increase is driven by the election of the fair value
option as permitted under SFAS 159 for certain assets and liabilities,
including securities purchased under agreements to reset! and securities sold
under agreements to repurchase, as well as certain structured and non-
structured liabilities.

When available, the Company generally uses quoted market prices to
determine fair value, and classifies such items within Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy. If quoted market prices are not available, fair value is based upon
internally developed valuation models that use, where possible, current
market-based or independently sourced market parameters, such as interest
rates, currency rates, option volatilities, etc. More than 800 models are used
across Citigroup. Where a model is internally developed and used to price a
significant product, it is subject to validation and testing by independent
personnel. Such models are often based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

Ttems valued using such internally generated valuation techniques are
classified according to the lowest level input or value driver that is significant
to the valuation. Thus, an itern may be classified in Level 3 even though
there may be some significant inputs that are readily observable.

As seen during the second half of 2007, the credit crisis has caused some
markets to become illiquid, thus reducing the availability of certain
observable data used by the Company's valuation techniques. When or if the
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liquidity returns to these markets, the valuations will revert to using the
related observable inputs in verifying internally calculated values.

With the Company’s early adoption of SFAS 157 and SFAS 159 as of
January 1, 2007, the following specific changes were made in the valuation
of the Company's financial assets and liabilities:

(i)  Amendments to the way that the probability of default of a
counterparty is factored into the valuation of derivative positions
and inclusion for the first time of the impact of Citigroup’s own-
credit risk on the valuation of derivatives and other liabilities
measured at fair value;

Elimination of the derivatives portfolio servicing adjusiment which
is no longer necessary under SFAS 157,

Block discounts for large holdings of publicly traded equity
securities were discontinued; and

"Trade-date gains related to certain derivatives using unobservable
inputs were recognized immediately, superseding the previous
guidance, which prohibited the recognition of these day-one gains.

{ii)
(iii)
(iv)

The cumulative effect of these changes totaled $325 million after-tax.
$250 million, which related to the first two items above and was recorded as
an increase in the current year's earnings. The remaining $75 million,
related to items (iii} and (iv) above and was recorded as an increase to
January 1, 2007 opening Retained earnings.

Changes in the valuation of the trading assets and liabilities, as well as all
other assets (excluding available-for-sale securities) and liabilities, carried at
fair value, are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Changes in
the valuation of available-for-sale securities generally are recorded in
Accumulated other comprehensive income, which s a component of
stockholders’ equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. A full description of
the Company’s related policies and procedures can be found in Notes 1, 26
and 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 111, 167 and 176,
respectively,

Key Controls over Fair-Value Measurement

The Company's processes include a number of key controls that are designed
to ensure that {air value is measured appropriately. Such controls include a
model validation policy requiring that valuation models be validated by
qualified personnel independent from those who created the models and
escalation procedures to ensure that valuations using unverifiable inputs are
identified and monitored on a regular basis by senior management.

Allowance for Credit Losses

Management provides reserves for an estimate of probable losses inherent in
the funded loan portfolio on the balance sheet in the form of an allowance
for loan losses. In addition, management has established and maintains
reserves for the potential credit losses related to the Company’s off-balance-
sheet exposures of unfunded lending commitments, including standby letters
of credit and guarantees. These reserves are established in accordance with
Citigroup’s Loan Loss Reserve Policies, as approved by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. The




Company's Chief Risk Officer and Chief Financial Officer review the
adequacy of the credit loss reserves each quarter with representatives from
the Risk and Finance staifs for each applicable business area.

During these reviews, the above-mentioned representatives covering the
business area having classifiably managed portfolios (that is, portfolios
where internal credit-risk ratings are assigned, which are primarily
Markets & Banking, Global Consumer’s commercial lending businesses, and
Global Wealth Management) present recommended reserve balances for
their funded and unfunded lending portfolios along with supporting
quantitative and qualitative data. The quantitative data include:

* Estimated probable losses for non-performing, non-homogeneous
exposures within a business line’s classifiably managed porifolio.
Consideration is given to all available evidence when determining this
estimate including, as appropriate: (i) the present value of expected
[uture cash flows discounted at the loan’s contractual effective rate;

(ii) the borrower’s overall financial condition, resources and payment
record; and (jif) the prospects for support from financially responsible
guarantors or the realizable value of any collateral.

Statistically calculated losses inberent in the classifiably managed
porifolio for performing and de minimis non-performing exposures.
The calculation is based upon: (i) Citigroup’s internal system of credit-
risk raiings, which are analogous to the risk ratings of the major rating
agencies; (ii) the Corporate portfolio database; and {jii) historical default
and loss data, including rating agency information regarding default
rates from 1983 to 2006, and internal data, dating to the early 1970s, on
severity of losses in the event of default,

Additional adjustments include: (i) statistically calculated estimates to
cover the historical fluctuation of the default rates over the credit cycle,

the historical variability of loss saverity among defaulted loans, and the
degree to which there are large obligor concentrations in the global
portfolic; and (i) adjustments made for specifically known iterns, such as
carrent environmental factors and credit trends.

In addition, representatives from both the Risk Management and Finance
staffs that cover business areas which have delinquency-managed portfolios
containing smaller homogeneous loans {primarily Global Consumer's
non-commercial lending areas) present their recommended reserve balances
based upon leading credit indicators including delinguencies on fisst and
second mortgages and deterioration in the housing market, a downturn in
other econemic trends including unemployment and GDP, changes in the
portfolio size, and a change in the estimated loan losses inherent in the
portfolio but not yet visible in the delinquencies (change in estimate of loan
losses). This methodology is applied separately for each individual product
within each different geographic region in which these portfolios exist.

This evaluation process is subject to numerous estimates and judgments.
The frequency of default, risk ratings, loss recovery rates, the size and
diversity of individual large credits, and the ability of borrowers with foreign
currency obligations to obtain the foreign currency necessary for arderly debt
servicing, among other things, are all taken into account during this review,
Changes in these estimates could have a direct impact on the credit costs in
any quarter and could result in a change in the allowance. Changes to the
reserve flow through the income statement on the lines “provision for loan
losses” and “provision for unfunded lending commitments.” For 4 further
description of the loan loss reserve and related accounts, see Notes 1 and 18
1o the Consolidated Financial Staternents on pages 111 and 147, respectively.
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Securitizations

The Company securitizes 2 number of different asset classes as a means of
strengthening its balance sheet and to access competitive financing rates in
the market. Under these securitization programs, assets are sold into a trust
and used as collateral by the trust as 2 means of obtaining financing, The
cash flows from assets in the trust service the corresponding trust securities.
If the structure of the trust meets certain accounting guidelines, trust assets
are treated as sold and no longer reflected as assets of the Company. If these
guidelines are not met, the assets continue to be recorded as the Company's
assets, with the financing activity recorded as liabilities on Citigroup’s
batance sheet. :

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) is cusrently working
ont amendments to the accounting standards governing asset transfers and
securitization accounting. Upon completion of these standards, the Company
will need to re-evaluate its accounting and disclosures. The SEC has
requested that FASB complete its deliberations by the end of 2008. Due to the
FASB's ongoing deliberations, the Company is unable to accurately
determine the effect of future amendments at this time.

The Company assists ifs clients in securitizing their financial assets and
also packages and securitizes financial assets purchased in the financial
markets. The Company may also provide administrative, asset management,
underwriting, liquidity facilities and/or other services to the resulting
securitization endities, and may continue to service some of these financial
assets.

A complete description of the Company’s accounting for securitized assets
can be found in “Off-Batance-Sheet Arrangements” on page 85 and in
Notes 1 and 23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 111 and
156, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company is subject to the income tax laws of the U.S., its states and
municipalities and those of the foreign jurisdictions in which the Company
operates. These tax [aws are complex and subject to different interpretations
by the taxpayer and the relevant governmental taxing authorities. In
establishing a provision for income tax expense, the Company must make
judgments and interpretations about the application of these inherently
complex tax laws. The Company must also make estimates about when in
the future certain itemns will affect taxable income in the various tax
jurisdictions, both domestic and foreign.

Disputes over interpretations of the tax laws may be subject to review/
adjudication by the court systemns of the various tax jurisdictions or may be
settled with the taxing authority upon examination or audit.

The Company implemented FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uneertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48), on January 1, 2007, which sets out
4 consistent framework to determine the appropriate level of tax reserves to
maintain for uncertain tax positions. See Note 11 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements on page 139,



The Company treats interest and penalties on income taxes as a
component of income tax expense.

Deferred taxes are recorded for the future consequences of events that
have been recognized for financial statements or tax returns, based upon
enacted tax laws and rates. Deferred tax assets are recognized subject to
management's judgment that realization is more likely than not.

See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 139 for a
further description of the Company's provision and related income tax assets
and liabilities.

Legal Reserves

The Company is subject to legal, regulatory and other proceedings and
claims arising from conduct in the ordinary course of business. These
proceedings include actions brought against the Company in its various
roles, including acting as a lender, underwriter, broker-dealer or investment
advisor, Reserves are established for legal and regulatory claims in
accordance with applicable accounting requirements based upon the
probability and estimability of losses. The Company reviews outstanding
claims with internal counsel, as well as external counsel when appropriate,
to assess probability and estimates of loss. The risk of loss is reassessed as new
information becomes avaitable, and reserves are adjusted as appropriate. The
actual cost of resolving a claim may be substantially higher, or lower, than
the amount of the recorded reserve, See Note 29 to the Consolidated
Financial Staterents on page 181 and the discussion of “Legal Proceedings”
beginning on page 195,

Accounting Changes and Future Application of
Accounting Standards

See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Staternents on page 111 for a
discussion of Accounting Changes and the Future Application of Accounting
Standards.
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SEGMENT, PRODUCT AND REGIONAL—NET INCOME AND REVENUE

The following tables show the net income (loss) and revenue for Citigroup’s businesses on 2 segment and product view and on a reglonal view:

CITIGROUP NET INCOME—SEGMENT AND PRODUCT VIEW

% Change % Change
In millions of doliars 2007 2006 2005 2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
Global Consumer
LS. Cards $2873 $38%0 §2754 26)% 41%
U.S. Ratail Distribution 1,343 2,027 1,752 (34) 16
U.S. Cansumer Lending (626) 1,912 1,938 NM {f
U.S. Commercial Business 518 561 728 {8) 23)
Total U.S. Consumer ™ $408 % 8,390 $ 7173 (51)% 17%
International Gards $2013 $ 1,137 $1,373 % (1N%
Internationat Consumer Finance {508) 40 642 NM 94
International Retail Bariking 2,688 23840 2,083 {5} 36
Total intemational Gonsumer $4193 $4017 § 4008 4% (21%
Other $ (433) $ (351) $ (374 {23¥% 6%
Total Global Consumer $7.868 $12,056  $10,897 (35)% 11%
Markets & Banking
Securities and Banking $(7604) $5763 § 5327 NM 8%
Transaction Services 2,215 1,426 1,135 55% 26
Other 136 62) 433 NM NM
Total Markets & Banking $(5253) $7.127 $689% NM 3%
Global Wealth Management
Smith Barneay $135  $1005 & an U% 15%
Private Bank 623 439 373 42 18
Total Global Wealth Management $1974 $ 1444 31244 37% 16%
Alternative tnvestments $ 672 $1.276  $ 1437 an%h iM%
Corporate/Other (1,644) {654} {B67) NM 2
Income from Gontinuing Operations $3617  $21,249  $19,806 (83)% 7%
income from Discontinued Operations @ —_ 289 4832 - {94
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change — — {49) — —
Total Net income $ 3,617 $21,538 $24,589 (83)% (12)%

(1) U.S. disclosure includes Ganada and Puerto Rico.
(2) See Note 3 on page 125.
NM Not meaningful.
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CITIGROUP NET INCOME—REGIONAL VIEW

% Ghange % Change
In millions of dotars 2007 2006 2006 2007vs.2006 2006 vs. 2005
us.o
Globat Consumer $3675 $8039 $679 (54)% 18%
Markeis & Banking (7,537 2,209 2,950 NM (25)
Global Wealth Management 1,416 1.210 1,141 17 6
Total U.5. $(2,446) $11,458  $10,890 NM 5%
Mexico
Global Consumer $1387 §$1605 § 1432 (14)% 12%
Markets & Barking 39 346 450 14 {23)
Global Wealth Management 48 36 44 28 {18)
Total Mexico $1829 $1987 $19% (8)% 3%
EMEA
Global Consumer $ 504 $ 75 $ 374 (30)% 94%
Markets & Banking {1,902) 2,01 1,130 NM 78
Global Wealth Management 77 23 8 NM NM
Total EMEA $(1,321} $2758 % 1,512 KM 82%
Japan
Global Consumer $ (126) $ 119 § 706 NM (83)%
Markets & Banking 128 272 498 (53)% (45)
Global Wealth Management 95 — 82) - 100
Total Japan $ 97 § 3§12 {75)% {65)%
Asia
Global Consumer $1,749 $1366 § 1,350 28% 1%
Markets & Baniking 2,578 1,651 1,248 56 32
Global Wealth Management 314 163 116 93 4
Total Asia $4641  §$3180 %2714 46% 17%
Latin America
Global Consumer $ 679 3% 202 $ 236 NM (14)%
Markets & Banking 1,084 638 619 70% 3%
Global Wealth Managesnent 26 12 17 NM (29)
Total Latin America $1789 § 852 § 872 NM (2%
Alternative Investments $ 672 $1276 51437 (47% (1%
Corporate/Other {1,644) (654) {667) NM 2
Income from Continuing Operations $3617 $21249  $19.806 B83)% 7%
Income from Discontinued Operations @ — 289 4,832 —_ (94}
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change - — (49) —_ —
Total Net Income $3617 $21538  $24,58% (83)% (12)%
Total Intemnatianal $7035 $ 9168 $ 8146 {23)% 13%

(1} Excludes Altemative Investments and Corporate/Other, which are predominanty related o the LS. The LS. regional disclosure inctudes Canada and Puerto Rico. Global Consume for the {1.S. includes Qthes Consumer.

{7} See Note 3 on page 125,
NM Not meaningful.
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CITIGROUP REVENUES—SEGMENT AND PRODUCT VIEW

% Change % Change
In mitkions of doliars 2007 2006 2005 2007 ws. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
Glohal Consumer
U.S. Cards $13418  $13508  §12.824 )% 5%
U8, Retail Distribution 10,209 9,584 9,515 7 1
U.S. Corstmer Lending 6,459 5519 5,469 17 1
U.S. Commercial Business 1,649 1,983 2,299 (L) {14)
Total U.S. Consumer $31,735 $30594  $30,107 4% 2%
International Cards $9228 §$5959 § 4850 55% 23%
International Consumer Finance 3,182 3318 3,819 (4) (13)
International Retall Banking 12,878 10.518 9,727 22 8
Total Internationat Consumer $25,288  $19795  $18,396 28% 8%
Qther $ (399 $ (0 % (258 5% 65%
Total Globa! Consumer $56,984  $50,299  $4B.,245 13% 4%
Markets & Banking
Securities and Banking $2684 $21.218  $18.970 8N% 12%
Transaction Services 7,840 597 4,8 K] 2
Other {2) (& 2 — NM
Total Markets & Banking $10522  $27,187 $23.863 {61)% 14%
Global Wealth Management
Smith Bamey $10529 § 8160 % 6,825 2% 20%
Private Bank 2,457 2,017 1,858 2 8
Total Global Wealth Management $12986 $10177 § 8,684 28% 17%
Alternative Investments $2103 § 290 $ 3,430 {28)% (15)%
Corporate/Other (897) (949} {580) 5 {64)
Total Het Revenues $81,608 $80615  $83642 (9% 7%

(1) U.5. disclosure includes Canada and Puerto Rico.
NM Net meaningful.
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CITIGROUP REVENUES—REGIONAL VIEW

% Change % Change
In mitlions of daflars 2007 2006 2005 2007 vs.2006 2006 vs, 2005
ys.
Gichal Consumer $31,696  $30,504  $29,849 4% 2%
Markets & Banking (4,971) 10,155 9,901 NM 3
Global Wealth Management 9,787 8,793 7,628 11 15
Total IL.S. $36,512  $49.452  $47.378 {26)% 4%
Mexico
Global Consumer $5777 $5191  §4373 1% 19%
Markets & Banking 814 781 777 4 1
Global Wealth Management 153 129 124 19 4
Total Mexico $674 $6101 $ 5274 11% 16%
EMEA
Global Consumer $6649 $5387 $5201 23% 4%
Markets & Banking 4,235 8,757 6,849 (52) 28
Globat Weaith Management 543 mn 295 64 12
Total EMEA $11,427 514,475 12,345 (21)% 17%
Japan
Global Consumer $ 2,797 $ 2,455 $ 3,251 14% {24)%
Markets & Banking 1,19 1,052 1,224 13 (14)
Glabal Wealth Management 1,244 — {6) —_ 100
Total Japan $5232 $3507 § 4469 49% (22)%
Asia
Global Consumer $6253 $4933 § 4461 2% 11%
Markets & Banking 6,496 4,714 3,697 38 28
Globat Weaith Management 1,038 738 440 4 68
Total Asia $13,7867 $10385 § 8,598 33% 21%
Latin America
Global Consumer $3812 $1829 § 1110 NM 65%
Markets & Banking 2,757 1,728 1415 60 22
Global Wealth Management 22 186 203 19 8
Total Lalin America $6790 $3743 $2728 81% 37%
Alternative Investments $2103 $2901 § 3430 (28)% {15)%
Corporate/Other (897) (949) (580) 5 (B4)
Totaf Net Revenues $81698 389515  $83,642 {9% 7%
Total Intermational $43,980 $38°211  $33,414 15% 14%

{1) Excludes Alternative Invesiments and Corparate/Cther, which are predominantly related to the LS. The (1.5 regional disclosure includes Canada and Puerto Rico. Globai Consumer for the 4.5, includes Other Consumer.

NM Not meaningful.
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GLOBAL CONSUMER

Global Consumer

Net Income
In billions of dollars

$12.1

]

2005 2006

Global Consumer
2007 Net Income by Product”

Internationat
Retail
Banking
28%

U.S. Cards
0%

¥ U.S. Retail

) Distribution
gllegnatlonal 14%,
a f
22")4,s LS. Commercial

Business
6%

*Excludes U.S. Consumer Lending loss of $526 million,
International Consumer Finance loss of $508 miltion and
QOther Consumer loss of $433 million.

Giobal Consumer
2007 Net Income by Region*

Latin
America
9%

*Excludes Japan loss of $126 million.

Citigroupy's Global Consurner Group provides a wide array of banking, lending, insurance and investrment services through a network of 8,527 branches,
approximately 20,000 ATMs and 530 Automated Lending Machines (ALMs), the Internet, telephone and mail, and the Primerica Financial Services salesforce,
Global Consumer serves more than 200 million customer accounts, providing products and services to meet the financial needs of both individuals and small

businesses.

% Change % Change
In millions of doliars 2007 2006 ™ 2005 2007 vs, 2006 2006 vs. 2005
et interest revenue $32,932 $29,380 $29,526 12% —
Non-interest revenue 24,052 20,918 18,719 15 12%
Revenues, net of interest expense $56,984  $50299 348,245 13% 4%
Operating expenses 20,298 25,933 23,318 13 "
Provisions for toan fosses and for benefits and claims 17,020 7,579 9,063 NM (16)
Income before taxes and mingrity interest $10666 316787  $15,864 (36)% 6%
lncome taxes 2,627 4,666 4,804 (44} (5}
Minority interest, net of taxes 1m 65 63 NM 3
Net income $ 7868 $12056  $10,897 {35)% 11%
Average assets (in bitlions of doliars) $ 75 $ 610 § 533 20% 14%
Return on assets 1.07% 1.98% 2.04%
Key indicators (in billions of dollars)
Average loans $4961 $4349 § 3926 14% 1%
Averaga dapasits $2m8  § 2521  §I23y 16% 9%
Total branches 8,527 8,110 7,237 5% 12%

(1) Reclassified to conform 1o the current period's presentation.
MM Not meaningful.
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U.S. Consumer

U.S. Consumer U.S. Consumer
Net Income 2007 Net Income by Product*
In billions of do'lars

$8.4 Commercial

Business
11%

0.5. Consumer

Average Loans
In bittions of deffars

$352.5

e
istribution
Cards
28% 61%
2005 2006 2007 *Excludes Consumer Lending loss of $626 million, 2005 2006 2007
11.8. Consumer is composed of four businesses: Cards, Retail Distribution, Consumer Lending and Commercial Business.
% Change % Change

In mitlions of dollars 2007 2006 M 2005 2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
Net interest revenue $17,480 $16712  $17,510 5% (5)%
Mon-interest revenue 14,255 13,882 12,597 3 10
Revenues, net of interest expense $31,735  $30,594  $30,107 4% 2%
Operating expenses 15,045 14,149 13,449 6 5
Provisions for loan losses and for benefits

and claims 10,917 3,800 5,600 NM {32)
Income before taxes and minority interest $ 5773 $12645  $11,098 (54)% 14%
Income taxes 1,629 4197 3.823 (1) 10
Minority interest, net of taxes 36 58 62 (38) {6)
Net income $4108 §$83%0 § 7173 {51)% 17%
Average assets {in billions of doflars) $ 498 § 47§ 357 19% 17%
Retumn on assets 0.83% 2.01% 2.01%
Key indicators ({in billions of doliars}
Average loans $ 3525 §$3201 $ 2861 10% 12%
Average deposits 1218 104.6 954 16% 10%
Total branches (actual number) 3545 3,441 3,173 3% 8%

{1} Reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation.
NM Not meaningful.

2007 vs. 2006
Net Intferest Revenue was 5% higher than the prior year, as growth in
average deposits and loans of 16% and 10%, respectively, was partially offset
by a decrease in net interest margin. Net interest margin declined mainly
due to an increase in the cost of funding driven by a shift to higher cost
Direct Bank and time deposits and a shift away from high vielding credit
card assets toward lower yielding mortgage assets which more than offset a
general increase in consuimer loan yields.

Non-Interest Revenue increased 3%, primarily due 1o 6% growsh in
Carels purchase sales, a pretax gain on the sale of MasterCard shares of $449
million compared to a gain on the MasterCard 1PO of $66 million in 2006,
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the impact of the acquisition of ABN AMRO Mortgage Group in the first
quarter of 2007, higher gains on sales of mortgage loans, and growth in net
servicing revenues. This increase is partially offset by lower securitization
reveriues in Cards primarily reflecting the net impact of higher funding costs
and higher credit losses in the securitization teusts. The results of 2006 also
included $163 million pretax gain from the sale of upstate New York
branches in the second quarter.

Operating expense growth was primarily driven by the VISA litigation-
related pretax charge of $292 million, the ABN AMRO integration, higher
collection costs, higher volume-related expenses, and increased investment
spending due to 202 new branch openings in 2007 (110 in CitiFinancial and




92 in Citibank). Expense growth in 2007 was favorably affected by the
absence of the charge related to the initial adoption of SFAS 123(R) in the
first quarter of 2006.

Provisions Jor loan losses and for benefits and claims increased $7.1
billion primarily reflecting a weakening of leading credit indicators
including delinquencies on first and second mortgages and deterioration in
the housing market, a downturn in other economic trends including
unemploymeni and GDP affecting all other portfolios and a change in
estimate of loan losses inherent in the portfolio but not yet visible in
delinquency statistics. The increase in provision for loan losses also reflects
the absence of loan loss reserve releases recorded in the prior year, as well as
an increase in bankruptcy filings in 2007 versus unusually low filing levels
experienced in 2006, The net credit loss ratio increased 27 basis points to
1.46%.

Net income in 2007 also reflecied the absence of a $229 million tax
benefit resulting from the resolution of the 2006 Tax Audits.

2006 vs. 2005

Nel interest reverniee declined by 5%, as growth in average deposits and
Joans of 10% and 12%, respectively, were more than offset by net interest
margin compression. Net interest margin declined primarily due to a shift in
customer liabilities from savings and other demand deposits to certificates of
deposit and e-Savings accounts as well as lower on-balance-sheet receivables
and a change in the mix of receivables toward introductory rate products,
and a higher cost of funds, which was partiatly offset by higher risk-based
fees.

Non-interest Revenue increased by 10% due to the positive impact of a
9% growth in purchase sales, higher replenishment gains from securitization
activities, and higher net excess spread revenues from previously securitized
receivables, higher gains on sales of real estate loans, student loans, and
morigage-backed securities, a $163 million gain on the Sale of New York
Branches in the second quarter of 2006, partially offset by lower servicing
reventes, Also driving the increase was the acquisition of the Macy's
{formerly known as Federated) portfolio in the 2005 fourth quarter, and the
absence of a $545 million charge to conform accounting practices for
custamer rewards taken in the fourth quarter of 2005. Offsetting the increase
was the absence of the $162 million legal setlernent benefit in the 2005 third
quarter refated to the purchase of Copelco, the $161 million gain on sale of
the CitiCapital Transportation Finance business in the first quarter of 2005
and the absence of a $110 mitlion gain in the 2005 first quarter related to
the resolution of the Glendate litigation.
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(perating expenses increased 5%, primarily reflecting the full-year impact of the
acquisition of the Macy's portfolio, higher volume-related expenses, increased
investment spending on 303 new branch openings during the year (101 in Cittbank
and 202 in CitiFinancial), the impact of SFAS 123(R), costs associated with the launch
of e-Savings, and the ahsence of a $23 million expense benefit due to the Copelco
seltlemnent recorded in 2005. This increase is partially offset by effective expense
management and a decline in advertising and marketing expenses in Gards and lower
expenses from the absence of the transportation finance business and severance oosts
in Commercial Bustness in 20005,

Provision for loan losses and for benefits and claims declined by 32%
attributable primarily to a favorable credit environment which led to a
continued decline in toan loss reserves in Cards, lower overall bankruptcy
filings in 2006 in Refail Disiribution and a loan loss reserve release of $63
million in Commercial Business. Also driving the decrease was the absence
of a $165 million loan loss reserve build in the 2005 third quarter related to
the reorganization of the former Consumer Finance business, and a reserve
build in 2005 related to Hurricane Katrina of $110 million in CitiFinancial
branches and the continued liquidation of non-core portfolios in
Commercial Business. The net credit loss ratio for U.S. Consumer decreased
51 basis points to 1,19%.

Net income in 2006 also reflected a $229 million 12x benefit resuiting
from the resolution of the 2006 Tax Audits.

U.5. CONSUMER OUTLOOK

In 2008, the U.S. Consurmer businesses will continue to focus on expanding its
customer base, offering an integrated and innovative set of products and
services, and leveraging previous acquisitions and prior strategic investments.
Revenues will be uffected by customer demand, the level of interest rates,
¢redit performance, as well as the stability of the U.S. capital markets, all of
which are important to cards securitizations and asset valuations, The
businesses will alse focus on tight expense control, productivity improvements
and effective credit management.

The .8, Consumer husiness could be negatively affected as discussed
under “Economic Environment” on page 5.

In addition, the U.S. Consumer business is expected to operate in a
challenging credit and economic environment, due to expected deterioration in
credit costs across all products, particularly in the first mortgage and second
mertgage portfolios. [n addition, higher levels of unemployment and bankruptey
filings and lower residential real estate prices are expected. Net credit losses,
delinquencies and defaults are expected to continue to trend upwands,



International Consumer

International Consumer
Net Income

in bitfions of dollars
341 e 2 ‘

2005 2006 2007

International Consumer
2007 Net Income by Product*

Cards
43%

Retail
Banking
57%

*Excludes Consumer Finance loss of $508 milien.

International Consumer
2007 Net Income by Region*

Latin
America
16%

40%

*Excludes Japan loss of $126 million.

International Consumet is composed of three businesses: Cards, Consumer Finance and Retail Banking. International Consumer operates in five
geographies: Mexico, Latin America, EMER, Japan, and Asia.

% Change % Change

In milions of doliars 2007 2006 2005 2007 vs. 2008 2006 vs. 2005
Net interest revenue $15619 312866  $12,180 21% 6%
Non-interest revenue 9,669 6,929 6,216 40 1
Revenues, net of interest expense $25288 $19795  $18,396 28% 8%
Operating expenses 13,550 11,201 9,520 21 18
Provisions for loan losses and for benefits

and claims 6,103 3,779 3,462 61 9
Income before taxes and minority interest $563 §$4815 $5413 17% (11)%
Income taxes 1,307 791 1,314 69 {40)
Minority interest, net of taxes 135 7 1 NM NM
Net income $4193 $4017 $ 4098 L) (24%
Revenues, net of interest expense, by region:

Mexico $5777 §$5191  $ 4373 1% 19%

EMEA 6,649 5,387 5,201 23 4

Japan 2,797 2,455 3,25 14 (24)

Asia 6,253 4,933 4,461 27 11

Latin America 3812 1,829 1,110 NM 65
Total revenues $25288 $19,795 $18,3% 28 8%
Net income by region:

Mexico $1387 $ 1,605 $ 1,432 (14)% 12%

EMEA 504 725 374 (30) 94

Japan {126) 119 706 NM (83}

Asia 1,749 1,366 1,350 28 1

Latin America 679 202 236 NM (14)
Total net income $4193 34017 $ 4098 4% (2%
Average assets (in billions of doftars) $ 226 % 183 § 187 23% 10%
Return on assets 1.86% 2.20% 2.45%
Key indicators (in bilfions of dofiars)
Average loans $1436 §$ 1148 $ 1065 25% 8%
Average deposits $170.0 $ 1475  § 1363 15% 8%
Total branches (actual number) 4,982 4,669 4,064 7% 15%

NM Not meaningful.
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2007 vs. 2006

Net inferest revenue increased 21% overall, 29% after excluding the impact
of Japan Consumer Finance. The increase was driven by a 25% growth in
average receivables and a 15% growth in average deposits, including the
impact of the acquisitions of GFU, Egg, and Grupo Cuscatlan, and the
integration of the CrediCard portfolio. The positive impact of foreign
currency {ranslation also contributed to the revenue increase. Results in
2007 include 2 $261 million pretax charge in Japan Consumer Finance to
increase reserves for estimated igsses due to customer settlements,

Norr-interest revenue increased 40%, primarily due to 2 33% increase in
Cards purchase sales, 2 20% increase in investment product sales, increased
ownership in Nikke Cordial, and gains on sales of non-core assets including
a $729 million pretax gain on Redecard shares, a $507 million pretax gain
on Yisa International Ine. shares, 2 $313 million pretax gain on the sale of
an ownership interest in Nikko Cordial's Simplex Investment Advisors, and
a pretax MasterCard gain of $113 million compared to 2 gain on the
MasterCard 1PO of $55 million in 2006. The positive impact of foreign
currency translation aiso contributed to the revenue increase. The increase
in rion-interest revenue was partially offset by the absence of a prior-year
gain on the sale of Avantel of $234 million.

Operaiing expenses increased 21%, reflecting acquisitions, increased
gwnership in Nikko Cordial, the integration of the CrediCard portfolic,
volume growth across the products and regions, the impact of foreign
currency translation and continued investment spending. During 2007, 510
Retail Banking and Consumer Finance branches were opened or acquired.
The increase in 2007 expenses was partially offset by savings from structural
expense initiatives announced in April 2007, and the absence of the charge
related to the initial adoption of SFAS 123(R} in the first quarter of 2006.

Provisions for loan losses and for benefifs and claims increased
substantially, including a change in estimate of loan losses inherent in the
loan portfolio but not yet visible in delinquency statistics, along with
volume growth and credit deterioration in certain countries, the impact of
recent acquisitions, and the increase in net credit losses in fapan Consumer
Finance due to the continuing adverse operating environment and the
impact of [apan consumer lending laws passed in the fourth quarter of
2006. Higher past-due accounts in Mexico cards and the integration of the
CrediCard portfolio also contributed to the increase.

Net income was also affected by the absence of a prior-vear APB 23 tax
benefit of $288 million in Mexico, as well as the absence of 2 prior-year §99
million tax benefit resulting from the resolution of the 2006 Tax Audits,
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2006 vs. 2005

Net inferes! revenue increased 6%, reflecting growth in average receivables
and deposits of 8% each, and the integration of the CrediCard portfolio in
Latin America. The results were negatively impacted by Japan Consumer
Finance due to the changes in the operating environment and the passage
of changes to consumer lending laws on December 13, 2006. The total
impact included a $581 million pretax charge to increase reserves for
estimated losses due 10 customer seitlements. Excluding Jupan, net inferest
revertue increased 15% from the prior vear. The positive impact of foreign
currency translation also contributed to the revenue increase.

Nom-inderest revenie increased 11%, reflecting an increase in
investment product sales of 36%, 2 17% increase in purchase sales, the
integration of the CrediCard portfolio, the 2006 fourth quarter $234 million
gain in Mexico on the sale of Avantel, 2 gain on the MasterCard /PO of $55
million in the 2006 second quarter, and higher insurance and other fees,
partially offset by the absence of a prior-vear gain on the sale of a
merchant-acquiring business in ZME4 of $95 million. The positive impact
of foreign currency translation also contributed to the revenue increase,
Assets under management grew by 20%.

Operating expenses increased, reflecting the integration of the
CrediCard portfolio, volume growth across the regions, continued
investment spending driven by 862 new Retail Banking and Consumer
Finance branch openings, the adoption of SFAS 123(R), a $60 million
pretax repositioning charge in fapan to close approximately 270 branches
and 100 ALMs, the impact of foreign currency translation, the costs
associated with the labor setilement in Korea, and the absence of prior-year
expense credits related to Mexico VAT.

Provisions for loan losses and for benefils and claims increased
primarily due to reserve builds and higher net credit losses in Japan
Consumer Finance due to legislative and other actions affecting the
consumer finance industry, target market expansion in Mexico cards, the
industry-wide credit deterioration in Taiwan, the CrediCard integration in
Latin America, and volume growth. The increase was partially offset by the
absence of the 2005 charge of $490 million to standardize the loan write-off
policy in EMEA4, the 2005 increase of $127 million loan loss reserves in
Germany retail banking to reflect increased experience with the effects of
bankruptcy law liberalization, a $159 million gain from the sale of
charged-off assets in Germany, and a $168 million loan loss reserve release
in Korea related to improvements in the credit environment in this market.

Net income in 2006 also reflacted higher APB 23 tax benefits of $288
million in Mexico, and a $9% million benefit from the resolution of the
2006 Tax Audits, partially offset by the ahsence of a 2005 third quarter
Homeland Investment Act tax benefit of 361 million in Afexico.




INTERNATIONAL CONSUMER OUTL.OOK

International Consumer is diversified across a number of geographies,
product groups, and customer segments. In 2008, Intemational Consumer
expects to dvive growth in loans, deposits and investment product sales from
expanding its customer base through organic growth, investments in
expanding the branch network, and the benefit from 2007 acquisitions. As a
result, International Consumer expects earnings growth in 2008,

Revenues and credit costs are expected to be affected by global economic
conditions, including the level of interest rates, the credit environment,
unemployment rates, and political and regulatory developments in the U.S.
and around the world.

The International Consumer business could be negatively affected by the
“Economic Environment” discussed on page 5.

The Japan Consumer Finance business environment is expected to
remdin difficult. The impact of changes to consumer lending laws enacted
in 2006 as well as deteriorating consumer credit conditions are expected to
drive credit costs higher in the Japan Consumer Finance business. The
Company will continue to actively monitor developments in custormer
refund claims and defaulis, political developments and the way courts view
grey zone claims, refunds and defaulis. The Company continues to evaluate
the positioning and prospects of the business as the environment changes.

1 addition to Japan Consurmer Finance, increased credit costs are
expected across all international businesses as their growing portfolios
season or mature, and are expected to be affected by economic and credit
conditions in the U.S, and around the world,
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MARKETS & BANKING

Markets & Banking provides a broad range of trading, investment banking, and commercial lending products and services to companies, governments,

institutions and investors in approximately 100 countries. Markets & Banking includes Securities and Banking, Transaction Services and Other.

% Change % Change
In mitlions of doliars 2007 2006 2005 2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
Net interest revenue $12312 $ 8492 § 8100 45% 9%
Non-interest revenue 1,790) 18,695 15,763 NM 19
Revenues, net of interest expense $10522 $27187  $23.863 {61)% "14%
Operating expenses 19,588 17,119 14,133 14 A
Provision for credit (osses 1,390 359 (42) N# NM
Income (loss} before taxes and minority interest $(t0456) $ 9709 §9772 NM A%
income taxes (benefits) (5,216} 2,528 2818 NM 0y
Minority interest, net of taxes 13 54 59 (76)% {8
Net income {loss) $(5253) $ 7127 $68% NM ol 3%
Revenues, net of interest expense, by region:
Us. $ (4971) $10,155  $ 9,901 NM 3%
Mexico 814 781 777 % ‘1
EMEA 4,235 8,757 6,849 (52) 28
Japan 1,191 1,062 1,224 13 {14)
Asia 6,496 4714 3,697 a8 28 .
Latin America 2,757 1,728 1,415 B0 Pri
Total revenues $10,522  $27.187  $23,863 {61)% . g%
Total revenues, net of interest expense by product: o
Securnities and Banking $ 2684 321,218  $18970 {B87)% 12%
Transaction Services 7880 5971 4891 3 ]
Other {2) {2) 2 — NM
Total revenues $10522  §27.187  $23,863 @N%., ., W%
Net income (loss) by region: '
us. $ (7530 $2208 $ 2950 NM (25)%
Mexico 396 346 450 14% (23)
EMEA 1,802) 20 1,130 NM .78
Japan 128 272 498 (53) (45}
Asia 2,578 1,691 1,248 56 32
Latin America 1,084 638 619 70 3
Total net income (loss}) $(5253) $7127 $6895 NM ol 3%
Net income (loss) by product: "
Securties and Banking $ (7604 $5763 $ 5327 NM B%
Transaction Services 2,215 1,426 1,135 55% 26
Other 136 (62) 433 NM NM
Total net income (loss) $(5253) $7.127 & 6895 NM 3%

NM Not meaningful.
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2007 vs. 2006
Revenues, net of interest expense decreased 61% driven by $20.4 billion of
pretax write-downs and losses related to deterioration in the mortgage-

- backed and credit markets. The losses consisted primarily of approximately
$12.9 billion related to direct subprime-related exposures, of which
approximately $14.2 billion was related to exposures in the most senior
teanches of collateralized debt obligations, which are collateralized by asset-
backed securities, derivatives on asset-backed securities or both. The tosses
were also driven by write-downs of approximately $1.5 billion pretax, net of
underwriting fees, on funded and unfunded highly leveraged finance
commitments. Of this amount, approximately §1.3 billion of impairment
was recognized for transactions that had been funded as of December 31,
2007, and $0.2 billion of impairment was recognized on transactions that
were unfunded as of December 31, 2007. Securtfies and Banking's
remaining $37.3 billion in U.S. subprime net direct exposure as at
December 31, 2007 consisted of (a) approximately $8.0 billion of subprirne-
related exposures in its lending and structuring business and
(b) approximately $29.3 billion of net exposures to the super senior tranches
of collateralized debt obligations which are collateralized by asset-backed
securities, derivatives on assei-backed securities or both. See “Exposure 0
Real Estate” on page 48 for a further discussion. The decreases were offsel
partially by increased revenues in Equity Markets, from cash trading and
strong growth in equity finance, in Advisory from strong deal volumes, in
Equity Underwriting and in Lending. Transaction Services revenues
increased 31% reflecting growth in liability balances, transaction volumes
and assets under custody mainly in Cash Management and Securities and
Funds Services. Average liability balances grew 29% to $245 billion in 2007
vs. 2006 due to growth across all regions, reflecting positive flow from new
and existing customers.

Operating expenses increased 14% due to higher business volumes,
higher non-incentive compensation staff expenses and increased costs driven
by The Bisys Group Inc., Nikko Cordial, Grupo Cuscatlan, and ATD
acquisitions. Operating expenses also increased driven by the
implementation of a headcount reduction plan to reduce ongoing expenses.
This resulted in a $438 million pretax charge to compensation and benefits
in connection with headcount reductions. Expense growth in 2007 was
favorably affected by the absence of a §354 miltion charge related to the
initial adoption of SFAS 123(R) in 2006 and a $300 million pretax release of
litigation reserves in 2007.

The provision for credit losses increased approximately $1 billion, driven
by higher net credit losses, mainly from loans with subprime-related direct
exposure, and a higher net charge to increase loan loss and unfunded
lending commitment reserves reflecting a slight weakening in overall
portfolio credit quality, as well as loan loss reserves for specific
counterparties. Subprime-retated loans accounted for approximately $860
million of credit costs in 2007, of which $704 million was recorded in the
fourth quarter.
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2006 vs. 2005

Revenues, net of interest expense, increased, driven by broad-based growth
across products, particularly in EMEA, Asia and Latin America. Fixed
Income Markets revenue increases reflected growth in emerging markets
trading, municipals, foreign exchange and credit products. Equity Markets
revenues increased, driven by strong growth globally, including cash trading,
derivatives products and convertibles. Investment Banking revenue growth
was driven by higher debt and equity underwriting revenues and increased
advisory fees. These gains were partially offset by a revenue decline in
Lending, as improved credit conditions led to lower hedging results, the 2005
$386 million pretax gain on the sale of Nikko Cordial shares and lower
revenue in Commaodities. Transaction Services revenues increased 22%,
mainly in Cash Management and Securities and Funds Services, driven by
growth in customer liabilities, up $39 billion or 24%, and assets under
custody, up $1.8 trillion or 21%. In addition, higher interest rates, increased
volumes, and higher sales contributed to the growth,

Operating expenses were impacted by $764 million of SFAS 123(R)
charges and higher production-related incentive compensation, as well as a
growth in headcount and increased investment spending on stralegic growth
initiatives.

The provision for credit fosses increased, reflecting growth in loans and
unfunded lending commitments and an update to historical data used for
certain loss estimates.




MARKETS & BANKING QUTLOOK

Markets & Banking (CMB) is significantly affected by the tevels of activity in,
and volatility of, the global capital markets, which are influenced by
macroeconomic and political developments, among other factors. The CMB
business could be negatively impacted by the “Economic Environment”
discussed on page 5.

As 2008 begins to unfold, the market perception is that the credit
environment will deteriorate. While corporate default rates are near historic
lows, they are projected to increase in 2008. Classified loan exposures are on
arising trend and current credit markets negatively affect the backlog of
leveraged loans continues to be an overhang for the business and the
market. Deterioration in the U.S. mortgage market may continue and could
impact the uncertainty of mortgage securities pricing and trading. Pricing in
the leveraged loan market may also continue to decline.

In 2008, Securities and Banking initiatives will continue to focus on the
delivery of financial solutions tailored to clients’ needs and the targeting of
client segments with strong growth prospects. The development of additional
global emerging markets leaders and the continued role of the sovereign
wealth funds are likely to be major drivers of investment banking revenues
and in particular cross-border mergers and acquisitions and associated
capital raising. Revenues from derivatives and foreign exchange are aiso
likely to benefit as clients seek to minimize the financial risk to their
businesses from market volatility.

The business alse intends to leverage its position to detiver global access
to focal markets. The business will continue its multi-year build-out of
structured-products capabilities in equities, commaodities and currencies,
which began to show a contribution to Securities and Banking's
performance in 2007 and should become a platform for future growth,

In 2008, Transaction Services will focus on generating organic revenue
and eamnings growth, leveraging its strong global platform. The rising needs
of emerging markets and of the world’s increasingly sophisticated capital
markets are expected to continue to drive part of this growth, as well as
clients’ continued consolidation of their cash management relationships.
This business growth is expected to be partially offset by the impact of lower
interest rates and potentially lower asset values,

Throughout 2008, CMB will lock to optimize its portfolic of businesses by
allocating capital to the higher-returning businesses and clients. In addition,
further expense synergies are expected to be achieved through more
re-engineering of operations and processes within CMB and across Citigroup
as a whole,

[n 2008, the husiness expects higher state and local tax expense than was
incurred in 2007. The level will depend on the geographic mix of income.
Partially offsetiing this additional expense is an expected increase in benefits
from tax-advantaged investments,
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GLOBAL WEALTH MANAGEMENT

Global Wealth Management Global Wealth Management Global Wealth Management
Net Income 2007 Net Income by Product 2007 Net Income by Region
in billiens of dollars
kﬂtin_
menca
lapan 1%

Private . %

] ,
2005 2006 2007

Global Wealth Management is composed of the Swith Barney Private Client businesses (including Citigroup Wealth Advisors, Nikke Cordial, Quilter and the
legacy Citicorp Investment Services business), Citi Private Bank and Citi Investment Research.

% Change % Change
in millions of doliars 2007 2006 2005 2007 vs.2006 2006 vs. 2005
Net interest revenue $2174 $1922 $169% 13% 13%
Non-interesi revenue 10,812 8,255 6,989 3 18
Revenues, net of interest expense $12886 $10,177 $ 8,684 28% 17%
Qperating expenses 9,806 8,006 6,696 22 20
Provision for loan losses 100 24 29 NW (17
Income hefore taxes and minority interest $3080 $2147 $ 1959 43% 10%
Income taxes 1,034 703 715 47 @
Mingrity interest, net of taxes 72 — — - —
Netincome $1974 $1444  $1244 3% 16%
Revenues, net of interest expense by region:
Us. $9787 $B8793 § 7628 1% 15%
Mexico 153 129 124 19 4
EMEA 543 I 295 64 12
Japan 1,244 — 6) —_ 100
Asia 1,038 738 440 4 68
Latin America 21 186 203 19 (8)
Total revenues $12986 $10177 § 8,684 28% 17%
Net income (toss) by region:
us. $1416 $1.210  § 114 17% 6%
Mexico 456 36 44 28 (18)
EMEA 77 23 8 NM NM
Japan a5 —_ 82) —_ 100
Asia kil | 163 116 93 4
Latin America 26 12 17 NM (29}
Total net income $1974 51444  § 1,244 3% 16%
Key indicators: (in billions of dollars)
Total assets under fee-based management $ 507 $ 399 § 346 2% 15%
Total chient assets 1,784 1,438 1,310 24 10
Net client asset flows 15 14 29 7 (52)
Financial advisors (FA) / bankers {gctual number) 15,454 13,694 13,916 13 2
Annualized revenue per FA / banker (i thousands of doliars) 880 740 679 19 9
Average deposits and other customer liability balances 117 104 93 13 12
Average loans 54 42 40 29 5
NM Not meeningful.
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2007 vs. 2006

Revenues, net of interest expense, increased 28% primarily due to the
impact of acquisitions; an increase in fee-based revenues reflecting the
continued advisory-based strategy; an increase in international revenues
driven by strong Capital Markets aciivity in Aséa and growth in investments
revenue in £HEA; as well as strong U.S. branch transactional revenue and
syndicate sales,

Total client assets, including assets under fee-based management,
increased $346 billion, or 24%, reflecting the inclusion of client assets from
the Nikko Cordial and the Quilter acquisitions, as well as organic growth. Net
flows increased slightly compared to the prior year. Global Wealth
Management had 15,454 financial advisors/bankers as of December 31,
2007, compared with 13,694 15 of December 31, 2006, driven by the Nikko
Cordial and Quilier acquisitions, as welt as hiring in the Private Bank.

Operating expenses increased 22% primarily due to the impact of
acquisitions, higher variable compensation associated with the increase in
reveriues, increased customer activity and charges related to headcount
reductions. Expense growth in 2007 was favorably affected by the absence of
the charge related to the initial adoption of SFAS 123(R) in the first quarter
of 2006.

The provision for loan losses increased $76 million in 2007, primarily
driven by portfolio growth and a reserve for specific non-performing loans in
the Private Bank.

Net income growth also reflected a $65 million APB 23 benefit in the
Private Bank in 2007 and the absence of a $47 million tax benefii resulting
from the resolution of 2006 Tax Audits.
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2006 vs. 2005

Revenues, net of interest expense, increased 17% primarily due to an
increase in fee-based and recurring revenues, reflecting the continued shifi
toward offering fee-based advisory products and services in Smith Barney.
Smith Barney's launch of the Tiered-Pricing Program in September 2006
also drove revenue growth, aleng with strength in the Managed Accounts,
Mutual Fund and Annuity businesses. Strong growth in Asia led an increase
in Privale Bank net revenues, driven by an increase in transactional
revenues from strong Capital Markets activity. Results also reflected the
acquisition of Legg Mason in December 2005.

Total client assets increased $128 billion, or 10%. Tota! assels under

Jee-based management were up $53 billion, or 15%, driven by net client
asset flows and positive market action. Net flows were down compared to the
prior year primarily on client attrition. Global Wealth Management had
13,694 financial advisors/bankers as of December 31, 2006, compared with
13,916 as of Decemnber 31, 2005.

Operating expenses increased as the absence of Japan expenses was
offset by higher corpensation expense, including §373 million of SFAS
123(R} costs; investment spending to expand onshore markets; and
integration costs of the Legg Mason refail brokerage business.

Citigroup Investment Research

Citigroup [nvestment Research provides independent client-focused research
to individuals and institutions around the world. The majority of expense for
this organization is charged to the Global Equities business in Secerities
and Banking and o Smith Barney,

GLOBAL WEALTH MANAGEMENT QUTLOOK

Global Wealth Management is affected by the levels of activity in the capital
markets, which are influenced by macro-econcrnic and political
developments, among other factors.

The Global Wealth Management business could also be negatively
impacted by the “Economic Environment” discussed on page 5.

In 2008, Global Wealth Management expects to see continued asset and
revenue growth resulting from the 2007 investments in its wealth
management platform, as well as from past acquisitions. However, declines
in asset values due to economic conditions could adversely impact asset and
revenue levels.

Investmenis are expected to continue in 2008 and will include initiatives
intended to improve technology plaforms, strengthen our global competitive
position and improve Financial Advisor retention.




ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS

Alternative Investments Alernative Investments Alternative tnvestments
Net Income Capital Under Managemem 2007 Revenue by Type*
In biltions of dollars In bittions of dolfars at December 31
$14 $59.2 Client
Revenue
2%
$49.2
$37.6
Fees,
Dividends
and Interast
11%
Net Realized and
Net Change in
Unrealized Gains
62%
2005 2006 2007 2005 2006 2007 * Excludes Other revenue of $(200) mitlion.

Alternative Investments (CAT) manages capital on behalf of Citigroup, as well as for third-party institutional and high-net-worth investors. CAl is an integrated
alternative investment platform that manages a wide range of products across five asset classes, including private equity, hedge funds, real estate, structured
products and managed futures.

% Change % Change

In millions of dobiars 2007 2006 2005 2007vs.2006 2006 vs. 2005

Net interest revenue $ (1) §$ 259 § 261 NM (1%

Non-interest revenue 2,114 2,642 3,169 (20)% (1N

Total revenues, net of interest expense $2103 32901  $3,430 {28)% {15)%

Net realized and net change in unrealized gains $1.417 32107 $2,582 (33)% {18)%

Fees, dividends and interest 262 449 508 {42} (12}

Other (200) {18 {1 {69) NM

Total proprietary investment activities revenues $1,479  $2438  $3,090 (39)% 21)%

Client revenues " 624 463 340 35 36

Total revenues, net of interest expense $2103  $2,901  $3430 (28)% (15)%

Qperating expenses 213 763 633 20 21

Provision fcr loan losses — {13) (2) NM NM

Income hefore taxes and minority interest $1,190  $2,151  $2,799 {45)% (23}%

income taxes $ 431 $ 708§ 950 (39)% (26)%

Minority interest, net of taxes 87 169 412 {49) {59)

Net income $ 672 $1,276 $1,437 4N% (11)%

Revenue by product:

Clignt ® $ 624 5 463 § 340 35% 36%
Private Equity $1660 31,743  $2,563 (5)% {32)%
Hedge Funds (99) 21 69 NM NM
QOther (82) 484 458 NM 6

Proprigtary $1.479 32438  $3,000 {39)% {21)%

Total $2103  $2901  $3,430 {28)% (15)%

Key indicators: (in billions of dollars)

Capitat under management:

Client $487 $385 §$ 254 26% 52%
Proprietary 10.5 10.7 12.2 (2} {12)
Tolal $592 $492 3376 20% 31%

{1) Includes fee income.
NM Net meaningful.
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The Proprietary Porifolio of CAI consists of private equity, single- and
multi-manager hedge funds, real estate and Legg Mason, Inc, (Legg Mason)
preferred shares, Private equity, which constitutes the largest proprietary
investrnents on both a direct and an indirect basis, is in the form of equity
and mezzanine debt financing in companies across a broad range of
industries worldwide, including investments in developing economies. Such
investments inctude Citigroup Venture Capital International Brazil, LP {(CVC/
Brazil, formerly CVC/Opportunity Equity Partners, LF), which has invested
pritnarily in companies privatized by the government of Brazil in the
mid-1990s.

The Clfent Portfolto is composed of single- and multi-manager hedge
funds, real estate, managed futures, private equity, and a variety of leveraged
fixed income products {credit structures). Products are distributed to
investors directly by CAl and through Citigroup GWM’s Private Bk and
Smith Barney platform. Revenue includes management and performance
fees earned on the portfolic.

Investments held by investment company subsidiaries (including CVC/
Brazil) are carried at fair value, with the net change in unrealized gains and
losses recorded in income. The Commpany's investment in CVG/Brazil is
subject to a variety of unresobved matters, including pending litigation
involving some of its portfolio cornpanies, which could affect future
valuations of these companies, Certain private equity investrnents in
cornpanies located in developing economies that are not held in investment
company subsidiaries are either carried at cost or accounted for by the equity
method, with unrealized losses recognized in income for other-than-
temporary declines in value. Investments classified as available-for-sale are
carried at fair value with the net change in unrealized gains and losses
recorded in equity as accumulated other comprehensive income, with
unrealized losses recognized in income for other-than-temporary declines in
value. Afl other investment activities are primarily carried at fair value, with
the net change in unrealized gains and losses recorded in income.
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The investrnent in Legg Mason resulted from the sale of Citigroup’s Asset
Manzgement business to Legg Mason on December 1, 2005, Sale proceeds
included a combination of Legg Mason common and convertible preferred
equity securities valued at $2.298 billion. The total equivalent number of
common shares was 18.7 million, of which 10.3 million were sold in March
2006. No shares were sotd during 2007 and 6.8 million shares were sold
during 2008 up until February 21, 2008, As of February 21, 2008, Citigroup
owns 1.6 miltion shares, of which 0.9 million shares are subject to cash-
settled equity swaps at a strike price of $72 per share. The Legg Mason equity
securities are classified on Citigroup’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as Trading
ACCOUNt asseds.

On July 2, 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of Old Lane
Partners, LP and 0ld Lane Partners, GP, LLC (Old Lane). Old Lane is the
manager of  global, multi-strategy hedge fund and a private equity fund
with total assets under managemeni and private equity commitments of
approximaely $4.5 billion.

Alternative Investments, through its Global Credit Structures investment
center, s the investment manager for seven Structured Investment Vehicles
(SI¥s). On Decernber 13, 2007, the Company announced its decision, not
legally required, to commit to providing a support facility that would resolve
uncertainties regarding senior debt repayment facing the Citi-advised SIVs.
The Company’s decision was a response to the ratings review for a possible
downgrade of the outstanding senior debt of the SIVs announced by two
rating agencies, and the continued reduction of liquidity in the SIV-related
asset-backed commercial paper and medium-term note markets. These
markets are the traditional funding sotrces for the SIVs. The Company's
actions are designed to support the current ratings of the SIVs’ senior debt
and to allow the SIVs to continue o pursue their current orderly asset
reduction plan. As 2 result of this commitment, the Company became the
SIVs” primary beneficiary and consolidated the SIVs' assets and liabilities
onto its balance sheet. On February 12, 2008, Citigroup finalized the terms of
the support facility, which takes the form of a commitment to provide
mezzanine capital to the SIV vehicles in the event the market value of their
capital notes approaches zero.




2007 vs. 2006
Revenues, net of interest expense, of $2.103 billion for 2007 decreased $798
million, or 28%.

Total propricary revenues, net of interest expense, of $1.479 billion for
2007 were composed of revenues from private equity of $1.660 billion, other
investment activity of $(82) million and hedge funds of $(99) million.
Private equity revenue decreased $83 million from 2006, driven by lower
gains and higher funding costs. Other investment activities revenue
decreased $366 million from 2006, largely due to the 2006 liquidation of
Citigroup’s investment in St. Paul shares and MetLife shares and a lower
market value on Legg Mason shares in 2007. Hedge fund revenue decreased
$310 million, largely due to lower investment performance. Client revenues
increased $161 million, reflecting increased management fees from a 40%
growth in average client capital under management, and the acquisition of
0ld Lane.

Operating expenses in 2007 of $913 million increased $150 million from
2006, primarily due to higher employee-related expenses and the acquisition
of Old Lane.

AMinority interest, net of taxes, in 2007 of $87 million decreased $82
million from 2006, primarily due to lower private equity gains related to
underlying investments held by consolidated majority-owned legal entities.
The impact of minority interest is reflected in fees, dividends, and interest,
and net realized and net change in unrealized gains/(losses) consistent with
proceeds received by minority interests.

Net income in 2006 reflects higher tx benefits including $58 million
resulting from the resolution of the Federal Tax Audit in 2006.

Propriciary capital under management of $10.5 billion decreased
approximately $200 miflion from 2006 due to capital reductions in certain
hedge fund strategies partiaily offset by new investments in private equily.

Client capital under management of $48.7 billion in 2007 increased
$10.2 biltion from 2006, due to the acquisition of Old Lane and capital
raised offset by lower investment performance in fixed income-oriented
products.

36

2006 vs, 2005
Revenues, net of interest expense, of $2.901 billion for 2006 decreased $529
million, or 15%.

Total proprictary revenues, net of mierest expense, were composed of
revenues from private equity of $1.743 billion, other investment activity of $484
million and hedge funds of $211 million. Private equity revenue declined $820
million from 2005, primarily driven by the absence of prior-year gains
from the sale of portfolio assets. Other investment activities revenue
increased $26 million from 2005, largely due to reatized gains from the
liquidation of Citigroup’s investment in MetLife shares and real estate
investment retums, partially offset by lower realized gains from the sale of
Citigroup's investment in St. Paul shares. Hedge fund revenue increased
$142 million, led by higher investment performance and an increased asset
base. Client revenues increased $123 million, reflecting increased
management and performance fees from a 39% growth in average ctient
capital under management.

Operating expenses in 2006 increased from 2005, primarily due to higher
enployee-related expenses including the impact of SFAS 123(R).

Minority inferest, net of taxes, declined on the absence of prior-year
private equity gains related o underlying investments held by consolidated
majority-owned legal entities. The impact of minority interest is reflected in
fees, dividends, and interest, and net realized and net change in unreaized
gaing/{losses) consistent with proceeds received by minority interests.

Proprivtary capital under management decreased $1.5 billion,
primarily driven by the sale of Citigroup’s remaining holdings of St. Paul
and MetLife shares and the partial sell down of Legg Mason shares in the first
quarter of 2006, which were partially offset by investments in private equity
and hedge funds.

Client capital under management increased $13.1 billion due to
inflows from institutional and high-net-worth clients in private equity, real
estate and hedge funds.




CORPORATE/OTHER

Corporate/Other includes treasury results, unallocated corporate expenses,
offsets to certain line-item reclassifications reported in the business segments
(intersegmeni eliminations), the results of discontinued operations, the
cumulative effect of accounting change and unallocated taxes,

In mitlions of dollars 2007 2006 2005
Net interest revenue $ @AM $ (486 3 (342
Mon-interest ravenue {428) 467) (228)
Revenues, net of interest expense $ B897) § @949 $ (580)
Restructuring expense 1,528 — —
Operating expenses 355 200 383
Provisions for loan losses and for benetits and claims {n ] i2)
Loss from continuing operations before taxes,

minority interest and cumulative effect of

accounting change $(2,779)  $(1,155) § (961)
Income 1ax benefits (1,077) (502) {309)
Minority interest, net of taxes (58) 1 15
Loss from continuing operations before

cumulative effect of accounting change $0648) $ (624 ¢ (66D
Income from discontinued operations — 289 4,832
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — {49)
Net income {loss) ${1,644) & (365) $4.116

2007 vs. 2006

Revenues, net of interest expense, improved primarily due to improved
treasury results and a gain on the sale of certain corporate-owned assets,
partially offset by higher intersegment eliminations.

Restructuring expenses, See Note 10 1o the Consolidated Financial
Statements on page 138 for details on the 2007 restructuring charge.

Otber operating expenses increased primarily due to increased staffing,
technology and other unallocated expenses, partially offset by higher
intersegment eliminations.

{ncome tax benefils increased due to a higher pretax loss in 2007, offset
by a prior-vear tax reserve release of $69 million relating to the resolution of
the 2006 Tax Audits.

Discontinued operations represent the operations in the Company’s Sale
of the Asset Management Business and the Sale of the Life Insurance and
Annuities Business. For 2006, income from discontinued operations included
gains and tax benefits relating to the final settlement of the Life Insurance
and Annuities and Asset Management Sale Transactions and 2 gain from the
Sale of the Asset Management Business in Poland, as well a5 2 tax reserve
release of $76 million relating 1o the resolution of the 2006 Tax Audits, See
Note 3 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 125.
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2006 vs. 2005
Revenues, net of interest expense, declined primarily due to lower
intersegment eliminations.

Operating expenses declined, primarily due to lower intersegment
eliminations, partially offset by increased siaffing and technology costs.

fncome tax benefits increased due to a higher pretax loss in the current
vear, a tax reserve release of $61 million relating to the resolution of the
Federal Tax Audit and a release of $8 million relating to the resolution of the
New York Tax Audits.

Discontinued operations represent the operations in the Company's Sale
of the Asset Management Business and the Sale of the Life Insurance and
Annuities Business. For 2006, income from discontinued operations included
gains and tax benefits relating to the final settlement of the Life Insurance
and Annuities and Asset Management Sale Transactions and a gain from the
Sale of the Asset Management Business in Poland. Tax benefits included a
tax reserve release of §59 million relating to the resolution of the Federal Tax
Audit and a tax benefit of $17 million related to the resolution of the New
York Tax Audits. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financiat Staternents on
page 125,



RISK FACTORS

Economic conditions. The profitability of Citigroup’s businesses may
be affected by global and local economic conditions, such as the levels and
liuidity of the global financial and other asset markets, the absolute and
relative level and volatility of interest rates and equity prices, investor
sentiment, inflation, and the availability and cost of credit.

The Company generally maintains large trading portfolios in the fixed
income, currency, commedity and equity markets and has significant
investment positions, including investments held by its private equity
business. [ addition, the Company periodically holds portfolios in advance
of syndication or distribution activities. The revenues derived from these
portfolios are directly affected by economic and miarket conditions
(including without limitation through the valuation of these portfolios). The
valuation of a significant portion of the trading portfolios is valued using
models whose inputs are not observable in the market and are therefore
based on management’s best estimate.

The credit quality of Citigroup’s on-balance-sheet assets and off-balance-
sheet exposures is also affected by economic conditions, as more loan
delinquencies would likely result in a higher level of charge-offs and
increased provisions for credit losses, and lower levels of other revenues
adversely affecting the Company's earnings. The Company’s consumer
businesses are particularly affected by factors such as: prevailing interest
rates; the rate of unemployment; the level of consumer confidence;
residential real estate values, especially in the [1.5.; changes in consumer
spending; and the number of personal bankruptcies.

Credit, market and market liquidity risk. As discussed above, the
Company’s eamings may be impacted through its market risk and credit risk
positions and by changes in economic conditions. In addition, Citigroup's
earnings are dependent upon the extent to which management can
successfully implement effective risk management processes and manage its
positions within the global markets. In particular environments, the
Company may not be able to mitigate its risk exposures as effectively as
desired, and may have unwanted exposures to certain risk factors.

The Company's earnings are also dependent upon its ability to properly
value financial instruments, In certain illiquid markets, processes Lo
ascertain vatue and estimates of value, both of which require substantial
elements of judgment, are required. The Company’s earnings are also
dependent upon how effectively it assesses the cost of credit and manages its
portfolio of risk concentrations. In addition to the direct impact of the
successful management of these risk factors, management effectiveness is
taken into consideration by the rating agencies, which determine the
Company’s own credit ratings and thereby affect the Company’s cost of
funds. Moreover, actions by third parties, such as rating agency downgrades
of instruments to which the Company has exposure and independent actions
by market participants, can result in reduced liquidity and valuations of
those instruments.

Competition. Merger activity in the financial services industry has
produced companies that are capable of offering a wide array of financial
products and services at competitive prices. Globalization of the capital
markets and financial services industries exposes Citigroup to competition at
both the global and local levels. In addition, technological advances and the
growth of e-commerce and regulatory developments have made it possible
for non-depository institutions to offer products and services that
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traditionally were banking products. Citigroup's ability to grow its
businesses, and therefore its earnings, is affected by these competitive
pressures and is dependent on Citigroup’s ability to attract and retain
talented and dedicated employees.

Country risk. Citigroup's international revenues are subject to risk of
loss from unfavorable political and diplomatic developments, currency
fluctuations, social instability, and changes in governmental policies,
including expropriation, nationalization, international ownership
legislation, interest-rate caps and tax policies. In addition, revenues from the
trading of international securities and investment in international securities
may be subject to negative fluctuations as a result of the above factors. The
impact of these fluctuations could be accentuated because certain
international trading markets, particularly those in emerging market
countries, are typically smaller, less liquid and more volatile than U.S.
trading markets.

For geographic distributions of net income, see page 20. For a discussion
of international leans, see Note 17 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
on page 145 and “Country and Cross-Border Risk Management Process” on
page 65.

Operational risk. Citigroup is exposed to many types of operational
risk, including the risk of fraud by employees and outsiders, clerical and
record-keeping errors, integration of numerous acquired businesses, and
computer/telecommunications systems malfunctions. Given the high
volume of transactions at Citigroup, certain errots may be repeated or
compounded before they are discovered and reciified. In addition, the
Company’s necessary dependence upon automated systems to record and
process its transaction volurne may further increase the risk that technical
system flaws or employee tampering or manipulation of those systems will
result in losses that are difficult to detect. The Company may also be subject
to disruptions of its operating systems arising from events that are wholly or
partially beyond its control (for example, natural disasters, acts of terrorism,
epidemics, computer viruses, and electrical/telecormunications outages),
which may give rise to losses in service to customers and/or monetary loss o
the Company. Al of these risks are also applicable where the Company relies
on outside vendors 1o provide services 1o it and its customers.

Fiscal and monetary poticies. The Company’s businesses and
earnings are affected by the policies adopted by regulatory authorities and
bodies of the United States and other governments. For example, in the
United States, policies of the Federal Reserve Board directly influence the rate
of interest paid by commercial banks on their interest-bearing deposits and
also may affect the value of financial instruments held by the Company. In
addition, such changes in monetary policy may affect the credit quality of
the Company’s customess. The actions of the Federal Reserve Board and
international central banking authorities directly impact the Company's cost
of funds for lending, capital raising and investment activities.




Reputational and legal risk. Various issues may give rise 10
reputational risk and cause harm to the Company and its business prospects.
These issues include appropriately dealing with potential conflicts of interest:
legal and regulatory requirements; ethical issues; money laundering laws;
privacy laws; information security policies; sales and trading practices; and
conduct by companies in which we hold strategic investments or joint
venture partners. Failure to address these issues appropriately could also give
rise 1o additional legal risk to the Company, which could increase the
number of litigation claims and the amount of damages asserted against the
Company, or subject the Company to regulatory enforcement actions, fines
and penalties.

Certain regulatory considerations. As 2 worldwide business,
Citigroup and its subsidiaries are subject to extensive regulation, new
legislation and changing accounting standards and interpretations thereof
in many jurisdictions. Legislation is introduced, including tax, consumer
protection, privacy and other legislation, from time to time in Congress, in
the states and in foreign jurisdictions that may change banking and
financial services laws and the operating environment of the Cempany and
its subsidiaries in substantial and unpredictable ways. The Company cannot
determine whether such legislation will be enacted and the ultimate effect
that it would have on the Company’s results,
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MANAGING GLOBAL RISK

Citigroup's risk management framework is designed to balance strong
corporate oversight with well-defined independent risk management
functions within each business. :

The Citigroup Chief Risk Officer is responsible for:

» establishing standards for the measurement and reporting of risk,

» identifying and monitoring risk on a Company-wide basis,

* managing and compensating the senior independent risk managers,

* ensuring that the risk function has adequate staffing, analytics and
expertise, and

* approving business-level risk management policies.

The risk managers supporting each of our businesses are responsible for
establishing and implementing risk management policies and practices
within their business, overseeing and critically evaluating the risk in their
business, and for applying risk control policies that enhance and address the
requirements of the business.

RISK AGGREGATION AND RISK CONVERGENCE

While the major risk factors are described individually on the following
pages, these risks often need to be reviewed and managed in conjunction
with one another and across the various businesses.

The Chief Risk Officer, as noted above, monitors and controls major risk
exposures and concentrations across the organization. Specifically, this means
looking at like risks across businesses (“risk aggregation”) and looking at the
confluence of risk types within and across businesses (*risk convergence™).

During the course of 2007, including in the fourth quarter, Risk
Management, working with input from the businesses and Finance, provided
enhanced periodic updates to senior management and the Board of Directors
on significant potential exposures across the Citigroup organization arising
from risk concentrations {e.g., residential real estaie), financial market
participants (e.g., monoline insurers), and other systemic issues (e.g.,
commercial paper markets). These risk assessments are forward-looking
exereises, intended to inform sentor management and the Board of Directors
about the potential economic impacts to Citi that may occur, directly or
indirectly, as a result of hypothetical scenarios, These exercises are a
supplement to the standard limit-setting and risk capital exercises described
later in this section, as the risk assessment process incorporates events in the
marketplace and within Citi that impact our outlook on the form,
magnitude, correlation and timing of identified risks that may arise. In
addition to enhancing awareness and understanding of potential exposures,
these assessments then serve as the starting point for developing risk
management and mitigation strategies,

RISK CAPITAL

Risk capital is defined as the amount of capitat required to absorh potential
unexpected economic losses resulting from extremely severe events over a
one-year time period.

+ “Economic losses” include losses that appear on the income statement
and fair value adjustments to the financial statements, as well as any
further declines in value not captured on the income statement.

* “lUnexpected losses™ are the difference between potential extremely severe
losses and Citigroup's expected (average) loss over a one-year time period,

» “Extremely severe” is defined as potential loss at a 99.97% confidence
level, based on the distribution of observed events and scenario analysis.

The drivers of “econontic losses™ are risks, which can be broadly categorized
as credit risk (including cross-border risk}, market risk and operational risk:




+ Credit risk losses primarily result from a borrower's or counterparty’s
inability to meet its obligations.

o Market risk losses arise from fluctuations in the market value of trading
and non-trading positions, including changes in value resulting from
fluciuations in rales.

* Operational risk losses result from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people or systems or from extemnal events.

These risks are measured and aggregated within businesses and across
Citigroup to facilitate the understanding of the Company’s exposure to
extreme downside events.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss resulting from the failure of 2
borrower or counterparty to honor its financial or contractual obligations.
Credit risk arises in many of the Company’s business activities, including:

lending

sales and trading

o derivatives

* securities transactions

settlement

» when the Company acts as an intermediary on behalf of its clients and
other third parties.

Total Loans
At December 31, 2007

Corporate
20%

Consumer
76%

Consumer Credit—

90 Days or More Past Due
In millions of doflars at December 31

$9.841

I

2005 2006 2007
1.46% 1.29% 1.66%
As a percent of total Consumer loans
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Gorporate Credit—
Cash Basis Loans
In millions of dollars at December 31

$1,158

$1,004

$535

2005 2006 2007
0.78% 0.32% 0.95%
As a percent of total Corporate loans

Altowance for Credit Losses

In mittigns of doflars at December 31

B Allowance for Unfunded Lending Commitments™
1 * Mlowance for Loan Losses

$17,367
1,250

$10,632
i $10,040
Sssﬂ-m oo

$9.782 $6.540 $18Im

2005 2006 2007
1.68% 1.32% 2.07%
As a percent of total loans {excludes

allowance for unfunded lending commitments}

* Reported in Other Liabilities on the Consolidated Batance Sheet




LOANS OUTSTANDING

In millions of doliars at year end 2007 2006 @ 2005 & 2004 @ 2003 @
Cansumer lpans
InU.S. offices:
Mortgage and real estate 0 $251,927  $225900  $192045 $161,755  $129,412 ‘
Instaltment, revolving credit, and other 140,797 131008 127432 134178 - Vasged
Lease financing 3,151 4,743 5,095 6,030 8,523
$395,875  $361,651 $324572  $301.913  $273.928
In offices outside the U.S.:
Mortgage and real estate 0* $ 55152 § 44457 §$ 30619  § 3360t $ 28743
Installment, revolving credit, and gther 139,369 105,393 89,559 92 647 76,037
Lease financing 1,124 960 866 1619 2,216
$195645 $150810  $130,044  $133867 3106996
$591,520 3512461 $454616  $435780  $380,924
Uneamed income 787 460 4 (554) {992)
Consumer loans—net $592,307  $512921  $454620 $435226  $379,932
Carporate loans o
InU.S. offices:
Commereial and industriat $ 3BB70  $ 27437 $ 22081 314437 $ 15207
Lease financing 1,630 2,101 1,952 1,879 2010
Morigage and real estate 2,220 168 29 100 95
$42720 $ 20706 § 24062 % 16416 $ 17.3i2
In offices outside the U.S.
Commercial and industrial $116,145 3105872 $ 80,116  $ 77052 $ 62884
Mortgage and real estate (U 4,156 5,334 5,206 3,628 1,751
Loans to financial institutions 20,467 21,827 16,889 12,921 12,063
Lease financing 2,292 2,024 2.082 2,485 2,859
Governmesnts and official institutions 442 1,867 882 1,100 | 1,486,
$143502  $136914  $105175 §$ 97486 § 81,053
$186,222 $166,620 $129237  $113902 $ 98,365
Unearmed income {536) (349) {354) {299) (291
Corporate lpans—net $185686 $166271  $128.883  $113603  §$ 98,074
Total loans—net of unearned income $777.993  $679,192  $583503  $548320  $478.006
Allowance for loan losses—on drawn exposures {16,117) (8,940) {9,782) {11,269} {12,643)
Total loans—net of unearned income y .
and allowance for credit losses $761,876 3670252  $573721  $537.560 . $465A§§2
Allowance for loan losses as a percentage of total loans— o
net of unearned income 2.07% 1.32% 168% . 206% . . a54%
(1) Loans secured primarity by real estate.
{2) Reclassified 10 conform to curvent year's presantation.
OTHER REAL ESTATE OWNED AND OTHER REPOSSESSED ASSETS i
In mitions of dolars at year end 2007 2006 2005 2004 - 2003
Other real estate owned (42
Consumer $ 107 $385 $279 $320 3437
Corporate 512 316 150 126 105
Total other real estate owned $1,219 $701 $429 3446 ' §542
Other repossessed assets 9 $ 99 $75 $ 62 $ 93 5151

(1) Represents repossessed real estate, carried at kywer of cost or fair value 16ss costs to sall,
(2} Includes the impact of foreclosures on subprime residential mortgages in the U.S, real estate portiolio,
(3) Primarily commercial transportation equipment and manufactured housing, carried at lower of cost or fir value less costs to sell.




DETAILS OF CREDIT LOSS EXPERIENCE

In millions of doliars at year end 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Allowance for loan losses at beginning of year $8940 $9782 $11,269 $12643  $11,100
Provision for ipan losses
Consumer 16,191 $ 6636 $8224 $7205 §7316
Corporate 1,233 102 (295) {a72) 730
$17424 $6738 $7929 $6233 §8046
Gross credit losses
Consumer
InU.S. offices $5850 34510 $5922 §$6937 $5783
In offices outside the U.S. 5,905 4,717 4,664 3,304 3,270
Corporate
Mortgage and real estate
In U.S. offices —_ — — - —
In offices ocutside the U.S. 3 1 — 6 27
Governments and officia) institutions outside the U.S. — — — — m
Loans to financial institutions
In LS. offices — — — — —
In offices outside the U.S. 69 3 10 3 13
Commercial and industrial
InU.S. offices 632 85 78 52 383
tn offices outside the U.S. 24 222 287 571 939
$12700  $ 9541  $10961  $10873  $10,526
Credit recoveries
Consunter
In U.S. oflices $ 723 % 691 51081 $1079 § 763
In offices oulside the U S. 1,249 1,274 842 691 735
Corporate
Mortgage and real estate
In U.S. offices 3 1 — — —
in offices outside the U.S. —_ 18 5 3 1
Governments and official institutions outside the U.S. 4 7 55 1 —
Loans to financial institutions
In LS. ofiices — — — 6 —
In offices outside the LS. 1 4 15 35 12
Commercial and industrial
In U.S. offices 49 20 104 100 34
In offices outside the U.S. 220 182 473 357 215
$2249 $2197 $255 §$2272 § 1,760
Net credit losses
In U.S. offices $5707 $3883 $4835 $5804 §5369
In offices outside the U.S. 4,744 3,461 35M 2,797 3,397
Total $10451 $7344 $85406 $8601 § 8766
Other—net @ $ 204 § (2357 S$(1,010) § 9894 § 2,262
Allowance for loan losses at end of year $16,117  $ 8940 $ 9782 $11,260  $12,643
Allowance for unfunded tending commitments & $125 $1700 $ 850 § 600 $ 600
Total allowance for loans, leases and unfunded lending commitments $17,367  $10,040 $10632  $11,869  $13,243
Net consumer credit losses $9783 $7262 $B8683 $8471 §7555
As a percentage of average consumer loans 1.78% 1.52% 2M% 2.13% 2.22%
Net corporate credit losses/(recoveries) $ 668 $ 82 $ @M $ 130 $1.21
As a percentage of average corporate loans 0.35% 0.05% NM 0.11% 1.17%

(1) Consume credit ksses primarity relate 1o U.S. mortgages, revolving credit and instafiment ioans. Recoveries primarity relata to revolving credit and installment loans.
{2) 2007 primarity includes reductions to the koan loss ceserve of $475 million related to securitizations and transfers to loans held-Tor-sate, reductions of $83 million retated to the transter of the UK. CitiFinancial portfolio

10 hedg-for-sale, and additions of $610 million related to the

primarily inciudes the addition of $2.1 nillion of loan ks reserves related to the acquisition of the Sears credit card business.

uisrtion, and a reduction of $30

@ Represents additional credit loss reserves for unfunded cororate lending commitments and letters of credit recorded wilh Other Liabilities on the Consofidated Batance Sheet.

NM Not meaningtul,
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acquisition of Egg, Nikko Cordial, Grupo Cuscatlan and Grupo Financiero Une. 2006 primarily includes reductions to tha loan loss reserve of $429 million
related 10 securitizations and portiolio sales and the addition of $84 million related to the acquisition of the CrediCard portfolic. 2005 primarily includes reduc
securitizations and portfolio sales, a reduction of $110 million refated to purchase acoounting adjustments from ine KorAm acq
portiolio. 2004 primarity includes the addition of $715 million of loan oss reserves related 1o the acquisition of KorAm and the add

tons 1o the loan loss resenve of $584 milion related ko
million from the sale of CitiCapital's transportation
ition of $148 millioa of lpan loss reserves retated to the acquisition of WMF. 2003




CASH-BASIS, RENEGOTIATED, AND PAST DUE LOANS

in millions of dollars at year end 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Corporate cash-basis loans ™

Collateral dependent {at lower of cost or collateral value) $ 1 $ 19 $ 6 % 7 $ 8
Other @ 1,747 516 998 1,899 3.411

Total $1,758 $ 535 $1.004  $1906 $3.41 9‘
Carporate cash-basis loans

in U.S. offices $ 266 $ 128 $ 81 % 254 § 640
In offices outside the U.S. 1,492 407 923 1,652 2,779
Total $1,758 5 535 $1,004 31906  $3.419
Renegotiated lpans (includes Corporate and Commercial Business Loans)

In U.S. offices $ 58 % 4 ¢ 22 §$ 63 $ 107
In offices outside the U.S. 60 18 10 20 33
Total $ 18§ 22 § 32 § 83 § 140
Cansumer lpans on which accrual of interest had been suspended 344

in U.S. offices $4857 $2490 $2307 $2485  $3,127
In offices outside the U.S. 2,353 2,022 1,713 2978 2,958
Total $2.210 34512 $4020 $5463 36,085
Accruing loans 90 or more days delinquent 5 6

In .5, offices $2,723 32260 $2,886  $3,153  §3,208
In offices outside the U.S. 70 524 391 40 576
Total $3424 %2784  $3277  $3554  $3.874

[1) Extiudes purchased disiressed loans as they are accreting interest in accordance with Statement of Position 03-3, "Accounting for Certain Loans on Debt Securities Actuired in a Transfer” (S0P 03-3). Prior 1o 2004,
these loans were classified with Other Assets. The camying value of these loans was $2.399 bilion at December 31, 2007, $949 million at December 33, 2006 and $1,120 million at December 31, 2005 and $1,213

million at December 31, 2004, The balance in 2003 was immaterial,
(@ Includes the irmpact of subprime activity in the LS, and UK,

(3) From Decernber 31, 2005 forward, balanca includes the impact of the change in the FMEA Consumer Write-0ff Policy,

(4} Inchudes the impact of the detenioration in the LLS. consumer real estate market.

(5} The December 31, 2004 balance includes the Principal Residentizl Mortgage Inc. (PRMS data. The December 31, 2003 halance includes the Sears and Home Depot data.
(6) Substantially composed of consumer loans of which $2.454 tillion, $1.436 biflion, $1.581 billion, $1.867 billion, and ${.643 billion are government-guaranteeq student loans and Federal Housing Authority mortgages

at December 31, 2007, 2008, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

FOREGONE INTEREST REVENUE ON LOANS ™

In non-
inUS, us. 2007
in miflions of dollars offices  offices  total
Interest revenue that would have been
accrued at original contractual rates @ $379 $520  $899
Amount recognized as interest revenue & 58 227 285
Foregone interest revenue $321 $203  S614

(1) Relates to corporate cash-basis, renegotiated loans and consumer loans on which accrial of interest
had been suspended.

[2) interest revenue in offices outsida the US. may reflect prevalling local interest rates, including the
eftects of inflation and monetary correction i certain countries.
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CONSUMER CREDIT RISK
Within Global Consumer, credit risk management is responsible for
establishing the Global Consumer Credit Policy, approving business-specific
policies and procedures, monitoring business risk management
performance, providing ongoing assessment of portfolio credit risk, ensuring
the appropriate level of loan loss reserves, and approving new products and
new risks.

Approval policies for a product or business are taitored to intemal
profitability and credit risk portfolio performance.

CONSUMER PORTFOLIO REVIEW
Citigroup's consumer loan portfolio is comparatively diversified by both
product and location.

Consumer Loans by Type
At December 31, 2007

Installment
& Qther
29% It

Credit
Cards
15%

Consumer Loans by Geagraphy
At December 31, 2007

Latin
America
Asia 2%
13% AN
Japan :
2% k.. .
EMEA
11%
Mexico
3%

a4

It the Consumer portfolio, credit loss experience is often expressed in
terms of annualized net credit losses as a percentage of average loans.
Consumer loans are generally written off no later than a predetermined
number of days past due on & contractual basis, or earlier in the event of
bankruptey.

0.5, Commercial Business includes loans and leases made principally to
small and middle market businesses. These are placed on a non-accrual
basis when it is determined that the payment of interest or principal is past
due for 90 davs or more, except when the loan is well secured and in the
process of collection.

The following table summarizes delinquency and net credit loss
experience in both the managed and on-balance-sheet consumer loan
portfolios. The managed loan portfolio includes held-for-sale and securitized
credit card receivables. Only (7.5, Cards from a product view and U.5. from a
regional view are impacted. Although a managed basis presentation is not in
conformity with GAAP, the Company believes managed credit statistics
provide a representation of performance and key indicators of the credit card
business that are consistent with the way management reviews operating
performance and allocates resources. For example, the U/.5. Gards business
considers both on-balance-sheet and securitized balances (together, its
managed portfolio) when determining capital allocation and general
management decisions and compensation. Furthermote, investors use
information ahout the credit quality of the entire managed portfolio, as the
results of both the on-balance-sheet and securitized portfolios impact the
overall performance of the {/.8. Cards business. For a further discussion of
managed-basis reporting, see Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on page £56.




Consurmer Loan Delinguency Amounts, Net Credit Losses, and Ratios

Total Average
In millions of doliars, excep! total and average loan amounts in billions loans 90 days or more past due 0 loans Net credit losses ("
Product View: 2007 2007 2006 2005 2007 2007 2006 2005
us.
US. Cards $ 420 $ me $ 718 $1,161 $ 387 § 1841 $ 1,788 $ 2737
Ratio 1.85% 1.61% 2.56% 4.76% 4.23% 5.83%
U.S. Retail Distribution 58.1 1,146 834 g 52.2 1,562 1,186 1,404
Ratio 187%  173% 1.94% 2.99% 267% 3.48%
LS. Consumer Lending 2311 5,354 2,870 2,624 2239 1,646 787 673
Ratio 2.32% 1.36% 1.45% 0.74% 0.40% 0.40%
U.8. Commercial Busingss @ 391 179 148 155 377 83 57 48
Ratio 0.46% 0.41% 0.46% 0.22% 0.16% 0.15%
International:
International Cards 46.5 1,041 709 469 39.0 1,837 1,300 667
Ratio 2.24% 2.28% 1.95% 4.71% 4 84% 2.97%
International Consumer Finance 26.2 529 608 442 258 1,839 1411 1,284
Ratio 202%  24%% 2.03% T12% 5.92% 5.75%
International Retail Banking 87.7 783 667 779 78.8 975 737 1,882
Ratio 0.89% 097% 1.29% 1.24% 1.15% 3.05%
Private Bank® 57.2 30 21 79 50.5 - @ 8
Ratio 0.05% 0.05% 0.20% 0.00% {0.01)% {0.02)%
Other Consumer Loans 5.4 — — 47 35 - — 4
On-Balance-Sheet Loans $593.3 §$9841 $6576  $6,574 $550.1 $ 9,783 $ 7,262 $ 8,683
Ratio 1.66% 1.29% 1.46% 1.78% 1.52% 2.01%
Securitized receivables (@l in (LS. Cards) $108.1 § 1,864 $1616  $1314 $989 $47152 $ 3,985 $ 5326
Credit card receivables held-for-sale ® 1.0 14 — — 3.0 — 5 28
Managed Loans @ $7024 S$11, 719 $8,192 37888 $652.0 $14,535 $11,252 $14,037
Ratio 1.67% 1.34% 1.44% 2.23% 1.96% 2.69%
Regional View:
us. $410.1 $ 7484 $4,584 $4.857 $386.7 $ 5134 $ 3820 § 4,860
Ratio 1.83% 1.24% 1.47% 1.33% 1.10% 1.56%
Mexico 19.4 743 625 624 17.9 770 5M 284
Ratio 383%  37B% 4.21% 4.30% 3.34% 213%
EMFA 64.6 640 574 459 56.8 1,329 1,065 2132
fRatio 0.99% 1.32% 1.38% 2.34% 2.68% 5.62%
Japan 10.5 196 235 182 "1 1,284 1,033 1,016
Ratio 188%  2.08% 1.56% 11.62% 6.83% 7.43%
Asia 76.6 513 439 376 68.0 760 644 404
Ratio 067% 071% 0.70% 1.12% 1.13% 0.75%
Latin America 121 265 119 36 9.6 506 189 13
Ratio 2.20% 1.84% 0.93% 5.26% 3.63% {0.38)%
On-Balance-Sheet Loans & $5933 $9BM 36576 365572 $550.1 § 9,783 $ 7.262 $ 8,683
Ratio 1.66% 1.29% 1.46% 1.78% 1.52% 2.01%
Securitized recefvables (alin LS. Cards) $1081 % 1,864 3i616 31,314 $989 § 4752 $ 3,985 $ 5,326
Credit card receivables held-for-sate & 1.0 14 — - 30 _ 5 28
Managed Loans & $7024 $11,719  $8192  $7,888 $652.0 $14,535 $1i,252 $14,037
Ratio 1.67% 1.34% 1.44% 2.23% 1.96% 2.69%

(1} The ratios of 90 days or more past due and net credil logses are calcutated based on end-of-period and average loans, respectively, both net of unearned income.

@) USS. Commercial Business' totat kans include $2¢.4 biflion of loans related to commercial real estate.

@) Private Bank resulls are reported as part of the Global Wealth Management segment.

(4) Total loans and total average loans exclude cerlain interest and fees on credit cards of approximately $3 billion and $2 billion, respectively, which are included in Consumer Loans on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

[5) Included in Other Assets On the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

{6) This table presents credit information on a held basis and shows the impact of securitizations to reconcile to 2 managed basis. Only &S, Cardts from a product view, and 5. from a regional view, are affected.
Managed-basis reporting is a non-GAAP measure, Held-basis repacting is the related GAAP measure. See a discussion of managed-basls reporting on page 44.
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Consumer L.oan Balances, Net of Unearned Income

End of period Average
In billions of doilars 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
On-balance-sheet ™ $593.3 $5108  $4506  $550.1 34774 $4328
Securitized receivables (ali in {1.5. Cards) 108.1 995 96.2 98.9 96.4 89.2
Credit card receivables held-for-sale @ 1.0 — —_ 30 0.3 04
Total managed @ $7024 36103  $5468  $6520 35741  §5224

(1) Total loans and total average kans exclude centain interest and fees on credit cards of approximately $3 billion and $2 billion, respectively, lor 2007, $2 billion and $3 billion, respectivety, for 2006, and $4 billion and

$4 iflion, fespectively, for 2005, which arg included in Consumer Loans on the Consofidated Balance Sheet.

{2y Included in Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

{3 This 1abde presents loan information on a held basis and shows the impact of securitization to recondile to a managed basis, Managed-hasis reporting is a non-GAAP measure. Held-Dasts reporting is the related GAAP

rmeasure, 5ee a discussion of managed-basis reporting on page 44,

Citigroup’s total allowance for foans, leases and unfunded lending
commiiments of $17.367 billion is available to absorb probable credit losses
inherent in the entire portfolio. For analytical purposes only, the portion of
Citigroup's allowance for loan losses attributed to the Consumer portfolio
was $12.394 billion at December 31, 2007, $6.006 billion at December 31,
2006 and $6.922 billion at December 31, 2005, The increase in the
allowance for loan losses from December 31, 2006 of $6.388 billion
included net builds of $6.408 billion.

The builds consisted of $6.310 billien in Global Consumer (§5.028
billion in U.S. Consumer and $1.282 billion in Intemational Consumer),
and $100 miltion in Global Weaith Management.

The build of $5.028 biltion in U.S. Consumer primarily reflected an
increase in the estimate of losses embedded in the portfolio based on
weakening leading credit indicators, including increased delinquencies on
first and second mortgages, unsecured personal loans, credit cards, and
auto loans. Also, the build reflected trends in the U.S. macroecenomic
environment, including the housing market downturn, and portfolio
growth. The build of $1.282 billion in International Consumer primarily
reflected portfolio growth and the impact of recent acquisitions and
deterioration in certain countries, The credit environment in International
Consumer remnained generally stable.

On-balance-sheet consumer leans of $593.3 billion increased $82.5
billion, or 16%, from December 31, 2006, primarily driven by {/.5.

a6

Consumer Lending, U.S. Retail Distribution, Infernational Cards,
Inlernational Retas! Banking and Privale Bank. Net credit losses,
delinguencies and the related ratios are affected by the credit performance
of the portfolios, including bankruptcies, unemployment, global economic
conditions, portfolio growth and seasonal factors, as well as macro-
economic and regulatory policies.

Consumer Credit Outlook
Consurner credit losses in 2008 are expected to increase from prior-year
levels due to the following:

« Continued deterioration in the U.S. housing market is expected to drive
higher losses in the first mortgage and second mortgage portfolios.

« Higher levels of definquencies and bankruptey filings are expected to
drive higher losses in L5, Cards and (/.. Retail Distribution.

= Increased credit costs in frniernational Cards, International Consumer
Finance, excluding japan, and International Retail Banking as their
growing portfolios season or mature and may be affected by economic
and credit conditions in the 11.. and around the world,

» The difficult credit environment in the Japan Consumer Finance
business from the impact of changes to consumer lending laws enacted
in 2006, as well as deteriorating consumer credit conditions in faparr are
expected to drive higher credit costs.




Interest Rate Risk Associated with Consumer Mortgage
Lending Activity

Citigroup originates and funds morigage loans. As with alt other lending
activity, this exposes Citigroup to several risks, including credit, liquidity and
interest rate risks. To manage credit and liquidity risk, Citigroup sells most of
the mortgage loans it originates, but retains the servicing rights, These sale
transactions create an intangible asset referred to as mortgage servicing
rights (MSRs). The fair value of this asset is primarily affected by changes in
prepayments that result from shifts in morigage interest rates. Thus, by
retaining the servicing rights of sold morigage loans, Citigroup is still
exposed to interest rate risk.

In managing this risk, Citigroup hedges a significant portion of the value
of its MSRs through the use of interest rate derivative contracts, forward
purchase commitments of mortgage-backed securities, and purchased
securilies classified as available-for-sale or trading (primarily fixed income
debt, such as U.3. government and agencies obligations, and morigage-
backed securities including principal-only strips).

Sinee the change in the value of these hedging instruments does not
perfectly match the change in the value of the MSRs, Citigroup is still
exposed to what is commonly referred to as “basis risk.” Citigroup manages
this risk by reviewing the mix of the various hedging instruments referred to
above on a daily basis.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the portion of the MSRs that was hedged with
instruments qualifying for hedge accounting under SFAS 133 was recorded at
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fair value. The remaining portion of the MSRs, which was hedged with
instruments that did not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS 133 or
were unhedged, were accounted for at the lower-of-cost-or-market. With the
adoption of SFAS No. 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets”
(SFAS 156), as of January 1, 2006, the Company records all MSRs at fair
value,

Citigroup's MSRs totaled §8.380 billion and $5.439 billion at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. For additional information about
the Company’s MSRs, see Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
on page 147,

As part of the mortgage lending activity, Citigroup commonly enters into
purchase commitments to fund residential mortgage loans at specific
interest rates within a given period of time, generally up to 60 days after the
rate has been set. If the resulting loans from these commitments will be
classifted as loans-held-for-sale, Citigroup accounts for the commitments as
derivatives under SFAS 133. Accordingly, changes in the Fair value of these
commitments, which are driven by changes in mortgage interest rates, are
recognized in current earnings after taking into consideration the likelihood
that the commitment will be funded. However, a value is not assigned to the
MSRs until after the loans have been funded and sold.

Citigroup hedges its exposure to the change in the value of these
commiiments by utilizing hedging instruments similar to those referred to
above.




EXPOSURE TO REAL ESTATE

Subprime-Related Exposure In Securities and Banking

The following table summarizes Citigroup's U.S. subprime-related direct exposures in Securities and Banking (S6B) at September 30, 2007 and Decernber 31,

2007:
September 30, 2007 Faurth quarter Fourth quarter  December 31, 2007
n bitlions of dollars exposures 2007 write-downs 2007 sales/iransfers exposures
Direct ABS CDO Super Senior Exposures:
Gross ABS CDO Super Senior Exposures (A) $53.4 $39.8
Hedged Exposures (B} 10.5 10.5
Net ABS CDO Super Senior Exposures:
ABCP/CDO ™ $24.9 $(43) $00 $206
High grade 9.5 4.9)@ 0.3 49
Mezzanine 8.3 {(5.2)@ 05 36
ABS CDO-squared 0.2 a1 0.0 0.2
Total Net ABS CDO Super Senior
Exposures (A-B=C} $429 $(14.3) $08 £29.3
Lending & Structuring Exposures:
CDO warehousing/unsold tranches
of ABS CDOs $27 $ (26) $00 $02
Subprime loans purchased for sale
or securitization 4.2 (0.2) 0.0 4.0
Financing fransactions secured by subprime 4.8 0.1 @ (0.9) 38
Total Lending and Structuring Exposures (D) $11.7 %29 $(0.9) $ 8.0
Total Net Exposures $54.6 $(17.2 $(0.1) $37.3
Credit Adjustment on Hedged Counterparty
Exposures (B) i $ {0.9)
Total Net Write-Downs {C+D+E) $(18.1)

{1} Primarily backed by high-grade ABS CDOs. Ouring the fourth quarter of 2007, the CDOs which collateralized the ABCP were consolidated on Citigroup’s balance sheet.
[2) Fair value adjustment related ta counterparty credit risk. Includes an aggregate $704 million recorded in credit costs.

Subprime-Related Exposure In Securities and Banking
The Company had approximately $37.3 billion in net U.S. subprime-related
direct exposures in its Sectrities and Barnking business at December 31,
2007.

The exposure consisted of (a) approximately §29.3 billion of net
exposures in the super senior tranches (i.e., most senior tranches) of
collateralized debt obligations which are collateralized by asset-backed
securities, derivatives on asset-backed securities or both (ABS CDOs}, and
(b) approximately $8.0 billion of subprime-related exposures in its lending
and structuring business.

Direct ABS CDO Super Senior Exposures

The net $29.3 billion in ABS CDO super senior exposures as of December 31,
2007 is collateralized primarily by subprime residential morigage-backed
securities {RMBS), derivatives on RMBS or both. These exposures include
$20.6 billion in commercial paper (ABCP) issued as the super senior
tranches of ABS CDOs and approximately $8.7 billion of other super sentor
tranches of ABS CDOs.

Citigronp's CDO super senior subprime direct exposures are Level 3 assets
and are subject to valuation based on significant unobservable inputs.
Accordingly, fair value of these exposures is based on estimates. The
Company’s estimation process involves use of an intrinsic cash flow
methodolagy. During the course of the fourth quarter the methodology has
been refined, and inputs used for the purposes of estimation have been
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modified in part to reflect ongoing unfavorable market developments. The
methodology takes into account estimated housing price changes,
unemployment rates, interest rates and borrower aitributes such as age,
credit scores, documentation status, loan-to-value (LTV} ratios, and
debit-to-income (DTT) ratios in order to model future collateral cash flows.
In addition, the methodology takes into account estimates of the impact of
geographic concentration of mortgages, estimated impact of reported fraud
in the origination of subprime mortgages and the application of discount
rates for each level of exposure, the fair value of which is being estimated.
The primary drivers that will impact the super senior valuations are
housing prices, interest and unemployment rates as well as the discount
rates used to present value projected cash flows.

Estimates of the fair value of the CDO super senior exposures depend on
market conditions and are subject to further change over time. In addition,
while Citigroup believes that the methodotogy used to value these exposures
is reasonable, the methodology is subject to continuing refinement,
including 4s a result of market developments. Further, any observable
transactions in respect of some or all of these exposures could be employed
in the fair valuation process in accordance with and in the manner called
for by SFAS 157.




Lending and Structuring Exposures

The $8.0 billion of subprime-related exposures includes approximately $0.2
billion of CDO warehouse inventory and unsold tranches of ABS CDOs,
approximately $4.0 billion of actively managed subprime loans purchased
for resale or securitization, a1 a discount to par, during 2007, and
approximately $3.8 biltion of financing transactions with customers secured
by subprime collateral. These amounts represent fair value determined based
on observable inputs and other market data. As a result of the downgrades
and market developments during the fourth quarter of 2007, the fair value of
the CNO warehouse inventory and unsold tranches of ABS CDOs declined
significantly, while the declines in the fair value of the other subprime-
related exposures in the lending and structuring business was not
significant,

S&B also has trading positions, both long and short, in U.S. subprime
RMBS and related products, including ABS CDOs, which are not included in
the figures above. The exposure from these positions is actively managed and
hedged, although the effectiveness of the hedging products used may vary
with material changes in market conditions.

The American Securitization Forum {(ASF} and Treasury Secretary Henry
Paulson have created a framework for freezing interest rates ai their
introductory levels for certain eligible borrowers whose subprime residential
mortgage loans have been securitized. The accounting for Citigroup’s
maortgage QSPEs will not be direcily affected by loans modified in accordance
with the ASF framework, since it would be reasonable to conclude that
defawlts on such loans are “reasonably foreseeable” in the absence of dny
modification. At December 31, 2007, Global Consumer had $4.4 billion of
such nonsecuritized morigage loans.
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U.S. Consumer Mortgage Lending

The Company's U.S. Consumer mortgage portfolio consists of both first and
second mortgages, originated primarily by the L0.5. Consumer Lending and
.S, Retai! Distribution businesses. As of December 31, 2007, the first
mortgage portfolio totaled approximately $150 billion while the second
mongage portfolioc was approximately $63 billion. Approximately 84% of the
first mortgage porifolio had FICO (Fair Isaac Corporation) credit scores of at
least 620 at origination; the remainder was originated with FICO scores of
less than 620. In the second mortgage portfolio, the majority of loans are in
the higher FICO categories. However, approximately 33% of that portfolio
had loan-to-value ratics (LTVs} of 90% or more at origination.

In some cases, some specific portfolios have been excluded from or added
to the information presented, generally due to differences in methodology or
variations in the manner in which information is captured. We have noted
such exclusions or additions i instances where the Company believes they
are material to reconcile the information presented. U.S. Consumer
mortgage lending disclosure excludes approximately $21 billion of
consumer mortgage loans in Global Wealth Management (GWM). The GWM
loans are primarily in the U.S. business and typically have better aggregate
risk characteristics than those in the U.S. Consumer portfolio.

" Balances: December 31, 2007

FICO=660 620<FICO FIC0<620
MORTGAGES <660}

LTV <80% | 59% 5% 6%
B0<LiV<90% 3% 2% £%
LY =50% | 8% 6% 6%

. SECOND FICO =660 620<FICO FICO<620-
. MORTGAGES <660

Lv<80% | 48% 2% 0%
80<LV<30% 16% 1% 0%
LTV >90% 1 2% 1% 0%

Note: FICO and LTV primarily at origination. First mortgage table excludes First Collateral Services (§1.5
billion Commercial Business Group portfotio). Tables excluda $4.6 bitsion from first mortgages and $0.8
biltion irom second mortgages for which FICO and LTV dala was unavailable. 90+DPD delinquency rate for
the excluded f.rst moetgages is 2.02% {vs. 2,.69% for total portfolin) and 1.02% for the excluded second
mortgages (vs. 1.26% for total portfalic). Excluding Government insured loans (described below), the
60+DPD delinguency rate for the first mortgage portiolio is 1.99%. Considering current market and
econamit conditions, LTV ratios and FICD scores may have deteriprated.

S0

The tables below provide delinquency statistics for loans 90 or more days
past due (90+DPD) in both the first and second mortgage portfolios. Loans
in the first mortgage portfolio with FICO scores of less than 620 have
significanily higher delinquencies than in any other FICO band. Similarly,
in the second mortgage portfolio, loans with LTVs of at least 90% have higher
delinquencies than any other LTV band.

The Company’s first mortgage portfolio includes $3.2 billion of loans with
Federal Housing Administration or Veterans Administration guarantees.
These portfolios consist of loans originated to low-to-moderate-income
borrowers with lower FICO scores and generally have higher LTVs. These
loans have high delinquency rates {approximately 28% 90+ DPD) but, given
the Government insurance, the Company has experienced negligible credit
losses on these loans. The first morigage pertiotio also includes $2.4 billion
of loans with LTVs above 80% which have insurance through private
mortgage insurance companies and $14.8 billion of loans subject to Long
Term Standby Commitments! with Government Sponsored Enterprises
(GSE), for which the Company has limited exposure 1o credit losses.

The second mortgage portfolio includes $3.3 billion of insured loans with
LTVs above 90% and $3.2 billion of loans subject to Long Term Standby
Commitments with GSE, for which the Company has limited exposure to
credit losses. '

Delinquencies: 90+DPD

620<FICO FICO<620
<560

2.7% 3.6%

3.3% 5.4%

£.1% 13.6%

-

<660

1.3% 2.3%

24% 47%
LTV >90%: ¥ 5 2.5% 2.9% 5.6%

Note: 90+0PD are based on balances referenced in the table above. Second mortgages 90+DPD
delinquency rates are calcutated by OTS methodology. Second mortpages with FICOs below 620 are less
than 1% of the total, and the Company provides 90+DPD delinquency rates as a measura of their
perlormance.

1 ALong-Term Standby Commitment {LTSC) is @ structured transaction in wikch the Company transfers
the credit risk of certain eligible loans to an ivestor in exchange for a fee. These loans remain on
balance Sheet unless they reach a certain delinquency kevel (between 120 and 180 days), in which case
the LTSC investor is required 1o buy the loan at par,




In light of increased delinquencies in the U.S. Consumer mertgage . * The first mortgage delinquency trend shows that year-end delinquency

portfolios during 2007, the Company has increased its allowance for loan levels are similar to 2003 levels. A further breakout of the FICO below
losses related to these portfalios. 620 segment indicates that delinquencies in this segment are three times
The following charts detail the quarterly trends in delinquencies for the higher than in the overall first mortgage portfolio.

Company’s first and second U.$. Consumer mortgage portfolios. * Delinquency rates in the second mortgage portfolio are at historically

Delinquencies have increased substantially. high levels, particularly in the 90% or higher LTV segment. This segment
has a delinquency rate twice as high as the rate for the overall second
mortgage portfolio.

First Mortgages

—e— 040D

—0— NCL eatio

02%

FICD.<62D: 7.93%

0.63% 256% 049% 0.56%

T T T T

1003 203 30M

4003 Q04 2004 3004 4004 PROS 2005 3Q05  4Q05 1006 2006  3m06  4Q06 1007 2007 3007 4007

Note: Porttalio camprised of the .S, Consumer Lending and U.S. Retait Distribution {Citibank) first mortgage portfolios and the .5, Retas! Distribution (CitiFinancial) Real Estate
portfolio. It includes deferred fees/costs and loans held for sale. 40°07 NCL ratio based on average balances of $156 billion, 90+0PD based an EQP balances of $155 bitlion,

Second Mortgages
—e—90+0PD
—G— N(L ratio
1L67%
LI 0.15% L% o0% 0.09% 0.13% 0.15%
0% 0.09% 0.09% L04% 0.05% 0.05% 0.M% 0.14%

d T T T T T T T d

1993 2003 3003 4403 1004 2004 3404 4004 1005 2005 3005 4005 QD6 2006 30D6 4005 1007 2407 3m07 4007

Note: Partfolio comprised of the U.S. Consumer Lending and U.S. Retail Distribution (Citibank} Home Equity partfolios; 90-+DPD rate calculated by tombined MBA/OTS methadolagy.
4Q'07 NCE ratio based on average balances of $64 billion, 90+DPD based on £OP balances of $63 billion.

* First mortgages’ net credit losses as a percentage of average loans are - First mortgages include Government guaranteed loans.
nearly one-third the level of those in the second mortgage portfolio, - Second mongages are much more likely to go directly from
despite much higher delinquencies in the first mortgage portfolio. Two delinquency lo charge-off without going into foreclosure.

major facters explain this relationship:
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The following tables detail the Company’s first and second U.S. Consumer
mortgage portfolio by origination channels, geographic distribution and
origination vintage.

By Qrigination Channel
The Company’s U.S. Consumer mortgage portfolio was originated from three
main channels: retail, broker and correspondent.

Retail: loans originated through 2 divect relationship with the borrower.
Broker: Joans originated through a mortgage broker; the Company
underwrites the loan directly with the barrower.

Correspondent: loans originated and funded by a third party; the
Company purchases the closed loans after the correspondent has funded
the loan.

First Mortgages: December 31, 2007

FIRSFMORTGAGES
S| DEIC0<620

CHANNEL |
in biflians of dollars

REAL |
I

Note; $150 billign portiolio excludes Canada & Pugrio Rico, First Collateral Services, deferred fees/costs
and loans held for sale, and includes Smith Barney ($0.8 billion) and toans sold with recourse. Excluding
Governman insured loans, 90+DPD tor the First mortgage portflio is 1.99%.

As of December 31, 2007, approximately 47% of the first mortgage
portfolio was originated through the correspondent channel. Given that
loans originated through correspondents had exhibited higher 90+DPD
delinquency rates than retail originated morigages, the Company took
several meusures to reduce its exposure. The Company terminated business
with 2 number of correspondent sellers in 2007 and tightened credit policy in
several critical areas. H also significantly cut back on origination of stated-
and no-income documentation loans, lowered maximum LTVs associated
with housing markets experiencing significant price declines and raised
minimum FICO requirements across several mortgage programs,

52

Second Mortgages: December 31, 2007

CHANNEE SECOND CHANNEL 004PPD | SECOND MORTGAGES
in biliions of dollars | MORTGAGES % TOTAL ‘ 90%

$26.1 114% 0.38% $2.5
$17.7 28.1% 1.71% $4.8
CORRESPONDENT $192 305% 203% $13.6

hor | ssa0 ] oo | L26% |

Note: Second mortgage 90+0PD rate calculated by 0TS methodology.

For second mortgages, approximately 59% of the loans were originated
through third-party channels. As these mortgages have demonstrated a
higher incidence of delinquencies, the Company has lowered the volume of
origination through third-party channels. During the fourth quarter of 2007,
the Company exited the second mortgage correspondent business and
reduced the number of brokers with whom it does business, maintaining
relationships with only those brokers who have produced strong, high-
quality and profitable volume. The shift in origination mix, along with
tightened underwriting criteria, has resulted in loans originated in the fourth
quarter having higher FICO scores and lower LTVs, on average, than those
originated a year ago.




By State

Approximately half of the Company’s 1.8, Consumer mortgage portfolio is
concentrated in five states: California, New York, Florida, [llinois, and Texas.
Those states represent 48% of first mortgages and 55% of second mortgages.
Altheugh California represents 27% of the first mortgage pordolio, onty 3% of
its loans are in the FICO<620 band, driving lower average delinquencies for
the overall portfolic. Florida and Texas, which have 21% and 31%,
respectively, of its loans with FICO<620, have delinquencies of 4.62% and
4.03%, respectively.

First Mortgages: $150 billlon December 31, 2007

STATES FIRST MORGTAGES STATE 90+0PD { FIRST MORTGAGES
in billions of dollars % TOTAL - o FIG0<629
CALIFORNIA $40.2 26.5% 152% $13 |
$10.6 7.1% 1.75% $L1 |

$87 5.8% 1.62% $i8
$7.1 47% 2.67% $10
$54 6% 103% $17
$75.0 52.0% 3.10% $16.2

o] sisoo [ oox d 2o ]

In the second mortgage portfolio, Florida and California have above-
average delinquencies, as 26% and 23% of their ioans were originated in the
LTV290% band.

Second Mortgages: 563 billion December 31, 2007

in billicns of dolfars MORTGAGES | . % TOTAL ,
ALIFORNIA $17.1 21.2% 1.59%
EW YORK $8.0 12.6% 0.62%
LORIDA $4.7 1.5% 273%
LINOIS $2.5 40% 1.06%
EXAS $2.1 14% 0.48%
THERS $28.6 45.3% 1.07%

ST T

Note: Second mortgage 90+ 0PD rate calculated by OTS methodology.
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By Vintage

Approxinately half of the Company's U.S. Consumer mortgage portfolio is of
2006 and 2007 vintage. In first mortgages, 49% of the portfolio is of 2006
and 2007 vintage and approximately 19% is pre-2003 vintage. In second
morigages, 65% of the porifolio is of 2006 and 2007 vintage and
approximately 5% is pre-2003 vintage.

First Mortgaqes: $150 billion December 31, 2007

YINTAGES FIRST VINTAGE 90+DPD |FIRST MORTGAGES |
in billions of dallars MORTGAGES % TOTAL FICO<620 ||

$432 288% 228% $8.1
$30.7 205% 379% $43
$27.9 18.6% 1.80% 528
$20.2 13.5% 1.91% $24 |
<=2003 $28.0 360% $55 |

18.6%

Note: $350 billion portfolio excludes Canada & Puerto Rico, First Collateral Services, deferred fees/costs
and loans heid for sale, and includes Smith Barney ($0.8 billion) and kans sold with recourse, Excluding
Government insured koans, 90+0PD for the first mortgage portfolio is 1.99%.

Second Mortgages: 563 billlon December 31, 2007

VINTAGES SECOND VINTAGE 90+DPD { SECOND MORTGAGES
in billions of doflars MORTGAGES % TOTAL TV-90%
2

$159 25.3% 067% $4.1
2006 $25.0 39.7% 1.56% $9.4
005 $14.4 228% 1.57% $5.5
$4.5 7.1% L06% $15

= $3.2 5.1% 0.69% 304

Note: Second mortgage 90+DPD rate calculated by OTS methodology.

The Company has made numerous policy and process changes during
2007 to mitigate losses, For example, the Company ne longer offers
mortgage loans for investment properties or three- to four-family homes. In
addition, the Company has tightened its overall LTV standards, especially in
areas where housing prices have depreciated severely. Overall, the Company
continues to tighten credit requirements through higher FICOs, lower LTVs,
increased documentation and verifications.
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CORPORATE CREDIT RISK

For corporate clients and investment banking activities across the
organization, the credit process is grounded in a series of fundamental

policies, including:

* joint business and independent risk management responsibility for

managing credit risks;

* single center of control for each credit relationship that coordinates credit

activities with that client;

* portfolio limits to ensure diversification and maintain risk/capital

alignment;

» aminimum of two authorized-credit-officer signatures are required on
extenstons of credit (one from a sponsoring credit officer in the business
and one from a credit officer in credit risk management);

« risk rating standards, applicable to every obligor and facility, and

« consistent standards for credit origination documentation and remedial

management.

The following table represents the corporate credit portfolio, before
consideration of cotlateral, by maturity at December 31, 2007, The corporate
portfolio is broken out by direct outstandings (which include drawn loans,
overdrafts, interbank placements, bankers' acceptances, certain investment
securities and leases) and unfunded commitments (which include unused
commitments to lend, letters of credit and financial guarantees).

Corporate Credit Portfolio

Due Greater
In bittions of dollars within  than 1 year but Greater Total
at December 31, 2007 1 year within 5 years than 5 years exposure
Direct utstandings $190 $ 97 $12 $299
Unfunded lenging commitments 277 183 11 471
Total $467 $260 $23 $770
Qus Greater
In billions of doilars within than 1 year but Greater Total
at December 31, 2006 1 year within 5years  ihan 5 years exposure
Direct outstandings $157 $74 §9 $240
Unfunded lending commitments 230 154 9 393
Total $387 $228 $18 $633

Portfolio Mix

The corporate credit portfolio is diverse across counterparty, industry and
geography. The following table shows direct outstandings and unfunded

commitments by region:
December 31,  December 31,
2007 2006
us. 48% 46%
Mexico 5 5
Japan 2 2
Asia 12 14
Latin America 3 4
EMEA 30 29
Total 100% 100%
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The maintenance of agcurate and consistent risk ratings across the
corporate credit portfolio facilitates the comparison of credit exposure across
all lines of business, geographic regions and products.

Obligor risk ratings reflect an estimated probability of default for an
obligor and are derived primarily through the use of statistical models
(which are validated periodically), external rating agencies (under defined
circumstances), or approved scoring methodologies. Facility risk ratings are
assigned, using the obligor risk rating, and then factors that affect the loss-
given default of the facility, such as support o collateral, are taken into
account.

Intemal obligor ratings equivalent to BBB and above are considered
investment-grade. Ratings below the equivalent of BBB are considered
non-investment-grade.

The following table presents the corporate credit portfolio by facitity risk
rating at December 31, 2007 and 2006, as a percentage of the total portfolio:

Direct outstandings and
unfunded commitments
2007 2006
AANAA/A 53% 53%
BEB 24 27
BB/B 20 18
CCC or below 2 1
Unrated 1 i
Total 100% 100%

The corporate credit portfolio is diversified by industry, with a
concentration only o the financial sector, including banks, other financial
institutions, insurance companies, investment banks, and government and
central banks, The following table shows the allocation of direct
outstandings and unfunded commitments to industries as a percentage of
the total corporate portfolic:

Direct outstandings and
unfunded commitments
2006

g

Government and centra) banks
Investment banks

Banks

Telephone and cable

Other financial institutions
Utitties

Ingurance

Petroleum

Agriculture and food preparation
Ingustrial machinery and equipment
Metals

Global information technology
Chemicals

Autos

Freight transportation

Retail

Other industries

Total 100% 100%

SNNNwmwmbbhhhmﬂwg

(o)
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{1} Includes all other industries, none of which exceeds 2% of total outstandings.




Credit Risk Mitigation

As part of its overall risk management activities, the Company uses credit
derivatives and other risk mitigants to hedge portions of the credit risk in its
portfolio, in addition to outright asset sales, The purpose of these
transactions is to transfer credit risk to independent third parties, The results
of the mark-to-market and any realized gains or losses on credit derivatives
are reflected in the Principal Transactions line on the Consolidated
Statement of [ncome, At December 31, 2007 and 2006, $123.7 billion and
$93.0 biltion, respectively, of credit risk exposure were economically hedged.
Citigroup’s expected loss model used in the calculation of our loan loss
reserve does not include the favorable impact of credit derivatives and other
risk mitigants. The reported amounts of direct outstandings and unfunded
commitments in this report do not reflect the impact of these hedging
transactions. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the credit protection was
economically hedging underlying credit exposure with the following risk

rating distribution:
Rating of Hedged Exposure

2007 2006
AAAANA 53% 49%
BBB 34 4
BB/B 1 10
CCC or below 2 —
Total 100%  100%

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the credit protection was economicaliy
hedging underlying credit exposure with the following industry distribution:

Industry of Hedged Exposure

2007 2006

Telephone and cable

Utilities

Petroleum

Agriculture and food preparation
Insurance

Autos

Other financial institutions
Retail

Industrial machinery and equipment
Chemicals

Pharmaceuticals

Natural gas distribution
Globai information technology
Metals

Investment banks

Airlines

Business services

Forest products

Banks

Entertainment

Qther industries "

Total

=

—
NNNMNMNNMNNMNOWWWARREAIDIOOUOOIM WO
RPN WWW WWLW e oion & ~D

13

100%

{1) Includes all other industries, none of which is greater than 2% cf the total hedged amount,

1% 9%

100%
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Direct Exposure ta Monaolines

In its Securities and Banking business, the Company has exposure to various
monoline bond insurers listed in the table below (*Monolines™) from hedges
on certain investmenis and from trading positions. The hedges are composed
of credit default swaps and other hedge instruments. The Company recorded
$967 million in credit market value adjustments in 2007 ($935 million in
the fourth quarter) on the market value exposures to the Monolines as a
result of widening credit spreads.

The following table surnmarizes the net market value of the Company's
direct exposures to and the corresponding notional amount of transactions
with the various Monolines as of December 31, 2007 in Securities and
Banking;

Net Market Notional

In miffons of dofrs at Value Amount
December 31, 2007 Exposure  of Transactions
Direct Subprime ABS CD0 Super Senior: _
AMBAC $1.815 $ 5,485
FGIC 909 1,460
ACA 438 600
Radian 100 100
Subtotal Direct Subprime ABS CDO Super

Senior $3,262 $ 7,645
Trading Assets—Subprime:
AMBAC $1,150 $ 1,400
Trading Assets—Subprime $1,150 $ 1,400
Trading Assets—Non Subprime:
MBIA $ 395 $ 5,620
FSA 121 1,126
ACA 50 1,925
Assured 7 340
Radian 5 350
AMBAC — 1,971
Trading Assets—Non Subprime $ 578 $11,332
Subtotal Trading Assets $1,728 $12,732
Credit Market Value Adjustment $ (967)
Total Net Market Value Direct Exposure $4,023

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $10.5 billion notional
amount of hedges against its Direct Subprime ABS CDO Super Senior
positions, as disclosed in the fourth quarter eamings release. Of that $10.5
billion, $7.5 billion was purchased from Monolines and is inctuded in the
$7.6 billion in notional amount of ransactions in the table above. The net
market value of the hedges provided by the Monolines against our Direct
Subprime ABS CDO Super Senior positions was $3.3 billion.

Int addition, there was $1.7 billion of net market value exposure to
Monglines related io our trading assets. Trading assets include trading
pasitions, both long and shart, in U3, subprime cesidential mortgage-backed
securities (RMBS) and related products, including ABS CDOs. There were
$1.4 billion in notional amount of transactions related to subprime positions
with a net market value exposure of $1.2 billion. The notional amount of
transactions related to the remaining non-subprime trading assets was $11.3




bitlion with a corresponding net market value exposure of $578 million. The
$11.3 billion notional amount of transactions comprised $4.1 billion
primarily in interest rate swaps with a corresponding net market value
exposure of $34 million. The remaining notional amount of $7.2 billion was
in the form of credit default swaps and total return swaps with 2 net market
value exposure of $544 million.

The net market value exposure, net of payable and receivable positions,
represents the market value of the contract as of December 31, 2007. The
notional amount of the transactions, including both long and short
positions, is used as a reference value to calculate payments. The credit
market value adjustment is a downward adjustment to the net market value
exposure to a counterparty to reflect the counterparty’s creditworthiness.

In Global Consumer, the Company has purchased mortgage insurance
from various menoline mortgage insurers on first morigage loans. The
notional amount of this insurance protection is approximately $600 million
with nominal pending ¢laims against this notional amount.

In addition, Citigroup has indirect exposure to Monolines in various other
parts of its businesses. For example, corporate or municipal bonds in the
trading business may be insured by the Monolines. In this case, Citigroup is
not 2 party to the insurance contract. The table above does not captute this
type of indirect exposure to the Monolines,

Exposure to Commercial Real Estate

In its Securities and Barking business, the Company, through its business
activities and s a capital markets participant, incurs exposures that are
directly ot indirectly tied to the global commercial real estate market. These
exposures are represented primarily in three categories:

Trading Positions: approximately $20 billion of net trading related
exposures recorded at fair value. The majority of these exposures are
classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. In recent months, weakening
activity in the trading markets for some of these instruments resulted in
reduced liquidity, thereby decreasing the observable inputs for such
valuations and could have an adverse impact on how these instruments are
valued in the future if such conditions persist. Changes in the values of these
positions are recognized through revenues.

Loans: the exposures related to loans are primarily recorded at cost. The
impact from changes in credit is reflected in the calculation of the allowance
for loan lusses and in net credit losses,

Commitments to fund loans; when funded, will be treated as loans in the
paragraph above,

The Company's exposure related to loans and commitments to fund loans
that are directly or indirectly related to the global commercial real estate
marke is significantly greater than the exposure related to its trading
positions and could be adversely affected by deteriorating economic, credit
and market conditions.
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CIiTIGROUP DERIVATIVES

Notionals 0

Trading Assat/Hability
In millions of doliars derivatives 2 management hedges
As of December 31 2007 2006 2007 2006
Interest rate contracts
Swaps $16,433,117  $14,196404 § 521,783  $561,376
Futures and forwards 1,811,599 1,824,205 176,146 75,314
Written options 3,479,0M 3,054,990 16,741 12,764
Purchased options 3,639,075 2953122 167,080 35,420
Total interest rate contract notionals $25,362,862 $22,028721  § 881,750  $684,934
Foreign exchange contracts
Swaps $ 1,062,267 $ 722063 § 75622 § 53216
Futures and forwards 2,795,180 2,068,310 46,732 42,675
Written options 653,535 416,951 292 1,228
Purchased cptions 644,744 404,859 686 1,246
Total foreign exchange contract notionals $ 5155726 $ 3612183 § 123332 § 98,365
Equity contracts
Swaps $ 140256 5 104320 0§ - 3 —
Futures and forwards 29,233 36,362 — -—
Written options 625,157 387,781 —_ -
Purchased options 567,030 355,801 — —_
Total equity contract notionals $1361676 § 884354 § - $ -
Commodity and other contracts
Swaps $ 29415 § 35611 § - % -
Futures and forwards 66,860 17,433 _ —
Written aptions 27,087 11,99 - —
Purchased options 30,168 16,904 — —
Total commodity and other contract notionals $ 153530 $ 81930 $ -  $ —
Credit derivatives 1
Citigroup as the Guarantor;
Credit default swaps $1,755440 § 022405 § - -
Totai retum swaps 122,121 21,607 —_ —_
Credit defauwlt options 276 — - —_
Citigroup as the Baneficiary:
Credit default swaps 1,890,611 989,306 $ - % —
Total return swaps 15,895 11,582 - -—
Cradit default options 450 81 —
Total credit derivatives $ 3674793  $ 1,944,980
Total derivative notionals $35,708587  $28552,177  $1,005,082  $783,293
Mark-to-Market (MTM) Receivables/Payables
Derivatives Dertvatives
In milfions of doflars receivables—MTM payables—MTM
As of December 31 2007 2006 & 2007 2006 &
Trading Derivatives @
Interest rate coniracts $269,400 $168872 $257329 §$168,793
Foreign exchange contracts 77,942 52,297 71,991 47,469
£quity contracts 27,934 26,883 66,916 52,980
Commaodity and other contracts 8,540 5,387 8,887 5,776
Credit derivatives:
Citigroup as the Guarantor 4,967 10,835 73,103 4,055
Citigroup as the Beneficiary 78,426 3234 11,19 11,026
Total $467,209 $267508 $489417  $290,029
Less: Netling agreements, cash collateral and market value adjustments (390,328) (217,567) (385,876) {215,295)
Net Receivables/Payables $ 76,881 $ 49541 $ 103,541 $ 74,804
Asset/Liability Management Hedges @
Interest rate contracts $ 8529 § 1380 $ 7176 3 3327
Foreign exchange coniracts 1,634 3,660 972 947
Total $ 10,163 $ 5,461 $ 8,148 $ 4274

{1} Incledes the notional amounts for long and short dertvative positions.

() Trading Derivatives include proprietary positions, as well as hedging derivatives instruments that do not quality for hedge accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Dervative instruments and

Hedging Activlies” (SFAS 133).

{3) Asset/Liability Management Hedges include only those end-user derivative instruments where the changes in markat value are recorded to other assets or other liabifities.
{4) Credit Derivathves are off-balznce-sheet arrangements desfgned to allow one party {tha "beneliciany™ to transter the credit risk of a *referance asset” to another party {tha “guarantor”). These arrangements allow a
guarantor to assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets without directly purchasing it. The Company has entered into credit derivatives pasitions for purposes such as risk management, yield

enhancement, reduction of credit concentrations, and diversification of overall risk,
(5) Reclassified to condorm tg the current period's presemation.




The following table presents the global derivatives portfolio by internal
obligor credit rating at December 31, 2007 and 2006, as a percentage of
credit exposure:

2007 2006
AANANA 80% 79%
BBB 1 11
BB/B 7 8
CCC or below 1 —
Unrated 1 2
Total 100%  100%

The following table presents the global derivatives portfolio by industry of
the obligor as a percentage of credit exposure;

2007 2006
Financial institutions 75% 67%
Governments 6 11
Corporations 19 22
Total 100% 100%
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Credit Derivatives
The Company makes markets in and trades a range of credit derivatives,
bath on behalf of clients as well as for its own account. Through these
coniracts the Company either purchases or writes protection on either a
single-name or pertfolio basis. The Company uses credit derivatives to help
mitigate credit risk in its corporate loan portfolio and other cash positions,
1o take proprietary trading positions, and to facilitate client transactions.
Credit derivatives generally require that the seller of credit protection
make pavments 1o the buyer upen the occurrence of predefined events
{settlement triggers). These settlement triggers are defined by the form of
the derivative and the referenced credit and are generally limited to the
market standard of failure to pay on indeltedness and bankruptey of the
reference credit and, in a more limited range of transactions, debt
restructuring. Credit derivative transactions referring to emerging market
reference credits will also typically include additional settlement triggess to
cover the acceleration of indebtedness and the risk of repudiation or a
payment moratorium. In certain transactions on a portfolio of referenced
credits or asset-backed securities, the seller of protection may not be
required to make payment until a specified amount of losses have occurred
with respect to the portfolio and/or may only be required io pay for losses up
10 a specified amount.




The following tables summarize the key characteristics of the Company’s credit derivative portfolio by activity, counterparty and derivative form as of

December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006:

2007: .
Market values Notionals
In millions of dodlars Receivable  Payable  Beneficiary Guarantor
Credit portiolio $ 626 $ 129 § M2 § —
Deater/client 82,767 84,165 1,815,728 1,767,837
Total $83,393  $84,294 $1,906,956 $1,767,837
Bank $14784 $21023 $ 609,088 § 600,858
Brokar-dealar 12,799 15,960 236,137 207,032
Monaline 5,044 88 15,064 1,243
Non-financial 220 33 3754 4,13
Insurance and other financial institutions 50,546 46,892 1,042913 954 516
Total $83,393  $84204  $1,006956  $1,767,837
Credit default swaps and options $82752 S8 015  $1,891,061  $1,755, 16
Total return swaps and other 641 1,279 15,895 12,121
Total $83,393 $84,254  $1,906,956  $1,767,837
2006:
Market values Notionals
In mifions of dollars Receivable  Payable  Beneficiary  Guarantor
Credit portfolio $ 43 $ 130 $ 4777 $ 4964
Dealer/client 14,026 14,951 956,191 939,048
Total $14,069  $15,081 $1,000,968 $944,012
Bank $7342 $77687 § 545851 $504,419
Broker-dealer 5,186 5.380 339,479 314,261
Monoline 4 15 3,726 290
Non-financial 135 495 10,535 23,039
Insurance and other finangizl institutions 1,402 1,424 i, 377 102,003
Total $14,069  $15,081 $1,000,968 $044,012
Credit default swaps and options $13,808 $14588 § 989,366 $922 405
Total return swaps and other 17 493 11,582 21,607
Total $14,069  $15,081 $1,000,968 $944,012

The market values shown are prior to the application of any netting
agreements, cash collateral, and market or credit value adjustments.

The Company actively participates in trading a variety of credit derivatives
products as both an active two-way market-maker for clients and to manage
credit risk. During 2007, Citigroup and the industry experienced a material
increase in trading volumes. The volatility and liquidity challenges in the
credit markets during the third and fourth quarters drove derivatives trading
volumes as credit derivatives became the instrument of choice for managing
credit risk. The majority of this activity was transacted with other financial
intermediaries, including both banks and broker-deaters. During 2007 the
total notional amount of protection purchased and sold increased $506
billion and $824 billion, respectively, and by various market participants.
The total market value increase of $69 billion for each protection purchased
and sold was primarily due to an increase in volume growth of $63 billion
and $62 billion, and market spread changes of $6 billion and $7 billion for
protection purchased and sold, respectively. The Company expects to
continue actively operating in the credit derivative markets.

The Company generally has a mismatch between the total notional
amounts of protection purchased and sold, and it may hold the reference
assets directly rather than entering into offsetting credit derivative contracts
as and when desired. The open risk exposures from credit derivative contracts
are largely matched after certain cash positions in reference assets are
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considered and after notional amounts are adjusted, either to a duration-
based equivalent basis, or to reflect the level of suberdination in tranched
structures.

The Company actively monitors its counterparty credit risk in credit
derivative contracts. Approximately 77% of the gross receivables as of
December 31, 2007 is from counterparties with which the Company
maintains collateral agreements, A majority of the Company’s top 15
counterparties (by recelvable batance owed to the Company) are banks,
financtal institutions or other dealers. Contracts with these counterparties do
not include ratings-based termination events. However, counterparty rating
downgrades may have an incrementa! effect by lowering the threshold at
which the Company may call for additional collateral. A number of the
remaining significant counterparties are monolines. See page 55 for a
discussion of the Company's exposure to monolines. The master agreements
with these monoline insurance counterparties are generally unsecured, and
the few ratings-based triggers (if any) generally provide the ability to
terminate only upon significant downgrade. As with all derivative contracts,
the Company considers counterparty credit risk in the valuation of its
positions and recognizes credit valuation adjustments as appropriate. Recent
reports and credit agency actions and announcements suggest that ratings
downgrades of one or more monotine insurers are being contemplated.




GLOBAL CORPORATE PORTFOLIO REVIEW

Corporate loans are identified as impaired and placed on a non-accrual basis
(cash-basts) when it is determined that the pavment of interest or principal
is doubtful or when interest or principal is past due for %0 days or more; the
exception is when the loan is well secured and in the process of collection.
Impaired corporate loans are written down to the extent that principal is
judged to be uncollectible. Impaired collateral-dependent loans are writien
down to the lower of cost or collateral value, less disposal costs.

The following table summarizes corporate cash-basis loans and net credit
losses:

In millions of dollars 2007 2006 2005
Corporate cash-basis toans

Securities and Banking $1,730  $ 500 & 923

Transaction Services 28 35 81
Total corporate cash-basis loans (@ $1,758 $ 535  §$1,004
Net credit losses (recoveries)

Sectrrities and Banking $ 651 $ 62 $ (268

Transaction Services 24 27 9

Alternative Investments — (13} —

GCorporata/Other {N 6 —
Total net credit losses {recoveries) $ 668 § 82 § (27D
Corporate allowance for loan losses $3,723  $2934 52,860
Corporate allowance for credit losses on unfunded

lending commitments & 1,250 1,100 850
Total corporate allowance for loans, leases and

unfunded lending commitments $4973  $4.034 3370
As a percentage of total corporate loans ¢! 200% 1.76%  22%%

1 Excludes purchased distressed loans as they are accreting interest in accordance with SOP 03-3. The
carrying value of these loans was $2,399 million at December 31, 2007, $940 million at

Decembe- 37, 2006, and $1,120 rmillion at Decemper 31, 2005,

(2) Includes the impact of subprime activity in the U.S. and UK.
(3) Represen's additional reserves recorded in Other Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
{4} Does not nclude the aliowance for unfunded kending commitments.

Cash-basis loans on December 31, 2007 increased $1.223 biilion from
2006, of which $1.230 billion was in Securities and Banking. The increase
in Securities and Banking was primarily due to the impact of subprime
activity in the UK. and U.S. markets.

Cash-basis loans on December 31, 2006 decreased $469 million from
2005; $423 million of the decrease was in Securities and Banking and $46
million was in Transaction Services. Securities and Banking decreased
primarily due to the absence of cash-basis portfolios in Russia and Australia
and decreases in portfolios in Poland and Korea. The decrease in
Transdclion Services was primarily related to decreases in AMevico.

Total corporate loans outstanding at December 31, 2007 were $186
billion as compared to $166 billion at Decernber 31, 2006.

Total corporate net credit losses of $668 million in 2007 increased $586
millien from 2006, primarily due to $535 million in write-offs on loans with
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subprime-related direct exposure. Total corporate net credit losses of $82
million in 2006 increased $359 million compared to the net credit recovery
of $277 million in 2005, primarily attributable to the absence of gross credit
recoveries experienced in 2005,

Citigroup’s total allowance for loans, leases and unfunded lending
commiiments of $17.367 billion is available to absorb probable credit losses
inherent in the entire portfolio. For analytical purposes only, the portion of
Citigroup’s allowance for credit losses attributed to the corporate portfolio
was $4.973 billion at December 31, 2007, $4.034 billion at December 31,
2006, and §3.710 billion at December 31, 2005. The $939 million increase in
the corporate allowance at December 31, 2007 from December 31, 2006
primarily reflects a weakening in overall portfolio credit quality, as well as
loan loss reserves for specific counterparties. The loan loss reserves for
specific counterparties include $327 million for subprime-related direct
exposures. The $§324 million increase in the corporate allowance at
Decernber 31, 2006 from December 31, 2005 primarily reflects $250 million
in reserve builds related to increases in off-balance-sheet exposures and a
slight decline in credit quality. Losses on corporate lending activities and the
level of cash-basis Joans can vary widely with respect to timing and amount,
particularly within any narrowly defined business or loan type.

LOAN MATURITIES AND FIXED/VARIABLE PRICING

Due  Over1year

within but within Over 5
In bilions of dolfars at yearend 1 year 5 years years Total
Corporate loan portfolio
maturities
In U.S. offices:
Commercial and industrial
loans $ 28,424 $ 5724 $4722 § 38870
Mortgage and real estate 1,623 327 270 2,220
Lease financing 1,192 240 198 1,630
In offices outside the U.S. 83,006 41,039 22,457 143,502
Total carporate loans $111,245 $47.330  $27.647  $186,222
Fixed/variable pricing of
corporate loans with
maturities due after one
year U}
Loans at fixed interest rates §10950 § 4474
Loans at fipating or adjustable
interest rates 36,380 23173
Total $47.330  $27,647

{1) Based on contractual terms. Repricing characteristics may etfectively be moditied from time to time
using derivativa contracts. See Note 24 fo the Consotidated Rinancial Statements on page 164,




MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in
the normal cousse of business of 4 global financial intenmediary. Liquidity
risk is the risk that an entity may be unable to meet a financial commitment
to 4 custommer, creditor, or investor when due. Liquidity sk is discussed in
the “Capital Resources and Liquidity” section on page 75, Price risk is the
earnings risk from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity
and commodity prices, and in their implied volatilities, Price risk arises in
non-trading portfolios, as well as in trading portfolios.

Market risks are measured in accordance with established standards to
ensure consistency across businesses and the ability to aggregate risk. Each
business is required to establish, with approval from independent market risk
management, a market risk limit framework for identified risk factors that
clearly defines approved risk profiles and is within the parameters of
Citigroup's overall sisk appetite.

in all cases, the businesses are ultimately responsible for the market risks
they take and for remaining within their defined limits.

Non-Trading Portfolios

Interest Rate Risk

One of Citigroup’s primary business functions is providing financial products
that meet the needs of its custamers. Loans and deposits are tailored 1o the
customer's requiremnenis with regard to tenor, index, and rate tvpe. Net
Interest Revenue (NIR) is the difference between the yield earned on the
non-trading portfolio assets (including customer loans) and the rate paid on
the liahilities (including customer deposits or company borrowings). The
NIR is affected by changes in the level of interest rates. For example:

= Atany given time, there may be an unequal amount of assets and
liabilities which are subject to market rates due to maturation or
repricing. Whenever the amount of liahilities subject to repricing exceeds
the amount of assets subject to repricing, a company is considered
“liability sensitive.” In this case, a company’s NIR will deteriorate in 2
rising rate environment,

« The assets and liabilities of a company may reprice at different speeds or
mature at different times, subjecting both “liability sensitive” and “asset
sensitive” companies 1o NIR sensitivity from changing interest rates, For
example, a company may hase a large amount of loans that are subject
to repricing this period, but the majority of deposits are not scheduled for
repricing uniil the following period. That company would suffer from NIR
deterioration if interest rates were to fall.

NIR in the current period is the result of customner transactions and the
related contractual rates originated in prior periods as well as new transactions
in the current period; those prior period transactions will be impacted by
changes in raies on floating rate assets and liabilities in the current period.

Due to the long-term nature of the portfolios, NIR will vary from quarter
to quarter even assuming no change in the shape or tevel of the yield curve
as the assets and liabilities reprice. These repricings are 2 function of implied
forward interest rates, which represent the overall market's unbiased estimate
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of future interest rates and imcorporate possible changes in the Federal Funds
rate as well as the shape of the vield curve,

Interest Rate Risk Governance

The risks in Citigroup's non-traded portolios are estimated using a common
set of standards that define, measure, limit and report the market risk. Each
husiness is required to establish, with approval from independent market risk
management, a market risk limit framework that clearly defines approved
risk profiles and is within the parameters of Citigroup’s overall risk appetite.
in all cases, the businesses are ultimately responsible for the market risks
they take and for remaining within their defined limits. These limits are
menitored by independent market risk, country and business Asset and
Liability Committees (ALCOs) and the Global Finance and Asset and Liability
Committee {(FinALCO}.

Interest Rate Risk Measurement :
Citigroup’s principal measure of risk to NIR is Inigrest Rate Exposure (IRE).
IRE measures the change in expected NIR in each currency resulting solely
from unanticipated changes in forward interest rates. Factors such as changes
in volumes, spreads, margins and the impact of prior-period pricing decisions
are not captured by IRE. IRE assumes that businesses make no additional
changes in pricing or halances in response to the unanticipated rate changes.

IRE tests the impact on NIR resulting from unanticipated changes in
forward interest rates. For example, if the current 90-day LIBOR rate is 3%
and the one-year forward rate is 5% (i.e., the estimated 90-day LIBOR rate in
one vear), the +100bps IRE scenario measures the impact on the company’s
NIR of 2 100bps instantaneous change in the 90-day LIBOR, to 6% in one
year.

The impact of changing prepayment rates on loan portfolios is
incorperated into the results, For example, in the declining interest rate
scenarios, it is assumed that mortgage portfolios prepay faster and incoie is
reduced. In addition, in a rising interest rate scenario, portions of the deposit
portfolio are assumed to experience rate increases that may be less than the
change in market interest rates.

Mitigation and Hedging of Risk

All financial institutions’ financial performances are subject to some degree
of risk due to changes in interest rates. In order to manage these risks
effectively, Citigroup may modify pricing on new customer loans and
deposits, enter into transactions with other institutions or enter into
off-balance-sheet derivative transactions that have the apposite risk
exposures. Therefore, Citigroup regularly assesses the viability of strategies to
reduce unacceptable risks to earnings and implements such strategies when
the Company believes those actions are prudent. As information becomes
available, Citigroup formulates strategies aimed al protecting eamings from
the potential negative effects of changes in interest rates.

Citigroup employs additional measurements, including stress testing the
impact of non-linear interest rate movements on the value of the balance
sheet; the analysis of portfolio duration and volitility, particularly as they
relate to mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities; and the potential
impact of the change in the spread between different market indices.




The exposures in the following table represent the approximate
annualized risk to NIR assuming an unanticipated paraliel instantaneous
100bp change, as well as 2 more gradual 100bp (25bps per quarter) parallel
change in rates as compared with the market forward interest rates in
selected currencies.

The exposures in the following tables do not include Interest Rate
Exposures (IREs) for the Nikko Cordial portion of Citigroup’s operations in
Japan due to the unavailability of information. Nikko Cordial’s IRE is
primarily denominated in Japanese yen.

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
In milfons of doliars Increase  Decrease  increase  Decrease
.S. dollar
Instantaneous change ${940) $837  3(728) $627
Gradual change $(527) $540  $(349) $360
Mexican peso
Instantaneous change $ (25) $25 % 42 $ (43)
Gradual change $(17) $ 17 3 4 $ (41
Euro
Instantaneous change $ (63} $63 $(9) $ o1
Gradual change $ (32) $32 §$(39 $ 38
Japanese yen
instantaneous change $ 67 M 3 (32 NM
Gradual change $ 43 NM §21) NM
Pound stetling
Instantaneous changa $ (16) $16  § (4% $ 4
Gradual change $ @ $ 4§21 § 21

NM Mot meaningiul. A 100 basis point decrease in Interest rates would imply negative rates for the
Japanese yen vield curve,

'The changes in the U.S. doflar IREs from the prior year reflect changes
in customer-related asset and liability mix, as well as Citigroup’s view of
prevailing interest rates.

The following table shows the risk to NIR from six different changes in the implied forward rates. Each scenario assumes that the rate change will occur on a

gradual basis every three months over the course of one year.

Scenario1 Scenario2? Scenario3 Scenariod4  Scenarin5  Scenario 6
Ovemight rate change (bps) — 100 200 {200} (100 —_
10-year rate change (bps) {100) — 100 (100 — 100
Impact to net interest revenus (in mitlions of doliars) $ 4 $(482).  $O70° [ $9°8 $ 486 $(88)

Trading Portfolios
Price tisk in trading portfolios is monitored using a series of measures,
including:

¢ factor sensitivities;
» Value-at-Risk {VAR); and
o stress testing,

Factor sensitivities are expressed as the change in the value of a position
for a defined change in a market risk factor, such as a change in the value
of a Treasury bill for a one-hasis-point change in interest rates. Gitigroup's
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independent market risk management ensures that factor sensitivities are
catculated, monitored and, in most cases, limited, for all relevant risks
taken in a trading portfolio.

VAR estimates the potential decline in the value of a position or a portfolio
under normal market conditioss. The VAR method incorporates the factor
sensitivities of the trading portfolio with the volatilities and correlations of those
factors and is expressed as the risk to the Company over a one-day holding
period, at 2 99% confidence level. Citigroup’s VAR is based on the volatilities of
and correlations among a multitude of market risk factors as well as factors that
track the specific issuer risk in debt and equity sectrities.




The figures in the VAR table do not currently include the market risk from
exposure to ABS CDOs and associated direct subprime exposures, including
hedges, in the Securities and Banking business. Due to the volatile and
illiquid state of the market in these assets in recent months, quantification of
the risk on these products is subject to a high degree of uncertainty.
Citigroup's approach to risk measurement in this asset class continues to
evolve as new information on the market's pricing of these assets becomes
available, aliowing a VAR methodology for such producis to be developed,
The impact on the Company's overall VAR from these positions is expected o
be significant. In the interim, they have been subjected to stress analysis and
have been included as part of our risk capital assessment for market risk.

Stress testing is performed on trading portfolios on a regular basis to
estimate the impact of extreme market movements. 1t is performed on both
individual trading portfolios, as well as on aggregations of portfolios and
businesses. Independent market risk management, in conjunction with the
businesses, develops stress scenarios, reviews the output of periodic stress
testing exercises, and uses the information to make judgments as to the
ongoing appropriateness of exposure levels and limits.

Each trading portfelio has its own market risk limit framework

encompassing these measures and other controls, including permitied

product lists and a new product approval process for complex products.
Total revenues of the trading business consist of:

e Customer revenue, which includes spreads from customer flow and
positions taken to facilitate customer orders;

» Proprietary trading activities in both cash and derivative transactions; and

» Net interest revenue.

Al trading positions are marked to market, with the resul reflected in
eamings. In 2007, negative trading-related revenue (net losses) was recorded
for 60 of 255 trading days. Of the 60 days on which negative revenue (net
losses) was recorded, 15 were greater than $100 million. The following
histogram of total daily revenue or loss captures trading volatility and shows
the number of days in which the Company's trading-related revenues fell
within particular ranges. Due to the difficulty in estimating daily profit and
loss in the ABS CDO market, those trading-related revenues, including recent
subprime-related losses, are not included in current VAR calculations and
thus are not included in the Histogram of Daily Trading-Related Revenue.

Histogram of Daily Trading-Related Revenue* — Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2007
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Citigroup periodically performs extensive back-testing of many hypothetical
test portfolios as one check of the accuracy of its VAR, Back-testing is the
process in which the daily VAR of a portfolio is compared to the actual daily
change in the market value of its ransactions. Back-testing is conducted to
confirm that the daily market vatue losses in excess of 2 99% confidence level
occur, on average, only 1% of the time. The VAR calculation for the
hypothetical test portfolios, with different degrees of risk concentration, meets
this statistical criteria.

The level of price risk exposure at any given poiat in time depends on the
market environment and expectations of future price and market movements,
and will vary from period 1o period.
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For Citigroup’s major trading centers, the aggregate pretax VAR in the
trading portfolios was $191 million at December 31, 2007 and $106 miltion at
December 31, 2006. Daily exposures averaged $142 million in 2007 and
ranged from $100 million to $200 million.

The consolidation of the SIVs onto Citigroup’s balance sheet becarne
effective December 14, 2007. Those trading positions have not yet been
integrated into these VAR figures, The marginal impact of these trading
positions on the Company’s VAR as of December 31, 2007 is estimated 1o be
an increase to VAR of $13 million.




The following table summarizes VAR to Citigroup in the trading portfolios
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, including the Total VAR, the Specific-risk
only component of VAR, and Total—General market factors only, along
with the yearly averages:

Dec. 31, 2007  Oec. 31, 2006
In milfions of aollars 2007  average 2006  average

Interest rate $ 89 $ 9% $ 81 $87
Foreign exchange 28 29 27 27
Equity 150 9 62 48
Commodity 45 a5 18 15
Covariance adjustment (121) (116} 82) {78)
Total—All market

risk factors,

including general

and specific-risk $ 191 $142 $106 $099
Specific-risk only

compongnt $ 28 $ 19 $ 8 $10
Totat—General

market factors only $163 $123 $ 98 $89

The Specific-risk only component represents the level of equity and debt
issuer-specific risk embedded in VAR. Citigroup’s specific-risk model
conforms to the 4x-multiplier treatment approved by the Federal Reserve and
is subject 10 extensive annual hypothetical back-testing,

The table below provides the range of VAR in each type of trading
portfolio that was experienced during 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006
in milfions of voliars Low High Low High
Interest rate $71  $128  $64  $i25
Fereign exchange 21 37 16 45
Equity 55 164 35 68
Commodity 17 56 5 25

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people ot systerns, or from external events. It includes the
reputation and franchise risk associated with business practices or market
conduct that the Company undertakes. Operational risk is inherent in
Citigroup’s global business activities and, as with other risk types, is
managed through an overall framework with checks and balances that
include:

* Recognized ownership of the risk by the businesses;
» Oversight by independent risk management; and
e Independent review by Audit and Risk Review (ARR).

Framework
Citigroup's approach 1o operational risk is defined in the Citigroup Risk and
Control Self-Assessment (RCSA)/Operational Risk Pelicy.

The objective of the Policy is to establish a consistent, value-added
framework for assessing and communicating operational risk and the
overall effectiveness of the internal control environment across Citigroup.

Each major business segment must implement an operational risk process
consistent with the requirements of this Policy. The process for operational
risk includes the following steps:

» Identify and assess Key Operational Risks;
* Establish Key Risk Indicators; and
« Produce a comprehensive operatlonal risk report,

The operational risk standards facilitate the effective communication of
operational risk both within and across businesses. Information about the
businesses’ operational risk, historical losses, and the conirol envirenment is
reported by each major business segment and functional area, and
summarized for Senior Management and the Citigroup Board of Directors.

The RCSA standards establish 4 formal governance structure to provide
direction, oversight, and monitoring of Citigroup's RCSA programs. The
RCSA standards for risk and control assessment are applicable to all
businesses and staff functions. They establish RCSA as the process whereby
important risks inherent in the activities of a business are identified and the
effectiveness of the key controls over those risks are evaluated and monitored.
RCSA processes facilitate Citigroup’s adherence to internal control over
financial reporting, regulatory requirements (including Sarbanes-Oxley)
FDICIA, the International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital
Standards (Base! 11), and other corporate initiatives, including Operational
Risk Management and alignment of capital assessments with risk
management objectives. The entire process is subject to audit by Citigroup’s
Audit and Risk Review, and the results of RCSA are included in periodic
management reporting, including reporting to Senior Management and the
Audit and Risk Managernent Committee.

Measurement and Basel Ii

To support advanced capital modeling and management, the businesses are
required to capture relevant operational risk capital information. An
enhanced version of the risk capital model for operational risk has been
developed and implemented across the major business segments as a step
toward readiness for Basel 1T capital calculations. The risk capital
caleulation is desigred Lo qualify as an “Advanced Measurement Approach”
(AM4) under Basel I1. [t uses a combination of internal and external loss
data to support statistical modeling of capital requirement estimates, which
are then adjusted to reflect qualitative data regarding the operational risk
and control environment.

Information Security and Continuity of Business
Information security and the protection of confidential and sensitive
customer data are a priority of Citigroup. The Company has implemenied an
Information Security Program that complies with the Gramm-Leach-Bliley
Act and other regulatory guidance. The Information Security Program is
reviewed and enhanced periodically to address emerging threats to
custormers” information.

The Gorporate Office of Business Continuity, with the support of Senior
Management, continues to coordinate global preparedness and mitigate
business continuity risks by reviewing and testing recovery procedures.




COUNTRY AND CROSS-BORDER RISK
MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Country Risk

Country risk is the risk that an event in a foreign country will impair the
value of Citigroup assets or will adversely affect the ability of obligors within
that country to honor their obligations to Citigroup. Country risk events
may include sovereign defaults, banking or currency crises, social
instability, and changes in governmental policies (for example,
expropriation, nationalization, confiscation of assets and other changes in
legislation relating to international ownership}. Country risk includes local
franchise risk, credit risk, market risk, operational risk, and cross-border
risk,

The country risk management framework at Gitigroup includes a
number of tools and management processes designed to facilitate the
ongoing analysis of individual countries and their risks. These include
country risk rating models, scenario planning and stress testing, internal
watch lists, and the Gountry Risk Committee process,

The Citigroup Country Risk Committee is the senior forum 1o evaluate
the Company's fotal business footprint within a specific country franchise
with emphasis on responses to current potential country risk events. The
Comrmittee js chaired by the Head of Global Country Risk Management and
includes as its members senior risk management officers, senior regional
business heads, and senior product heads. The Cornmittee regularly reviews
all risk exposures within a country, makes recommendations as to actions,
and follows up to ensure appropriate accountability.

Cross-Border Risk

Cross-border risk is the risk that actions taken by 2 non-E1.S. government
may prevent the conversicn of local currency into non-local currency and/
or the transfer of funds outside the country, thereby impacting the ability of
the Company and its customers {o transact business across borders.

Examples of cross-border risk include actions taken by foreign
governments such as exchange controls, debt moratoria, or restrictions on
the remittance of funds, These actions might restrict the transfer of funds or
the ability of the Company to obtain payment from customers on their
contractual obligations.

Management oversight of cross-border risk is performed through a
formal review process that includes annual setting of cross-border limits
and/or exposures, monitoring of economic conditions globally, and the
establishment of internal cross-horder risk management policies.

Under Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council {FFIEC)
regulatory guidelines, total reported cross-bonder outstandings inchude
cross-horder claims on third parties, as well 4s investments in and funding
of local franchises. Cross-border claims on third parties {trade and short-,
medium- and long-term claims) include cross-border loans, securities,
deposits with banks, investments in affiliates, and other monetary assets, as
well as net revaluation gains on foreign exchange and derivative products.

Cross-border outstandings are reported based on the country of the
obligor or guarantor. Outstandings backed by cash collateral are assigned to
the country in which the collateral is held. For securities received as
collateral, cross-border outstandings are reported in the domicile of the
issuer of the securities. Cross-border resale agreements are presented based
on the domicile of the counterparty in accordance with FFIEC guidelines.

Investments in and funding of local franchises represent the excess of
local country assets over local country liabilities. Local country assets are
claims on local residents recorded by branches and majority-owned
subsidiaries of Citigroup domiciled in the country, adjusted for externally
guaranteed claims and certain collateral. Local country liabilities are
obligations of non-U.S. branches and majority-owned subsidiaries of
Citigroup for which no cross-border guarantee has been issued by ancther
Citigroup office.

The table below shows all countries in which total FFIEC cross-border outstandings exceed 0.75% of total Citigroup assets:

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006

Cross-border claims on third parties
investments
In and
Trading and funding of  Total cross- Total cross-
short-tem local bocder borger
ire bilfions of dolfars U.S. Banks Public  Private Total claims  franchises outstandings Commitments® outstandings  Commitments @
India $21 %05 $149 8175 $145 215 $39.0 $ 17 $24.8 $0.7
Germany 13.7 8.1 105 293 2586 - 293 46.4 38.6 436
tnited Kingdom 6.8 0.1 17.7 247 29 _— 247 366.0 184 192.8
France 9.5 28 120 243 n2 — 43 107.8 19.8 60.8
Netherfands 49 26 156 231 17.2 — 231 20.2 201 105
South Korea 1.6 01 43 6.0 5.8 159 219 220 19.7 21.4
Spain 31 59 84 174 16.2 39 A3 7.4 19.7 6.8
Itaty 1.8 8.6 4.4 14.8 143 4,0 18.8 5.1 18.6 40

{1) Inciuded in total cross-border claims on third parties.

(? Commitments {not included in total cross-bocder outstandings} include legally binding cross-border letlers of credit and other commitments and contingencies as defined by the FREC. Effective March 31, 2008, the
FREC revised the definition of commitments to Include commitments e local residents to be funded with local currency local lizbilities.
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BALANCE SHEET REVIEW

__ December 31

Increase %
in billions of doliars 2007 2006  {Decrease)  Change
Assets
Loans, net of unearned income and allowance for loan losses $ 762 § 670 $ 92 14%
Trading account assets 539 394 145 37
Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or purchased under agreements to reselt 274 283 {9) (3
Investments 215 274 1] {22)
All other assets 398 263 135 51
Total assets $2,188  $1,884 $304 16%
Liabilities
Deposits $86 5 712 $114 16%
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase 304 349 {45) (i3
Short-term bostowings and long-term debt 574 389 185 48
Trading account liabilities 182 146 36 25
Other liabilities 188 168 20 12
Total liabilities $2,074 31,764 $310 18%
Stockholders' equity $ 114 § 120 3 (6 {5)%
Total liahilities and stockholders’ equity $2,188  $1884 $304 16%

Loans

Loans are an extension of credit to individuals, corporations, and
government institutions. Loans vary across regions and industries and
primarily include credit cards, mortgages, other real estate lending,
personal loans, auto loans, student loans, and corporate loans. The
majority of loans are carried at cost with a minimal amount recorded at fair
value in accordance with SFAS 155 and SFAS 159.

Consumer and corporaie loans comprised 76% and 24%, respectively, of
total loans (net of unearned income and before the allowance for loan
Tosses).

Consumer loans increased by $73 billion, or 14%, primarily due to:

o $44 billion, or 19%, increase in installment and revolving credit; and
* $37 billion, or 14%, increase in mortgage and real estate loans;

These increases were partially driven by acquisitions.

Corporate loans increased $19 billion, or 11%, primarily driven by an
increase of $22 billion, or 16%, in commercial and industrial loans.

During 2007, average consumer loans (net of unearned income) of
$553 billion yielded an average rate of 9.1%, compared to $480 billion and
9.0% in the prior year, Average corporate loans of $188 billion yielded an
average rate of 8.5% in 2007, compared to $153 billion and 7.6% in the
prior year.

For further information, see “Loans Quistanding” on page 41 and
Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements en page 145.
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Trading Account Assets (Liabilities)

Trading account assets include debt and marketable equity securities,
derivatives in a receivable position, residual interests irt securitizations, and
physical commodities inventory. In addition, certain assets that Citigroup has
elected to canry at fair value under SFAS 155 and SFAS 159, such as certain
loans and purchase guarantees, are also included in trading account assets.
Trading account liabilities include securities sold, not yet purchased (short
positions) and derivatives in 2 net payable position as well as certain liabilities
that Citigroup has elected to carry at fair value under SFAS 155.

All trading account assets and liabilities are reported at their fair value,
except for physical commodities inventory which is carried at the lower of
cost or market, with unrealized gains and losses recognized in current
income.

Trading account assets increased by $145 billion, or 37%, due to:

o $27 billion, or 93%, increase in corporaie and other debt securities, including
$45 billion of securities related to the consolidation of the Citi-advised SIVs;

o $27 billion, or 55%, increase in revaluation gains primarily consisting of
increases from interest rates, foreign exchange, and credit derivative
contracts, offset by an increase in netting permitted under master netting
agreements;

+ $20 billion, or 53%, increase in morigage loans and collateralized
mortgage securities (CMOs);

« $19 billion, or 58%, increase in foreign government securities; and

= $14 billion, or 16%, increase in equity securities,

Offset by.

$12 billion, or 28%, decrease in U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities;
$10 billion, or 24%, net decrease in other trading securities.




Total average trading account assets weee $441 billion in 2007, comypared
to $290 billion in 2006, yielding average rates of 4.2% and 4.1%, respectively.
Trading account liabilities increased by $36 billion, or 25%, due to:

« 524 billion, or 38%, increase in revaluation losses primarily consisting of
increases from interest rates, foreign exchange and credit derivative
contracts, offset by an increase in netting permitted under master netting
agreemnents; and

o §7 billion, or 10%, increase in securities sold, not yet purchased,
cemprising 2 §9 biltion increase in debt securities, offset by a decrease of
$2 billion in U.S. Treasury securities.

In 2007, average trading account liabilities were $105 billion, yielding an
average rate of 1.4%, compared to $75 billion and 1.5% in the prior year.

For further discussion regarding trading account assets and liabilities, see
Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 142,

Federal Funds Seld (Purchased) and Securities Borrowed
(Loaned) or Purchased {Sold) Under Agreements to
Resell {(Repurchase)

Federal funds sold and federal funds purchased consist of unsecured
advances of excess balances in reserve accounts held at Federal Reserve
Banks. When the Cornpany advances federal funds to a third party, it is
selling its excess reserves. Similarly, when the Company receives federal
funds, the Company is purchasing reserves from a third party. These interest-
bearing transactions typically have an original maturity of one business day,

Securities borrowed and securities loaned are recorded at the amount of
cash advanced or received, with a minimal amount adjusted for fair value in
accondance with SFAS 159. With respect to securities borrowed, the Company
pays cash collateral in an amount in excess of the market value of securities
borrowed, and receives excess in the case of securities loaned. The Company
rronitors the market value of securities borrowed and loaned on a daily basis
with additional collateral advanced or obtained as necessary. Interest received
or paid for these transactions is recorded in interest income or inferest expense.

Securities purchased under agreements {0 resell and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase are treated as collateralized financing transactions
and are primarily carried at fair value in accordance with SFAS 159 since
January 1, 2007; in prior periods, these agreements were carried at cost. The
Company’s policy is to take possession of securities purchased under
agreements to resell. The market value of securities to be repurchased and
resold is monitored, and additional collateral is obtained where appropriate
to protect against credit exposure,

The decrease of $9 billion, or 3%, in federal funds sold and securities
borrowed or purchased under agreements to resell and the decrease of §45
billion, or 13%, in federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold
under agreements to repurchase were primarily driven by lower funding
requiremnents for long and short positions, as well as reduced activity in the
Company’s secured financing trading strategy, offset by the consolidation of
Nikko Cordial.

For further information regarding these balarice sheet categories, see
Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 141.
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Investments

Investments consist of fixed income and equity securities, Fixed income
includes bonds, notes and redeemable preferred stock, as well as loan-backed
securities (such as mortgage-backed securities) and other structured notes,
Equity securities include common and nonredeemable preferred stocks.
These instruments provide the Company with long-term investment
opportunities while in most cases remaining relatively liquid.

These investments are primarily carried at fair value with the changes in
fair value generally recognized in stockholders’ equity {(accumulated other
comprehensive income)., Declines in fair value that are deemed other-than-
temporary are recognized in current earnings, as well as gains and losses
from the sale of these investment securities. Certain investments in
non-marketable equity securities and certain investrments that would
otherwise be accounted for using the equity method are carried at fair value
in accordance with SFAS 159. Changes in fair value of such investments are
recorded in earnings.

Investments decreased by $59 billian, or 22%, principally due to the
following decreases;

= $37 hillion in mortgage-backed securities, which is primarily due
io the winding down of a mortgage-backed securilies program in the
{18, Consumer Lending business,

» $5billion in U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities; and

« net §17 billion for all other securities.

For further information regarding investments, see Note 16 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements on page 143,

Other Assets
Other assets are composed of cash and due from banks, deposits with banks,
brokerage receivables, goodwill, intangibles, and various other assets.

Other assets increased $135 billion, or 51%, due to the following
increases:

o $35 hillion related 10 loans held-for-sale;

» $27 billion in deposits with banks, including $12 billion related to the
consolidation of the Citi-advised STVs;

o $15 billion in goodwill and intangibles, driven by acquisitions and
foreign currency translation;

» $13 billion in brokerage receivables;

» $12 billion in cash and due from banks; and

* $33 billion in various other assets.

For further information regarding goodwill and intangibles, see Note 19
to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 147. For further discussion
on brokerage receivables, see Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial
Statemnents on page 142.

Deposits

Depaosits represent customer funds that are payable on demand or upon
maturity. The majority of deposits are carried at cost, with a4 minimal
amount recorded at fair value in accordance with SFAS 155 and SFAS 159.
Deposits can be interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing. Interest-bearing




deposits payable by foreign and U.S. domestic banking subsidiaries of the
Company comprise 63% and 27% of total deposits, respectively, while
non-interest-bearing deposits comprise 5% and 5% of total deposits,
respectively.

Total deposits increased by $114 billion, or 16%, primarily due to:

o Strong growth in corporate interest-bearing deposits in all regions,
notably in Furope, Asia, and North America. Increases reflected the
impact of rising short-term interest rates, as well as increased client
transactiona! volumes and strong econormic growth; and

* Growth in retail deposits primarily from high-yield savings accounts, time
deposits and money market accounts in the Consumer businesses.
Increased U.5. deposits were driven by organic growth through branch
expansion, competitive interest rates, and marketing campaigns of new
products. [n regions outside the U.S., deposits grew as a result of
continued branch and client acquisition and servicing channel
expansion, competitive interest rates and marketing campaigns of new
products.

Average deposits increased $117 biltion to §704 biltion in 2007, yielding
an average rate of 4.1%, compared to 3.7% in the prior year.

For more information on deposits, see “‘Capital Resources and Liquidity”
on page 75.

Debt
Debt is composed of both short-term and long-term borrowings. It includes
commercial paper, borrowings from unaffiliated banks, senior notes
(inciuding colfateralized advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank),
subordinated notes and trust preferred securities. The majority of debt is
carried at cost, with approximately $93 billion recorded at fair value in
accordance with SFAS 155 and SFAS 159.

Debt increased by $185 billion, or 48%, as short-term borrowings
increased $46 billion, or 45%, and long-term debt increased $139 billion,
or 48%.
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The increase in short-term borrowings included an increase of $52 billion
in other funds borrowed, offset by a decrease of $6 billion in commercial
paper. The net increase was used to fund both trading and non-trading
activities.

Average commercial paper outstanding in 2007 was $45 billion and
yielded an average rate of 5.2%, compared to $32 billion and 5.0% in 2006.
Average other funds borrowed in 2007 was $98 billion, yielding an average
raie of 3.0%, compared 10 $39 billion and 4.1% in the prior year.

As for long-term debt, the Company consolidated $46 billion of Citi-
advised SIV long-term debt as a result of committing to provide a support
facility that would resolve uncertainties regarding senior debt repayment
currently facing the $TVs. In addition, long-term debt increased due to the
Company’s funding of acquisitions and strategic investments, along with
acquiring debt associated with these acquisitions. The funding mix is based
on the dynamic liquidity characteristics of the assets funded and is intended
to maintain an adequate funding and capital structure. U.S. dollar and
non-U.S. dollar-denominated fixed and variable rate senior debt increased by
$90 billion, while subordinated debt increased by $35 billion. Additionally,
trust preferred securities increased by $14 billion, including the sate of $7.5
billion of equity units, with mandatory conversion into common shares, in a
private placement to the Abu Dhabi Investment Authority.

Average long-term debt outstanding during 2007 was $317 billion,
compared to $231 billion in 2006, yielding an average rate of 5.4% and
5.2%, respectively.

For more information on debt, see Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on page 149 and “Capital Resources and Liquidity” on page 75.




SEGMENT BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31, 2007

Global Corparate/Other
Globa! Markets & Weatth Alternative & Consolidating  Total Citigroup
In miftions of doflars Consumer Banking  Management Investments Eliminations Gonsolidated
Assets:
Cash and due from banks $11364 $ 18478 $ 905 $ N7 $ 6742 § 38206
Depasits with banks 15,337 37,130 2,649 13,327 923 69,366
Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or purchased under agreements to
resell 946 268,115 5,005 — — 274,066
Brokerage receivables 488 40,466 15,993 412 — 57,359
Trading account assets 10,19¢ 474873 7,830 46,082 — 538,984
[nvestments 72,695 117,080 344 9,748 15,141 215,008
Loans, net of unearned income
Consumer 529,800 — 62,407 — — 592,307
Corporate — 185,621 — 65 — 185,686
Loans, net of uneamed income $529,800 § 185621 $ 62,407 $ 65 $ — § 777993
Allowance for loan losses {12,158) {3.723) (236) — — (16.117)
Total loans, net $517,742  § 181,898 $ 62171 $ 6 $ — % 761,876
Goodwill 29,348 9218 2,109 529 — 41,204
Intangible assets 17,344 2,263 2,874 206 — 22,687
Other assets 69,832 73,966 4,450 1,845 18,782 168,875
Total assets $745,285  $1,223,487 $104,330 $72,831 $ 41,588  $2,187,631
Liabitities and Equity:
Total deposits $319.822  $ 400,299 $106,020 $ — $ 89 § 826,230
Federat funds purchased and sacurities loaned or sold under agreements to
repurchase 5,311 295,201 3477 254 — 304,243
Brokerage payables — 78731 6,220 — — 84,951
Trading account liabilities 392 178,481 2,538 671 — 182,082
Short-term borrowings 16,727 61,322 22,726 4822 40,891 146,488
Long-term deht 103,567 92,287 849 45,887 184,522 427,112
Other liabilities 144,663 107,344 23,253 8,655 {180,988) 102,927
Net intersegment funding (lending) 154,813 9,822 {60,753) 12,642 {116,524) -
Stockholders' equity — — — — 113,508 113,598
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $745295  $1,223 487 $104,330 $72,931 $ 41,588 $2,187,631

The above supplemental information reflects the Company's consolidated understanding of the balance sheet components managed by the underlving

GAAP halance sheet by reporting segment. The respective segment
information closely depicis the assets and liabilities managed by each
segment. While this presentation is not defined by GAAP, the Company
believes that these non-GAAP financial measures enhance investors’
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business segments a5 well as the beneficial interrelationship of the asset and
liability dynamics of the balance sheet components among the Company’s
business segments. The Company believes that investors may find it useful to
see these non-GAAP financial measures to analyze financial performance.




Interest Revenue/Expense and Yields

Average Rates—Interest Revenue, Interest Expense and Net Interest Margin

—— Interest Revenue-
Average Rate

—a— Interest Expense-
Average Rate

wmdie Net nterest Margin
1.00% . 5.I4% 6.53% 5.59% 47% 6.56% B.44% 5A42% B.53%
AT% "
5.84% 5.95%
oy | 3%
5.00% Interest Revenue-Average Rate - " L% 4.55% 3% 3% -
391% ) » = - - - -
400% Interest Expense-Average Rate
330%
an0% " N
3104% 2.08% 2.8%% 2 3-5% & i - a—h
2159% . . 2.13% 262% = -
200% Het Interest Margin 246% 247% L4% 1.38% 253%
1.00%
1005 2005 3005 4005 1406 2006 3006 4006 1207 2007 3007 an
% Change % Change
In mifiions of dolfars 2007 2006 2005 2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
Interest Revenue $124,467 396,497 $75922 29% 2%
Interest Expense 77,531 56,943 36,676 36 55
Net Interest Revenue $ 46936 $39.554 §$39,246 19% 1%
Interest Revenue—Average Rate 6.49%  6.48% 5.93% 1 bps 55 bps
Interest Expense—Average Rate 4.44% 4.29% 3.19% 15 bps 110 bps
Net Interest Margin 2.45% 2.66% 3.06% (21) hps {40) bps
Interest Rate Benchmarks:
Federal Funds Rate—End of Period 4.25% 5.25% 4,25% (100) bps 100 bps
Fedaral Funds Rate—Average Rate 5.05% 4.96% 3.24% 9 bps 172 bps
2-Year U.S. Treasury Note—Average Rate 4.36% 4.81% 3.85% (45) bps 96 bps
10-Year U.S. Treasury Note—Average Rate 4.63% 4.79% 4.28% {16} bps 51 bps

10-Year vs, 2-Year Spread

27hps {2)bps 430ps

(1) Excludes taxable equivalent adjustment based on the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35%.

Asignificant portion of the Company's business activities is based upon
gathering deposits and borrowing money and then lending or investing
those funds. Net Interest margin is calculated by dividing gross interest
revenue less gross interest expense by average interest eamning assets.
During 2007, pressure on net interest margin was driven by several

factors. Rising overseas deposit rates and funding actions the Company has
taken to lengthen its maturity profile mainly contributed to the increase of
interest expense. The average rate on the Gompany’s assets remained flat on
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an annual basis, reflecting improved commercial loan pricing, both
domestically and overseas, offset by lower yields earned on deposits with
banks in 2007.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company's actions 10 reduce asset
balances and to better manage interest earning assets resulted in
improvement in the interest eared on these assets. Additionally, the
widening between short-term and tong-term spreads resulted in upward
movermnent in the net interest margin.




AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES—ASSETS me@

Average volume Interest revenue % Average rate

in millions of dollars 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Assets
Deposits with banks & $ 56905 $ 37977 0§ 34211 0§ 3200 §$ 2280 § 1537 5862% 603% 4.49%
Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or

purchased under agreements to resell ©®
in LS. offices $ 192824 § 166202 § 154578 S 11,728 §10258 § 7041 608% 6.17% 455%
In offices outside the 1.5, # 131,766 85,200 74,728 6,626 3,941 2749 503 483 368
Total $ 324580 F 251402 % 229306 $ 18354  $14,199 $ 9790 5.65% 565% 4.27%
Trading account assets @®
In U.S. offices $ 263922 § 188985 § 154716 $ 13557 $ 8537 $567/8 514% 452% 367%
In offices cutside the U.S. & 176,803 100,634 80,367 4,950 3,328 2459 280 331 306
Total $ 440,725 % 285619 % 235083 $ 18507 511865 $ 8137 420% 4.10% 3.46%
Investiments
In U.S. offices

Taxable $ 136482 §$ 106,136 & 77000 § 6840 354799 $ 2623 501% 452% 3.41%

Exempt from LS. income tax 1 17,796 14,023 10,852 909 661 481 511 471 443
in offices outside the U.S. & 110,766 98,640 81,300 5,738 4,939 423 518 501 521
Total $ 265044 $ 2187990 $ 169,161 $ 13487 510399 $ 7338 509% 4.75% 4.34%
Loans (net of unearned income) ®
Consumer loans
InU.S. oflices $ 37007 % 341315  § 306306 § 31,507 328538 $24880 B8.36% 8.36% 8.12%
In offices outside the U.S. & 175,463 138,978 130,550 18,653 14773 14238 1063 1063 109
Tolal consumer loans $ 552560 § 480,203 $ 436946 $ 50,160 $43311 $39118 9.08% 9.02% 8.95%
Corparate loans
In U.S. offices $ 34843 $ 28113 0§ 19200 $ 2504 31717 $ 1134 719% 6.11% 591%
In offices outside the U.S, ® 152,840 124,462 101,262 13,530 9,836 6837 88 790 675
Total corporate loans $ 187683 % 152575 % 120462 $16,034 $11,553 £ 7971 B54% 7.57% 6.62%
Total loans $ 740,243 § 632868 $ 557408  $ 66,194  $54,864 $47080 B.94% 867% B.45%.
Other interest-eaming assets $ 90707 § 57472 % 56,095 & 4725 $ 2881 § 2,031 5.21% 5.01% 3.62%
Total interest-earning assets $1.918,214  $1488137  $1,281,264  $124,467  $96497 §75022 649% 6.48% 5.93%
Non-interest-earning assets @ 253,469 191,408 165,604
Total assets from discontinued operations — — 51,270
Total assets $2,171,683 31678545 31,498,138

(1) Interest revenue excludes the taxable equivalent adjustments (based on the U),S. federa! statutory tax rate of 35%) of $125 million, $38 million, 2nd $158 million for 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

[2) Interast rates and amounts include the effects of risk management activities associated with the respective asset and liability categories. See Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statemanis on page 164.
{3) Monthiy or quarierly averages have been used by certain subsidiaries where daily averages are unavailable.
(4} Detaiied average volume, imerést rovenue and interest expense exclude discontinued operations. See Note 3 to te Consolidated Fnancial Statements on page 125.
(5) Average rates rellect pravailing Jocai interest rates, including inflationary effects and monetary corrections in cef1ain countries.
{6) Average volumes of secusities borowed or purchased under agreements to resell are reported net pursuant to FASB Interpretation Mo, 41, "Offsetting of Amounts Retated to Certain Repurchase and Reverse

Repurchase Agreements™ (FIN 41), and interest revenue exciudes the impact of FIN 41,

{7y The fair value carmying amounis of derivative and loreign exchange contracts arg reported in non-interest-earning assets and other non-interest-bearing Latdlities.
@ Interest expensa on Trading aotount (atklities of Markets & Banking is reported as a reduction of interest revenue. infecest reveme and intesest expensa on cash collateral positions are reported in Trading account

assets and Trading account liabilties, respectivety.
19) Includes cash-tsasts loars.

Reclassified 1o conform to the current period’s presentation,
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AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES—LIABILITIES AND EQUITY, AND NET INTEREST REVENUE @23

Average volume Interest expense % Average rate

in millions of dollars 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Liabilities
Deposits
InU.5. offices

Savings ceposils & $ 140304 § 134761 § 127,783 $ 4,772 $ 4056 $ 241 3.20% 3.01% 1.85%

Other time deposits 58,808 48,559 35,754 3,358 2,471 1,247 571 509 348
In offices outside the U.S. B 495,501 403,645 343,647 20,611 15,130 9,844 416 375 286
Total $ 703613 $ 586965 § 507,184 $2B,741  $21,657 $13,502 4.08% 3.69% 2.66%
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold

under agreements to repurchase @
InU.5. offices $ 244258 $ 194726 § 173674 $14,339  $11.857 § 7737 5.87% 6.09% 4.45%
In offices outside the U.5. ® 142,370 95,937 71,921 8,689 5,991 4118 610 583 573
Total $ 386628 $ 200663 § 245595 $23,028  $17.448  $11,855 5.96% 6.00% 4.83%
Trading account liabilities ® ®
In U.S. offices $ 45383 $ 36983 § 34935 $1342 § 8 $ 544 246% 241% 1.56%
In offices outsida the U.S. ®& 58,228 37,802 38,737 298 228 125 051 060 032
Total $ 104611 $ 74785 $ 73672 $ 1,440 $ 1,119 § 669 1.38% 1.50% 091%
Short-term borrowings
InU.S. offices $ 169457 $ 120123 5 094342 $6234 §$4195 § 2054 3.68%_ 3.45% 2.18%
In offices outside the U.5. ® 64,361 24,841 18,128 1,130 614 688 1.76 247 380
Total $ 233818 5 144964 § 112470 $ 7364 $ 4809 $ 2742 3.15% 3.32% 2.44%
Long-term debt
In U.S. offices $ 278958 § 206607 & 180,167 $14,996  $10,596 § 6,756 5.38% 5.13% 3.75%
In offices outside the U.S. ® 37,9 24,588 31,843 1,962 1,314 1,152 519 534 362
Total $ 316749  $ 231,195 § 212,010 $16958  $11.910 § 7,908 535% 5.15% 3.73%
Total interest-bearing liabilities $1745419  $1328572  §1,150,931 $77,531  $56.943 $36,676 4.44% 4.29% 3.15%
Demand deposits in U.S. offices 12,436 10,994 10,050
Other non-interest bearing liabilities ® 290,854 224,413 180,070
Total liabilities from giscontinued operations - — 46,011
Total liabilities $2,048,709  $1.563979  $1,387,062
Total stockholders’ equity (' $ 122974 § 115566 § 111,076
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $2,171,683  $1,679,545  $1,498,138
Net interest revenue as a percentage of average

interest-eaming assets
InU.S. offices $1,002,442 $ 893879 § 760,148 $22,334  $19457 $21392 204% 2.18% 2.78%
In offices outside the U.S. @ 825,772 594,258 512,116 24,602 20,097 17,854 298 338 349
Total $1,018214  $1.488,137  $1,281,264 $46,936 539,554 $30,246 2.45% 2.66% 3.06%

{1} Interest ravenua excludes the taxable equivalent adjustments (based on the U.S. federal statutory tax rata of 35%) of $125 million, $38 miltion, and $158 million for 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

(2) Interest rates and amounts include the effects of risk management activities associated with the respective asset and liabilkty categories. See Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page i64.

{3} Monthly or quarterly averages have been used by certain subsidiaries where daily averages are unavailable,

(4} Detailed .average volume, interesi revenue and interest expense excluda discontinued operations. See Note 3 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 125.

{5} Savings deposits consist of Insured Money Markel Rate accounts, NOW accounts, and gther savings deposits.

(6 Average ates reflect prevalling local interest rates, including inflationary effects and monetary corrections in certain countries.

{7) Average volumes of securities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase are reported net pursuant 1o FIN 41 and interest expense exchudes the impact of FIN 41.

(8) The fair value camying amounis of derivative and forgign exchange contracts are reported in non-interest-eaming assets and other non-intarest-bearing liabilities.

{9} Interest expense on Trading account liabiities of Markets & Banking i reported as a reduction of interest revenue. Interest revenue and interest expense on cash cotlateral positions are reported in Trading account
assets and Tracing account liabilifes, respectively.

{1 0vIncluges stockhalders’ equity from discontinued operations.

{1 1)includes allocations for capital and funding costs based on the location of the asset.

Reclassified to conform to the current peried's presentation.
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ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN INTEREST REVENUE ti@@

2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs, 2005
Increase {decrease) Increase (decrease)
due to change in: due 1o change in:

Average Average Net Average Average Net
In mitlions of dollars volume rate change volume rate change
Deposits with banks @ $ 1,073 $ (162) $ o $ 183 $ 569 $ 752
Federal funds sold and securities borrowed

or purchased under agreements to resell

In 1.5. offices $ 1,621 $ (151) $ 1,470 $ 562 $2,655 $ 37
In offices outside the LS. @) 2,316 369 2,685 420 772 1,192
Total $ 3937 $ 218 $ 4,155 $ 982 $3,427 $ 4,409
Trading account assets ®
InU.S. offices $ 3,730 $1,290 $ 5,020 $ 1,400 $1,459 $ 2,859
In offices outside the LS. @ 2,198 {576) 1,622 658 21 859
Total $ 5928 $ M4 $ 6,642 $ 2,058 $1,670 $ 3728
Investments {1}
In LL.5. offices $ 1,670 $ 619 $ 2,288 $ 1325 $1,031 § 2,356
In offices outside the U.S, & 624 175 799 873 (168) 705
Total $ 2,294 $ 794 $ 3,088 $ 2,198 $ 863 $ 3.061
Loans—consumer
In U.5. offices $ 2,990 $ (21 $ 2,969 $ 2,002 $ 756 $ 3,658
In offices outside the U.S. & 3,879 1 3,880 902 (367) 535
Total $ 6,869 $ (20) $ 6,849 $ 3,804 $ 389 $ 4,193
Loans—corporate
In U.5. offices $ 453 $ 334 $ 787 $ 543 $ 40 $ 583
In offices outside the U.S. ¥ 2,419 1,275 3,694 1,720 1,279 2,999
Total $ 2,872 $1,609 $ 4,481 $ 2,263 $1,319 $ 3.582
Total loans $ 9741 $1,589 $11,330 $ 6,067 $1,708 $ 7,778
Other interest-eaming assets $ 1,727 $ 117 $ 1844 $ o $ 799 $ 850
Total interest revenue $24,700 $3,270 $27,970 $11,539 $9,036 $20,575

{1) The taxable equivalent adjustment is based on the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% and is exchuded from this presentation.
{2) PateAwolume variance is allocated based on the percentage refationship of changes in volume and changes in rata o the total net change.

{3) Detailed average volume, interest revenue and intérest expense exclude discontinued operations. See Nate 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 125,
{4) Changes in average rates reflect changes in prevailing local interest rates, including inflationary effects and monetary corections in certain countries.
{5) Interest expense on Trading account liabilities of Markets & Banking is reported as a reduction of interest revenue, Interest revenue and interest expense an cash collateral positions are reported In Trading account

assets and Trading account liabilities, respectively,
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ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN INTEREST EXPENSE AND NET INTEREST REVENUE 1128

2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs, 2005
Increase {decrease) Increase (decrease)
due to change in: due to change in:
Average Average Net Average Average Net
In millions of dollars volume rate change volume raie change
Deposits
InU.S. offices $ 933 $ 670 $ 1,603 $ 487 $ 2382 $ 2,869
In offices outside the U.S. @ 3,698 1,783 5,481 1,910 3,376 5,286
Totak $ 4,631 $2,453 $ 7,084 $2,397 § 5,758 $ 8,155
federal tunds purchased and securities loaned
or sold under agreements to repurchase

InU.S. offices $ 2,921 $ (439 $ 2482 $1,023 $ 3,007 $ 4,120
In offices outside the U.S. @ 2,822 276 3,098 1,398 75 1,473
Total $ 5,743 $ (163) $ 5,580 $2.421 $ 3,172 $ 5593
Trading account liabilities &
In U.S. offices $ 23 $ 2 $§ 25 $ 34 $ 33 $ 347
In offices outside the U.S. ¥ 109 (39) 70 3 106 103
Total $ 340 $ (19 $ 32 $ 31 $ 419 $ 450
Short-term borrowings
In.5. offices $ 1,804 $ 235 $ 2,039 $ 667 $ 1474 $ 2,141
in offices owiside the U.S. & 737 {221} 516 209 {283) {74)
Total $ 2,541 $ W $ 2,555 $ 876 $ 1,191 $ 2,067
Long-term debt
In U.S. offices $ 3868 $ 532 $ 4,400 $1,095 $ 2,745 $ 3.840
in offices oulside the U.S. # 686 {38) 648 {303) 465 162
Total $ 4,554 $ 494 $ 5,048 $ 792 $ 3,210 $ 4,002
Total interest expense $17,809 $2,77% $20,588 $6,517 $13,750 $20,267
Net interest revenue $ 6,801 $ 401 $ 7,382 §5,022 $(4,714) $ 308

(%) The taxable equivalent adjustment is based on the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 35% and is excluded from ihis presentation,

{?) RateAolume variance is allocated based on the percentage relationship of changes in volume and changes in rate to the total net change.

{3 Detalled avarage volume, interest revenue and interest expense exclude discontinued operations. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 25.

{4} Changes in average rates reflect changes in prevailing local interest rates, including intationary effects and monetary comections in cenain countries.

{5) Interest expense on Trading account iabilities of Markets & Banking is reported as a reduction of Interest revenue. Exterest revenua and interast expense on cash collateral positions are reported in Trading account
assels and Trading account liabilites, respectively,
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CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview

Capital is generally generated via earnings from operating businesses. This is
augmenied through issuance of commen siock, convertible preferred stock,
preferred stock and subordinated debt, and equity issued as a result of
emplovee benefit plans. Capital is used primarily o support asset growth in
the Company’s businesses and is sufficient to absorb unexpected market,
credit or operational losses. Excess capital is used to pay dividends to
shareholders, fund acquisitions and repurchase stock.

Citigroup's capital management framework is designed to ensure that
Citigroup and its principal subsidiaries maintain sufficient capital consistent
with the Company’s risk profile, all applicable regulatory standards and
guidelines, and external rating agency consiclerations. The capital
management process is centrally overseen by senior management and is
reviewed at the entity and country level.

Senior management oversees the capital management process of
Citigroup and its principal subsidiaries mainly through Citigroup's Global
Finance and Asset and Liability Committee (FinALCO). The Commiltee is
comprised of the senior-most management of Citigroup for the purpose of
engaging management in decision-making and related discussions with
treasurers on capital and liquidity. The Committee’s responsibilities include:
determining the financial structure of Citigroup and its principal
subsidiaries; ensuring that Citigroup and its regulated entities are adequately
capitalized; determining appropriate asset levels and return hurdles for
Citigroup and individual businesses; reviewing the funding and capital
markets plan for Citigroup; monitoring interest rate risk, corporate and bank
liquidity, the impact of currency translation on non-11.5. earnings and
capital; and reviewing and recommending for Board consideration share
repurchase levels and dividends on preferred and common stock. The
FinALCO has established capital targets for Citigroup and for significant
subsidiaries, These targets exceed the regulatory standards.

Capital Ratios
Citigroup is subject to risk-based capital ratio guidelines issued by the FRB.
Capital adequacy is measured via two risk-based ratios, Tier 1 and Total
Capital (Tier 1 + Tier 2 Capital). Tler 1 Capital is considered core capital
while Total Capital also includes other items such as subordinated debt and
loan loss reserves. Both measures of capital are stated 4s a percent of risk-
adjusted assets. Risk-adjusted assets are measured primarily on their
perceived credit risk and include certain off-balance-sheet exposures, such as
unfunded loan commitments and letters of credit and the notionat amounts
of derivative and foreign exchange contracts. Citigroup is alse subject to the
leverage Ratio requirernent, a non-risk-based asset ratio, which is defined as
Tier 1 Capital as a percentage of adjusted average assets,

To be “well capitalized” under federal bank regulatory agency definitions,
a bank holding company must have a Tier 1 Capital Ratio of at least 6%, a
Total Capital Ratio of a3 least 10%, and a Leverage Ratio of at least 3%, and
net be subject to an FRB directive to maintain higher capital levels.
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As noted in the following table, Citigroup maintained a “well capitalized”
position during both 2007 and 2006,

Citigroup Regulatory Capltal Ratios

At year end 2007 2006
Tier 1 Capital 712% 8.59%
Total Capital (Tier 1 and Tier 2) 10.70 1165
Leverage @ 4.03 5.16

{1} The FAB granted interim capital relief for the impact of adopting SFAS 158.

(2) Tier 1 Capital divided by adjusted average assets.

{3) Theimpact of including Gitigroup’s own credit rating in valuing derivatives and debt carried at fair
value upon the adoption of SFAS 157 is excluded from Tier 1 Capital at December 31, 2007.

Components of Capital Under Regulatory Guidelines

In millions of dotars at year end 2007 2006
Tier t Capital
Commeon stockholders' equity $ 113588 $ 118,783
Quatifying perpetual preferred stock - 1,000
Qualifying mandatorily redeemable securities of )

subsidiary trusts 23,594 9,579
Minority interest 4,077 1,107
Less: Net unrealized gains on securities available-for-

sale Lra)) (943)
Less: Accumutated net losses on cash flow hedges, net

of tax 3,163 8%
Less: Pension liability adjustment, net of tax @ 1,057 1,647
Less: Cumulative effect included in fair value of financial

liabilities attributable to credit worthiness, net of tax & (1,352) —
Less: Restricted Core Capital Elements © {1,364) —
Less: Intangible assets:

Goodwill {41,204) (33,415)
Other disatowed intangible assets (10,511) {6,127

Qther (1,361) (793)
Total Tier 1 Capital $ 89226 § 90899
Tier 2 Capital
Altowance for credit losses © $ 15778 § 10,034
Qualifying debt ® 26,690 21,89
Unrealized marketable equity securities gains 1 1,063 438
Restricted Core Capital Elements 4 1,364 —
Total Tier 2 Capital $ 4489 $ 32,361
Total Capital (Tier 1 and Tier 2) $ 134121 § 123,260
Risk-Adjusted Assets $1,253,321 $1,057 872

{1) Tier 1 Capital exctudes unrealized galns and losses on debt securities available-for-sale in accordance

with regulatory risk-based capital guidelines. Institutions are required to deduct from Tier 1 Capital net

unrealized holding gains on availzble-for-sate equity securities with readily determinable fair values,

net of tax. The tederal bank regulatory agencies permit institutions to include in Tier 2 Capital up to

45% of pretax net unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale equity securities with readily

determinable fall wahues, et of tax.

The FRB granted interim capital refief for the impact of adopting $FAS 158.

{3) Theimpact of inciuding Citigroup’s ewn credit rating in valuing derivatives and debt carried at fair
value upon the adeption of SFAS 157 is excluded trom Tier 1 Capital at December 31, 2007.

{4) Represents the excess of aliowable restricted core capital in Tier 1 Capital. Restricted core capital is
limited to 25% of all core capital elements, net of goodwill,

(5} Can include up to 1.25% of risk-adjusted assets. Any excess aliowance is deducted from risk-adjusted
assels.

@

(6} Inctudes qualitying subordinated debt in an amount not exceeding 50% of Tier 1 Capstal.

(M) Inchuces risk-weighted credit equivalent amounts, net of 2pplicable bilateral netting agreements, of
$91.3 billion for interest rate, commodity and equity derivative contracts and foreign-exchange
contracts as of December 31, 2007, compared with $77.1 billion as of December 31, 2006. Market-
risk-equivalent assets included in risk-adjusted assets amounted to $109.0 billion at December 31,
2007 and $40.1 billion at December 31, 2006, respectively, Risk-adjusted assets also include the
eftect of other off-batance-sheet exposures, such as unused loan commitments and fetters of credit,
and reflect deductions for certain intangible assets and any excess allowance for credit losses.

Common stockholders” equity decreased approximately $5.2 billion to
$113.6 billion, representing 5.2% of total assets as of December 31, 2007
from $118.8 billion and 6.3% at December 31, 2006.




Recently Announced Financial Actions to Enhance ’
Citigroup's Capital Base

During the fourth quarter of 2007 and January 2008, the Company raised
approximately $30 billion {of which $11.8 billion closed by December 31,
2007) of qualifying Tier 1 Capital. These transactions included the issuance
of convertible preferred and straight (non-convertible) preferred securities,
equity units, and enhanced trust-preferred securities (TruPS). The Company
also completed the acquisition of the remaining Nikko Cordial shares that it
did not atready own, by issuing 175 million Citigroup common shares
(approximately $4.4 billion based on the exchange terms) in exchange for
those Nikko Cordial shares.

Pro forma for the issuance of new securities referred to ahove (including
the common shares issued in connection with the Nikko Cordial
transaction), the Company's December 31, 2007 Tier 1 Capital ratio would
be approximately 8.8% and its Tangible Common Equity (TCE) as a percent
of Risk Weighted Managed Assets (RWMA) ratio would be approximately
6.9%. These ratios compare to the reported Tier 1 Capital Ratio of 7.12% and
TCE/RWMA of 5.6% at December 31, 2007. The pro forma ratios would
exceed management’s stated targets for the Tier 1 Capital and the TCE/
RWMA ratio of 7.5% and 6.5%, respectively.

Issuance of $12.5 Billion of Convertible Preferred Stock
in a Private Offering

The private offering, which settled on January 23, 2008, included a $6.88
billion investment from the Government of Singapore Investment
Corporation Pte [td as well as investments from Capital Research Global
Investors; Capital World Investors; the Kuwait Investment Authority; the New
Jersey Division of Investment; HRH Prince Alwaleed bin Talal bin Abdulaziz
Alsaud: and Sanford 1. Weill and The Weill Family Foundation.

The convertible preferred stock will pay, when and if declared by the
Company’s Board of Directors, dividends in cash at a rate of 7% per annum,
payable quarterly. The first dividend payment date was February 15, 2008.
Each share of convertible preferred stock will be convertible at any time, at
the option of the holder, into shares of common stock of the Company ata
conversion price of §31.62 per share of common stock. The convertible
preferred stock is perpetual and has no maturity date.

On or after February 15, 2013, the convertible preferred stock, at the
option of the Company, will be convertible into the Company’s common
stock ai the conversion price, if the price of the Company's commaon stock
exceeds 130% of the conversion price. On or after February 15, 2015, the
Company may redeem for cash the convertible preferred stock on any
dividend payment date, subject to a capital replacement covenant for any
redemption prior to February 15, 2020,

The conversion price is subject to reset in the case of certain equily and
equity-linked issuances of Citigroup before January 23, 2009 with gross
proceeds in excess of $5 billion with a reference price and/or conversion
price that is lower than that of the convertible preferred stock. Under no

circumstances will the conversion price be reset to less than $26.35 per share.
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The investors in the private offering agreed not to sell, transfer or hedge the
securities or their exposure to the underlying comrmon stock of the Company
for a period of six months following January 23, 2008, Each of the investors has
agreed to cap its ownership of the voting securities of the Company at specific
levels based on bank regulatory and foreign ownership provisions and other
considerations. Each investor acted individually in making its investment; there
has been ro coordination or negotiation armong these investors; and the
investors have agreed not to act in concert with one another or others going
forward. In addition, none of the investors will have any special governance
rights or any role in the management of Citigroup, including no right o
designate a member of the Citigroup Board of Directors, subject to the
customary right of preferred stockholders to elect two members to the Board
upon nen-payment of dividends for six dividend periods.

Issuance of Approximately $3.2 Billion of Convertible
Preferred Stock in a Public Offering

The Company issued approximately $3.2 billion of 6.5% Series T
Non-Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock. The primary offering settled on
January 23, 2008 and the over-allotment shares settled on January 29, 2008.

The Series T Convertible Preferred Stock will pay, when and if declared by
the Company's Board of Directors, dividends in cash at a rate of 6.5% per
annum, payable quarterly. The first dividend payment date was February 15,
2008.

Each share of the Series T Convertible Preferred Stock will be convertible at any
time, at the option of the holder, into shares of common stock of the Company at
a conversion price of $33.73 per shate of common slock. The Series T Convertible
Preferred Stock is perpetual and has no maturity date,

On or after February 15, 2013, the Series T Prefetred Stock, at the option
of the Company, will be convertible into the Company’s common stock at the
conversion price, if the price of the Company's common stock exceeds 130%
of the conversion price. On or after February 15, 2015, the Company may
redeem for cash the Series T Conveniible Preferred Stock on any dividend
payment date, subject to a capital replacement covenant for any redemption
prior to February 15, 2020. Investors will have no right to vote in elections of
directors, subject to the customary right of preferred stockholders to elect two
members to the Board upon non-payment of dividends for six dividend
periods.

Issuance of Approximately $3.7 Billion of Straight
Preferred Stock in a Public Offering
The Company issued approximately $3.7 billion of Series AA 8.125%
non-cumulative preferred stock, which setiled on January 25, 2008. The
Series AA preferred stock will pay, when and if declared by the Company’s
Board of Directors, dividends in cash at a rate of 8.125% per annum, payable
quarterly. The first dividend payment date was February 15, 2008, The Series
AA preferred stock is perpetual and has no maturity date.

On or after February 15, 2018, the Cornpany may redeem for cash the
Series A4 preferred stock on any dividend payment date, subject to a capital
replacement covenant for any redemption prior to February 15, 2023.




Inwvestors will have no right to vote in elections of directors, subject to the
custornary right of preferred stockholders to elect two members to the Board
upon non-payement of dividends for six dividend periods.

Lowering the Company's Quarterly Dividend to $0.32
Per Share

On January 14, 2008 the Board declared a quarterly dividend on the
Company's common stock of $0.32 per share, which was paid on

February 22, 2008, to stockhollers of record on February 4, 2008, This action
would result in a reduction in the dividend level of approximately

$4.4 billion from the previous year. This new dividend ievel will allow the
Company to reinvest in growth opportunities and properly positicn the
Company for both favorable and unfavorable economic conditions, Dividend
levels are set and dividends are declared by the Board of Directors,

Continuing Sales of Non-Core Assets

Buring the fourth quarter, the Company sold an owneship interest in Nikko
Cordial's Simplex Investment Advisors, In addition, the Company is
conlinuing to reduce its consumer-based holdings of mortgage-backed
securities and other assets held in its Securitfes and Banking business.,

Completion of the Acquisition of Nikko Cordial

On January 29, 2008, Citigroup completed the acquisition of the remaining
Nikko Cordial shares that it did not abready own, by issuing 175 million
Citigroup common shares (approximately $4.4 billion based on the
exchange terms) in exchange for those Nikko Cordial shares.

$7.5 Billion of Equity Units sold to the Abu Dhabi
Investment Authority (ADIA} in a Private Offering

0On December 3, 2007 the Company sold $7.5 biltion of Equity Units in a
private placement to the Abu Dhabi Investment Authority (ADIA).

The Equity Units consist of four series of trust preferred securities and four
series of forward purchase contracts to acquire Citigroup common stock.
Each Equity Unit will pay a fixed annual rate of 11%, payable quarterly,
consisting of a pavment on each series of trust preferred securities and a
contract payment on the purchase contracts.

The common stock purchase contracts will settle on dates ranging from
March 15, 2010 to September 15, 2011, subject to adjustment. Prior to the
settlement of the purchase contracts, the trust preferred securities will be
re-marketed to new investors on market terms. The proceeds of such
re-marketings are expected to be used to settle the common stock purchase
contracts. The trust preferred securities have no stated maturity, but will be
redeemahle between 2041 and 2042, subject to earlier redernption,

Each Equity Unit peovides for the purchase of Citigroup common shares
at a price per share that originally ranged from $31.83 per share (o $37.24
per share. The maximum purchase price is subject to reset in the case of
certain equity and equity-linked issuances of Citigroup in excess of $5 billion
prior to December 3, 2008. After giving effect to Citigroup’s issuance in the
privaie placements and the public offering of all the Convertible
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Preferred Stock, if the applicable veset were effected currently, the maximum
putrchase price per share would be $32.05. The actual reset will be
determined and effected within 90 days after December 3, 2008 and willbe
subject to further adjustment for additional issues of reset-causing equity or
equity-linked securities before December 3, 2008,

ADIA may not transfer, sell or hedge the Equity Units or its exposure to the
underlying common shares until at least December 3, 2009. After
Decernber 3, 2009 and until three years after the final stock settlement date,
ADIA is subject to certain manner of sale restrictions with respect to ils
common shares, ADIA agreed that its aggregate ownership of Citigroup’s
common shares, including those purchased pursuant to these Equity Units,
will not exceed 4.9% of Citigroup's total commen shares then outstanding
and that it will have no special rights of ownership or control and no role in
the management or governance of Citigroup, including no right to designate’
a member of the Citigroup Board of Directoss.

Issuance of Enhanced Trust Preferred Securities (TruPS}
in Public Offerings

During the fourth quarter, the Company issued a total of $4.2875 hillion of
Enhanced TruPS. On December 21, 2007, the Company settled a $3.5 hiltion
offering of Enhanced TruP$. These securities bear an 8.30% coupon. On
November 27, 2007, the Company settled a $787.5 miltion offering of
Enhanced TruP$. These securities bear a 7.875% coupen.

Common Equity
The table below summarizes the change in common stockholders’ equity:

in biffions of dollars .
Common Equity, December 31, 2006 $118.8
Adjustment to cpening retained eamings balance, net of taxes (0.2)
Adjustment 1o opening Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) '
paance, net of taxes @ ‘..1
Net income 36
Employee bengfit plans and other activities :I.l
Dividends - {10.8)
Issuance of shares for Grupe Cuscatlan acquisition 08
Issuiance of shares for ATD acquisition 0.6
Present value of stock purchase contract payments o dnn)
Treasury stock acquired 0.7
Net change in Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss), net of tax (1.9)
Gommon Equity, December 31, 2007 $113.6

{1) ¥he adjustment to the opening balance of Retained eamings represents the total of the after-Lax gain »

{loss) amounts for the adontion of the following accounting pronouncements:

+  SFAS 157, for $75 million,

»  SFAS 159, for ${80) million,

» FSPFAS No. 13-2, *Accounting for a Change or Projected Change in the Timing of Cash Fows
Relating to Income Taxes Generated by a Leveraged Lease Transaction™ {FSP 13-2), for $(148)
million, and o

*  FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in income Taxes™ (FIN 48}, for ${14)
million.

See Notes 1 and 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 111 and 167, respectivety.

The afler-tax adjustment to the opening balance of Accumulated other comprehensive income fioss)

represents the reclassification of the unrealized gains (losses) related to the | egg Masan secuities as”

well as several miscellaneous ltems previously reported in accordance with SFAS No. 115,

"Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” (SFAS 115), These

available-for-sale securities were reclassified to Retained earmings upon the adoption of the fair value

option in accordance with SFAS 359, See Notes 1 and 26 to the Constlidated Financial Staternents on
pages 111 and 167, respectively, for further discussions.




The decrease in the common stockholders’ equity ratio during the twelve
mmonths ended Decernber 31, 2007 reflected the above items and a 16%
increase in total assets.

As of Decernber 31, 2007, $6.7 billion remained under authorized
repurchase programs after the repurchase of $0.7 billion and $7.0 billion in
shares during 2007 and 2006, respectively. As a result of developments in the
latter half of 2007, including CDO write-downs and recent acquisitions, it is
anticipated that the Company will not resume its share repurchase program
in the near futuse. For further details, see “Unregistered Sales of Equity
Securities and Use of Proceeds” on page 199.

On June 18, 2007, Citigroup redeemed for cash shares of its 6.365%
Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series F, at the redemption price of $50 per
depository share plus accrued dividends to the date of redemption.

The table below summarizes the Company's repurchase activity:

On July 11, 2007, Citigroup redeemed for cash shares of its 6.213%
Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series G, at the redemption price of $50 per
depository share plus accrued dividends to the date of redemption.

On September 10, 2007, Citigroup redeemed for cash shares of its 6.231%
Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series H, at the redemption price of $50 per
depasitory share plus accrued dividends to the date of redemption.

On October 9, 2007, Citigroup redeemed for cash shares of its 5.864%
Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series M, at the redemption price of $50 per
depository share plus accrued dividends to the date of redemption.

For further details, see Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
on page 153.

Dollar value

Total of remaining

common Doflar value Average price authorized

shares of shares paid repurchase

In millions, except per share amounts repurchased regurchased per share program
First quarter 2007 121 $ B45 $53.37 $6,767
Second quarter 2007 0.1 8 51.42 6,759
Third quarter 2007 0.2 10 46.95 6,749
Fourth quarter 2007 — -— — 6,749
Total - 2007 124 $ 663 $53.24 $6,749
Total — 2006 144.0 $7,000 $43.60 $7,412

Mandatorily Redeemable Securities of Subsidiary Trusts
Total mandatorily redeemable securities of subsidiary trusts (trust preferred
securities), which qualify as Tier 1 Gapital, were $23.594 billion at
December 31, 2007, as compared to $9.579 billion at December 31, 2006,

In 2007, Citigroup issued $7.500 billion, $3.500 billion, $0.788 biltion,
$1.225 billion, $1.004 billion, and $1.100 billion of Enhanced Trust
Preferred Securities through Citigroup Capital XX1X-XXXII (ADIA), Citigroup
Capital XXI, Citigroup Capital XX, Gitigroup Capital XIX, Citigroup Capital
XVIII, and Citigroup Capital XVII, respectively. On April 23, 2007, March 26,
2007, and March 18, 2007, Citigroup redeemed for cash all of the $22
miltion, $25 million, and $23 million Trust Preferred Securities of Adam
Capital Trust It, Adam Statutory Trust II, and Adam Statutory Trust I,
respectively, at the redemption price of $1,000 per preferred security plus any
accrued distribution up to, but excluding, the date of redemption. On
February 15, 2007, Citigroup redeemed for cash all of the $300 million Trust
Preferred Securities of Citicorp Capital I, $450 million of Citicorp Capital II,
and $400 million of Citigroup Capital 11, at the redemption price of $1,000
per preferved security plus any accrued distribution up to, but excluding, the
date of redemption. See Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on
page 149 for details on these new issuances.

In 2006, Citigroup issued $1.600 billion, $1.185 billion, and $565 million
of Enhaneed Trust Preferred Securities through Citigroup Capital XV1,
Citigroup Capital XV, and Citigroup Capital XIV, respectively. On December 8,
2006, Citigroup redeemed for cash all of the $25 million Trust Preferred
Securities of Adam Capital Trust 1, at the redemption price of $1,000 per
preferred security plus any accrued distribution up to, but excluding, the date
of redemption.
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The FRB issued a final rule, with an effective date of April 11, 2005, which
retains trust preferred securities in Tier 1 Capital of Bank Holding Companies
{BHGs), but with stricter quantitative limits and clearer qualitative standards.
Under the rule, after a five-year transition period, the aggregate amount of
trust preferred securities and certain ather restricted core capital elements
included in Tier 1 Capital of internationally active banking organizations,
such as Citigroup, would be limited to 15% of total core capital elements, net
of goodwill, less any associated deferred tax liability. The amount of trust
preferred securities and certain other elements in excess of the limit could be
included in Tier 2 Capital, subject to restrictions. At December 31, 2007,
Citigroup had approximately 21% against the limit. The Company expects to
be within restricted core capital limits prior to the implementation date of
March 31, 2009.

The FRB permits additional securities, such as the equity units sold to
ADIA, to be included in Tier 1 Capital up to 25% (including the restricted
core capitat elements in the 15% limit) of total core capital elements, net of
goodwill less any associated deferved tax liability. At December 31, 2007,
Citigroup had approximately 26% against the limit. As a result,
approximately $1.4 billion of equity units were included in Tier 2 Capital but
will constitute Tier 1 Capital in the future as core capital levels grow.

The FRB granted interim capital relief for the impact of adopting SFAS
158 at Decernber 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006.

The FRB and the FFIEC may propose amendments to, and issue
interpretations of, risk-based capital guidelines and reporting instruetions.
These may affect reported capital ratios and net risk-adjusted assets.




Capital Resources of Citigroup's Depository Institutions

Bank Consolidation Project: During 2006, Citigroup undertook 2 bank
consolidation project, 4s well as the reorganization of its U.S. mortgage
banking business. CitiFinancial Credit Company (CCC), an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of Citigroup, transferred its ownership of Citicorp Trust
Bank, fsb to Citigroup. Citibank, NA. transferred its investment in Citibank
(South Dakota), N.A. (the Company’s primary banking entity responsible for
U.S. credit card activities) to Citigroup. In addition, a majority of the
Company's U.S. consumer mortgage lending activity was consolidated within
Citibank, N.A, as Citibank (West), FSB, Citibank Texas, N.A., Citibank, FSB
and Citibank Delaware were merged into Citihank, N.A. As a result, Citigroup
reduced its overall number of U.S.-insured depository institutions from 12 to
five.

Capital Ratios of Depository Instifutions: Citigroup's subsidiary
depository institutions in the United States are subject to risk-based capital
guidelines issued hy their respective primeary federal bank regulatory
agencies, which are similar to the FRE’s guidelines. To be “well capitalized”
under federal bank regulatory agency definitions, Citigroup’s depository
institutions must have a Tier 1 Capital Ratio of at least 6%, a Total Capital
(Tier 1 + Tier 2 Capital) Ratio of at least 10% and a Leverage Ratio of at
least 5%, and not be subject to a repulatory directive to meet and maintain
higher capital levels.

At Decernber 31, 2007, all of Citigroup’s subsidiary depesitory institutions
were “well capitalized” under the federal regulatory agencies’ definitions,
including Citigroup’s primary depository institution, Citibank, N.A,, as noted
in the following table:

Citibank, N.A. Regulatory Capital Ratios

Al year end 2007 2006
Tier 1 Capital 8.98% 8.32%
Totat Capital {Tier 1 and Tier 2) 1333 1239
Leverage & 6.65 6.09

(1) The U.S. Banking Agencies granted interim capital refief for the impact of adopting SFAS 158,

(2) The impact of including Citigroup's own credit rating in getermining the fair value of denvatives and
issued debt carried at fair vatue upcn the adoption of SFAS 157 is excluded from Tier 1 Capital at
December 31, 2007,

{3) Tier 1 Capitai divided by adjusted average assats.

Citlbank, N.A. Components of Capital Under Requlatory
Guidelines 0

In billions of dollars at year end 2007@ 2006
Tier 1 Capital $820 $599
Total Capita! {Tier 1 and Tier 2) 121.6 89.1

(1) The U.5. Banking Agencies granted interim capital relief for the impact of adopting SFAS 158,

(2) The impact of including Citigroup's own credit rating in determining the fair value of derivatives and
Issued debt carried at fair value upon the adoption of SFAS 157 is excluded from Tier 1 Capital at
December 31, 2007.

Citibank, N.A. had net income for 2007 amounting to $2.3 billion. During
2007, Citibank, N.A. received contributions from its parent company of $25.3
billion.
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During 2007, Citibank, N.A. issued an additional $5.2 biltion of
subordinated notes to Citicorp Holdings Inc. that qualify for inclusion in
Citibank, N.A.'s Tier 2 Capital. Total subordinated notes issued to Citicorp
Holdings Inc, that were outstanding at December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2006, and included in Citibank, N.A."s Tier 2 Capital, amounted to $25.2
billion and $23.0 billion, respectively.

Broker-Dealer Subsidiaries

The Company's broker-dealer subsidiaries-including Citigroup Global
Markets Inc, (CGMI), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Citigroup
Global Markets Holdings Ine. {CGMHI)—are subject to various securities and
commodities regulations and capital adequacy requirements of the
regulatory and exchange authorities of the couniries in which they operate.
The Company's U.S.-registered broker-dealer subsidiaries, including CGMI,
are subject to the Securities and Exchange Commission's Net Capital Rule,
Rule 15¢3-1 (the Net Capital Rule) under the Exchange Act.

Under the Net Capital Rule, CGMI is required to maintain minimum net
capital equal to 2% of aggregate debit itemns, as defined. Under NYSE
regulations, CGMI may be required to reduce its business if its net capital is
less than 4% of aggregate debit iterns and may also be prohibited from
expanding its business or paying cash dividends if resulting net capital
wottld be less than 5% of aggregate debit items. Furthermore, the Net Capital
Rule does not permit withdrawal of equity or subordinated capital if the
resulting net capital would be less than 5% of aggregate debit items.

CGMI computes net capital in accordance with the provisions of Appendix
E of the Net Capital Rule. This methodology allows CGMI 1o compute market
risk capital charges using internal vatue-at-risk models. Under Appendix E,
CGML is also required to hold tentative net capital in excess of $1 billion and
nei capital in excess of $500 million. The firm is also required to notify the
SEC in the event thal its tentative net capital is less than §5 billion.

Compliance with the Net Capital Rule could limit those operations of
CGMI that require the intensive use of capital, such as underwriting and
trading activities and the financing of customer account balances, and also
restrict CGMHI's ability to withdraw capital from its broker-dealer
subsidiaries, which in tum could limit CGMHI's ability to pay dividends and
make payments on its debt,

At December 31, 2007, CGMI had net capital, computed in accordance
with the Net Capital Rule, of $5.4 billion, which exceeded the minimum
requirernent by $4.6 billion.

In addition, certain of the Company's broker-dealer subsidiaries are
subiect to regulation in the other countries in which they do business,
including requirements to maintain specified levels of net capital or its
equivalent. The Company’s broker-dealer subsidiaries were in compliance
with their capital requirements at December 31, 2007. See further discussions
on “Capital Requirements” on page 194.




Regulatory Capita! Standards Developments

Citigroup supports the move to a new set of risk-based regulatory capital
standards, published on June 26, 2004 {and subsequently amended in
November 2005) by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, consisting
of central banks and bank supervisors from 13 countries. The intemational
version of the Basel [1 framework will altow Citigroup to leverage internal
risk mode's used to measure credit, operational, and market risk exposures
to drive regulatory capital calculations.

On December 7, 2007, the U.S. banking regulators published the rules for
large banks to comply with Basel [T in the U.S. These rules require Gitigroup,
as a large and internationally active bank, to comply with the most advanced
Basel 11 approaches for caleulating credit and operational risk capital
requirements. The 1.5, implementation timetable consists of a parallel
calculation period under the current regulatory capital regime (Basel I} and
Basel 11, starting any time between April 1, 2008, and April 1, 2010 followed
by a three-year transition period, typically starting 12 months after the
beginning of parallel reporting. The U.S. regulators have reserved the right to
change how Basel 11 is applied in the U.S. following a review at the end of the
second year of the transitional period, and to retain the existing prompt
corrective action and leverage capital requirements applicable o banking
organizations in the U.S. The Company is currently reviewing its timetable
for adoption.

FUNDING

Overview

As a financial holding company, substantially all of Citigroup’s net earmnings
are generated within its operating subsidiaries. These subsidiaries make
funds available to Citigroup, primarily in the form of dividends. Certain
subsidiaries’ dividend paying abilities may be limited by covenant
restrictions in credit agreements, regulatory requirements and/or rating
agency requirements that also impact their capitalization levels.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2007 the Gompany took a series of
actions to reduce potential funding risks related to short-term market
dislocations. The arnount of commercial paper outstanding was reduced and
the weighted-average maturity was extended, the Parent Company liquidity
portiolio (a portfolio of cash and highly liquid securities) and broker-dealer
“cash box” (unencumbered cash deposits} were increased substantially, and
the amount of unsecured overnight bank borrowings was reduced. As of
December 31, 2007, the Parent Company liquidity portfolio and
broker-dealer “cash box" totaled $24.2 billion as compared with $11.4
billion at June 30, 2007.

Banking Subsidiaries

There are various legal limitations on the ability of Citigroup’s subsidiary
depository institutions to extend credit, pay dividends or otherwise supply
funds  Citigroup and its nonbank subsidiaries. The approval of the Office of
the Comptroller of the Currency, in the case of national banks, or the Office
of Thrift Supervision, in the case of federal savings banks, is required if total
dividends declared in any calendar year exceed amounts specified by the
applicable agency's regulations. State-chartered depository institutions are
subject to dividend limitations imposed by applicable state law.
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As of Decernber 31, 2007, Citigroup's subsidiary depository institutions
could declare dividends to their parent companies, without regulatory
approval, of approximately $13.4 billion. In determining the dividends, each
depository institution must also consider its effect on applicable risk-based
capital and leverage ratio requirements, as well as policy statements of the
federal regulatory agencies that indicate that banking organizations should
generally pay dividends out of current operating eamings. Consistent with
these considerations, Citigroup estimates that, as of December 31, 2007, its
subsidiary depository institutions could distribute dividends to Citigroup of
the entire $13.4 billion.

Non-Banking Subsidiaries
Citigroup also receives dividends from its nonbank subsidiaries. These
nonbank subsidiaries are generally not subject to regulatory restrictions on
dividends. However, as discussed in *Capital Resources and Liquidity” on
page 75, the ahility of CGMHI to declare dividends can be restricted by capital
considerations of its broker-dealer subsidiaries.

During 2008, it is not anticipated that any restrictions on the subsidiaries’
dividending capability will restrict Citigroup’s ability o meet its obligations
as and when they become due.

Sources of Liquidity
Primary sources of liquidity for Citigroup and its principal subsidiaries
include:

* deposits;

» collateralized financing transactions;

« senior and subordinated debt;

* commercial paper;

» trust preferred and preferred securities; and
o purchased/wholesale funds.

Gitigroup and its principal subsidiaries also generate funds through
securitizing financial assets, including credit card receivables and single-
family or multi-family residences. See Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on page 156 for additional information about securitization
activities, Finally, Citigroup’s net earnings provide a significant source of
{unding to the corporation.

Citigroup's funding sources are well diversified across funding types and
geography, a benefit of the strength of the global franchise. Funding for the
parent and its major operating subsidiaries includes a large geographically
diverse retail and corporate deposit base of $826.2 billion. A significant
portion of these deposits has been, and is expected to be, long-term and
stable and is considered core. There are qualitative as well 4s quantitative
assessments that determine the Company’s calculation of core deposits, The
first step in this process is a qualitative assessment of the deposits. For
example, as a result of the Company’s qualitative analysis certain deposits
with wholesale funding characteristics are excluded from consideration as
core. Deposits that qualify under the Company’s qualitative assessments are
then subjected to quantitative analysis,




Citigroup and its subsidiaries have a significant presence in the global
capital markets. The Company's capital markets funding activities are
primarily undertaken by two legal entities: (i} Citigroup Inc., which issues
long-term debt, medium-term notes, trust preferred securities, and preferred
and common steck; and (ii) Citigroup Funding Inc. (CF1), a first-tier
subsidiary of Citigroup, which issues commercial paper, medium-term notes
and structured equity-linked and credit-linked notes, 2!l of which are
guaranteed by Citigronp, Other significant elements of long-term debt in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet include collateralized advances from the Federal
Home Loan Bank system, long-term debt related to the conselidation of CAI's
Structured Investment Vehicles, asset-hacked outstandings, and certain
borrowings of foreign subsidiaries.

CGMHI's consolidated batance sheet is highly liguid, with the vast
majority of its assets consisting of marketable securities and collateralized
short-term financing agreements arising from securities transactions. The
highly liquid nature of these assets provides CGMHI with flexibility in
financing and managing its business, CGMHI monitors and evaluates the
adequacy of its capital and borrowing base on a daily basis to maintain
liquidity, and to ensure that its capital base supports the regulatory capital
requirements of its subsidiaries,

Citigroup uses its liquidity to service debt obligations, to pay dividends to
its stockholders, to support organic growth, to fund acquisitions and 1o
repurchase its shares, pursuant to Board of Directors approved plans.

Each of Citigroup’s major operating subsidiaries finances ils operations
on a basis consistent with its capitalization, regulatory structure and the
environment in which it operates. Particular attention is paid to those
businesses that for tax, sovereign risk, or regulatory reasons cannot be freely
and readily funded in the international markets.

Citigroup's borrowings are diversified by geography, investor, instrument
and currency. Decistons regarding the ultimate currency and interest rate
profile of liquidity generated through these borrowings can be separated
from the actual issusance through the use of derivative instruments.

Citigroup’s Debt Ratings as of December 31, 2007

At Decernber 31, 2007, long-term debt and commercial paper outstanding
for Citigroup Parent Company, CGMHI, Citigroup Funding Inc. and
Citigroup's Subsidiaries were as follows:

Citigroup Citigroup Other

parent Funding Citigroup

In billions of doflars company  CGMHI @ inc. @ subsidiaries
Long-term debt $1716 $314 $36.4 $187.7 0

Commercial paper $ — $ — $34.9 $ 24

(1} At Decemnber 31, 2007, approximatety $86.9 billion relates to collateralized advances from the Federal
Home Loan Bank and $45.8 billion related to the consolidation of the CAl Structured Investment
Vehicles.

{2) Citigroup inc. guarantees all of CFI's debt and CGMHI's publicty issued securities.

See Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Staterments on page 149 for
further detail on long-term debt and commercial paper outstanding.

Citigroup's ability to access the capital markets and other sources of
wholesale funds, as well as the cost of these funds, is highly dependent on its
credit ratings. The table below indicates the current ratings for Citigroup.

On January 15, 2008, Standard & Poor's lowered Citigroup Inc.'s sentor
debt rating to “AA-" from “AA” and Citibank, N.A’s long-term rating to “AA”
from “AA+". Standard & Poor’s changed the outlook on the ratings to
“negative” and removed the “CreditWatch with negative implications”
designation. On December 13, 2007, Moody’s Investors Service lowered
Citigroup Inc.'s senior debt rating to “Aa3" from “Aa2” and Citibank, NA’s
long-term rating to “Aal” from “Aaa”. Moody’s also changed the outlook on
these ratings to “stable” from “negative”, On November 5, 2007, Moody's
Investors Service downgraded the senior debt rating of Citigroup Inc. to
“Aa2" from “Aal” and changed the ratings outlook to “negative” from
“stable”. On November 4, 2007, Standard & Poor’s placed the senior debt
rating of Citigroup Tnc. and the long-term issuer rating of Citibank, N.A. on
“CreditWatch with negative implications”. Also on November 4, 2007, Fitch
Ratings downgraded the long-term debt rating of Citigroup Inc. and the
long-term issuer rating of Citibank, N.A. to “AA” from “AA+" and changed
the ratings outlook on both entities to “negative”.

As a result of the Citigroup guarantee, changes in ratings for Citigroup
Funding Inc. are the same as those of Citigroup Inc. noted above,

Citigroup Inc. Citigroup Funding Inc. Citibank, N.A.

Senior  Commercial Senior  Commercial Long-  Short-

debt paper debt paper term term

Fitch Ratings AA Fl+ AA Fli+ AA Fi+
Moody's Investors Service Aa3 P-1 Aa3 P-1 Aail P-1
Standarg & Poor's AA- A-t+ AA- A1+ AA A-1+

Some of Citigroup’s nonbank subsidiaries, including CGMHI, have credit
facilities with Citigroup’s subsidiary depository institutions, including
Citibank, N.A. Borrowings under these facilities must be secured in
accordance with Section 234 of the Federal Reserve Act. Thete are various
legal restrictions on the extent to which a bank holding company and certain

81

of its nonbank subsidiaries can borrow or obtain credit from Citigroup’s
subsidiary depository institutions or engage in certain other transactions with
them. [n general, these restrictions require that transactions be on arm’s-
length terms and be secured by designated amounts of specified collateral. See
Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 149.




LIQUIDITY

Overview

Citigroup's liquidity management is structured to optimize the free flow of
funds through the Company’s legal and regulatory structure. Principal
constraints relate to legal and regulatory limitations, sovereign risk and tax
considerations. Consistent with these constraints and the consolidated
funding activities described in the “Funding” section beginning on page 80,
Citigroup's primary objectives for liquidity management are established by
entity and in aggregate across three main operating entities as follows:

+ Holding Company (Parent)
« Broker-Dealer (CGMHI)
» Bank Entities

Within this construct there is 2 funding framework for the Company’s
activities. The primary benchmark for the Parent and Broker-Dealer is that
on a combined basis Citigroup maintains sufficient liquidity to meet all
maturing unsecured debt obligations due within a one-year time horizon
without accessing the unsecured markets. The resulting “short-term ratio™ is
monitored on a daily basis. The short-term ratio consists of the following
significant components:

Liquidity Sources

o Cask and Liquid Securities Portfolio

The Company maintains cash and a portfolio of highly liquid/highly rated
securities that could be sold or financed on a secured basis. The cash
balances are available for same-day setilement.

o Unencumbered Securities of the Broker-Decler

CGMHI has unencumbered securities thai are available for sale or can be
financed on a secured basis. The liquidity assumptions are reviewed
periodically to assess liquidation horizons and required margins in line with
market conditions.

* 234 Capacily

As discussed further in the “Funding” section beginning on page 80, some of
Citigroup’s nonbank subsidiaries, including CGMHI, have credit facilities
with Citigroup’s subsidiary depository institutions, including Citibank, N.A.
Borrowings under these facilities must be secured in accordance with
Section 234 of the Federal Reserve Act.

» Securitization Capacity

Citigroup's Parent Company balance sheet includes a substantiat amount of
consumer finance assets, including auto receivables and persona! loans. The
company maintains active securitization programs and reviews the
securitization capacity and underlying documentation for these assets on a
regular basis. Conditions in the securitization markets have been difficult in
recent months.
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Liquidity Obligations
s Commercial Paper
Maturing commercial paper issued by Citigroup Funding Inc. See Note 20 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 149 for further information.
o [T Debt Maturing Within 12 Months
This includes debt maturing within the next 12 months of Citigroup Inc,,
Citigroup Funding Inc. and CGMHI.
» Guaranteed Money Market Notes
Represents 4 portion of notes issued through our Private Bank via 2 non-
bank subsidiary that is an element of Parent Company funding.
o Maturing Bank Loans
As Further deseribed in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Staternents on
page 149, CGMH] has a series of committed and uncommitied third-party
bank facilities that it uses in the ordinary course of business.
e Other
At December 31, 2007, this category included miscellaneous payables and
potential payments under structured notes and letters of credit.

In addition, a series of funding and risk management benchmarks and
monitoring tools are established for the Parent, Broker-Dealer and Bank
entities, as further described in the sections below.

Management of Liquidity

Management of liquidity at Citigroup is the responsibility of the Treasurer. A
uniform liquidity risk management policy exists for Citigroup and its major
operating subsidiaries. Under this policy, there is a single set of standards for
the measurement of liquidity risk in order to ensure consistency across
businesses, stabiity in methodologies and transparency of risk. Management
of liquidity at each operating subsidiary and/or country is performed on 2
daily basis and is monitored by Corporate Treasury and independent risk
management,

The basis of Citigroup's liquidity management is strong decentralized
liquidity management at each of its principal operating subsidiaries and in
each of its countries, combined with an active corporate oversight function.
As discussed in “Capital Resources and Liquidity” on page 75, Citigroup's
FinALCO undertakes this oversight responsibility aleng with the Treasurer.
One of the objectives of the FInALCO is to monitor and review the overall
liquidity and balance sheet positions of Citigroup and its principal
subsidiaries. Similarly, Asset and Liability Committees are also established
for each country and/or major line of business.




Monitoring Liquidity

Each principal operating subsidiary and/or country must prepare an annual
funding and liquidity plan for review by the Treasurer and approval by
independent risk management. The funding and liquidity plan includes
analysis of the balance sheet, as well as the economic and business
conditions impacting the liquidity of the major operating subsidiary and/or
country. As part of the funding and liquidity plan, liquidity limits, liquidity
ratios, market iriggers, and assumptions for periodic stress tests are
established and approved. A1 2 minimum, these parameters are reviewed on
an annual basis.

Liguidity Limits

Liquidity limits establish boundaries for market access in business-as-usual
conditions and are monitored against the liquidity position on a daily basis.
These limits are established based on the size of the balance sheet, depth of
the market, experience level of local management, stability of the liabilities,
and liquidity of the assets. Finally, the limits are subject to the evaluation of
the entities” stress test results. Generally, limits are established such that in
stress scenarios, entities are self-funded or net providers of liquidity. Thus the
risk tolerance of the liquidity pesition is limited based on the capacity to
cover the position in a stressed environment. These limits are the key daily
risk management tool for the Parent and Bank entities.

Liquidity Ratios

A series of standard corporate-wide liquidity ratios has been established to
monitor the structural elements of Citigroup’s liquidity. As discussed above,
for the Parent and CGMHL, ratios are established for liguid assets against
shont-term obligations. For Bank entities, key liquidity ratios include cash
capital {defined as core deposits, iong-term debt, and capital compared with
illiquid assets), liquid assets against liquidity gaps, core deposits to loans,
and deposits to loans. Several measures exist lo review potential
concentrations of funding by individual name, product, industry, o
geography. Triggers for management discussion, which may result in other
actions, have been established against these ratios. In addition, each
individual major operating subsidiary or country establishes targets against
these ratios and may monitor other ratios as approved in its funding and
liquidity plan.

For COMHI and Bank entities, one of the key structural tiquidity measures
is the cash capital ratio, Cash capital is a broader measure of the ability to
fund the structurally itliquid portion of the Company’s balance sheet than
traditional measures such as deposits to loans or core deposits to loans, The
ratio measures the ability to fund illiquid assets with sircturally tong-term
funding over a one-year time horizon. At December 31, 2007, both CGMHE
and the aggregate Bank entities had an excess of structural long-term
funding as compared with their illiquid assets.
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Market Triggers

Market triggers are internal or external market or economic factors that may
imply a change to market fiquidity or Citigroup's access to the markets.
Citigroup market triggers are monitored on a weekly basis by the Treasurer
and the Head of Risk Oversight and are discussed in the FinALCO.
Appropriate market triggers are also established and monitored for each
major operating subsidiary and/or country as part of the funding and
hquidity plans. Local triggers are reviewed with the local country or business
ALCO and independent risk management.

Stress Testing

Simulated liquidity stress testing is periodically performed for each major
operating subsidizry and/or country. A variety of firm-specific and market-
related scenarios are used at the consolidated level and in individual
countries. These scenarios include assumptions about significant changes in
key funding sources, credit ratings, contingent uses of funding, and political
and economic conditions in certain countries. The results of stress tests of
individual countries and operating subsidiaries are reviewed to ensure that
each individual major operating subsidiary or country is either self-funded
or a net provider of liquidity. In addition, a Contingency Funding Plan is
prepared on a periodic bass for Citigroup. The plan includes detailed
policies, procedures, roles and responsibilities, and the results of corporate
stress tests. The product of these stress tests i a series of aliematives that can
be used by the Treasurer in 2 liquidity event.

CGMHI monitors liquidity by tracking asset levels, collateral and funding
availability 1o maintain flexibility to meet its financial commitrents. As a
policy, CGMHI attempts to maintain sufficient capital and funding sources in
order to have the capacity to finance itself on a fully collateralized basis in
the event that its access to uncollateralized financing is temporarily
impaired. This is documented in CGMHY's contingency funding plan. This
plan is reviewed periodically to keep the funding options current and in line
with market conditions. The management of this plan includes an analysis
used to determine CGMHIs ability to withstand varying levels of stress,
including rating downgrades, which could impact its liquidation horizons
and required margins, CGMHI maintains liquidity reserves of cash and
available loan value of unencumbered securities in excess of its outstanding
short-term uncollateralized liabilities. This is monitored on a daily basis.
CGMHI also ensres that long-term illiquid assets are funded with long-term
liabilities.

Contractual Obligations

The following table includes aggregated information about Citigroup's
contractual obligations that impact its shost- and long-term liquidity and
capital needs. The table includes information about payments due under
specified contractual obligations, aggregated by type of contractual
obligation. It includes the maturity profile of the Company's consolidated
long-term debst, operating leases and cther long-term liabilities. The
Company’s capital lease obligations are included within purchase
obligations in the table.




Citigroup’s contractual obligations include purchase obligations that are
enforceable and legally binding for the Company. For the purposes of the
table below, purchase obligations are included through the termination date
of the respective agreements, even if the contract is renewable. Many of the
purchase agreements for goods or services include clauses that would allow
the Company to cancel the agreement with specified notice; however, that
impact is not included in the table (unless Citigroup has already notified the
counterparty of its intention to terminate the agreement).

Other liabilities reflected on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet
include obligations for goods and services that have already been received,
litigation settlements, uncertain tax positions, as well as other long-term
liabilities that have been incurred and will uitimately be paid in cash.
Excluded from the following table are obligations that are generally short-
term in nature, including deposit liabilities and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase, The table also excludes certain insurance and
trvestment contracts subject to mortality and morbidity risks or without
defined maturities, such that the timing of payments and withdrawals is
uncertain. The liabilities related to

these insurance and investment contracts are included on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as Insurance Policy and Claims Reserves, Contractholder
Funds, and Separate and Variable Accounts.

Citigroup’s funding policy for pension plans is generally to fund to the
minimum amounts required by the applicable laws and regulations. At
December 31, 2007, there were no minimum required contributiens, and no
contributions are currently planned for the U.S. pension plans. Accordingly,
1o amounts have been included in the table below for future contributions to
the U.S. pension plans. For the non-U.S. plans, discretionary contributions in
2008 are anticipated to be approximately $154 million and this amount has
been included within purchase obligations in the table below. The estimated
pension plan contributions are subject to change, since contribution
decisions are affected by various factors, such as market performance,
regulatory and legal requirements, and management’s ability to change
funding policy. For additional information regarding the Company’s
retirement benefit obligations, see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial
Staternents on page 132,

Contractual obligations by year

In mitlions of doliars at year end 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereatfter
Long-term debt obligations I $100,669  $90.490  $37,342  $34,402  $28031  $136178
Qparating lease obligations 1,579 1,434 1,253 1,075 964 4,415
Purchase ohligations 5,308 981 645 578 365 1,139
Business acquisitions 5,353 — 493 — — —
Other liabilities reflected on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet @ 51,012 360 180 133 133 4155
Total $163921  $93.265 $39,913  $36,188  $29,493  $145,887

{1} For additional information about long-1ern debt and trust preferred securities, see Note 20 to the Consdlidated Financial Statements on page 149.
{2 Relates primarily to accounts payable and accrued expenses included within Other Liabiliies in the Company’s Consolidated Batance: Sheet, Alse included are various litigation setements,
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OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Overview

Citigroup and its subsidiaries are involved with several types of off-balance-
sheet arrangements, including special purpose entities (SPEs), lines and
letters of credit and loan commitments,

Uses of SPEs
An SPE is an entity in the form of a trust or other legal vehicle designed to
fulfill 2 specific limited need of the company that organized it.

The principal uses of SPEs are to obtain liquidity and favorable capital
treatment by securitizing certain of Citigroup's financial assets, 0 assist
clents in securitizing their financial assets, and to create investment
products for clients. SPEs may be organized as trusts, partnerships, or
corporations. In a securitization, the company transferring assets to an SPE
converts those assets inte cash before they would have been realized in the
normal course of business, through the SPE’s issuing debt and equity
instruments, certificates, commercial paper, and other notes of indebtedness,
which are recorded on the balance sheet of the SPE and not reflected on the
transferring company’s balance sheet, assuming applicable accounting
requirements are satisfied. Investors usually have recourse to the assets in the
SPE and often henefit from other credit enhancements, such a5 2 collateral
account or overcollateralization in the form of excess assets in the SPE, or
{rom a liquidity facility, such as a line of credit, liquidity put option or asset
purchase agreement. The SPE can typically obtain a more favorable credit
rating from rating agencies than the transferor could obtain for its own debt
issuances, resulting in less expensive financing costs. The SPE may also
enter into derivative contracts in order to convert the vield or currency of the
underlying assets to match the needs of the SPE investors, or to limit or
change the credit risk of the SPE. Citigroup may be the provider of certain
credit enhancements as well as the counterparty to any related derivative
contracts.

85

SPEs may be Qualifying SPEs (QSPEs} or Variable Interest Entities (VIES)
or neither.

Qualifying SPEs

QSPFs are a special class of SPEs defined in FASB Statement No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities” (SFAS 140). These SPEs have significant
limitations on the types of assets and derivative instruments they may own
and the types and extent of activities and decision-making they may engage
in. Generally, QSPEs are passive entities designed to purchase assets and pass
through the cash flows from those assets to the investors in the QSPE. GSPEs
may not actively manage their assets through discretionary sales and are
generally limited to making decisions inherent in servicing activities and
issuance of liabilities. QSPEs are generally exempt {rom consolidation by the
transferor of assets to the QSPE and any investor or counterparty.

Variable Interest Entities

VIES are entities defined in FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities (revised December 2003)" (FIN 46-R), and are
entities that have either 4 total equity investment that is insufficient to
permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated
financial support or whose equity investors lack the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest (i.e., ahility to make significant decisions
through voting rights, right to receive the expected residual returns of the
entity, and obligation to absorb the expected losses of the endity). Investors
that finance the VIE through debt or equity interests, or other counterparties
that provide other forms of support, such as guarantees, subordinated fee
arrangements, or certain types of derivative contracts, are variable interest
holders in the entity. The variable interest holder, if any, that will absorb a
majority of the entity’s expected losses, receive a majority of the entity’s
expecied residual returns, or both, is deemed to be the primary beneficiary
and must consolidate the VIE. Consolidation under FIN 46-R is based on
expected losses and residual returns, which consider various scenarios on a
probability-weighted basis, Consolidation of a VIE is, therefore, determined
based primarily on variability generated in scenarios that are considered
most likely to occur, rather than based on scenarios that are considered more
remote. Certain variable interests may absorb significant amounts of losses
or residual returns contractually, but if those scenarics are considered very
unlikely to occur, they may not lead to consolidation of the VIE,

All of these facts and circumstances are taken into consideration when
determining whether the Company has variable interests that would deem it
the pritnary beneficiary and, therefore, reguire consolidation of the related VIE
or otherwise rise to the level where disclosure would provide useful information
to the users of the Company’s financial statements. In some cases, it is
qualitatively clear based on the extent of the Company’s involvement or the
seniority of its investments that the Company is not the primary beneficiary of
the VIE. In cther cases, a more detailed and quantitative analysis is required to
make such a determination.




The Company generally considers the following types of involvement to be
significant:

o Assisting in the structuring of 2 transaction and retaining any amount of
debt financing (e.g,, loans, notes, bonds, or other debt instruments) or an
equity investment {e.g., common shares, partnership interests, or
warrants);

* Writing a “liquidity put” or other liquidity facility to support the issuance
of short-term notes;

» Writing credit protection (e.g., guarantees, letters of credit, credit default
swaps or total return swaps where the Company receszes the total return
or risk on the assets held by the VIE}; or

o Certain transactions where the Company is the investment manager and
receives variable fees for services.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company's definition of “significant”
involvement generally includes all variable interests held by the Company,
even those where the likelihood of loss or the notional amount of exposure to
any single legal entity is small. The Company has conformed the 2006
disclosure data presented to be consistent with this inierpretation. Prior to
December 2007, certain interests were deemed insignificant due to the
substantial credit enhancement or subordination protecting the Company’s

interest in the VIE (for example, in certain asset-based financing
transactions) or due to the insignificance of the amount of the Company's
interest compared to the total assets of the VIE (for example, in certain
commercial paper conduits administered by third parties). Involvement with
a VIE s described above, regardless of the seniority or perceived risk of the
Company's involvement, is now inchuded as significant. The Company
believes that this more expansive interpretation of “significant” provides
more meantingful and consistent information regarding its involvement in
various VIE structures and provides more data for an independent
assessment of the potential risks of the Company’s involvement in various
ViEs and asset classes. The Company has conformed the 2006 disclosure data
presented to be consistens with this interpretation.

In various other transactions the Company may act as a derivative
counterparty (for example, interest rate swap, cross-currency swap, or
purchaser of credit protection under a credit default swap or total return
swap where the Company pays the total return on certain assets 1o the SPE);
may act as undeswriter or placement agent; may provide administrative,
trustee, or other services; or may make a market in debt securities or other
instruments issued by VIEs. The Company generally considers such
involvernent, by itself, “not significant”” under FIN 46-R.

Citigroup's involvement with SPEs that are QSPEs and VIEs that are consolidated by the Company or that are deemed significant as of December 31, 2007 and

2006 is presented below:
December 31, 2007
Significant
Total invotvement Consalidated unconsolidated
in milfions of doilars of SPE assels with SPEs QSPEs VIEs VIEStD
Global Cansumer
Cregit card securitizations $ 125351 $125,109 $ 242 $ —
Morlgage loan securitizations 516,865 516,802 63 —
Investment funds 886 — 276 610
Leasing 35 — 35 _
Qther 16,267 14,882 1,385 —
Total $ 659,404  $656,793 $ 2001 $ 610
Markets & Banking
Citi-administered asset-backed commercial paper conduits (ABCP) $ 72558 § — $ _ $ 72,558
Third-party commercial paper conduits 27,021 — —_ 27,01
Collateralized debt obligations (COOs) 74,106 —_ 22,312 51,794
Collateralized loan obligations (C1.Os) 23,227 - 1,353 21,874
Mortgage loan securitizations 84,093 84,093 —_ _
Assel-based financing 96,072 — 4,468 91,604
Municipal securities tender aption bond trusts (TOBS) 50,129 10,556 17,003 22,570
Municipal investments 13,7115 — 53 13,662
Client intenmediation 12,383 —_ 2,790 9,593
Other 37,466 14,526 12,642 10,298
Total $ 490,770 $109,175 $ 60,621 $ 320,974
Global Wealth Management
Investment Funds $ 42§ — S 5% $ 52
Alternative Investments
Structured investment vehicles $ 53543 § — $ 58,543 $ —_
Investment funds 10,979 — 45 10,934
Total $ 69522 S - $ 58,588 $ 10,934
Corporate/Other
Trust preferred securities $ 23756 $ — $ — $ 23,756
Citigroup Total $1,244094  $765,968 $121,800 $ 356,326

{1) A significant unconsolidaied VAE is an entity where the Company has any variable interest, considered to be significant as discussed above, regardiess of the liketihood of loss,

or the noticnal amount of exposure.




December 31, 2006

Signtficant
Total invoivement Consofidated unconsolidated
in millions of dotiars of SPE assets with SPEs QSPEs VIEs VIEsO!
Global Consumer
Credit card securitizations $112293  $111,766 $ 527 $ —
Mortgage loan securitizations 334,719 333,804 915 —
Leasing 53 — 53 —
Other 14,925 12,538 1,961 426
Total $ 461,890 $458,108 $ 3.456 $ 426
Markets & Banking )
Citi-administered asset-backed commerciaf paper conduits (ABCF) $ 62802 & — 3§ - $ 62,802
Third-party commercial paper conduits 37,003 — — 37,003
Collateralized debt obligations {CDOs) 60,475 — — 60,475
Collateratized loan obligations {CLOs} 18,625 - 1,297 17,328
Mortgage loan securitizations 69,449 69,449 — —
Asset-based financing 63,746 — 4171 59,575
Municipat securities tender option bond trusts (TOBS) 32,259 — 17,33 14,046
Municipal investments 9,808 — 161 9,647
Client intermediation 1,839 — 1,044 795
Other 28,508 13,600 13,885 1,023
Total $384,5t4  § 83,049 $37.871 $263,504
Global Wealth Management
Investment funds $ 1,259 $ —_— $ 513 $ 746
Altemmative Investments
Structured investment vehicles $ 79847 § — $ - $ 79,847
Investment funds 34,151 — 211 33,940
Total $ 113,998 3 — $ 21 $113,787
Corporate/Other ‘
Trust praferred securities $ 9775 % — $ - $§ 9775
Citigroup Total® $971,536  $541,157 $42,051 $388,328

{1} A significant unconsolidated VIE is an entity where the Company has any variable interest considered to be significant as discussed on page 86, regardless of the likelihood of

loss, or the noticnal amount of exposure.

(2) The December 31, 2006 totals have been reclassified to conform to the Company's current definition of significant involvement.

These tables do not include:

e (Certain venture capital investments made by some of the Company's private equity subsidiaries as the Company accountts for these investments in

accordance with the Investment Company Audit Guide,

» Certain limited partnerships where the Company is the general partner and the limited partners have the right to replace the general partner or liquidate the

funds.

¢ Certain investment funds for which the Company provides investrnent management services and personal estate trusts for which the Company provides

administrative, trustee and/or investrnent management services.

+ VIEs structured by third parties where the Company holds securities in trading inventory. These investments are made on arm’s-length terms, are typically
held for relatively short periods of time and are not considered 10 represent significant involvement in the VIE.

* VIE structures in which the Company transferred assets to the VIE that did not qualify as a sale, and where the Company did not have any other involvement
that is deemed to be a variable interest with the VIE that was deemed significant, These transfers are accounted for as secured borrowings by the Company.
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Primary Uses of SPEs by Consumer

Securitization of Credit Card Receivables

Credit card receivables are securitized through trusts, which are established
to purchase the receivables. Credit card securitizations are revolving
securitizations; that Is, as customers pay their credit card balances, the cash
proceeds are used to purchase new receivables and replenish the receivables
in the trust. The Company relies on securitizations to fund a significant
portion of its managed ¢1.5. Cards business, which includes both
on-balance-sheet and securitized receivables.

The following table reflects amounts related to the Company’s securitized

credit card receivables at December 31:
In billions of doliars 2007 2006
Principal amount of credit card

receivables in trusts $125.1 $1124

Ownership interests in principal amount
of trust credit card receivables:

Sold to investors via frust-issued securities 1023 934
Retained by Citigroup as

trust-issued securities 45 51
Retained by Ciligroup via non-certificated interests

recorded as consumer loans 183 14.2
Tota ownership interests in principal amount of

trust credit card receivables $125.1 $1124

Other amounts recorded on the balance sheet
related to interests retained in the trusts:

Amounts receivable from trusts $ 44 $ 45
Amounts payabie to trusts 1.6 1.7
Residual interest retained in trust cash flows 2.7 2.5

The Company recorded net gains from securitization of credit cand
receivables of $1,267 million, $1,084 million and $1,168 million during
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Net gains reflect the following:

= incremental gains from new securitizations

o the reversal of the allowance for loan losses associated with receivables
sold

e net gains on replenishments of the trust assets offset by other-than-
temporary impairments

o mark-to-market changes for the portion of the residual interest classified
as trading assets

Securitization of Originated Mortgage and Other
Consurmer Loans

The Company’s Consumer business provides a wide range of mortgage and
other consumer loan products to its customers. Once originated, the
Company often securitizes these loans (primarily mortgage and student
loans). In addition to providing a source of liquidity and less expensive
funding, securitizing these assets also reduces the Company’s credit exposure
to the borrowers,

The Company's morigage and student loan securitizations are primarily
non-recourse, thereby effectively transferring the risk of future credit losses to
the purchasess of the securities issued by the trust. However, the Company’s
Consumer business generally retains the servicing rights as a residual
interest in future cash flows from the trusts,

The Company recognized gains related to the securitization of these
mortgage and other consumer loan products of $423 million, $384 million,
and $324 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Subprime Loan Modification Framework

In the 2007 fourth quarter, the American Securitization Forum (ASF) issued
the “Streamlined Foreclosure and Loss Avoidance Framework for Securitized
Subprime Adjustable Rate Mortgage Loans™ (the ASF Framework) with the
support of the U.S. Departrnent of the Treasury, The purpose of this guidance
is to provide evaluation procedures and prevent losses on securitized
subprime residential mortgages that originated between January 1, 2005 and
July 31, 2007 and that have an initial interest rate reset between January 1,
2008 and July 31, 2010. The framework segments securitized loans based on
various factors, including the ability of the borrower to meet the initial terms
of the loan and obtain refinancing. For certain eligible loans in the scope of
the ASF Framework, # fast-track loan modification plan may be applied,
under which the loan interest rate will be frozen at the introductory rate for a
period of five years following the upcoming reset date. To qualify for fast-
track modification, a loan must: currently be no more than 30 days
delinquent and no more than 60 days delinquent in the past 12 months;
have a loan-to-value ratio greater than 97%; be ineligible for FHA Secure; be
subject to payment increases greater than 10% upon reset; and be for the
primary residence of the berrower,

As of December 31, 2007, the Company’s Securities and Banking
business has securitized and placed in QSPEs approximately $12.2 billion in
loans that fall within the scope of the ASF Framework, of which it provides
servicing for approximately $1.8 billion. The Office of the Chief Accountant
of the SEC has issued a letter regarding the ASF Framework indicating that
loan modifications in accordance with the ASF framework will not impact
the accounting for the QSPES, because it would be reasonable to conclude
that defaulis on such loans are “reasonably foreseeable” in the absence of
any modification.

s of December 31, 2007 the Company’s Global Consumer business has
niot securitized any mortgage loans that fall within the scope of the ASF
Framework.

Primary Uses of SPEs by Markets & Banking

Citi-administered Asset-backed Commercial Paper
Conduits

The Company is active in the asset-backed commercial paper conduit
business as administrator of several multi-seller commercial paper conduits,
and also as a service provider to single-seller and other commercial paper
conduits sponsored by third parties.

The multi-seller commercial paper conduits are designed to provide the
Company’s cusiomers access to fow-cost funding in the commercial paper
markets. The conduits purchase assets from or provide financing facilities to
customers and are funded by issuing commercial paper to third-party
investors. The conduits generally do not purchase assets originated by the
Company. The funding of the conduit is facilitated by the liquidity support
and credit enhancements provided by the Company and by certain third
parties. As administrator to the conduits, the Company is responsible for
selecting and structuring of assets purchased or financed by the conduits,
making decisions regarding the funding of the conduits, including
determining the tenor and other features of the commercial paper issued,
monitoring the quality and performance of the conduits’ assets, and
facilitating the operations and cash ftows of the conduits. In return, the




Company earns structuring fees from clients for individual transactions and
earns an administration fee from the conduit, which is equal to the income
from client program and liquidity fees of the conduit after payment of
interest costs and ather fees. This administration fee is fairly stable, since
most risks and rewards of the underlying assets are passed back to the
customers and, once the asset pricing is negotiated, most ongoing income,
costs and fees are relatively stable as a percentage of the conduit’s size.

The conduits administered by the Company do not generally invest in
liquid securities that are formally rated by third parties. The assets are
privately negotiated and structured transactions that are designed to be held
by the conduit, rather than actively traded and sold. The yield earned by the
conduit on each asset is generally tied to the rate on the commercial paper
isstied by the conduit, thus passing on interest rate risk back to the client.
Each asset purchased by the conduit is structured with transaction-specific
credit enhancement features provided by the third-party seller, including
over-collateralization, cash and excess spread coflateral accounts, direct
recourse or thind-party guarantees. Credit enhancements are sized based on
historic asset performance to achieve an internal risk rating that, on average,
approximates an AA or A rating,

Substantially all of the funding of the conduits is in the form of
commercial paper, with a weighted average life generally ranging from
30-40 days. As of December 31, 2007, the weighted average life of the
commercial pajer issued was approximately 30 days. In addition, the
conduits have issued Subordinate Loss Notes and equity with a notional
amount of approximately §77 million and varying remaining tenors
ranging from one to nine vears,

The primary credit enhancerment provided to the conduil investors is in
the form of transaction-specific credit enhancement described above. In
addition, there are two additional forms of credit enhancement that protect
the commercial paper investors from defaulting assets, First, the Subordinate
Loss Notes issued by each conduit absorb any credit losses up to their full
notional amount. It is expected that the Subordinate Loss Notes issued by
each conduit are sufficient to absorb a majority of the expected losses from
each conduit, thereby making the single investor in the Subordinate Loss
Note the primary beneficiary under FIN 46-R. Second, each conduit has
obtained either 4 letter of credit from the Company or a surety bond from a
menoline insurer thai will reimburse the conduit for any losses up to a
specified amount, which is generally 8-10% of the conduit’s assets, Where
surety bonds are obtained, the Company, in turn, provides the surety bond
provider a reimbursement guarantee up 1o 4 stated amount for aggregate
losses incurred by any of the conduits covered by the surety bond. The total of
the letters of credit and the reimbursement guarantee provided by the
Company is approximately $2.1 billion and is considered in the Gompany's
maximum exposure to toss. The net result across all multi-seller conduits
administered by the Company is that, in the event of defaulted assets in
excess of the transaction-specific credit enhancement described above, any
losses in each conduit ure allocated in the following order:

* Subordinate Loss Note holders

» the Company

» the monoline insurer, if any (up to the 8-10% cap), and
e the commercial paper investors

The Company, along with third parties, also provides the conduits with
two forms of liquidity agreements that are used to provide funding to the

conduils in the event of a market disruption, among other events, Each dsset ™

of the conduit is supported by a transaction-specific liquidity facility in the
form of an asset purchase agreement (APA). Under the APA, the Company
has agreed to purchase non-defaulted eligible receivables from the conduit at
par. Any assets purchased under the APA are subject to increased pricing. The
APA is not designed to provide credit support to the conduit, 4s it generally, -
does not permit the purchase of defaulted or impaired assets and generally
reprices the assets purchased to consider any potential increased credit risk,
The APA covers all assets in the conduits and is considered in the Company's
maximum exposure to loss. In addition, the Company provides the conduits
with program-wide liquidity in the form of short-term lending .
commitmenis. Under these commitments, the Company has agreed to lend
to the conduits in the event of a short-term disruption in the commercial
paper market, subject to specified conditions. The total notional exposure
under the program-wide liquidity agreement is $11.6 billion and is
considered in the Company’s maximum exposure to loss. The company
receives fees for providing both types of liquidity agreement, and considers’
these fees to be on fair market terms.

Finally, the Company is one of several named dealers in the commercial
paper issued by the conduits and eamns a market-based fee for providing such
services. Along with third-party dealers, the Company makes a market in the
commercial paper and may front time to lime fund commerciat paper . **
pending sale to a third party. On specific dates with less liquidity in the
market, the Company may hold in inventory commercial paper isstidd by
conduits administered by the Company, 4s well as conduits adiministered by
third parties. The amount of commercial paper issued by its adininistered .
conduits held in inventory fluctuates based on market conditions and
activity. As of December 31, 2007, the Company owned less than $10 million
of commercial paper issued by its administered conduits.

FIN 46-R requires that the Company quantitatively analyze the expccted
variability of the Conduit to determine whether the Company is the primary
beneficiary of the conduit. The Company performs this analysisona
quarterly basis, and has concluded that the Company is not the primary
heneficiary of the conduits as defined in FIN 46-R and, therefore, does not
consolidate the conduils it administers. In conducting this analysis, the
Company considers three primary sources of variability in the conduit: credit
risk, interest rate risk and fee variability. E

The Company models the credit risk of the conduit’s assets using a Credit
Value at Risk (C-VaR) model. The C-VaR model considers changes in credit
spreads (both within a rating class as well as due to rating upgrades and
downgrades), name-specific changes in credit spreads, credit defaults and
recovery rates and diversification effects of pools of financial assets. The
model incorporates data from independent rating agencies as well as the *
Company’s own proprietary information regarding spread changes, ralings
transitions and losses given default. Using this credit data, a Monte Carlo
simulation is performed to develop a distribution of credit risk for the
portfolio of assets owned by each conduit, which is then applied on a
probability-weighted basis to determine expected losses due 1o credit risk. In
addition, the Company contintiously monitors the specific credit
characteristics of the conduit’s assets and the current credit environment to
confirm that the C-VaR model used continues to incorporate the Company's
best information regarding the expected credit risk of the conduit's assets,

The Company alse analyzes the variability in the fees that it eams from
the conduit using monthly actual historical cash ow data to determine




average fee and standard deviation measures for each conduit, Because any
unhedged interest rate and foreign currency risk not contractually passed on
to customers is absorbed by the fees eamed by the Company, the fee
variability analysis incorporates those risks.

The fee variability and credit risk variability are then combined into a
single distribution of the conduit’s overall returns. This return distribution is
updated and analyzed on at least a quarterly basis to ensure that the amount
of the Subordinate Loss Notes issued to third parties is sufficient to absorb
greater than 50% of the total expected variability in the conduit’s retumns.
The expected variabifity absorbed by the Subordinate Loss Note investors is
therefore measured 1o be greater than the expected variability absorbed by
the Company through its liquidity arrangements and other fees eamned, the
surety bond providers, and the investors in commercial paper and medium
term notes. While the notional amounts of the Subordinate Loss Notes are
quantitatively small compared to the size of the conduits, this is reflective of
the fact that most of the substantive risks of the conduits are absorbed by the
enhancements provided by the sellers and other third parties that provide
transaction-level credit enhancement. Because FIN 46-R requires these risks
and related enhancements to be excluded from the analysis, the remaining
risks and expected variability are quantitatively small. The calculation of
variability under FINA6-R focuses primarily on expected variability, rather
than the risks associated with extreme outcomes (for example, large levels of
default) that are expected to occur very infrequently, So while the
Subordinate Loss Notes are sized appropriately compared to expected losses
as measured in FIN 46-R, they do not provide significant protection against
extreme or unusual credit losses.

The following tables describe the important characteristics of assets
owned by the administered multi-selier conduits as of December 31, 2007:

Credit rating distribution
Weighted average life AARA AA A BBB
2.5 years 30% 59% 9% 2%
% of Total
Asset Class Portfolio
Student loans 21%
Trade receivables 16%
Credit cards and consumer loans 13%
Portiolio finance 1%
Commercial loans and corporate credit 10%
Export finance 9%
Auto 8%
Residential morigage 7%
Other 5%
Total 100%
Third-party Conduits

The Company also provides liquidity facilities to single- and multi-seller
conduits sponsored by third parties. These conduits are independently owned
and managed and invest in a variety of asset classes, depending on the
nature of the conduit. The facilities provided by the Company typically
represent a small portion of the total liquidity facilities obtained by each
conduit, and are collateralized by the assets of each conduit. The notional
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amount of these Facilities is approximately $2.2 billion as of December 31,
2007. No amounts were funded under these facilities as of December 31,
2007

Collateralized Debt Obligations

Acollateralized debt obligation (CDO) is an SPE that purchases a pool of
assels consisting of asset-backed securities and synthetic exposures through
derivatives on asset-backed securities and issues multiple tranches of equity
and notes to investors. A third-party manager is typically retained by the CDO
to select the pool of assets and manage those assets over the term of the CDO.
The Company earns fees for warehousing assets prior to the creation of 2
CDO, structuring CDOs, and placing debt securities with investors. In
addition, the Company has retained interests in many of the CDOs it has
structured and makes a market in those issued notes.

A cash CDO, or arbitrage CDO, is a CDO designed to take advantage of the
difference between the yield on a portfolio of selected assets, typically
residential mortgage-backed securities, and the cost of funding the CDO
through the sale of notes to investors. “Cash flow” CDOs are vehicles in
which the CDO passes on cash flows from a pool of assets, while “market
value" CDOs pay to investors the market value of the pool of assets owned by
the CDO at maturity. Both types of CDOs are typically managed by a third-
party assel manager. In these transactions, all of the equity and notes issued
by the CDO are funded, as the cash is needed to purchase the debt securities.
In a typical cash €DO, a third-party investment manager selects a portfolio
of assets, which the Company funds through a “warehouse” financing
arrangement prior to the creation of the CDO. The Company then sells the
debt securities to the CDO in exchange for cash raised through the issuance
of notes. The Company’s continving involvement in cash CDOs is typically
timited to investing in a portion of the notes or loans issued by the CDO and
making a market in those securities, and acting as derivative counterparty
for interest rate or foreign currency swaps used in the structuring of the CDO.

Asynthetic CDO is similar to a cash CDO, except that the CDO obtains
exposure to all or a portion of the referenced assets synthetically through
derivative instruments, such as credit default swaps. Because the CDO does not
need to raise cash sufficient to puschase the entire referenced portfolio, a
substantial portion of the senior tranches of risk is typically passed on to CDO
investors in the form of unfunded liabilities or derivative instrements, Thus, the
CDO writes credit protection on selected referenced debt securities to the
Company or third parties, and the risk is then passed on o the CDO investors in
the form of funded notes or purchased credit protection through derivative
instruments. Any cash raised from investors is invested in a portfolio of
collateral securities or investment contracts. The collateral is then used to
support the CDO's obligations on the credit default swaps written to
counterparties. The Company’s continuing involvement in synthetic CDOs
generally includes purchasing credit protection through credit default swaps
with the CDO, owning a portion of the capital structure of the CDO, in the form
of both unfunded derivative positions {primarily super senior exposures
discussed below) and funded notes, entering into interest rate swap and total
retum swap transactions with the CDO, lending to the CDO, and making a
market in those funded notes.




The following table describes credit ratings of assets of unconsolidated
CDOs 1o which the Company had significant involvernent as of December 31,
2007

Credit rating distribution
Weighted
average Aor
lite higher BBB BB/B CCC Unrated
5.1 years 40% 20% 12% 25% 3%

Commercial Paper CDOs (CPCDOs)

In certain CDO transactions underwritten by the Company during 2003-
2006, the senior funding of the CDOs was in the form of short-term
commercial paper. In order to facilitate the issuance of commercial paper by
the CDC, the Company wrote a put option {*liquidity puts”) to the CDC to
benefit the commercial paper investors, which was accounted for a5 2
derivative. The total notional amount of these written liguidity puts was
approximately $25 billion. Under the terms of the liquidity puts, if the CDO
was unable to issue commercial paper at a rate below a specified maximum
{generally LIBOR + 35bps to LIBOR +40 bps), the Company was obligated
to fund the senior tranche of the CDO at a specified interest rate. At the time
the liquidity puts were written, the put options were considered deeply out of
the money and unlikely to be exercised. In July 2007, the market interest
rates on commercial paper issued by certain of the CDOs increased
significantly and in order to forestall the formal exercise of the liquidity puts,
the Company chose to purchase the cutstanding commercial paper and
continued to do so in subsequent months as additional commercial paper
matured. The Company chose to do so because owning the commercial
paper directly was economically equivalent to its contractual obligation
under the liquidity put, but holding the commercial paper was beligved to
provide some additional flexibility in finding third-party investors in the
eveni of improved market conditions. As of December 31, 2007, the Company
had purchased all $25 billion of the commercial paper subject to the
liquidity puts.

Because the Company obtained the commercial paper in the form of 2
purchase rather than the contractual exercise of the liquidity put, the
Company considered the purchase to be a reconsideration event under FIN
46-R which requires that the Company evaluate, using current estimates and
assumptions, whether the Company must begin to consolidate the CDO
issuer. 4s of September 30, 2007, the Company's quantitative analysis of the
expected losses and residual returns of the particular CDOs demonstrated
that the value of the subordinate tranches held by third parties remained
sufficient to absorb a majority of the expected loss of the CDOs and the
Company did not consolidate any of the liquidity put CDOs. During the
fourth quarter of 2007, the Company obtained additional commercial paper
from these CDOs as the existing commercial paper matured, thus causing
additional reconsideration events under FIN 46-R. Because rating agency
downgrades of the CDO collateral in the fourth quarter caused further
deterioration in the value of the commercial paper and subordinate tranches
of these CDOs, the Company has concluded that the Company is now the
primary beneficiary of all of these CDOs under FIN 46-R and has
consolidated them,

Upon consalidation of the CDOs, the Company reflects the underlying
assels, primarily residential mortgage-backed securities of the CDOs on its
balance sheet in Trading account assets at fair value, eliminates the
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commercial paper asset previously recognized, and recognizes the
subordinate CDO liabilities (owned by thind parties) a1 fair value. This results
in a balance sheet gross-up of approximately $400 miliion as of

December 31, 2007 compared to the prior accounting treatment as
unconsolidated VIEs,

CDO Super Senior Exposure

In addition to asset-backed commercial paper positiens in conselidated
CDOs, the Company has retained significant portions of the “super senior”
positions issued by certain CDOs. These positions are referred to as “super
senior,” because they represent the most senior positions in the CDO and, at
the time of structuring, were senior to tranches rated AAA by independent
rating agencies. However, since inception of these transactions, the
subordinate positions have diminished significantly in value and in rating.
There have been substantial reductions in value of these super senior
positions in the quarter ended December 31, 2007.

While at inception of the transactions, the super senior tranches were well
protected from the expected losses of these CDOs, subsequent declines in
value of the subordinate tranches and the super senior tranches in the fourth
quarter of 2007 indicated that the super senior tranches now are exposed to 2
significant portion of the expected losses of the CDOs, based on current
market assumptions, The Company evaluates these transactions for
consolidation when reconsideration events occur, a5 defined in FIN 46-R.
The Company continues to monitor its involvernent in these transactions
and, if the Company were to acquire additienal interests in these vehicles or
if the CDOs’ contractual arrangements were to be changed to reallocate
expecied losses or residual returns among the various interest holders, the
Company may be required 1o consolidate the CDOs. The net result of such
consofidation would be to gross up the Company’s balance sheet by the
current fair value of the subordinate securities held by third parties, which
amounts are not considered material.

Collateralized Loan Obligations
A collateralized loan obligation (CLO) is substantially similar to the CDO
transactions described above, except that the assets owned by the SPE (either
cash instruments or synthetic exposures through derivative instruments) are
corporate loans and 1o 2 less extent corporate honds, rather than asset-
backed debt securities.

The following {able describes credit ratings of assets of unconsolidated
CLOs with which the Company had significant involvernent as of
December 31, 2007:

Credit rating distribution
Weighted
average Aor
lite Higher BBE BB/B [HHH Unrated
5.0 years 7% 11% 56% 0% 26%

Mortgage Loan Securitizations

Markets & Banking is active in structuring and underwriting residential and
commercial mortgage-backed securitizations. In these transactions, the
Company or its customer transfers loans into a bankruplcy-remote SPE,
These SPEs are designed to be QSPEs as described above. The Company may
hold restdual interests and other securities issued by the SPEs untif they can
be sold 1o independent investors, and makes a market in those securities on
an ongoing basis, The Company sometimes retains servicing rights for




certain entities, These securities are held as trading assets on the balance
sheet, are managed as part of the Company’s trading activities, and are
marked to market with most changes in value recognized in earnings. The
tabte above shows the assets and retained interests for morigage QSPEs in
which the Company acted as principal in transferring mortgages to the
QSPE.

Asset-Based Financing

The Company provides loans and other forms of financing to VIEs that hotd
assets. Those loans are subject to the same credit approvals as all other loans
originated or purchased by the Company, and related loan lass reserves are
reported 15 part of the Company's Allowance for credit losses in Note 18 on
page 147. Financings in the form of debt securities or derivatives are, in most
circumstances, reported in Trading account assets and accounted for at fair
value through earnings.

The primary types of asset-based financing, total assets of the
uncensolidated VIEs with significant involvement, and the Company's
maximum exposure 1o loss at Decemnber 31, 2007 are shown below. For the
Company 10 realize that maximum loss, the VIE (borrower) would have to
default with no recovery from the assets held by the VIE.

In bitlions of dollars Total  Maximum
Type assets exposure
Commercial and other real estate $34.3 $16.0
Hedge funds and equities 36.0 134
Asset purchasing vehicles/SIVs 10.2 25
Airptanes, ships and other assets 1.1 2.7
Total $91.6 $34.3

The Company’s involvement in the asset purchasing vehicles and SIVs
sponsored and managed by third parties is primarily in the form of provided
backstop liquidity. Those vehicles finance a majority of their asset purchases
with commercial paper and shert-term notes. Certain of the assets owned by
the vehicles have suffered significant declines in fair value, leading to an
inabilitv to re-issue maturing commercial paper and short-term notes.
Citigroup has been required to provide loans to those vehicles io replace
maturing commercial paper and short-term notes, in accordance with the
original terms of the backstop liquidity facilities.

The assets of the third-party Asset Purchasing Vehicle and SIVs to which
the Company had provided backstop liquidity as of December 31, 2007
consisted of 96% rated A or higher, 1% rated BBB, and 3% rated BB or B.

Municipal Securities Tender Option Bond (TOB) Trusts
The Company sponsors TOB trusts that hold fixed- and floating-rate, tax-
exempt securities issued by state or local municipalities. The trusts are
single-issuer trusts whose assets are purchased from the Company and from
the secondary market. The trusts issue long-term senior floating rate notes
{“Floaters”) and junior residual securities (“Residuals”). The Floaiers have
a long-term rating based on the long-term rating of the underlying
municipal bond and a short-term rating based on that of the liquidity
provider to the trust. The Residuals are generally rated based on the long-
term rating of the underlving municipal bond and entitle the holder to the
residual cash flows from the issuing trust.

The Company sponsors three kinds of TOB trusts: customer TOB trusts,
proprietary TOB trusts, and QSPE TOB trusts.

o Cuslomer TOB trusis are trusts through which customers finance

investments in municipal securities and are not consolidated by the
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Company. Proprietary and QSPE TOB trusts, on the other hand,
provide the Company with the ability to finance its own investments in
municipal securities.

o Proprietary TOB trusts are generally consolidated, in which case the
financing (the Floaters) is recognized on the Company’s balance sheet
as 4 liability. However, certain proprietary TOB trusts are not
consolidated by the Company, where the Residuals are held by a hedge
fund that is consolidated and managed by the Company. The assets
and the associated liabilities of these TOB trusts are not consolidated
by the hedge fund (and, thus, are not consolidated by the Company)
under the application of the AICPA Investment Company Audit Guide,
which precludes consolidation of owned invesiments. The Company
consolidates the hedge fund because the Company holds greater than
50% of the equity interests in the hedge fund. The majority of the
Company’s equity investments in the hedge fund are hedged with
derivatives transactions executed by the Cornpany with third parties
referencing the retumns of the hedge fund.

* (SPE T0B trusts provide the Company with the same exposure s
proprietary TOB trusts and are not consolidated by the Company.

The total assets and other characteristics of the three categories of TOB

trusts as of Decernber 31, 2007 are 2s follows;

Credit rating distribution
Total Weighted Less
assels  average AA/Aal - than
TOB trust type (in billions) life AAA/A2a AA-/Aa3 AA-JAa3
Customer TOB Trusts
(Nci consolidated) $176 B4 years 84% 6% 0%
Proprigtary TOB
Trusts
{Consolidated and
Non-consolidated) $22.0 18.1 years 67% 33% 0%
QSPE TOB Trusts
{Not consolidated) $106  3.0years 80% 20% 0%

Credit rating distribution is based on the external rating, of the municipal
bonds within the TOB trusts, including any credit enhancement provided by
monoline insurance companies or the Company in the primary or secondary
markets, as discussed below. The total asseis for proprietary TOB Trusts
(Consotidated and Non-consolidated) inchudes $5.0 billion of assets where
the Residuals are held by a hedge fund thai is consolidated and managed by
the Company.

The TOB trusts fund the purchase of their assets by issuing Floaters along
with Residuals, which are frequently less than 1% of a trust's total funding,
The tenor of the Floaters maiches the maturity of the TOB trust and is equal
10 or shorter than the tenor of the municipal bond held by the trust, and the
Floaters bear interest rates that are typically reset weekly to a new market rate
{based on the SIFMA index). Floater holders have an option to tender the
Floaters they hold back to the trust periodically. Customer TOB trusts issue
the Floaters and Residuals to third parties. Proprietary and QSPE TOB trusis
issue the Floaters to third parties, and the Residuals are held by the
Company.

Approximately $5.7 billion of the municipal bonds owned by TOB trusts
have an additional credit guarantee provided by the Company. In all other
cases, the assets are either unenhanced or are insured with a monoline
insurance provider in the primary market or in the secondary market. While
the trusts have not encountered any adverse credit events as defined in the




underlying trust agreements, certain monoline insurance companies have
experienced downgrades. In these cases, the Company has proactively
managed the TOB programs by applying additional secondary market
insurance on the assets or proceeding with orderly unwinds of the trusts,

The Company, in iis capacity as remarketing agent, facilitates the sale of
the Floaters to third parties at inception of the trust and facilitates the reset of
the Floater coupon and tenders of Floaters. If Floaters are tendered and the
Company (in its role as remarketing agent) is unable to find 2 new investor
within a specified period of time, it can declare a failed remarketing (in
which case the trust is unwound), or may choose to buy the Floaters into its
own inventory and may centirtue 1o try to sell it to a third party investor,
While the levels of the Company's inventory of Floaters fluctuates, the
Company held approximately $0.9 billion of Floater inventory related to the
TOB programs as of Decernber 31, 2007.

If a trust is unwound early due to an event other than a credit event on
the underlying municipal bond, the underlying municipal bond is sold in
the secondary market. If there is an accompanying shortfall in the trust’s
cash flows to fund the redemption of the Floaters after the sale of the
undertying municipal bond, the trust draws on a liquidity agreement in an
amount equat to the shertfall. Liguidity agreements are generally provided to
the trust directly by the Company. For customer TOBs where the Residual is
less than 25% of the trust’s capital structure, the Company has a
reimbursement agreement with the Residual holder under which the
Residual holder reimburses the Company for any payment made under the
liquidity arrangement. Through this reimbursement agreement, the
Residual holder remains economically exposed to fluctuations in value of
the municipal bond. These reimbursement agreements are actively
margined based on changes in value of the underlying municipal bond to
mitigate the Company’s counterparty credit risk. In cases where a third party
provides liquidity to a proprietary or QSPE TOB trust, a similar
reimbursement arrangement is made whereby the Company (or a
consolidated subsidiary of the Company) as Residual holder absorbs any
losses incurred by the liquidity provider. As of December 31, 2007, liquidity
agreements provided with respect to customer TOB trusts totaled $14 4
billion, offset by reimbursernent agreements in place with a notional amount
of $11.5 billion. The remaining exposure relates 10 TOB transaclions where
the Resicdual owned by the customer is at least 25% of the bond value at the
inception of the transaction. [n addition, the Company has provided liquidity
arrangements with a notional amount of $11.4 billion to QSPE TOB trusts
and other non-consolidated proprietary TOB trusts described above.

The Company considers the customer and proprietary TOB trusts
(excluding QSPE TOB trusts) to be variable interest entities within the scope
of FIN 46-R. Because third party investors hold the Residual and Floater
interests in the customer TOB trusts, the Company’s involvement and
variable interests inclide only its role as remarketing agent and liquidity
provider. On the basis of the varizhility absorbed by the customer through
the reimbursement arrangement or significant residual investment, the
Company does not consolidate the Customer TOB trusts. The Company's
variable interests in the Proprietary TOB trusts include the Residual as well
as the remarking and liquidity agreements with the trusts. On the basis of the
variability absorbed through these contracts (primarily the Residual}, the
Company generally consolidates the Proprietary TOB trusts. Finally, certain
proprietary TOR trusts and QSPE TOR trusts are not consolidated by
application of specific accounting literature, For the nonconsolidated
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proprietary TOB trusts and QSPE TOB trusts, the Company recognizes only its
residual invesiment on its balance sheet at fair value and the third party
financing raised by the trusts is off-balance sheet,

Municipal Investments

Municipal Investment transactions represent partnerships that finance the
construction and rehabilitation of low-income affordable rental housing,
The Company generally invests in these partnerships as a limited partner
and eamns a return primarily throeugh the receipt of tax credits earned from
the affordable housing investments made by the partnership,

Client intermediation

Client intermediation transactions represent a range of transactions designed
to provide investors with specified returns hased on the returns of an
underlying security, referenced asset or index. These transactions include
credit-linked notes and equity-linked notes. In these transactions, the SPE
typically obtains exposure to the underlying security, referenced asset or
index through a derivative instrument such as a total return swap or a credit
default swap. In turn the SPE issues notes to investors that pay a return based
on the specified underlying security, referenced asset or index. The SPE
invests the proceeds in a financial asset or a guaranteed insurance contract
{GIC) that serves 1s collateral for the derivative contract over the term of the
transaction. The Company’s involvement in these transactions includes
heing the counterparty 1o the SPE's derivative instruments and investing in 2
portion of the notes issued by the SPE. In certain transactions, the investor's
maximun risk of loss is limited and the Company absorhs risk of loss above
aspecified level,

The Company's maximum risk of loss in these transactions is defined as
the amount invested in notes issued by the SPE and the notional amount of
any risk of loss absorbed by the Company through a separate instrument
issued by the SPE. The derivative instrument held by the Company may
generate a receivable from the SPE (for example, where the Company
purchases credit protection from the SPE in connection with the SPE's
issuance of a credit-linked note), which is collateralized by the assets owned
by the SPE. These derivative instruments are not considered variable interests
under FIN 46-R and any associated receivables are not included in the
caleulation of maximum exposure to the SPE.

Mutual Fund Deferred Sales Commission (DSC)
Securitizations
Mutual Fund Deferred Sales Commission (DSC) receivables are assets
purchased from distributors of mutual funds that are backed by distribution
fees and contingent deferred sales charges (CDSC) generated by the
distribution of certain shires to mutual fund investors, These share investors
pay no upfront load, bt the shareholder agrees 10 pay, in addition 10 the
management fee imposed by the mutual fund, the distribution fee over 2
period of time and the CDSC (a penalty for early redemption to recover lost
distribution fees). Asset managers use the proceeds from the sale of DSC
receivables Lo cover sales commissions associated with the shares sold,

The Company purchases these receivables from mutual fund distributors
and sells a diversified pool of receivables te a trust. The trust in tumn issues
two tranches of securities:

 Senior term notes {generally 92-94%) via private placement to third-party
investors. These notes are structured to have at least a single “A” rating




standard. The senior notes receive all cash distributions until fully repaid,
which is generally approximately 5-6 years,

« A residual certificate in the trust (generally 6-8%) to the Company. This
residual certificate is fully subordinated to the senior notes, and receives
no cash flows unti! the senior notes are fully paid.

Primary Uses of SPEs by Alternative Investments

Structured investment Vehicles
Structured Investment Vehicles (STVs) are SPEs tha issue junior notes and
sentior debt (medium-term notes and short-term comeercial paper) to fund
the purchase of high quality assets. The junior notes are subject to the “first
loss” risk of the SIVs. The SIVs provide a variable return to the junior note
investors based on the net spread between the cost to issue the senior debt
and the return realized by the high quality assets. The Company acts as
investment manager for the SIVs and, prior to Decemnber 13, 2007, was not
contractually obligated to provide liquidity facilities or guarantees fo the
SIvs.

In response to the ratings review for a possible downgrade announced
by two ratings agencies of the outstanding senior debt of the SIVs, and the
continued reduction of liquidity in the SIV-refated asset-backed commercial
paper and medium-term note markets, on December 13, 2007, Citigroup
announced its commitment to provide a support facility that would support
the SIVs' senior debt ratings. As a result of this commitment, Citigroup

became the SIVs’ primary beneficiary and began consolidating these entities.
On Febsuary 12, 2008, Citigroup finalized the terms of the support facility,

which takes the form of a commitment to provide mezzanine capital to the
SIV vehicles in the event the market value of their capital notes approaches
zero. The facility is senior to the junior notes but junior o the commercial
paper and medium-term notes. The facility is at arm’s-length terms. Interest
will be paid on the drawn amount of the facility, and a per annum fee will
be paid on the unused portion. The termination date of the facility is
January 15, 2011, cancelable at any time at the discretion of the SIVs.
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The impact of this consolidation on Citigroup's Consolidated Balance

Sheet as of Decemnber 31, 2007 is as foltows:

In biltions of doliars December 31, 2007
Assets
Cash and due from banks $11.8
Trading account assels 46.4
Other assets 0.3
Total assets $58.5
Liabilities
Short-term borrowings $11.7
Long-term borrowings 459
Other liabilities 0.9
Total liabilities $58.5

Balances include intercompany assets of $1 billion and intercornpany

liabilities of $7 billion, which are eliminated in consolidation.




The following tables summarize the seven Citigroup-advised SIVs as of December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007 as well as the aggregate asset mix and

credit quality of the SIV assels.

In billions of doliars December 31, 2007 September 30, 2007
CP Medium- cP Medfum-
SV Assets Funding Term Notes Assots Funding  Term Notss
Beta $148 $04 $13.7  $19.3 $ 26 $15.7
Centauri 149 0.8 133 201 29 16.1
Dorada 8.4 1.0 6.9 11.0 2.2 8.1
Five 8.7 26 5.7 13.2 5.5 71
Sedna 9.1 5.2 34 134 56 7.0
Zela 1.9 1.1 0.6 41 27 1.2
Vetra 0.7 0.3 0.3 2.0 1.4 0.5
Total $58.5 $11.4 $436 3831 $22.9 $55.7
December 31, 2007 September 30, 2007
Aver20®  mveragecredit Quatiym A0 pprags gredit ualtty
Mix Apa Aa A Mix Aaa Aa A

Financial Institutions Debt 59% 12% 3% 4% 58% 12% 44% 2%
Sovereign Debt 1% 1% — — — — — —

Structured Finance

MBS—Non-U.S. residential 12% 1% — — "% 1% — —
CBOs, CLOs, CD0s 6% % - — 8% 8% — —
MBS—U.S. residential 7% % — - % % — —
CMBS 4% 4% — — 6% 6% — —
Student loans 6% % — — 5% 5% — —
Credit cards 5% 5% — — 4% 4% — —
Other —_ — —_ - 1% 1% — —
Total Structured Finance 40% e — — 42% 42% — —

Total 100% 83% 43% 4% 100% 54% 44% 2%

(1} Credit ratings based on Moody's ratings as of December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007.

(2) The SlVs have no direct exposure 10 U.S. subprime assets and have approximately $50 millicn and $70 million of indirect exposure to subprime assets through CDOs, which are AAA rated and cany credit

enhancements as of Decernber 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007,

Investment Funds

The Company is the investment manager for certain investment funds
that invest in various asset classes including private equity, hedge funds,
real estate, fixed income and infrastructure. The Company earns a
managenent fee which is a percentage of capital under management,
and may earn performance fees. [n addition, for some of these funds the
Company has an ownership interest in the investment funds.

The Company has also established a number of investment funds as

opportunities for qualified employees to invest in private equily investmenis.

The Company 4cts as investment manager to these funds and may provide
employees with financing on both a recourse and non-recourse basis for a
portion of the employees’ investment commitments,

Primary Uses of SPEs by Corporate/Other

Trust Preferred Securities

The Company has raised financing through the issuance of trust
preferred securities. In these transactions, the Company forms 4 statutory
business trust and owns all of the voting equity shares of the trust. The trust
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issues preferred equity securities to third-party investors and invests the
gross proceeds in junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures issued
by the Cempany. These trusts have no assets, operations, revenues or cash
flows other than those related to the issuance, administration, and
repayment of the preferred equity securities held by third-party investors,
These trusts’ obligations are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the
Company.

Because the sole asset of the trust is a receivable from the Company, the
Company is not permitted to consolidate the trusts under FIN 46-R, even
though the Comparty owns all of the voting equity shares of the trust, has
fully guaranteed the trusts” obligations, and has the right to redeem the
preferred securities in certain circumstances. The Company recognizes the
subordinated debentures on its balance sheet as long-term liabilities.

See Note 23 on page 156 for additional information regarding the
Company's off-balance-sheet arrangements with respect to securilizations
and SPEs.




Credit Commitments and Lines of Credit

The table below summarizes Citigroup’s credit commitments as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006:

Qutside  December 31,  December 31,
In mifions of dottars u.s. of US. 2007 2006
Financial standby letters of credit and foreign office guarantees $ 56665 § 30,401 $ 87,066 $ 72548
Performance standby letters of credit and foreign office guarantees 5,340 12,715 18,055 15,802
Commercial and similar letters of credit 1,483 7,692 9175 7.861
One- to four-family residential mortgages 3,824 763 4,587 3,457
Revolving open-end loans secured by one- to four-family residential properties 31,930 3,257 35,187 32,449
Commercial real estate, construction and land development 3,736 1,098 4,834 4,007
Credit card lines M 949,939 153,596 1,103,535 987,409
Commerciat and other consumer loan commitments @ 303,376 170,255 473,631 439,93
Total $1,356,293  $379,777 $1,736,070 $1,563,464

{1} Credit caid lines are unconitionally cancelable by the Issuer.

{2} Includes cammercial commitments to make or purchase loans, to purchase third-party receivables, and to provide note issuance of revolving underwiting facilities. Amounts include $259 billion and $251 billion with

original maturity of less than one year at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively.

See Note 28 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 176 for
additional information on credit commitments and lines of credit.

Highly Leveraged Financing Commitments
Included in the line item “Commercial and other consumer loan
commiiments” in the table above are highly leveraged financing
commitments, which are agreements that provide funding to a borrower
with higher levels of debt (measured by the ratio of debt capital to equity
capital of the borrower) than is generally the case for other companies.
Highly leveraged financing is commonly employed in corporate acquisitions,
management buy-outs and similar transactions,

As a result, debt service (that is, principal and interest payments) absorbs
4 significant portion of the cash flows generated by the borrower’s business.
Consequently, the risk that the borrower may niot be able to service its debt
obligations is greater. Due to this risk, the interest rates and fees charged for
this type of financing are generally higher than other types of financing,

Prior 1o funding, highly leveraged financing commitiments are assessed
for impairment in accordance with SFAS 5 and losses are recorded when they
are probable and reasonably estimable. For the portion of loan commitments
that relate to loans that will be held for investment, loss estimates are made
based on the borrower's ability to repay the facility according to its
contractual tenms. For the portion of loan commitments that relate w loans
that will be held for sale, loss estimates are made in reference to current
conditions in the resale market (both interest rate risk and credit risk are
considered in the estimate}. Loan crigination, comimitment, underwriting,
and other fees are netted against any recorded losses.
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Citigroup generally manages the risk associated with highly leveraged
financings it generally has entered into by seeking to sell a majority of its
exposures to the market prior 1o or shortly after funding. In certain cases, all
or a portion of a highly leveraged financing to be retained is hedged with
credit derivatives or other hedging instruments. Thus, when a highly
leveraged financing is funded, Citigroup records the resulting toan as
follows:

« The portion that Citigroup will seek to sell is recorded as a loan
held-for-sale in Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, and
measured at the tower-of-cost-or-market (LOCOM)

« The portion that will be retained is recorded as a loan held-for-investment
in Loans and measured 4t amortized cost less impairment.

Due to the dislocation of the credit markets and the reduced market
intesest in higher risk/higher yield instruments during the second half of
2007, liquidity in the market for highly leveraged financings has declined
significantly. Consequenily, Citigroup has been unable to sell a number of
highly leveraged financings that it entered into during 2007, resulting in
total exposure of $43 billion as of December 31, 2007 ($22 billion for funded
and $21 billion for unfunded commitments). These market developments
have resulted in Citigroup’s recognizing total losses on such products of $1.5
billion pretax as of December 31, 2007, of which $1.3 billion of impairment
was recognized on transactions that had been funded and $0.2 billion of
impairment was recognized on transactions that were unfunded as of
December 31, 2007.




PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT PLANS

The Company has several non-contributory defined benefit pension plans
covering substantially all U.S. employees and has various defined benefit
pension and termination indemnity plans covering employees outside the
United States. The U.5. defined benefit plan provides benefits under a cash
balance formula. Employees satisfying certain age and service requirements
remain covered by a prior final pay formula. The Company also offers
postretirement health care and life insurance benefits to certain eligible U.S.
retired employees, as well as to certain eligible emplovees outside the United
Stales.

The following table shows the pension expense and contributiens for
Citigroup's plans:

U.S. plans Non-U.S. plans

in miffions of doliars 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Pension expense $179  $182  $237 $123 3115 $182
Company

contributions @ —_ — 1680 223 382 379

{1} The 2006 expense for the U.S. plans inchodes an $80 miflion curtallment gain recognized as of
Septemiber 30, 2006 retating to the Company's decision to freéze benefit aceruals jor all cash-balance
participants after 2007.

(2 In addition, the Company absorbed $15 million, $20 million and $19 million durng 2007, 2006, and
2005, respectively, refating to certain investment management fees and administration costs for the
U.S. plans, which are excluded érom this table.

The following table shows the combined postretirement expense and
contributions for Citigroup’s U.S. and foreign plans:

U.S. and non-U.S. plans

In millions of doliars 2007 2006 2005
Postrelirement expense $69 37 $73
Company contributions 72 260 226

Expected Rate of Return

Citigroup determines its assumptions for the expected rate of return on plan
assets for its U.S. pensien and postretirement plans using a “building block”
approach, which focuses on ranges of anticipated rates of return for each
asset class. A weighted range of nominal rates is then determined based on
target allocations to each asset class. Citigroup considers the expected rate of
return to be a long-term assessment of return expectations and does not
anticipate changing this assumption annually unless there are significant
changes in investment strategy or economic conditions. This contrasts with
the selection of the discount rate, future compensation increase rate, and
certain other assumptions, which are reconsidered annually in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.

The expected rate of retum was 8.0% at December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, reflecting the performance of the global capital markets. Actual retums
in 2007, 2006 and 2005 were more than the expected returns. The expected
returns impacted pretax earnings by 52.3%, 2.9% and 2.7%, respectively. This
expected amount reflects the expected annual appreciation of the plan assets
and reduces the annual pension expense of the Company. It is deducted from
the sumi of service cost, intesest and other components of pension expense to
arrive at the net pension expense. Net pension expense for 2007, 2006 and
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2005 reflects deductions of $889 million, $845 millien and $806 million of
expected returns, respectively.

The following table shows the expected versus actual rate of return on
plan assets for the U.S. pension and postretiternent plans:

2007 2006 2005
Expected rate of retum 8.0% 80% 8.0%
Actual rate of retum 13.2% 14.7% 9.7%

For the foreign plans, pension expense for 2007 was reduced by the
expected return of $477 million, which impacted pretax earnings by 28%,
compared with the actual return of $432 million. Pension expense for 2006
and 2005 was reduced by expected returns of $384 millien and $315 million,
respectively. Actual returns were higher in 2006 and 2005 than the expected
returns in those years,

Discount Rate

The 2007 and 2006 discount rates for the U.S. pension and postretirement plans
were selectad by reference to a Citigroup-specific analysis using each plan's
specific cash flows and compared with the Moody's A Long-Term Corporate
Bond Yield for reasonableness. Citigroup's policy is to round to the nearest tenth of
a percent. Accondingly, at Decernber 31, 2007, the discount rate was set at 6.2% for
the pension plans and 4t 6.0% for the postretirement welfase plans.

At December 31, 2006, the discount rate was set at 5.9% for the pension
plans and 5.7% for the postretiremnent plans, referencing a Citigroup-specific.
cash flow analysis.

As of September 30, 2000, the U.S. pension ptan was remeasured to reflect
the freeze of benefits accruals for all non-grandfathered participants,
effective Janvary 1, 2008. Under the September 30th remeasurement and
year-end analysis, the resulting plan-specific discount rate for the pension
plan was 5.86%, which was rounded to 5.9%.

The discount rates for the foreign pension and postretirement plans are
selected by reference to high-quality corporate bond rates in countries that
have developed corporate bond markets. However, where developed corporate
bond markets do not exist, the discount rates are selected by reference to
local government bond rates with a premium added to reflect the additional
risk for corporate bonds. .

For additional information on the pension and postretirement plans, and
on discount rates used in determining pension and postretirement benefit
abligations and net benefit expense for the Company's plans, as well as the
effects of a one percentage-point change in the expected rates of return and
the discount rates, see Note 9 to the Company's Consolidated Financial
Statements on page 132.

Adoption of SFAS 158

Upon the adoption of SFAS No.158, “Employer’s Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits” (SFAS 158), at
December 31, 2006, the Company recorded an after-tax charge to equity of
$1.6 billion, which corresponds to the plan’s net pension liability and the
write-off of the existing prepaid asset, which relates to unamortized actuarial
gains and losses, prior service costs/benefits and transition assets/liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Corporate Governance

Citigroup has a Code of Conduct that maintains the Company’s commitment
to the highest standards of conduct. The Company has established an ethics
haotline for employees. The Code of Conduct is supplernented by a Code of
Ethics for Financial Professionals (including finance, accounting, treasury,
tax and investor relations professionals) that applies worldwide.

Both the Code of Conduct and the Code of Ethics for Financial
Professionals can be found on the Citigroup Web site, www.citigroup.com, by
clicking on the “Corporate Governance” page. The Company’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines and the charters for the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, the Nomination and Govemance Committee, the Personnel and
Compensation Committee, and the Public Affairs Committee of the Board are
also available under the “Corporate Governance” page, or by writing 10
Citigroup Inc., Corporate Governance, 425 Park Avenue, 2nd Floor, New
York, New York 10043.

Controls and Procedures

Disclosure

The Company's disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure
that information required to be disctosed under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated 1o management, including the Chief
Executive Officer (CED) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO}, to allow for
timely decisions regarding required disclosure and appropriaie SEC filings.

The Company's Disclosure Committee is responsible for ensuring that
there is an adequate and effective process for establishing, maintaining and
evaluating disclosure controls and procedures for the Company's external
disclosures.

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company's
CEO and CF0Q, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rute 13a-15(e) under the Exchange
Act) as of December 31, 2007 and, hased on that evaluation, the CEO and
CFO have concluded that at that date the Company's disclosure controls and
procedures were effective.

Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the
fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2007 that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over
financial reporting.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

When describing future business conditions in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K, including, but not limited to, descriptions in the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis,” particularly in the “Outlook”
sections, the Company makes certain statements that are “forward-looking
slatements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995, The Company's actual results may differ materially from those
included in the forward-looking statements, which are indicated by words
such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “may
increase,” “may fluctuate,” and similar expressions, or future or conditional
verbs such as “will” “should,” “would,” and “could.”

These forward-looking statements are based on management’s current
expectations and involve external risks and uncertainties including, hut not
limited to, those described under “Risk Factors™ on page 38. Other risks and
uncertainties disclosed herein include, but are not limited to:

s global economic conditions, including the level of interest rates, the
credit environment, unemployment rates, and political and regulatory
developments in the U.S. and around the world;

o levels of activity in, and volatility of, the global capital markets;

¢ the ability of the Company to achieve capital allocation excellence and
to build a new risk management culture;

¢ therisk of a U.S. and/or global economic dewnturn in 2008;

« thedirect and indirect impacts of continuing deteriorasion of subpeime
and other real estaie markets;

e further adverse rating actions by credit rating agencies in respect of
structured credit products or other credit-related exposures or of
monoline insurers;

s the effect of higher unemployment and bankruptey filings and lower
real estate prices on credit costs in U.S. Consumer;

o theeffect of changes to consumer lending laws enacted in 2006 and of
deteriorating consumer credit conditions on credit costs in the Japan
Consumer Finance business;

e theeffective tax rate in 2008;

»  the outcome of tegal, regulatory and other proceedings;

»  the ability of the Company’s businesses to control expenses, improve
productivity and effectively manage credit;

+  International Consumer being able to expand its customer base
through organic growth, investiments in expanding the branch
network, and benefiting from 2007 acquisitions;

»  the ability of Securities and Bunking to deliver financial solutions
tailored 10 clients' needs and to target client segments with strong
growth prospects;

¢ whether 2007 investments in its wealth management platform, as well
as past acquisitions, will result in continued asset and revenue growth
in Global Wealth Management;

» the impact of a variety of unresolved matters on the Company’s
investment in CV(/Brazil, including pending litigation involving some
of CVC/Brazil's portfolio companies;

s the effect that possible amendments to, and interpretations of, risk-
based capital guidelines and reporting instructions might have on
Citigroup’s reported capital ratios and net risk-adjusted assets; and

o the dividending capabilities of Citigroup’s subsidiaries.




GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Adjusted Average Assets—average total GAAP assets (net of
allowance for loan losses) less goodwill; certain other intangible assets;
certain credit-enhancing interest-only strips; investments in subsidiaries or
associated companies that the Federal Reserve determines should be
deducted from Tier | Capital; deferred tax assets that are dependent upon
future taxable income; and certain equity investments that are subject to a
deduction from Tier 1 Capital,

Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO)—The actuarial present
value of benefits (vested and unvested) attributed to employee services
rendered up to the calculation date.

APB 23 Benefit—In accordance with parageaph 31(a) of SFAS Ne. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes” (SFAS 109), a deferred tax liability is not
recognized for the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax
basis of an investment in a foreign subsidiary unless it becomes apparent
that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future.

Assets Under Management (AUMs)—Aassets held by Citigroup in a
fiduciary capacity for clients, These assets are not included on Citigroup’s
balance sheet.

Basel ll—A new set of risk-based regulatory capital standards for
internationally active banking organizations, published June 26, 2004
(subsequently amended in November 2005) by the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision, which consists of central banks and bank supervisors
from 13 countries and is organized under the auspices of the Bank for
Intemational Settlements (“BIS™).

Cash-Basis Farmula—A formuta, within a defined benefit plan, that
defines the ultimate benefit as a hypothetical account balance based on
annual benefit credits and interest earnings.

Cash-Basis Loans—Loans in which the borrower has fallen behind in
interest payments are considered impaired and are classified as
non-performing or non-accrual assets, In situations where the lender
reasonably expects that enly a portion of the principal and interest owed
ultimately witl be collected, all payments are credited directly to the
outstanding principal.

Collateratized Debt Obligations (CDOs)—an invesiment-grade
security issued by a trust, which is backed by a pool of bonds, loans, or other
assets, including residential or commercial mortgage-backed securities and
other asset-backed securities.

Credit Default Swap—An agreement hetween two parties whereby one
party pays the other a fixed coupon over a specified term. The other party
makes no payment unless a specified credit event such as a default occurs, at
which time a payment is made and the swap terminates.

Deferred Tax Asset—An asset attributable to deductible temporary
differences and carryforwards. A deferred tax asset is measured using the
applicable enacted tax rate and provisions of the enacted tax law,

Deferred Tax Liability—A liability attributable to taxable temporary
differences. A deferred tax liability is measured using the applicable enacted
tax rate and provisions of the enacted tax law.

Defined Contribution Ptan—A retirement plan that provides an
individual account for each participant and specifies how contributions to
that account are to be determined, instead of specifving the amount of

benefits the participant will receive. The benefits a participant will receive
depend solely on the amount contributed to the participant's account, the
return on investments of those contributions, and forfeitures of other

participants’ benefits that may be allocated to such participant’s account.

Defined Benefit Plan—A retirement plan under which the benefits paid
are based on a specific formula. The formula is usually a function of age,
service and compensation. A non-contributory plan does not require
employee contributions.

Derivative—A contract or agreement whose value is derived from changes
in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, prices of securities or commodities,
or financial or commodity indices.

Federal Funds—Non-interest-bearing deposits held by member banks at
the Federal Reserve Bank.

Foregone Interest—Interest on cash-basis loans that would have been
earned ai the original contractual rate if the loans were on accrual status.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP}—accounting
rules and conventions defining acceptable practices in preparing financia!
statements in the United States of America. The Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB), an independent, self-regulatory organization, is the
primary source of accounting rules.

interest-Only {or 10) Strip—a residual interest in securitization trusts
representing the remaining value of expected net cash flows to the Company
after payments to third-party investors and net credit losses.

Leverage Ratio—The Leverage Ratio is calculated by dividing Tier 1
Capital by leverage assets. Leverage assets are defined as quarterly average
total assets, net of goodwill, intangibles and certain other items as required
by the Federal Reserve,

Managed Average Yield—Gross managed interest revenue earned,
divided by average managed foans.

Managed Basis—Managed basis presentation includes results from both
on-balance-sheet toans and off-balance-sheet loans, and excludes the
impeact of card securitization activity. Managed basis disclosures assume that
securitized loans have not been sold and present the result of the securitized
loans in the same manner as the Company’s owned loans.

Managed Loans—Includes loans classified as Loans on the balance
sheet plus loans held-for-sale that are included in other assets plus
securitized receivables. These are primarily credit card receivables.

Managed Net Credit Losses—Net credit losses adjusted for the effect
of credit card securitizations. See Managed Loans.

Market-Related Value of Plan Assets—A balance used to calculate
the expected return on pension-plan assets. Market-related value can be
either fair value or a calculated value that recognizes changes in fair value
in 4 systematic and rational manner over not more than five years.

Minority Interest—When a parent owns a majority (but less than 100%)
of a subsidiary’s stock, the Consolidated Financial Statements must reflect
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary. The minority interest as shown in
the Consolidated Statement of Income is equal to the minority’s
proporticnate share of the substdiary’s net income and, as inctuded in Other
Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, is equal to the minority’s
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net assets,




Mortgage Servicing Rights (MSRs)—An intangible asset
representing servicing rights retained in the securitization of mortgage loans.

Net Credit Losses—Gross credit losses (write-offs) less gross credit
recoveries.

Net Credit Loss Ratio—Annualized net credit losses divided by average
loans outstanding,

Net Credit Margin—Revenues less net credit losses.

Net Excess Spread Revenue—Net cash flows from ovr credit card
securitization activities that are returned to the Company, less the
amortization of previously recorded revenue (i.e., residual interest) related to
prior periods’ securitizations. The net cash flows include collections of
interest income and fee revenue in excess of the interest paid o securitization
trust investors, reduced by net credit losses, servicing fees, and cther costs
related to the securitized receivables.

Net Interest Revenue (NIR)—Interest revenue less interest expense.

Net Interest Margin—Interest revenue less interest expense divided by
average interest-eaming assels.

Non-Qualified Plan—A retirement plan that is not subject to certain
Internal Revenue Code requirements and subsequent regulations.
Contributions to non-qualified plans do not receive tax-favored treatment;
the employer's tax deduction is taken when the benefits are paid to
participants.

Notional Amount—The principal balance of a derivative contract used as
a reference to calculate the amount of interest or other payments.

On-balance-sheet Loans—Loans originated or purchased by the
Company that reside on the balance sheet at the date of the balance sheet.

Projected Benefit Obligation {PBO)—Tte actuarial present value of
all pension benefits accrued for employee service rendered prior to the
calculation date, including an allowance for future salary increases if the
pension benefit is based on future compensation levels.

Purchase Sales—Customers’ credit card purchase sales plus cash
advances.

Qualified Plan—A retirement plan that satisfies certain requirements of
the Internal Revenue Code and provides benefits on a tax-deferred basis.
Contributions to qualified plans are tax deductible.

Qualitying SPE (QSPE)—A Special Purpose Entity that is very limited in
its activities and in the types of assets it can hold. It is a passive entity and
may not engage in active decision inaking, QSPE status allows the setler to
rermove assets transferred to the QSPE {rom its books, achieving sale
accounting, QSPEs are not consolidated by the seller or the investors in the
QSPE.

Return on Assets—annualized income divided by average assels.

Return on Common Equity—annualized income less preferred stock
dividends, divided by average common equity.
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Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell (Reverse
Repo Agreements)—an agreement between a seller and a buyer,
generally of government or agency securities, whereby the buyer agrees to
purchase the securities and the seller agrees to repurchase them at an
agreed-upon price at a future date.

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase
(Repurchase Agreements}—Aan agreement beiween a sellerand a
buyer, generally of government or agency securities, whereby the seller
agrees to repurchase the securities at an agreed-upon price at 2 future date.

Significant Unconsolidated VIE—an entity where the Company has
any variable interest, including those where the likelitood of loss, or the
notional amount of exposure, is small. Variable interests are ownership
interests, debt securities, contractual arrangements or other pecuniary
interests in an entity that absorbs the VIE's expected losses and/or returns,

Special Purpose Entity (SPE)—an entity in the form of a trust or
other legal vehicle, designed to fulfill a specific limited need of the company
that organized it (such as a transfer of risk or desired tax treatment).

Standby Letter of Gredit—An cbligation issued by a bank on behalf of
a hank customer to a third party where the bank promises to pay the third
party, contingent upon the failure by the bank’s customer to perform under
the terms of the underlying contract with the beneficiary, or it obligates the
bank to guarantee or stand as a surety for the benefit of the third pariy to the
extent permitted by law or regulation.

Securitizations—A process by which a legal entity issues to investors
cerlain securities which pay a return based on the principal and interest cash
flows from a pool of loans or other financial assets.

Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital—Tier 1 Capital includes common
stockholders’ equity (excluding certain components of accumulated other
comprehensive income), qualifying perpetual preferred stock, qualifying
mandatorily redeemable securities of subsidiary trusts, and minerity interests
that are held by others, less certain intangible assets. Tier 2 Capital includes,
among other items, perpetual preferred stock to the extent that it does not
qualify for Tier 1, qualifying senior and subordinated debt, limited-life
preferred stock, and the allewance for credit losses, subject to certain
limitations.

Unearmned Gompensation—The unamortized portion of a grant to
employees of restricted or deferred stock measured at the market value on the
date of grant, Uneamned compensation is displayed as a reduction of
stockholders equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Unfunded Commitments—Legally binding agreements to provide
financing at a future date.

Variable Interest Entity (VIE)—An entity that does not have enough
equity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support from third parties. VIEs may inchude entities with equity investors
that cannot make significant decisions about the entity’s operations. A VIE
must be consolidated by its primary beneficiary, if any, which is the party
that has the majority of the expected losses or residual returns of the VIE or
both.




MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Citigroup is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Citigroup’s internal control
system was designed to provide reasonable assurance 1o the Company’s
management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair
presentation of published financial statements in accordance with U.S,
generally accepted accounting principles. All internal control systems, no
matter how welt designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance
with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Management maintains a comprehensive system of controls intended to
ensure that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s
authorization, assets are safeguarded, and financial records are reliable.
Management also takes steps to ensure that information and
communication flows are effective and to monitor performance, including
performance of internal control procedures.

Citigroup management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 based on
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (C0S0) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.
Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of December 31,
2007, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective,

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of Decerntber 31, 2007 has been audited by KPMG LLP, the
Cempany's independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report appearing on page 102, which expressed an unqualified opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2007.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM—
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

EEiha
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Citigroup Inc.:

We have audited Citigroup Inc. and subsidiaries’ {the “Company” or
“Citigroup” internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal contro! over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,

- included in the accompanying management’s report on internal control
over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Gur audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
auddit also ineluded performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that cur audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed (o provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonabte detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance

that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generalty accepted accounting principles, and

that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, intemnal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may detetiorate.

In our opinion, Citigroup maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Citigroup as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the
related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders” equity
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2007, and our report dated February 22, 2008 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMe LLP

New York, New York
February 22, 2008




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM—
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Citigroup Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Citigroup
Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Citigroup”} as of December 31,
2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes
in stockholders equity and cash ftows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2007, 4nd the related consolidated balance sheets
of Citibank, N.A. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Gur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidited financial statements based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan el perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial staternents are free of material misstatement, An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial staternents. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Int our opinion, the consolidated financial stutements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Citigroup as
of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007,
and the financial position of Citibank, N.A, and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles,

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2007
the Company changed its methods of accounting for fair value
measurements, the fair value option for financial assets and financial
liabilities, uncertainty in income taxes and cash flows relating to income
taxes generated by a leverage lease transaction, and in 2006 the Company
changed its methods of accounting for stock-based compensation, certain
hybrid financial instruments, servicing of financial assets and defined benefit
pensions and cther postretirement benefits, and in 2005 the Company
changed its method of accounting for conditional asset retirement
obligations associated with operating leases.

We also have audited, in accondance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Citigroup’s internal
control over financial reporting as of Decernber 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in [nternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (C0S0),
and our report dated February 22, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on
the effectiveness of the Corpany’s internal control over financial reporting,

KPMe LLP

New York, New York
February 22, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME Citigroup tnc. and Subridiaries
Year ended December 31
in millions of dotars, except per share amounts 2007 20060 2005 @
Revenuss .
Interest revenue $124.467 $96497 $75922
Inferest expense 77,531 56,943 36,676
Net interest ravenue $ 46936 $39554 $239,246
Commissions and fees $21132  $19244 516930
Principal transactions {12,079} 7,999 6,656
Administration and other fiduciary fees 9,172 6,934 6,119
Reatized gains (losses) from sales of investments 1,168 1,791 1,962
Insurance premiums 3,534 3,202 3,132
(ther revenue 11,835 10,851 9,597
Total non-interest revenues $ 34762 $50.061  $4439%
Total revenues, net of interest expense $ 61698 $B89615 §83642
Pravistons for credit losses and for benefits and ctalms
Provision for loan losses $17424 $ 6738 §$ 7.929
Policyholder benefits and claims 935 967 867
Provision for unfunded lending commitments 150 250 250
Total provisions for credit losses and tor benefits and claims $18509 5 70955 % 9,046
Operating expenses
Compensation and benefits $ 34435 $30277 $25.772
Net occupancy expense 6,680 5.841 5141
Technology/communication expense 4,533 3,182 3,524
Advertising and marketing expense 2,935 2,563 2,533
Restructuring expense 1,528 — —
Other operating expenses 1,377 8,578 8,193
Total operating expenses $ 61488 $52021  $45163
Income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority Interest, and cumulative effect of accounting change $ 1,701 $29639 $29433
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (2,201) 8101 9,078
Minority interest, net of taxes 285 289 549
Income from continuing operations before curnulative effect of accounting change $ 3617 $21249 $19.806
Discantinued operations
Income from discontinued operations $ — &% 271 § o908
Gain on sale —_ 219 6,790
Provision {benefit) for income taxes and minority interest, net of taxes —_ (43 2,866
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ — 5 289 % 4832
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes - —_ (49)
Net income $ 3617 321538 §$24589
Basic eamings per share
Income from continuing operations $ 073 $ 433 $ 390
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes —_ 0.06 0.95
Cumutative effect of accounting change, net of taxes —_ — {0.01)
Net income $ 073 § 438 § 484
Weighted average common shares outstanding 4,905.8 4,887.3 5,067.6
Dilsted earnings per share
Income from continuing operations $ 072 $ 425 $ 382
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes —_ 0.06 0.94
Cumttative effect of accounting change, net of taxes — — {0.01)
Net incoms $ 072 $ 431 % 475
Adjusted weighted average common shares outstanding 4,995.3 4,986.1 5,160.4

11) Reciassified 1o conform 1o the current period's presentation,
See Hotes 10 e Consofidated Financia) Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Citigroup c. and Subsidiaries
December 31

In mitlions of dollars, except shares 2007 2008
Assets
Cash and due from banks {incleding segregated cash and other deposits} $ 33206 % 26514
Deposits with banks 69,366 42,522
Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or purchased under agreements to resell (including $84,305 at fair value at December 31, 2007) 274,066 282,817
Brokerage receivables 57,359 44,445
Trading account assets (including $157,221 and $125,231 pledged to creditors at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively) 538,964 393,925
Investmenis fincluding $21,449 and $16,355 pledged to creditors at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008, respectivety) 215,008 273,591
Loans, net cf uneamed income

Consumer 592,307 512,921

Corporate {including $3,727 and $384 at December 31, 2007 and Decernber 31, 2008, respectively, at fair valug) 185,686 166,271
Loans, net of unearned income $ 777993 § 679,192

Allowancz for loan losses {16,117) (8,940)
Total loans, net $ 761,876 § 670252
Goodwill 41,204 33415
Intangible assets {incheding $8,380 at fair value at December 31, 2007) 22,687 15,901
Other assets {including $9,802 at fair value at December 31, 2007) 168,875 100,936
Total assets $2,187,631  $1,884,318
Liabilities
Non-interest-bearing deposits in U.S. offices $ 40859 § 38615
Interest-bearing deposits in U.S. offices (including $1,337 and $366 at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, at fair value) 225,198 195,002
Non-interest-bearing deposits in offices outside the U.S, 43,235 35,149
Interest-bearing deposits in offices outside the U.S. {including $2,261 and $472 at Decemnber 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, at fair value) 516,838 443,275
Total deposits $ 826230 § 712,041
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase {ncluding $199,854 at fair value at December 31, 2007) 304,243 349,235
Brokerage payables 84,951 85,119
Trading account liabilities 182,082 145,887
Short-term borrowings (including $13,487 and $2,012 at December 31, 2007 and Becember 31, 20086, respectivety, at fair value) 146,488 100,833
Long-term debt (including $79,312 and $9,439 at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, at fair valug) 427,112 288,494
Other liabilities including $1,568 at fair value at December 31, 2007) 102,927 82,926
Total liabilities $2,074,033 1,764,535
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock ($1.00 par vatue; authorized shares: 30 million), at aggregate liquidation vake $ — $ 1000
Common stock ($0.01 par value; authorized shares: 15 billion), issued shares: 2007 and 2006—5,477,416,086 shares 55 55
Additional paid-in capital 18,007 18,253
Retained earnings 121,920 129,267
Treasury stack, at cost; 2007-—-482,834,568 shares and 2006—565,422,301 shares {21,724) (25,092
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) {4,660) (3,700)
Total stockholders’ equity $ 113598 ¢ 119,783
Total liabilities and stockholders® equity $2,187,631 $1,884,318

See Notes o tha Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Citigroup Hic. and Subsidsarics
Year ended December 31

Amounts Shares

In millions of dollars, except shares in thousands 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Preferred stock at aggregate liquidation value

Balance, beginning of year $ 1000 $ 1125 § 1125 4,000 4,250 4,250

Redemption or retirement of preferred stock {1,000) (125) — {4,000) {250) —

Balance, end of year $ — $ 1000 $ 1,125 — 4,000 4250

Common stock and additional pald-in capital

Balance, beginning of year $18308 $17538 16960 S477.416 5477416 5477416

Employee benefit plans 455 769 524 — — —

Issuance of shares for Grupo Cuscatlan acquisition 18 — — — — —_

Issuance of shares for ATD acquisition 74 - — — — —

Present value of stock purchase contract payments (888) — — — — —

Other {5) 1 54 — —_ —

Balance, end of year $ 18062 $18308 317538 5477416 5477416 5477416

Retained earnings

Batance, beginning of year $129267 $117,555  $102,154

Adjustment to opening balance, nel of taxes M {186) — —

Adjusted balance, beginning of period $129,081  $117555  $102,154

Met income 3,617 21,538 24,589

Common dividends @ (10,733) (9.761) {9,120)

Preferred dividends {45) {65) (68)

Balance, end of year $121,920 $129267  $117,555

Treasury stock, at cost .

Balance, beginning of year $(25092) $(21,149 $(10,644) (565,422) (497,192)  (282,774)

Issuance of shares pursuant to employee benefit plans 2,853 3,051 2,203 68,839 75,631 61,278

Treasury stock acquired @ {663) {7,000) (12,794) (12,463) (144033 {277,918

Issuance of shares for Grupe Cuscatlan acquisition 637 — — 14,192 — —

Isstrance of shares for ATD agquisition 503 — — 1,172 —_ —_

Other 38 6 86 847 172 2,222

Balance, end of year $(21,724) ${25002) §$(21,149 {482,835) (565,422)  (497,192)

{Statement continues on next page)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Cltigroup Inc. and Subsidiaries
(Continued)

Year ended December 31

Amounts Shares
in millions of doliars, except shares in thousands 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Accumulated other comprehensive inceme (loss)
Balange, beginning of year $ (37000 $ (2533 $ (304
Adjustment to opening balance, net of taxes #! 149 —_ —
Adjusted balance, beginning of period $ (3551) § (2533 % (304)
Net change in unrealized gains and losses on investment securities, net of taxes {621} (141} {1,249
Net change in cash flow hedges, net of taxes (3,102} 673 439
Net change in foreign currency translation adjustment, net of taxes 2,024 1,294 (980)
Pension liability adjustment, net of taxes & 590 n {(138)
Adjustments %o initially apply SFAS 158, net of taxes - {1,647) -—
Net change in Accurnulated other comprehensive income {l0ss) $ (1,090 § (5.168)  $ {2,228
Balance, end of year $ (4660) 35 (37000 § {2,539
Total common stockhatders' equity and common shares outstanding $113,588 5118783 3111412 4994581 4,911,994 4,980,224
Total stockholders' equity $113598  $119783  $112,537
Comprehensive inconte
Net income $ 3617 $21538 § 24589
Net change in Accumutated other comprehensive income (oss) (1,109) {1,168) (2,228}
Comprehensive income $ 2508 § 20370 § 22361

(1) The adjustment o the opening balance of Aetained earnings represents the ttal of the after-tax gain (loss} amounts for the adoption of the following accounting pronouncements:

» SFAS 157 for $75 million,

» SFAS 153 for $(39) million,

« FSP 13-2 tor ${148} million, and

+ FIN 48 for ${14) miflion.

See Notes 1 and 26 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 111 and 167, respectively.

{2 Common dividends declared wera $0.54 per share in the first, second, third, and fourth quarters of 2007, $0.49 per share in the first, second, third, and fourth quarters of 2006, and $0.44 cents per share in the first,
second, thi-d and fourth quarters of 2005.

{3) Al open market repurchases were fransacted under an existing authorized share repurchase plan. On Aprid 14, 2005, the Board of Directors authorized up to an additional $15 billion in share repurchases. Additionally,
on April 17, 2006, the Board of Directors authorized wp to 2o additional $10 billion in share repurchases.

{4) The after-lax adjustment o the opening balance of Accumutate other comprehiensive income floss} represents the reclassification of the unrealized gairts fosses) retated to the Legg Mason securities as well as several
miscellaneous items previously reparted in accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” (SFAS 115). The related unrealized gains and losses were sectassified to
Relained eiamings upon the aception of the fair value option in accordarce with SFAS 159. See Notes 1 and 26 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 111 and 157 for further discussions.

{5) In 2007, reflects changes in the funded status of the Company’s pension and pestretirement plans, as required by SFAS 158. in 2006 and 2005, reflects additional minimum liabiity, as required by SFAS No. 87,
“Employers’ Accounting for Pensions® (SFAS 87), refated to unfunded or book reserve plans, such s the U.S. nonqualified pension plans and certain foreign plans.

Ses Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS Citigroup e. and Subisiciarics
Year ended December 31
In millions of dollars 2007 2006 0 2605 0
Cash flows from operating activities of continuing operations
Net income $ 3617 5 21538 § 24589
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes — 150 630
Gain on sale, net of taxes - 139 4,202
Cumutative effect of accounting change, net of taxes - — {49)
Income from continuing operations $ 3617 § 21243 § 19,806
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities of continuing operations
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs and present value of future profits $ 369 § 287 §$ 274
Additions to deferred policy acquisition costs {482) {381) (362)
Depreciation and amortization 2421 2,503 2,318
Deterred tax (benefit) provision (4,256) 90 (181)
Provision for credit losses 17,574 6,958 8,179
Change in trading account assets {62,798) {98,105} {16.399)
Change in trading account liabilities 20,893 24,779 {13,986)
Change in federal funds sold and securities borrowed or purchased under agreements to resell 38,143 (65,353) (16,725)
Change in tederal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to repurchase (56,983) 106,843 33.808
Change in brokerage receivables net of brokerage payables {15,529) 12,503 17,236
Realized gains from sales of investments {1,168) (1,791) {1,962)
Change in loans held-for-sale (30,649) (1,262 (1,560
Other, net 17,418 (8,483) 1,616
Total adjustments $ {75047 & (21,4020 § 12,236
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities of continuing operations $(7,430) $ (153 § 32042
Cash flows from investing activities of continuing operations
Change in deposits with banks $ (17.216) $ (10877) § (5084)
Change In loans {361,934) (3560620  {29%,000)
Proceeds from sales and securitizations of loans 273,464 253,176 245335
Purchases of investments (274,426) {296,124) (203,023)
Proceeds from sales of investments 211,753 86,999 82,603
Proceeds from maturities of investments 121,346 121,111 97,513
Other investments, primarily short-term, net _ — 148
Capital expenditures on premises and equipment (4,003) {4,035) (3,724
Proceeds from sales of premises and equipment, subsidiaries and affiliates, and repossessed assets 4,253 1,606 17,611
Business acquisitions {15,614) - {602)
Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations $ (62317 $(204,206) $ (60,223}
Cash flows from financing activities of continuing operations
Dividends paid $(10778) $ (98260 % (9.188)
lssuance of commaon stock 1,060 1,798 1,400
Redempion of preferred stock, net (1,000) {125) —
Treasury stock acquired {663) {7,000) {12,794)
Stock tendered for payment of withholding taxes (951) (685) (696}
Issuance of long-term debt 118,496 113,687 68,852
Payments and redemptions of long-term debt (65,517) {46,468) {52,364)
Change in deposits 93,422 121,203 27,713
Change in short-term borrowings 10,425 33,903 10,163
Net cash provided by financing activities of continuing operations $144494 $206487 § 33,086
Eifect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents $ 1005 $§ 645 § (1.840)
Discontinued operations
Net cash provided by {used in) discontinued operations L] — % 109 § {46)
Change in cash and due from banks $ 11692 § 2882 § 3019
Cash and due from banks at beginning of period $ 26514 § 23632 % 20613
Cash and due from banks at end of period $ 38206 5 26514 § 23632
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information for continuing operations
Cash paid during the year for income taxes $ 5923 § 9230 §$ 862
Cash paid during the year for interest 72,732 51,472 32,081
Non-cash investing activities
Transfers {0 repossessed assets $ 227 % 1414 % 1268

{1} Reclassified to conform to lhe current period's presentation,
See Notes o the Consolidated Financia) Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET Citibank, NA. and Subsidiaries
December 31
in millions of dotiars, except shares 2007 2006
Assets
Cash and due from banks $ 2896 § 18917
Deposits with banks 57,216 38,377
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell 23,563 9,219
Trading account assets (including $22,716 and $117 pledged to creditors at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively) 215,454 103,245
Investments (including $3,009 and $1,953 pledged to creditors at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively) 150,068 215,222
Loans, net of uneamed income 644,597 558,952
Allowance for lpan losses {10,659) 5,152
Total loans, net $ 633938 § 553600
Goodwili 19,204 13,799
intangible assets 11,007 6,984
Premises and equipment, net 8,191 7,080
Interest and fees receivable 8,958 7.354
(Other assets 95,070 44790
Total assets $1,251,715  $1,019,497
Liabilities
Non-interest-bearing deposits in U.5. offices $ 41032 § 38663
Interest-bearing deposits in U.S. offices 186,080 167,015
Non-interest-bearing deposits in offices outside the U.S. 38,775 31,169
Interest-bearing deposits in offices putside the U.S. 516,517 428,896
Total deposits $ 762404 § 665743
Trading account liabilities 59,472 43,138
Purchased funds and other borrowings 74112 73,081
Accrued taxzs and other expenses 12,752 10,777
Leng-term debt and subordinated notes 184,317 115,833
Other liabilities 39,352 37,774
Total liabilities $1,152,409 $ 946,344
Stockholder’s equity
Capital stock ($20 par value} outstanding shares: 37,534,553 in each period $ i) B 751
Sumlus 69,135 43,753
Retained garnings 31,915 30,358
Accumutated other comprehensive income {loss) @ (2,495} {1,709}
Total stockholder’s equity $ 99306 § 73153
Total liabilities and stockholder’s equity $1,251,715  $1,019,497

(1} Amounts at December 31, 2007 and December 34, 2006 include the after-tax amounts for net unrealized gains flosses) on Investment securities of ($1.262) billion and {$119) million, respectively, for foreign currency
translation of $1.687 billion and (3456) million, respectively, for cash flow hedges of ($2,085) billion and {§131) million, respectivety, and for pension llability adjustments of ($835) milkon and {$1.003) billion,

respectively, of which ($886) million retates to the initial adoption of SFAS 158 at Decerber 31, 2006.
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Citigroup
and its subsidiaries (the Company). The Company consolidates subsidiaries
in which it holds, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting rights or
where it exercises contral. Entities where the Company holds 20% to 50% of
the voting rights and/or has the ability 1o exescise significant influence,
other than investments of designated venture capital subsidiaries, are
accounted for under the equity method, and the pro rata share of their
income (loss) is included in Other revenue. Income from investments in less
than 20%-owned companies is recognized when dividends are received, As
discussed below, Citigroup consolidates entities deemed to be variable interest
entities (VIEs) when Citigroup is determined to be the primary beneficiary.
Gains and losses on the disposition of branches, subsidiaries, affiliates,
buildings, and other investments and charges for management’s estintate of
impairment in their value that s other than temporary, such that recovery of
the careying amount is deemed unlikely, are included in Other revenue,

Citibank, N.A,

Citibank, NA. is a commercial bank and wholly-owned subsidiary of
Citigroup Inc. Citibank’s principal offerings include consumer finance,
mortgage lending, and retail banking products and services; investment
banking, commercial banking, cash management, trade finance and
e-commerce products and services; and private banking products and
services.

The Company includes a balance sheet and statement of changes in
stockholder's equity for Citibank, N.A. to provide information about this
entity to shareholders and international regulatory gencies. (See Note 30
to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 181.)

Variable Interest Entities

Anentity is referred 1o as a variable interest entity (VIE) if it meets the criteria
outlined in FASB Interpretation No. 46-R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities (revised December 2003)" (FIN 46-R}, which are: (1) the entity has
equity that is insufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support from other parties, or (2) the entity
has equity investors that cannot muke significant decisions about the entity's
operations or that do not absorb their proportionate share of the expected losses
or receive the expected returns of the entity,

In addition, as specified in FIN 46-R, a VIE must be consclidated by the
Company if it is deemed to be the primary heneficiary of the VIE, which is the
party involved with the VIE that has 1 majority of the expected losses or a
majority of the expected residual returns or both.

Along with the VIEs that are consolidated in accordance with these
guidelines, the Company has significant variable interests in other VIEs that
are not consolidated because the Company is not the primary beneficiary.
These include multi-seller finance companies, certain collateralized debt
obligations (CDOs), many structured finance transactions, and various
investment funds,
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However, these YIEs as well as all other unconsolidated VIEs are regularly
monitored by the Company to determine if any reconsideration events have
accurred that could cause its primary beneficizry status to change. These
events include:

* Additional purchases or sales of variable interests by Citigroup or an
unrelated third party, which cause Citigroup’s overall variable interest
ownership lo change,

« Changes in contractual arrangements in 2 manner that realtocate
expected losses and residual returns among the variable interest holders,

* Providing support to an entity that results in an implicit variable interest.

All other entities not deemed to be VIEs with which the Company has
involvement are evaluated for consolidation under Accounting Research
Builetin (ARB) No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” and SFAS
No. 94, “Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries” (SFAS 94).

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
U.S. dollars using year-end spot foreign exchange rates. Revenues and
expenses are iranslated monthly at amounts that approximate weighted
average exchange rates, with resulting gains and losses included in income.
The effects of translating income with a functional currency other than the
U.S. dollar are included in stockholders” equity along with related hedge and
tax effects. The effects of translating income with the U.S. dollar as the
functional currency, including those in highly inflationary environments,
are included in other revenue along with the refated hedge effects. Hedges of
foreign currency exposures include forward currency contracts and
designated issues of non-U.S. dollar debi.

Investment Securities

Investments include fixed income and equity securities. Fixed income
instruments inctude bonds, notes and redeemable preferred stocks, 4s well as
certain loan-backed and structured securities that are subject 1o prepayment
risk. Equity securities include common and nonredeemable preferred stocks.
Investment securities are classified and accounted for as follows:

* Fixed income securities classified as “held to maturity” represent
securities that the Company has both the ability and the intent to hold
until maturity, and are carried at amortized cost. Interest and dividend
income on such securities is included in Interest revenue.

» Fixed income securities and marketable equity securities classified as
“available-for-sale” are carried al fair value with changes in fair value
reported in a separate component of stockholders’ equity, net of
applicable income taxes. As set out in Note 16 on page 143, declines in
fair value that are determined to be other than temporary are recorded in
eamnings immediately. Realized gains and losses on sales are included in
income on a specific identification cost basis, and interest and dividend
income on such securities is included in Interest revenue.



* Venture capital investments held by Citigroup’s private equity subsidiaries
are carried at fair value with changes in fair value reported in Other
revenue, These subsidiaries include entities registered as Small Business
Investment Companies and engage exclusively in venture-capital
activities.

* Certain investments in non-marketable equity securities and certain
investments that would otherwise have been accounted for using the
equity method are carried at fair value, since the Company has elected to
apply fair value accounting in accordance with SFAS 159, “The Fair Vatue
Option for Financiat Assets and Financial Liabilities” (SFAS 159).
Changes in fair value of such investments are recorded in earnings.

« Certain non-marketable equity securities are carried at cost and
periodically assessed for other-than-temporary impairment, as set out in
Note 16 on page 143.

For investments in fixed-income securities classified as held-1o-maturity
or available-for-sale, accrual of interest income is suspended for investmenis
that are in default or on which it is likely that future interest payments wiil
not be made as scheduled. Fixed-income instruments subject to prepayment
risk are accoumted for using the retrospective method, where the principal
amortization and effective yield are recalculated each period based on actual
historical and projected future cash flows.

The Company uses a number of valuation techniques for investments
carried at fair value, which are described in Note 26 on page 167.

Trading Account Assets and Liabilities

Trading account assets include debt and marketable equity securities,
derivatives in a receivable position, residual interests in securitizations and
physical commodities inventory. tn addition (as set out in Note 26 on page
167), certain assets that Citigroup has elected to carry at fair value under
SFAS 159, such as loans and purchased guarantees, are also included in
Trading account asseis.

Trading account liahilities include securities sold, not yet purchased
(short positions), and derivatives in a net payable position, as well as certain
liabilities that Citigroup has elected to carry at fair value under SFAS 159 or
SFAS 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial [nstruments” {SFAS
155) (as set out in Note 26 on page 167).

Other than physical commodities inventory, all trading account assets
and ligbilities are carried at fair value. Revenues generated from trading
assets and trading liabilities are generally reperted in Principal transactions
and include realized gains and losses as well as unrealized gains and losses
resulting from changes in the fair value of such instruments. Interest income
on trading assets is recorded in Interest revenue reduced by interest expense
on trading liabilities.

Physical commuodities inventory is carried at the lower of cost or market
(LOCOM) with related gains or losses reported in Principal transactions.
Realized gains and losses on sales of commedities inventory are included in
Principal transactions on a “first in, first out” basis.

Derivatives used for trading purposes include interest rate, currency,
equity, credit, and commodity swap agreements, options, caps and floors,
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warrants, and financial and commodity futures and forward contracts.
Derivative asset and liability positions are presented net by counterparty on
the Consolidated Balance Sheet when a valid master netting agreement exists
and the other conditions set out in FASB Interpretation No. 39, “Offsetting of
Amounts Related 1o Certain Contracts” (FIN 39) are met,

The Company uses a number of techniques to determine the fair value of
trading assets and liabilities, all of which are described in Note 26 on page
167.

Securities Borrowed and Securities Loaned

Securities borrowing and lending transactions generally do not constitute a
sale of the underlying securities for accounting purposes, and so are ireated
as collateralized financing transactions. Such transactions are recorded at
the amount of cash advanced or received plus accrued interest. As set out in
Note 26 on page 167, the Company has elected under SFAS 159 to apply fair
value accounting to 2 smal! number of securities borrowing and lending
transactions, Irrespective of whether the Company has elected fair-value
accounting, fees paid or received for all securities lending and borrowing
transactions are recorded in Interest expense or Interest revenue at the
contractually specified rate.

Where the conditions of FIN 39 are met, amounts recognized in respect of
securities borrowed and securities loaned are presented net on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

With respect to securities borrowed or loaned, the Company pays or
receives cash coliateral in an amount in excess of the market value of
securities borrowed or loaned. The Company monitors the market value of
securities borrowed and loaned on a daily basis with additional collateral
received or paid as necessary.

As described in Note 26 on page 167, the Company uses a discounted
cash-flow technique to determine the fair value of securities lending and
borrowing transactions.

Repurchase and Resale Agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repos) and securities
purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repos) generally do not
conskitute 2 sale for accounting purposes of the underlying securities, and so
are treated as collateralized financing transactions. As set out in Note 26 on
page 167, the Cempany has elected to apply fair-value accounting to a
majority of such transactions, with changes in fair-value reported in
earnings. Any transactions for which fair-value accounting has not been
elected are recorded at the amouni of cash advanced or received plus accrued
interest, Trrespective of whether the Company lvas elected fair-value
accounting, interest paid or received on all repo and reverse repo
transactions is recorded in Interest expense or [ntesest revenue at the
contractually specified rate.

Where the conditions of FASB Interpretation No. 41, “Offsetting of
Amounts Related to Certain Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase
Agreements” (FIN 41), are met, repos and reverse repos are presented net on
the Conselidated Balance Sheet.




The Company’s policy is to take possession of securities purchased under
agreements 1o resell. The market value of securities to be repurchased and
resold is monitored, and additional collateral is obtained where appropriate
to protect against credit exposure.

4s described in Note 26 on page 167, the Company uses a discounted cash
flow technique o deterrnine the {air value of repo and reverse repo
transactions.

Loans and Leases

Loans are reported at thetr outstanding principal balances net of any
unearned incomme and unamortized deferred fees and costs. Loan origination
fees and certain direct origination costs are generally deferred and
recognized as adjustments to income over the lives of the related loans.

As set out in Note 26 on page 167, the Company has elected fair value
accounting under SFAS 159 and SFAS 155 for certain loans. Such loans are
carried at fair value with changes in fair value reported in earnings. Interest
income on such loans is recorded in Interest revenue at the conteactually
specified rate,

Loans for which the fair value option has not been elected under
SFAS 159 or SFAS 155 are classified upon origination or acquisition as either
held-for-investment or held-for-sale. This classification is based on
management's intent and ability with regard to those loans.

Substantially all of the consumer foans sold or securitized by Citigroup are
U.S. prime mortgage loans or .5, credit card receivables, The practice of the
U.S. prime mortgage business has been to sell all of its loans except for
nonconforming adjusiable rate loans. U.S. prime mortgage conforming loans
are classified as held-for-sale at the time of origination. The related cash flows
are classified in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the cash flows
from operating activities category on the line “Change in loans held-for-sale.”

U.5. credit card receivables are classified at origination as loans-held-for
sale 1o the extent that management does not have the intent to hold the
receivables for the foreseeable future or until maturity. The U.S. credit card
securitization forecast for the three months following the latest balance sheet
date is the basis for the amount of such loans classified as held-for-sale. Cash
flows related to U.S. credit card loans classified as held-for-sale at origination
or acquisition are reported in the cash flows from cperating activities
category on the line “Change in loans held-for-sale.”

Loans that are held-for-investment sire classified as Loans, net of
unearned income on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, and the related cash
flows are included within the cash flows from investing activities category in
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on the line “Changes in
loans.” However, when the initial intent for holding a loan has changed
from held-for-investment to held-for-sale, the loan is reclassified to
held-for-sale, but the related cash flows continue to be reported in cash flows
from investing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on the
line “Proceeds from sales and securitizations of loans.”
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Consumer Loans

Consurner loans represent loans and leases managed by the Global
Consumer business and Private Bank. As a general rule, interest accrual
ceases for open-end revolving and closed-end installment and real estate
loans when payments are 90 days contractually past due. For credit cards,
however, the Company accrues interest until payments are 180 days past due.

As a general nule, unsecured closed-end installment loans are charged off
at 120 days past due and unsecured open-end (revolving) loans are charged
off at 180 days contractually past due. Loans secured with non-real-estate
collateral are written down to the estimated value of the collateral, less costs
to sell, at 120 days past due. Real-estate secured loans (both open- and
closed-end) are written down to the estimated value of the property, less costs
to sell, at 180 days contractually past due.

In certain consumer businesses in the LS., secured real estate loans are
written down to the estimated value of the property, less costs to sell, at the
earlier of the receipt of title or 12 months in foreclosure (a process that must
commence when payments are 120 days contractually past due). Closed-end
loans secured by non-real-estate collateral are written down to the estimated
value of the collateral, less costs to sell, at 180 days contractually past due.
Unsecured loans (both open-and closed-end) are charged off at 180 days
contractually past due and 180 days from the last payment, but in no event
can these loans exceed 360 days contractually past due.

Lnsecured loans in bankruptcy are charged off within 30 days of
notification of filing by the bankruptey court or within the contractual
write-off periods, whichever occurs earlier. In CitiFinancial, unsecured loans
in bankruptcy are charged off when they are 30 days contractually past due.

{1.5. Commercial Business includes loans and leases made principally to
small- and middle-market businesses. {/.8. Commercial Business loans are
placed on a non-accrual basis when it is determined that the payment of
interest or principal is doubtful or when payments are past due for 90 days or
more, except when the loan is well secured and in the process of collection,

Corporate Loans

Corporate loans represent loans and leases managed by CMB. Corporate
loans are identified as impaired and placed on a cash (non-accrual) basis
when it is determined that the payment of interest or principal is doubtful, or
when interest or principal is 90 days past due, except when the loan is well
coilateralized and in the process of collection. Any interest accrued on
impaired corporate loans and leases is reversed at 90 days and charged
against current eamings, and interest is thereafter included in earnings only
to the exteni actually received in cash. When there is doubt regarding the
ultimate colleciibility of principal, all cash receipts are thereafter applied to
reduce the recorded investment in the loan. Impaired corporate loans and
leases are written down to the extent that principal is judged to be
uncollectible. Impaired collateral-dependent loans and leases, where
repavment is expected to be provided solely by the sale of the underlying
collateral and there are no other available and retiable sources of repayment,
are written down to the lower of cost or collateral value. Cash-basis loans are
returned to an accrual status when all contractual principal and interest
amounts are reasonably assured of repayment and there is a sustained period
of repayment performance in accordance with the contraciual terms.




Lease Financing Transactions

Loans include the Company’s share of aggregate rentals on lease financing,
transactions and residual vatues net of related uneared income, Lease
financing transactions represent direct financing leases and also include
leveraged leases. Unearned income is amortized under a method that results
in an approximate level rate of retum when refated to the unrecovered lease
investment. Gains and losses from sales of residual values of leased
equipment are included in Other revenue.

Loans Held-for-Sale

Corporate and consumer loans that have been identified for sale are
classified as loans held-for-sale included in Other assets. With the exception
of certain mortgage loans for which the fair-value option has been elected
under SFAS 159, these loans are accounted for at the lower of cost or market
value, with any write-downs or subsequent recoveries charged to Other
reverille.

Allowance for Loan Losses

Allowance for loan fosses represents management's estimate of probable
losses inherent in the portfolio. Attribution of the allowance is made for
analytical purposes only, and the entire allowance is available to absorb
probable credit losses inherent in the overall portiolio. Additions to the
allowance are made through the provision for credit losses. Credit losses are
deducted from the allowance, and subsequent recoveries are added.
Securities received in exchange for loan ctaims in debt restructurings are
initially recorded at fair value, with any gain or loss reflected as a recovery or
charge-off to the allowance, and are subsequently accounted for as securities
available-for-sale.

In the Corporate and Commercial Business portfolios, larger-balance,
non-homogeneous exposures representing significant individual credit
exposures are evaluated based upon the borrower’s overall financial
condition, resources, and payment record; the prospects for support from any
financially responsible guarantors; and, if appropriate, the realizable value
of any collateral. Reserves are established for these loans based upon an
estimate of probable losses for the individual loans deemed to be impaired.
This estimate considers all available evidence including, as appropriate, the
present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s
contractual effective rate, the secondary market vatue of the loan and the fair
value of collateral less disposal costs, The allowance for credit losses
attributed to the remaining portfolia is established via a process that
estimates the probable loss inherent in the portfolio based upon various
analyses. These analyses consider historical and project default rates and loss
severities; internal risk ratings; and geographic, industry, and other
environmental factors. Management also considers overall portfolio
indicators including trends in internally risk-rated exposures, classified
exposures, cash-basis loans, historical and forecasted write-offs, and a review
of industry, geographic, and portfolio concentrations, including current
developments within those segments. In addition, management considers the
current business strategy and credit process, including credit limit setting
and compliance, eredit approvals, loan underwriting criteria, and loan
workout procedures.
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For Consumer loans {excluding Commercial Business loans), each
portfolio of smaller-balance, homogeneous loans—including consumer
mortgage, installment, revolving credit, and most other consumer loans—is
collectively evaluated for impairment. The allowance for credit losses
attributed to these loans is established via a process that estimates the
probable losses inherent in the portfolio based upon various analyses. These
include migration analysis, in which historical delinquency and credit loss
experience is applied to the current aging of the portfolio, together with
analyses that reflect current trends and conditions. Management also
considers overall portfolio indicators including historical credit losses;
delinquent, non-performing, and classified loans; trends in volumes and
terms of loans; an evaluation of overall credit quality; the credit process,
including lending policies and procedures; and economic, geographical,
product and other environmental faciors,

Allowance for Unfunded Lending Commitments

A similar approach to the allowance for loan losses is used for calculating a
reserve for the expected losses related to unfunded loan commitments and
standby letters of credit. This reserve is classified en the balance sheet in
Other liabilities.

Mortgage Servicing Rights (MSRs)

Mortgage servicing rights (MSRs), which are included in Intangible assets in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet, are recognized s assets when purchased or
when the Company sells or securitizes loans acquired through purchase or
origination and retains the right to service the loans.

With the Company's electing to early-adopt SFAS 156 as of January 1,
7006, MSRs in the U.S. mortgage and student loan classes of servicing rights
are accounted for at fair value, with changes in value recorded in current
earnings. Upon electing the fair-value method of accounting for its MSRs,
the Company discontinued the application of SFAS 133 fair-value hedge
accounting, the calculation of amortization and the assessment of
impairment for the MSRs. The MSR valuation allowance at the date of
adoption of SFAS 156 was written off against the recorded value of the MSRs.

Prior to 2006, only the portion of the MSR portfolio that was hedged with
instruments qualifying for hedge accounting under SFAS 133 was recorded at fair
value. The remaining portion, which wis hedged with instruments that did not
qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS 133, was accounted for ak the lower of
cost or market. Servicing rights retained in the securitization of mortgage loans
were measured by allocating the carrying value of the loans between the assets
sold and the interests retained, based on the relative fair values at the date of
securitization. MSRs were amortized using a proportionate cash flow method over
the period of the refated net positive servicing income to be generated from the
various portfolios purchased or loans originated. Impairment of MSRs was
evaluated on a disaggregated hasis by type (ie., fixed rate or adjustable rate} and
by interest-rate band, which were believed to be the predominant risk
characteristics of the Company’s servicing portfolio. Any excess of the carrying
value of the capitalized servicing rights over the fair value by stratum was
recognized through a valuation allowance for each stratum and charged to the
provision for impairment on M3Rs.

Additional information on the Company’s MSRs can be found in Note 23
to the Consolidated Financial Stalements on page 156.




Goodwill

Goodwill represents an acquired company’s acquisition: cost over the fair
value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is subject to
annual impairment tests, whereby goodwill is allocated to the Company’s
reporting units and an impairment is deemed 1o exist if the carrying value of
4 reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, Furthermore, on any
business dispositions, goodwill is allocated to the business disposed of based
on the ratio of the fair value of the business disposed of to the fair value of
the reporting unit.

Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets—including core deposit intangibles, present value of
fukure profits, purchased credit card relationships, other customer
relationships, and other intangible assets, but excluding MSRs—are
amortized over their estimated useful lives. Upon the adoption of SFAS 142,
intangible assets deemed to have indefinite useful lives, primarily certain
asset management contracts and trade names, are not amortized and are
subject to annual impairment tests. An impairment exists if the carrying
value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value, For other
intangible assets subject to amortization, an impairment is recognized if the
carrying amount is not recoverable and exceeds the fair value of the
intangible fassel

Other Assets and Other Liabilities

Other assets includes, among other items, loans held-for-sale, deferved tax
assets, equity-method investments, interest and fees receivable, premises and
equipment, end-user derivatives in a net receivable position, repossessed
assets, and other receivables.

Other liabilities includes, among other items, accrued expenses and other
payables, deferred tax liabilities, minority interest, end-user derivatives in 2
net payable positien, and reserves for legal, taxes, restructuring, unfunded
lending commitments, and other matters,

Repossessed Assets

Upen repossession, loans are adjusted, if necessary, to the estimated fair
value of the underlying collateral and transferred to repossessed assets. This
is reported in Other assets, net of a valuation allowance for selling costs and
net declines in value as appropriate.

Securltizations

The Company primarily securitizes credit card receivables and mortgages.
Other types of securitized assets include corporate debt instrumenis (in cash
and synthetic form), auto loans, and student loans,

There are two key 2ccounting determinations that must be made relating
to securitizations. First, in the case where Citigroup originated or owned the
financial assets transferred to the securitization entity, 4 decision must be
made 25 to whether that transfer is considered a sale under U.S. Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). [Tt is a sale, the transferred assets
are removed] from the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet with a gain or
loss recognized. Alternatively, when the transfer would be considered
financing rather than a sale, the assets will remain on the Company's
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Consolidated Balance Sheet with an offsetting liability recognized in the
amount of proceeds received,

Second, a determination must be made as to whether the securitization
entity would be included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements. For each securitization entity with which it is involved, the
Company makes a determination of whether the entity should be considered
a subsidiary of the Company and be included in its Consolidated Financial
Staternents or whether the entity is sufficiently independent that it does not
need to be consolidated. If the securitization entity’s activities are sufficiently
resiricted to meet accounting requirements to be a qualifving special purpose
entity (QSPE), the securitization entity is not consolidated by the seller of the
transferred assets. [f the securitization entity is determined to be a VIE, the
Company consolidates the VIE if it is the primary beneficiary.

For all other securitization entities determined not to be VIEs in which
Citigroup participates, a consolidation decision is made by evaluating several
factors, including how much of the entity's ownership is in the hands of
third-party investors, who controls the securitization entity, and who reaps
the rewards and bears the risks of the entity. Only securitization entities
controlled by Citigroup are consolidated.

Interests in the securitized and sold assets may be retained in the form of
subordinated interest-only strips, subordinated iranches, spread accounts,
and servicing rights. In credit card securitizations, the Company retains a
seller’s interest in the credit card receivables transferred to the trusts, which is
not in securitized form. Accordingly, the seller's interest is carried on a
historical cost basis and classified as Consumer loans. Retained interests in
securitized mortgage loans and student loans are classified as Trading
account assets, as are a majority of the retained interest in securitized credit
card receivables. Certain other retained interests are recorded as
avaitable-for-sale investments, but servicing rights are included in
Intangible Assets. However, since January 1, 2006, servicing rights ase
initially recorded at fair value. Gains or losses on securitization and sale
depend in part on the previous carrying amount of the loans involved in the
transfer and, prior to January 1, 2006, were allocated between the loans sold
and the retained interests based on their relative fair values at the date of
sale. Gains are recognized at the time of securitization and are reported in
Other revenue.

The Company vahues its securitized retained interests ai fair value using
quoted market prices, if such positions are traded on an active exchange, or
financial motlels that incorporate observable and unobservable inputs. More
specifically, these models estinate the fair value of these retained interests by
determining the present value of expected future cash flows, using modeling
techniques that incorporate management's best estimaies of key assumptions,
including prepayment speeds, credit losses, and discount rates, when observable
inpuis are not available. In additlon, internatly calcutated fair values of
retained interests are compared to recent sales of similar assets, if available.

Additional information on the Company's securitization activities can be
found in “Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements” on page 85 and in Note 23 to
the Gonsolidated Financial Statemenis on page 156.




Transfers of Financial Assets

For a transfer of financial assets 10 be considered 4 sale, the assets must have
been isolated from the Company, even in bankruptcy or other receivership;
the purchaser must have the right to sell the assets transferred or the
purchaser must be a QSPE; and the Company may not have an option or any
obligation to reacquire the assets. If these sale requirements are met, the
assets are removed from the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet. If the
conditions for sale are not met, the transfer is considered to be a secured
borrowing, the assets remain on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, and the
sale proceeds are recognized as the Company’s liability. A legal opinion on a
sale is generally obtained for complex transactions or where the Company
has continuing involvement with assets transferred or with the securitization
entity. Those opinions must state that the asset transfer is considered a sale
and that the assets transferred would not be consolidated with the Company's
other assets in the event of the Company’s insolvency.

See Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 156.

Risk Management Activities—Derivatives Used for
Non-Trading Purposes

The Compiiny manages its exposures to marke? rate movernents outside its
trading activities by modifying the asset and liability mix, either directly or
through the use of derivative financial products, including interest rate swaps,
futures, forwards, and purchased option positions such as interest rate caps,
floors, and colkars as well as foreign exchange contracts. These end-user
derivatives are carried at fair value in Other assets or Other liabilities.

To qualify as a hedge, a derivative must be highly effective in offsetting
the risk designated as being hedged. The hedge relationship must be
formally documented at inception, detailing the particular risk management
obiective and strategy for the hedge, which includes the item and risk that is
being hedged and the derivative that is being used, as well as how
effectiveness will be assessed and ineffectiveness measured. The effectiveness
of these hedging relationships is evaluated on a retrospective and prospective
basis, typically using quantitative measures of correlation with hedge
ineffectiveness measured and recorded in current earnings. If a hedge
relationship is found to be ineffective, it no longer qualifies as a hedge and
any gains or losses attributable {o the derivatives, as well as subsequent
changes in fair value, are recognized in Other revenue.

The foregoing criteria are applied on a decentralized basis, consistent
with the level at which market risk is managed, but are subject to vacious
limits and controls. The underlying asset, liability, firm commitment, or
forecasted transaction may be an individual item or 4 portfolio of similar
itens.

For fair vatue hedges, in which derivatives hedge the fair value of assets,
liahilities, ot firm commitments, changes in the fair value of derivatives are
reflected in Other revenue, together with changes in the fair value of the
related hedged item. These are expected to, and generally do, offset each
other. Any net amount, representing hedge ineffectiveness, is reflected in
current earnings. Citigroup’s fair value hedges are primarily hedges of fixed-
rate long-term debt, and available-for-sale securities.
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For cash flow hedges, in which derivatives hedge the variability of cash
flows related 1o floating rate assets, liabilities, or forecasted transactions, the
accounting treatment depends on the effectiveness of the hedge. To the
extent these derivatives are effective in offsetting the variability of the hedged
cash flows, changes in the derivatives fair values will not be included in
current earnings but are reported in Accumulated other comprehensive
incorne. These changes in fair value will be included in earnings of future
periods when the hedged cash flows come into earings. To the extent these
derivatives are not effective, changes in their fair values are immediatety
included in Other revenue. Citigroup's cash flow hedges primarily include
hedges of floating rate deb, as well as rollovers of short-term fixed rate
liabilities and floating-rate liabilities,

For net investment hedges in which derivatives hedge the foreign currency
exposure of 4 net investment in a foreign operation, the accounting
treatment wilt similarly depend on the effectiveness of the hedge. The
effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative, including any
forward premium or discount, is reflected in Accumulated other
comprehensive income as part of the foreign currency translation
adjustment.

End-user derivatives that are economic hedges, rather than qualifying for
SFAS 133 hedge accounting, are also carried at fair value, with changes in
value included in Principal transactions or Other revenue, Citigroup often
uses economic hedges when qualifying for hedge accounting would be oo
complex or operationally burdensome; examples are hedges of the credit risk
compenent of commercial loans and loan commitments. Citigroup
periodically evaluates its hedging strategies in other areas, such as mortgage
servicing rights, and may designate either a qualifving hedge or economic
hedge, after considering the relative cost and benefits. Economic hedges are
also employed when the hedged item itself is marked to market through
current earnings, such as hedges of commitments to originate one-o-four
family mortgage loans to be held-for-sale and MSRs.

For those hedge relationships that are terminated or when hedge
designations are removed, the hedge accounting treatment described in the
paragraphs above is no longer applied. The end-user derivative is terminated
or transferred to the trading account. For fair-value hedges, any changes in
the fair value of the hedged itern remain as pant of the basis of the asset or
libility and are ultimately reflected as an element of the vield. For cash-flow
hedges, any changes in fair-value of the end-user derivative remain in
Accumulated other comprehensive income and are included in earnings of
future periods when the hedged cash flows impact earnings. However, if the
hedged forecasted transaction is no longer likely to occur, any changes in
fair value of the end-user derivative are immediately reflected in Other
revenue.

Employee Benefits Expense

Emplovee benefits expense includes current service costs of pension and
other postretirernent benefit plans, which are accrued on a current basis;
contributions and unrestricted awards under other employee plans; the
amortization of restricted stock awards; and costs of other employee benefits.




Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2003, Citigroup accounted for stock-hased compensation
plans under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees,” and its related interpretations (APB 25). Under
APB 25, there was generally no charge to eamings for employee stock option
awards, because the options granted under these plans have an exercise price
equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the grant
date. Afternatively, SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Cornpensation” (SFAS 123), allowed companies to recognize compensation
expense over the related service period based on the grant date fair value of
the stock award.

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fair value provisions of
SFAS 123. On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised
2004), "Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123(R)), which replaced the existing
SFAS 123 and APB 25. See “Accounting Changes” helow.

Income Taxes

The Company is subject to the income tax laws of the U.S., its states and
municipalities and those of the foreign jurisdictions in which the Company
operates. These tix laws are complex and subject to different interpretations
by the taxpayer and the relevant governmental taxing authorities. In
establishing a provision for income tax expense, the Company must make
judgments and interpretations about the application of these inherently
complex tax laws. The Company must also make estimates about when in
the future certain items will affect taxable income in the various tax
jurisdictions, both domestic and foreign.

Disputes over interpretations of the tax laws may be subject to review/
adjudication by the court systems of the various tax jurisdictions or may be
settled with the taxing authority upon examination or audit.

The Company implemented FASB [nterpretation No. 48, "Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48), on January 1, 2007, which seis out
a consistent framework to determine the appropriate level of tax reserves to
maintain for uncertain tax positions. See “Accounting Changes” below,

The Company treats interest and penalties on income taxes as a
component of Income tax expense.

Deferred taxes are recorded for the future consequences of events that
have been recognized for financial statements or tax returns, based upon
enacted tax laws and rates. Deferred tax assets are recognized subject to
management's judgment that realization is more likely than not.

See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 139 for 4
further description of the Company’s provision and related income tax assets
and liabilities,

Commissions, Underwriting, and Principal Transactions
Commissions, underwriting, and principal transactions revenues and related
expenses are recognized in income on a trade-date basis.

Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share is computed after recognition of preferred stock dividend
requirements. Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing income
available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of
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common shares outstanding for the period, excluding restricted stock.
Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if
securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised. It is
computed after giving consideration to the weighted average dilutive effect of
the Company's stock options and the shares issued under the Company's
Capital Accumulation Program and other restricted stock plans.

Use of Estimates

Management must make estimates and assumptions that affect the
consolidated Financial Statements and the related footnote disclosures. Such
estimates are used in connection with certain fair value measurements. See
Note 26 on page 167 for further discussions on estimates used in the
determination of fair value. The Company also uses estimates in
determining consolidation decisions for special puepese entities as discussed
in Note 23 on page 156. Moreover, estimates are significant in determining
the amounts of other-than-temporary impairments, impairments of goodwill
and other intangible assets, provisions for petentizl losses that may arise
from credit-related exposures and probable and estimable losses related to
litigation and regulatory proceedings in accordance with SFAS No. 5,
“Accounting for Contingencies,” and tax reserves in accordance with

SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” and FASB Interpretation No.
48, “'Accounting for Uincertainty in Income Taxes.” While management
makes its best judgment, actual amounts or results could differ from those
estimates. Current market conditions increase the risk and complexity of the
judgments in these estimates.

Cash Flows

Cash equivalents are defined as those amounts included in cash and due
from banks. Cash flows from risk management atctivities are classified in the
same category 25 the related assets and liabilities.

Related Party Transactions

The Company has related party transactions with certain of its subsidiaries
and affiliates. These transactions, which are primarily short-term in nature,
include cash accounts, collateralized financing transactions, margin
accounts, derivative trading, charges for operational support and the
borrowing and lending of funds and are entered into in the ordinary course
of busingss.

ACCOUNTING CHANGES
Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157)

Adoption of SFAS 157—Fair Value Measurements

The Company elected 10 early-adopt SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” (SFAS 157), as of January 1, 2007. SFAS 157 defines fair
value, expands disclosure requirements around fair value and specifies a
hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those
valuation techniques are ohservable or unohservable. Ohservable inputs
reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable
inputs reflect the Company’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs
create the following fair value hierarchy:




Level 1-Quoted prices for identical instraments in active markets.

Level 2--Quoted prices for s/miélar instruments in active markets; quoted
prices for identical or similar instrurnents in markets that are not active;
and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and
significant value drivers are observable in active markets.

Level 3-Valuations derived {rom valuation techniques in which one or
more significant inpuls or significant value drivers are unobservable.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data,
when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
determining fair value.

For some products or in certain market conditions, observable inputs may
not always be available. For example, during the market dislocations that
occurred in the second half of 2007, certain markets became illiquid, and
some key observable inputs used in vatuing certain exposures were
unavailable. When and if these markets are liquid, the valuation of these
exposures will use the related observable inputs available at that time from
these markels.

Under SFAS 157, Citigroup is required to take into account its own credit
risk when measuring the fair vatue of derivative positions as well as the other
liabilities for which fair value accounting has been elected under SFAS 155
and SFAS 159. The adoption of SFAS 157 has also resulted in some other
changes to the valuation techniques used by Citigroup when determining
fair value, most notably the changes to the way that the probability of default
of a counterparty is factored in and the elimination of a derivative valuation
adjustment which is no longer necessary under SFAS 157. The cumulative
effect at January 1, 2007, of making these changes was a gain of $250
million after-tax ($402 million pre-tax), or $0.05 per diluted share, which
was recorded in the first quarter of 2007 earnings within the Securities and
Banking business.

SFAS 157 also precludes the use of block discounts for instruments traded in
an active market, which were previously applied 1o large holdings of publicly
traded equity securities, and requires the recognition of trade-date gains after
consideration of all appropriate valuation adjustments refated to certain derivative
trades that use unobservable inputs in determining their fair value. Previous
acoounting guidance allowed the use of bock discounts in certain circumstances
and prohibited the recognition of day-one gains on certain derivative trades when
determining the fair value of instruments not traded in an active market. The
cumulative effect of these changes resulted in an increase to January 1, 2007
retained eamnings of §75 million.

Fair Value Option (SFAS 159)

In conjunction with the adoption of SFAS 157, the Company early-adopted
SFAS 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities™ {SFAS 159), as of January 1, 2007. SFAS 159 provides an option
on an instrument-by-instrument basis for most financial assets and
liabilities to be reported at fair value with changes in fair value reported in
eamings. After the initial adoption, the election is made at the acquisition of
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a financial asset, financial liability, or a firm commitment and it may not be
revoked. SFAS 159 provides an opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported
eamings that resulted prior to its adoption from being required to apply fair
value accounting to certain economic hedges (e.g., derivatives) while having
to measure the assets and liabilities being economically hedged using an
accounting method other than fair value,

Under the SFAS 159 transition provisions, the Company elected to apply
fair value accounting to certain financial instruments held at January 1,
2007 with future changes in value reported in eamnings. The adoption of
SFAS 159 resulted in a decrease to January 1, 2007 retained earnings of $99
million.

See Note 26 on page 167 for additional information.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

[n July 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes,” which attempts to set out a consistent framewaork for
preparers to use to determine the appropriate level of tax reserves to maintain
for uncertuin tax positions. This interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109
uses 4 two-step approach wherein a lax benefit is recognized if a position is
more-likely-than-not to be sustained. The amount of the benefit is then
measured to be the highest tax benefit which is greater than 50% likely to be
realized. FIN 48 also sets out disclosure requirements to enhance
transparency of an entity’s tax reserves. Citigroup adopted this [nterpretation
as of January 1, 2007. The adoption of FIN 48 resulted in a reduction to 2007
opening retained earings of $14 million.

Leveraged Leases
On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASE Staff Position FAS No. 13-2,
“#ccounting for a Change or Projected Changg in the Timing of Cash Flows
Relating to Income Taxes Generated by a Leverage Lease Transaction” (FSP
13-2), which provides guidance regarding changes or projected changes in
the timing of cash flows relating to income taxes generated by a leveraged
lease transaction.

leveraged leases can provide significant tax benefits to the lessor,
primarily as a result of the timing of tax payments. Since changes in the
timing and/or amount of these tax henefits may have a significant effect on
the cash flows of a lease transaction, a lessor, in accordance with FSP 13-2,
will be required 1o perform a recalculation of 4 leveraged lease when there is
a change or projected change in the timing of the realization of tax benefits
generated by that lease. Previously, Citigroup did not recalculate the tax
benefits if only the timing of cash flows had changed.




The adoption of FSP 13-2 resulted in a decrease to January 1, 2007
retained earnings of $148 million. This decrease to retained earnings will be
recognized in earnings over the remaining lives of the leases as tax benefits
are realized.

Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensions and Other
Postretirement Benefits
As of December 31, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 158, “Employer's
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits”
(SFAS 158). In accordance with this standard, Citigroup recorded the funded
status of each of its defined benefit pension 2nd postretirement plans as an
asset or liability on its Conselidated Balance Sheet with a corresponding
offset, net of taxes, recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) within Stockholders' Equity, resulting in an after-tax decrease in
equity of $1.647 billion. See Note 9 on page 132.

The following table shows the effects of adopting SFAS 158 at
December 31, 2006 on individual line items in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet a1 December 31, 2006:

After
Before application
application of of
in mittions of dolfars SFAS158  Adjustments SFAS 158
Other assets
Prepaid benefit cost $ 2,620 $ (534 $ 2086
Other liabilities
Accrued benefit liability s — § 2,147 3 2147
Deferred taxes, net § 3653 $1,034 $ 4,687
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
(loss) 3 (2,053 (1,640 § (3,700)
Total stockholders’ equity $121,430 301,647 $119,783

{1} Adjustment zo initially apply SFAS 158, net of taxes.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
“Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123(R)), which replaced the existing SFAS
123 and APB 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123(R)
requires companies to measure cormpensation expense for stock options and
other share-based payments based on the instruments’ grant date fair value,
and to record expense based on that fair value reduced by expected
forfeitures.

The Company adoped this standard by using the modified prospective
approach. Beginning January 1, 2006, Citigroup recorded incremental
expense for stock options granted prior to January 1, 2003 (the date the
Company adopted SFAS 123). That expense will equal the remaining
unvested portion of the grant date fair value of those stock options, reduced
by estimated forfeitures. The Company recorded the remaining incremental
compensation expense of $11 million pretax during the year.

The Company maintains 2 number of incentive programs in which equity
awards are granted to eligible employees. The most significant of the
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programs offered is the Capital Accumulation Program (CAP). Under the
CAP program, the Company grants deferred and restricted shares to eligible
employees. The program provides that employees who meet certain age plus
years-of service requirernents (retirernent-eligible employees) may terminate
active employment and continue vesting in their awaeds provided they
comply with specified non-compete provisions. For awards granted to
retirement-eligible employees prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the
Company has been and will continue io amortize the compensation cost of
these awards over the full vesting pertods. Awards granted to retirement-
eligible emplovees after the adoption of SFAS 123(R) must be either
expensad on the grant date or accrued in the year prior to the grant date,

The impact to 2006 was a charge of $648 mitlion ($398 million after-tax)
for the immediate expensing of awards granted to retirement-eligible
employees in January 2006, and $824 million {$526 million after-tax) for
the accrual of the awards that were granted in January 2007. The Company
has changed the plan’s retirement eligibility provisions effective with the
January 2007 awards, which affected the amount of the accrual in 2606,

In adopting SFAS 123(R}, the Company began to recognize compensation
expense for restricted or deferred stock awards net of estimated forfeitures,
Previously, the effects of forfeitures were recorded as they occurred,

On fanuary 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fair-value recognition
provisions of SFAS 123, prospectively for all awards granted, modified, or
settled after December 31, 2002. This was in effect until December 31, 2005,
after which the Company adopted SFAS 123(R) as outlined above. The
prospective method is one of the adoption methods provided for under SFAS
No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure” (SFAS 148) issued in December 2002. SFAS 123{(R) requires that
compensation cost for all stock awards be calculated and recognized over the
employees” service period (which is generally equal to the vesting period).
For stock options, the compensation cost is determined using option pricing
models intended to estimate the fair value of the awards at the grant date,
Similar to APB 25 (the alternative method of accounting), under SFAS
123(R), an offsetting increase to stockholders” equity is recorded equal to the
amount of compensation expense. Earnings per share dilution is recognized
as well.

The Company has made changes to various stock-hased compensation
plan provisions for future awards. For example, in January 2005, the
Company largely moved from granting stock options to granting restricted
and deferred stock awards, unless participants elect to receive all or a portion
of their award in the form of stock options. Thus, the majority of
management options granted since 2005 were due Lo stock option elections
and carried the same vesting period as the restricted or deferred stock awards
in lieu of which they were granted (ratably, over four vears). Stock options
granted in 2003 and 2004 have three-year vesting periods and six-year terms.
In addition, the sale of underlving shares acquired upon the exercise of
options granted since January 1, 2003 is restricted for 4 two-year period.
Pursuant to a stock ownership commitment, senior executives are generally
required to retain 75% of the shares they own and acquire from the Company
over the term of their employment. Options granted in 2003 and thereafter




do not have a reload feature; however, reload options received upon the
exercise of options granted prior to January 1, 2003 (and subsequent reload
options stemming from such grants) retain a reload feature.

See Note § to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements on
page 129.

Accounting for Certaln Hybrid Financial instruments

On January 1, 2006, the Company elected to early-adopt, primarily on a
prospective basis, SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial
Instruments” (SFAS 155}, In accordance with this standard, hybrid financial
instrumenis—such as structured notes containing embedded derivatives
that otherwise would require bifurcation, as well as certain interest-only
instruments—may be accounted for at fair value if the Company makes an
irrevocable election to do 5o on an instrumert-by-instrument basis. The
changes in fair value are recorded in current earnings. The impact of
adopting this standard was not material.

Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets

On Januarv 1, 2006, the Company elected to early-adopt SFAS No. 156,
“Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets” (SFAS 156). This
pronouncement requires all servicing rights to be initially recognized at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, it permits a one-time irrevocable
election to remeasure each class of servicing rights at Eair value, with the
changes in fair value being recorded in current earnings. The classes of
servicing rights are identified based on the availability of market inputs used
in determining their fair values and the methods for managing their risks.
The Company has elected fair value accounting for its morigage and student
loan classes of servicing rights. The impact of adopting this standaed was not
material.

Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Cbligations
On December 31, 2005, the Company adopted Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional
Asset Retirement Obligations” (FIN 47). FIN 47 requires entittes to estimate
and recognize a liability for costs associated with the retirement or removal
of an asset from service, regardless of the uncertainty of timing or whether
performance will be required. For Citigroup, this applies to certain real estate
restoration activities in the Company's branches and office space, most of
which is rented under operating lease agreements.

Local market practices and requirements with regard to restoration
activity under a real estate lease agreement differ by region. Based on a
review of active lease terms and conditions, historical costs of past restoration
activities, and local market practices, an estimate of the expected real estate
restoration costs for some of the Company’s branches and office space was
determined. Each region applied local inflation and discount rates to
determine the present vatue of the liability and capitalized asset amounts.

The impact of adopting FIN 47 was an increase to total liabilities and
total assets of $150 million and $122 million, respectively. The increase in
total assets is net of an increase in accumulated depreciation of $52 million.
In addition, a $49 million after-tax ($80 million pretax) charge to earnings,
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which was reported on the Consolidated Statement of Income as the
cumuiative effect of an accounting change, was recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2005.

Accounting for Certaln Loans or Debt Securities
Acquired in a Transfer

On January 1, 2005, Statement of Position (SOP) No. 03-3, “Accounting for
Certain Loans or Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer” (SOP 03-3), was
adopted for loan acquisitions. SOP 03-3 requires acquired loans to be
recorded at fair value and prohibits carrying over valuation allowances in
the initial accounting for acquired impaired loans. Loans carried at fair
value, morigage loans held-for-sale, and loans 1o borrowers in good
standing under revolving credit agreements are excluded from the scope of
S0P 03-3.

SOP 03-3 limits the yield that may be accreted to the excess of the
undiscounted expected cash flows over the investor's initial investment in the
loan. The excess of the contractual cash flows over expected cash flows may
not be recognized as an adjustment of yield. Subsequent increases in cash
flows expected to be collected are recognized prospectively through an
adjustment of the loan's yield over its remaining life. Decreases in expected
cash flows are recognized as impairments.

Determining the Variability in a Potential VIE

The FASB issued FASB Staff Position FIN 46(R)-6, “Determining the
Variability to Be Considered in Applying FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)”
(FSP FIN 46(R)-6), in April 2006. FSP FIN 46(R)-6 addresses the application
of FIN 46(R), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” in determining
whether certain contracts or arrangements with a variable interest entity
(VIE} are variable interests by requiring comparies to base such evaluations
on an analysis of the VIE's purpose and design, rather than its legal form or
accounting classification. FSP FIN 46(R)-6 is required to be applied for all
reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2006 The adoption of the FSP did
not result in material differences from Citigroup’s existing accounting
policies regarding the consolidation of VIEs.

FUTURE APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

SEC Staff Guldance on Loan Commitments Recorded at
Fair Value through Earnings

On November 5, 2007, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 109 (SAB
109), which requires that the fair value of a written loan commitment that is
marked to market through earnings should include the future cash flows
related to the loan’s servicing rights. However, the fair value measurement of
a written loan commitment still must exclude the expected net cash flows
related to internally developed intangible assets (such as customer
relationship intangible assets).

SAB 109 applies to two types of loan commitments: {1} written mortgage
loan commitments for loans that wili be held-for-sale when funded that are
marked to market a5 derivatives under FAS 133 (derivative loan
commitments); and (2) other written loan commitments that are accounted
for at fair value through eamings under Statement 159's fair-value election.




SAB 109 supersedes SAB 105, which applied only to derivative loan
commitments and allowed the expected future cash flows related to the
associated servicing of the lean to be recognized only after the servicing asset
had been contractually separated from the underlying loan by sale or
securitization of the loan with servicing retained. SAB 109 will be applied
prospectively to derivative loan conumitments issued or modified in fiscal
quarters beginning after December 15, 2007. ‘

The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting
this SAB.

Business Combinations
In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141 (revised), “Business
Combinations” (SFAS 141(R)), which altempts to improve the relevance,
representational faithfulness, and comparability of the information that a
reporting entity provides in its financial reports about a business
combination and its effects. This Statement replaces SFAS 141, “Business
Combinations”. SFAS 141(R) retains the fundamental requirements in
Statement 141 that the acquisition method of accounting (which Statement
141 called the purchase nrethedy be used for all business combinations and
for an acquirer 10 be identified for each business combination. ‘This
Statement also retains the guidance in SFAS 141 for identifying and
recognizing intangible assets separately from goodwill. The most significant
changes in SFAS 141(R) are: (1) acquisition and restructuring costs are now
expensed; (2} stock consideration is measured based on the quoted market
price as of the acquisition date instead of the date the deal is announced; (3)
contingent consideration arising from a contract and noncontraciual
contingencies that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are
measured and recognized as an asset or liability at fair value at the
acquisition date using a probability-weighted discounted cash flows model,
with subsequent changes in fair value reflected in earnings. Noncontractual
contingencies that do not meet the more-likely-than-not criteria continue to
be recognized when they are probable and reasonably estimable; and {4)
acquirer records 100% step-up to fair value for all assets & liabilities,
including the minority interest portion and goodwill is recorded as if a 100%
interest was acquired.

SFAS 141(R) is effective for Citigroup on January 1, 2009. The Company
is currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this statement.

Noncontrolling Interests In Subsidiaries

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 160, “Noncondrofling
Inferests in Consolidated Financial Statements” (SFAS 160), which
establishes standards for the accounting and reporting of nanconrolling
interests in subsidiaries (that is, minority interests) in consolidated financial
statemnents and for the loss of control of subsidiaries.

SFAS 160 requires: (1) the equity interest of noncontrolling shareholders,
partners, or other equity holders in subsidiaries to be accounted for and
presented in equity, separately from the parent shareholder's equity, rather
than as liabilities or as “mezzanine” items between liabilities and equity; (2)
the amount of consolidated net income attribukable to the parent and to the
noncontrolling interests be clearly identified and presented on the face of the
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consolidated statement of income; and (3) when a subsidiary is
deconsolidated, any retained noncontrolling equity investment in the former
subsidiary be initially measured at fair value. The gain or loss on the
deconsolidation of the subsidiary is measured using the fair value of any
nencontrolling equity investment rather than the carrying amount of that
retained investrment.

SFAS 160 is effective for Citigroup on January 1, 2009, Early application is
not allowed. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of
adopting this statement.

Sale with Repurchase Financing Agreements

In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position {FSP) FAS 140-d,
“Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets and Repurchase Finaneing
Transactions.” The objective of this FSP is to provide implementation
guidance on whether the security transfer and contemporaneous repurchase
financing involving the transferred financial asset must be evaluated as one
linked transaction or two separate de-linked transactions.

Current practice records the transfer as a sale and the repurchase
agreement as a financing, The FSP requires the recognition of the transfer
and the repurchase agreement as one linked transaction, unless all of the
following criteria are met: (1) the initial transfer and the repurchase
financing are not contractually contingent on one another; {2) the initial
transferor has full recourse upon default, and the repurchase agreement’s
price s fixed and not at fair vatue; (3) the financial asset is readily
obtainable in the marketplace and the transfer and repurchase financing are
executed at market rates; and (4) the maturity of the repurchase financing is
before the maturity of the financial asset. The scope of this FSP is limited to
transfers and subsequent repurchase financings that are entered into
contemporaneously or in contemplation of one another.

The FSP will be effective for Ciligroup on January 1, 2009, Early adoption
is prohibited. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of
adopting this FSP.

Accounting for Endorsement Split-Dollar Life Insurance
Arrangements

It March 2007, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the EITF on Issue
06-4, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation and Postretirement Benefit
Aspects of Endorsernent Split-Dollar Life Insurance Arrangemenis” (lssue
06-4). Issue D6-4 requires the recognition of a liability related 1o the
postretiremnent benefits covered by an endorsement split-dolkar life insurance
arrangement. When the employer-policvholder maintains the insurance
policy in force for the employee's benefit during his or her retirement, the
liability recognized during the employee's active service period should be
based on the future cost of insurance to be incurred during the employee’s
retirement. Alternatively, if the employer-policyholder provides the employee
with a death benefit, then the liability for the future death henefit should be
recognized by following the guidance in FAS 106 or Opinion 12 as
appropriate.




. Issue 06-4 is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2007, with
earlier application encouraged. Citigroup will adopt it on January 1, 2008,
The cumulative effect of adopting this issue is not expected to be material to

Citigroup.

Investment Company Audit Guide (SOP 07-1)

In July 2007, the AICPA issued Statement of Position 07-1, “Clarification of
the Scope of the Audit and Accounting Guide for Investment Companies and
Accounting by Parent Companies and Equity Method Investors for
Investmenis in Investment Companies” (SOP 07-1), which was expected to
be effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2007.
However, in February 2008, the FASB delayed the effective date indefinitely by
issuing an FSP SOP 07-1-1, “Effective Date of AICPA Statement of Position
07-1.” SOP 07-1 sets forth more stringent criteria for qualifying as an
investment company than does the predecessor Audit Guide. In addition, SOP
07-1 establishes new criteria for a parent company or equity method investor
{o retain investment company accounting in their consolidated financial
statements. Investment companies record all their investments at fair value
with changes in value reflected in earnings. The Company is currently
evaluating the potential impact of adopting SOP 07-1.

Asset Transfers and Securitization Accounting

The FASB is currently working on amendments to the existing accounting
standards governing asset transfers and fair value measurements in business
combinatinns and impairment tests. Upon completion of these standards, the
Company will need to reevaluate its accounting and disclosures. Due to the
ongoing deliberations of the standard setters, the Company is unable to
accurately determine the effect of future amendments or propesals at this
time.

2. BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS
STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS
U.S.

Acquisition of ABN AMRO Mortgage Group

In 2007, Gitigroup acquired ABN AMRO Morigage Group {AAMG), 2
subsidiary of LaSalle Bank Corporation and ABN AMRO Bank N.V. AAMG is a
national originator and servicer of prime residential mortgage loans. As part
of this acquisition, Citigroup purchased approximately $12 billion in assets,
including $3 billion of mortgage servicing rights, which resulted in the
addition of approximately 1.5 million servicing customers. Results for AAMG
are included within Citigroup’s {/.8, Consumer Lending business from
March 1, 2007 forward.

Acquisition of Old Lane Partners, L.P.

In 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of Old Lane Partners, L.P.
and Old Lane Partners, GP, LLC {(0ld Lane). Old Lane is the manager of a
global, multi-strategy hedge fund and a private equity fund with total assets
under management and private equity commitments of approximately $4.5
biliion. Results for Old Lane are included within Citi Alternative Investments
(CAI}, Citigroup’s integrated alternative investments platform, from July 2,
2007 forward.
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Acquisition of Blsys

In 2007, the Company completed its acquisition of Bisys Group, Inc. (Bisys)
for $1.47 biltion in cash. In addition, Bisys’ shareholders received $18.2
million in the fonn of a special dividend paid by Bisys simultaneously.
Citigroup completed the sale of the Retirement and Insurance Services
Divisions of Bisys to affiliates of ].C. Flowers & Co. LLC, making the net cost
of the transaction to Citigroup approximately $800 muillion. Citigroup
retained the Fund Services and Alternative Investment services businesses of
Bisys, which provides administrative services for hedge funds, mutual funds
and private equity funds. Results for Bisys are included within Citigroup’s
Transaction Services business from August 1, 2007 forward.

Acquisition of Automated Trading Desk

In 2007, Citigroup completed its acquisition of Automated Trading Desk
(ATD), a leader in electronic market making and proprietary trading, for
approximately $680 million ($102.6 million in cash and approximately
11.17 million shares of Citigroup common stock). ATD operates as a unit of
Citigroup's Global Equities business, adding a network of broker-dealer
cusiomers to Citigroup's diverse base of instilutional, broker-dealer and retail
customers. Results for ATD are included within Citigroup's Securities and
Banking business from October 3, 2007 forward.

Japan

Nikko Cordial

Citigroup began consolidating Nikko Cordial’s financial resulis and the
related minority interest under the equity method of accounting on May 9,
2007, when Nikko Cordial became a 61%-owned subsidiary. Citigroup later
increased its ownership stake in Nikko Cordial to approximately 68%. Nikko
Cordial results are included within Citigroup’s Securities and Banking,
Snith Barney and International Consumer businesses.

On January 28, 2008, Citigroup completed the acquisition of the
remaining Nikko Cordial shares that it did not already own, by issuing 175
million Citigroup common shares {approximately $4.4 billion based on the
exchange terms} in exchange for those Nikko Cordial shares. The share
exchange was completed following the tisting of Citigroup's common shares
on the Tokyo Stock Exchange on November 5, 2007.

Latin America

Acquisition of Grupo Financiero Uno
In 2007, Citigroup completed its acquisitien of Grupo Financiero lino
(GFU), the largest credit card issuer in Central America, and its affiliates.
The acquisition of GFU, with $2.2 billion in assets, expands the presence
of Citigroup’s Latin America consumer franchise, enhances its credit card
business in the region and establishes a platform for regional growth in
Consumer Finance and Retail Banking. GFU has more than one million
retail clients and operaes a distribution network of 75 branches and more
than 100 mini-branches and poinis of sale. The results for GFU are included
within Citigroup's infernational Cards and International Relail Banking
businesses from March 5, 2007 forward.




Acquisition of Grupo Cuscatlan

In 2007, Citigroup completed the acquisition of the subsidiaries of Grupo
Cuscatlan for $1.51 hillion ($755 million in cash and 14.2 million shares of
Citigroup common stock) from Corporacion UBC Internacional S.A. Grupo
Cuscatlun is one of the leading financial groups in Central America, with
assets of $5.4 billion, loans of $3.5 billion, and deposits of $3.4 billion.
Grupo Cuscatlan has operations in Fl Salvador, Guatemnala, Costa Rica,
Honduras and Panama. The results of Grupo Cuscattan are included from
May 11, 2007 forward and are recorded in Infernational Retail Banking.

Agreement to Establish Partnership with Quifienco-
Banco de Chile
In 2007, Citigroup and Quifienco entered into a definilive agreement to
establish a strategic partnership that combines Citigroup operations in Chile
with Banco de Chile's local banking franchise to create a banking and
financial services institution with approximately 20% market share of the
Chilean banking industry. The transaction closed on January 1, 2008.
Under the agreement, Citigroup contributed Citigroup's Chilean
operations and other assets, and acquired an approximate 32.96% stake in
LQIF, a wholly owned subsidiary of Quifienco that controls Banco de Chile,
and is accounted for under the equity method of accounting, As part of the
overall transaction, Citigroup also acquired the U.5. branches of Banco de
Chile for approximately $130 million. Citigroup has entered into an
agreement to acquire an additional 17.04% stake in LQIF for approximately
$1 billion within three years. The new partnership calls for active
participation by Citigroup in the management of Banco de Chile including
board representation at both LQIF and Banco de Chile.

Asia

Acquisition of Bank of Qverseas Chinese

[n 2007, Citigroup completed its acquisition of Bank of Overseas Chinese
(BOOC) in Taiwan for approximately $427 million. BOOC offers a hroad
suite of corporate banking, consumer and wealth management products and
services to more than one million clients through 55 branches in Taiwan.
This transaction will strengthen Citigroup’s presence in Asia, making it the
{argest international bank and 13th largest by total assets among ali
domestic Taiwan banks. Results for BOOC are included in Citigroup’s
International Retat! Banking, International Cards and Securities and
Barnking businesses from December 1, 2007 forward.

EMEA

Acquisition of Quilter

In 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of Quilter, a UK. wealth
advisory firm with over $10.9 billion of assets under management, from
Morgan Stanley. Quilter has more than 18,000 clients and 300 staff located
in 10 offices throughout the U.K,, Ireland and the Channel Islands. Quilter's
results are included in Citigroup’s Smeith Barney business from March 1,
2007 forward.
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Acquisition of Egg

In 2007, Citigroup completed its acquisition of Egg Banking plc (Egg), one
of the U.K's feading online financial services providers, from Prudential PLC
for approximately $1.39 billion. Egg offers various financial produets and
services inctuding online payment and account aggregation services, credit
cards, personal loans, savings accounts, mortgages, insurance and
investments. Results for Egg are included in Citigroup's fufernational Cards
and International Retail Banking businesses from May 1, 2007 forward.

Purchase of 20% Equity Interest in Akbank

In 2007, Citigroup completed its purchase of a 20% equily interest in Akbank
for approximately $3.1 biltion and is accounted for under the equity method
of accounting, Akbank, the second-largest privately owned bank by assets in
Turkey, is a premier, full-service retail, commercial, corporate and private
bank.

Sabanci Holding, a 34% owner of Akbank shares, and its subsidiaries have
granted Citigroup a right of first refusal or first offer over the sale of any of
their Akbank shares in the future. Subject to certain exceptions, including
purchases from Sabanci Holding and its subsidiaries, Citigroup hus otherwise
agreed not o increase ils percentage ownership in Akbank.

Acquisition of Federated Credit Card Portfolio and Credit
Card Agreement With Federated Department Stores
(Macy's)
In 2005, Citigroup announced a long-term agreement with Federated
Department Stores, Inc. (Macy’s) under which the companies pariner to
acquire and manage approximately $6.2 billion of Macy’s credit card
receivables, including existing and new accounts, executed in three phases.

For the first phase, which closed in October 2005, Citigroup acquired
Macy's receivables under management, totaling approximately $3.3 billion,
For the second phase, which closed in May 2006, additional Macy's
receivables totaling approximately $1.9 billion were transferred to Citigroup
from the previous provider. For the final phase, in July 2006, Citigroup
acquired the approximatety §1.0 billion credit card receivable portfolio of
The May Department Stores Company (May), which merged with Macy's,

Citigroup paid a premium of approximately 11.5% 1o acquire these
portfolios, The multi-vear agreement also provides Macy's the ability to
participate in the portfolie performance, based on credit sales and certain
other performance metrics.

The Macy's and May credit card portfolios comprised a toial of
approximately 17 million active accounts.

Consolidation of Brazil's CrediCard

In 2006, Citigroup and Banco Itau dissolved their joint venture in CrediCard,
a Brazilian consumer credit card business. In accordance with the
dissolution agreement, Banco Itau received half of CrediCard's assets and
customer accounts in exchange for its 50% ownership, leaving Citigroup as
the sole owner of CrediCard.




Acquisition of First American Bank

In 2005, Citigroup completed the acquisition of First American Bank in
Texas (FAB). The transaction established Citigroup's retail branch presence
in Texas, giving Citigroup 106 branches, $4.2 billion in assets and
approximately 120,000 new customers in the state at the time of the
transaction’s closing. The results of FAB are included in the Consolidated
Financiat Statements from March 2005 forward.

Divestiture of the Manufactured Housing Loan Portfolic
In 2005, Citigroup completed the sale of its manufactured housing loan
portfolio, consisting of $1.4 billion in loans, to 21st Merigage Corp. The
Company recognized a $109 million after-tax foss ($157 million pretax) in
the divestiture.

Divestiture of CitiCapltal's Transportation Finance
Business

In 2005, the Company completed the sale of CitiCapital’s Transporiation
Finance Business based in Dallas and Toronto to GE Commercial Finance
for total cash consideration of approximately $4.6 billion. The sale resulted
in an after-tax gain of $111 million (§161 million pretax).
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3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Sale of the Asset Management Business

On Decemnber 1, 2005, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of
its Asset Management Business to Legg Mason, Inc. (Legg Mason) in
exchange for Legg Mason’s broker-dealer and capital markets businesses,
$2.298 billion of Legg Mason's common and preferred shares (valued as of
the closing date}, and $500 million in cash. This cash was obtained via a
lending facility provided by Citigroup CMB business. The transaction did not
include Citigroup's asset management business in Aevico, its retirement
services business in Latin America (both of which are included in
International Relail Banking) or its interest in the CitiStreet joint venture
(which is included in Swzith Barney). The total value of the transaction at
the time of closing was approximately $4.369 billion, resulting in an
after-tax gain to Gitigroup of approximately $2.082 billion ($3.404 biliion
pretax, which was reported in discontinued operations).

Concurrently, Citigroup sold Legg Mason’s capital markets business to
Stifel Financial Corp. The business consisted of areas in which Citigroup
already had full capabilities, including investment banking, institutional
equity sales and trading, taxable fixed income sales and trading, and
research. No gain or loss was recognized from this transaction. (The
transactions described in these two paragraphs are referred to as the “Sale of
the Asset Management Business.”)

In connection with this sale, Citigroup and Legg Mason entered into a
three-year agreement under which Citigroup will continue to offer its clients
Asset Management’s products, will become the primary retail distributor of
the Legg Mason funds managed by Legg Masoen Capital Management Inc.,
and may also distribute other Legg Mason products. These products will be
offered primarily through Citigroup's Global Wealth Management
businesses, Smth Barney and Private Bank, as well as through Primerica
and Citibank. The distribution of these products will be subiject to applicable
requirements of law and Gitigroup’s suitability standards and product
fequirements.

Upon completion of the Sale of the Asset Management Business, Citigroup
added 1,226 financial advisors in 124 branch offices 1o its Global Wealth
Management business.

On January 31, 2006, the Company completed the sale of its Asset
Management Business within Bank Handlowy (an indirect banking
subsidiary of Citigroup located in Poland) to Legg Mason. This transaction,
which was originally part of the overall Asset Management Business sold to
Legg Mason on December 1, 2005, was postponed due to delays in obtaining
local regulatory approval. A gain from this sale of $18 milkion after-tax and
minority interest ($31 miltion pretax and minority interest) was recognized
in the first quarter of 2006 in discontinued operations,

During March 2006, the Company sold 103 million shares of Legg Mason
stock through an underwritten public offering, The net sale proceeds of
$1.258 billion resulted in a pretax gain of $24 million in Alternative
Investments.

In September 2006, the Company received from Legg Mason the final
closing adjustment payment related to this sale. This payment resulted in an
additional after-tax gain of $51 million {$83 million pretax), recorded in
discontinued operations.

Results for all of the businesses included in the Sale of the Asset
Management Business, including the gain, are reported as discontinued
operations for all periods presented. Prior {o January 1, 2007, the changes in
the market value of the Lepg Mason common and preferred securities were
included in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders” Equity
within Accumulated other comprehensive income (net change in unrealized
gains and losses on investment securilies, net of taxes). Upon election of fair
value accounting with the adoption of SFAS 159 as of January 1, 2007, the ‘
unrealized loss on these securities was reclassified to Retained earnings and
the shares are included in Trading account assets with changes in fair value
reported in Principat transactions. See Note 26 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on page 167 for additional information. Any effects on the
Company's current eamings related to these securities, such as dividend
revenue and changes in fair value, are included in the results of Alternative
[nvestments.

The following is summarized financial information for discontinued
operations, including cash flows, related to the Sale of the Asset Management
Business:

in millions of doliars 2007 2006 2005
Total revenues, net of interest expense $ — S$104 34599
Income (foss) from discontinued cperations $ — & (1} § 168
(Gain on sale - 104 3,404
Provision for income taxes and minarity interest, net

of taxes — 24 1,382
Income from discontinued operations, net of

taxes $ — $ 79 $2180
in millions of doitars 2007 2006 2005
Cash flows from operating activities $ — & (1 %324
Cash flows from investing activities — 34 256

Cash flows from financing activities — — —

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued

operations $ — $ 33 % (68




The following is a summary of the assets and liabilities of discontinued
aperations related to the Sale of the Asset Management Business as of
December 1, 2005:

{n mifiions of doltars December 1, 2005
Assets

Cash and due from banks $ 96
Investments 3
Intangible assets 776
(Other assets 563
Total assets $1,438
Liabilities

Other liabifities $ 575
Total liabilities $ 575

Sate of the Life Insurance & Annuities Business

On July 1, 2005, the Company completed the sale of Citigroup's Travelers
Life & Annuity and substantially all of Citigroup'’s international insurance
businesses to MetLife, Inc. (MetLife). The businesses sold were the primary
vehicles through which Citigroup engaged in the Life Insurance & Annuities
Business,

Citigroup received §1.0 billion in MetLife equity securities and $10.830
billion in cash, which resulted in an after-tax gain of approximately $2.120
biltion ($3.386 billion pretax}, which was reported in discontinued
operations.

This transaction encompassed Travelers Life & Annuity's U.S. businesses
and its internationat operations other than Citigroup’s life insurance
business in Mlevico (which is now included within ffernational Refail
Banking). Intemational operations included wholly owned insurance
companies in the United Kingdom, Belgium, Australia, Brazil, Argentina,
and Poland; joint ventures in Japan and Hong Kong; and offices in China.
This transaction also included Citigroup’s Argentine pension business. (The
transaction described in the preceding three paragraphs is referred to as the
“Sale of the Life Insurance & Annuities Business.”)

In connection with the Sale of the Life Insurance & Annuities Business,
Citigroup and MetLife entered into 10-year agreements under which
Travelers Life & Annuity and MetLife products will be made available
through certain Citigroup distribution channels.

During the first quarter of 2006, $15 million of the total $657 million
federal tax contingency reserve release was reported in discontinued
operations as it related to the Life Insurance & Annuities Business sold to
MetLife.

In July 2006, Citigroup recognized an $85 million after-tax gain from the
sale of MetLife shares. This gain was reported in income from continuing
gperalions in the Alternative Investments business.

In July 2006, the Company received the final closing adjustment payment
related to this sale, resulting in an after-tax gain of §75 million ($115
million pretax), which was recorded in discontinued operations.
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In addition, during the third quarter of 2006, a release of $42 million of
deferred tax liabilities was reported in discontinued operations as it related to
the Life Insurance & Annuities Business sold to MetLife.

Results for all of the businesses included in the Sale of the Life
Insurance & Annuities Business are reported as discontinued operations for
all periods presented.

Summarized financial information for discontinued operations,
including cash flows, related to the Sale of the Life Insurance & Annwities
Business is as follows:

In mitlions of dolars 2007 2006 2005
Total revenues, net of interest expense $— $115 $6.128
Income from discontinued operations $— $28 § 740
Gain on sale _ 115 3,386
Provision (benefit) for income laxes —_ {23) 1,484
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes $— 3166  $2.642
In mitlions of doflars 2007 2006 2005
Cash flows from operating activities $— $ 1 $@2989
Cash flows from investing activities _ 75 2,248
Cash flows from financing activities —_ — 763

Net cash provided by (used in} discontinued

operations $— §7% § 22

The fotlowing is a summary of the assets and liabilities of discontinued
operations related to the Sale of the Life Insurance & Annuities Business as of
July 1, 2005, the date of the distribution:

In mifiions of dollars July 1, 2005
Assets
Cash and due from banks $ 188
Investments 48,860
Intangible assets 86
Qther assets ! 44,123
Total assets $93,227
Liabilities
Federal funds purchased and securities loaned

or sold under agreements to repurchase $ 9N
Other liabilities 82,842
Total liabilities $83,813

{1) At June 30, 2005, other assels consisled of separate and vasiable accounts of $30,828 millon,
reinsurance recoverables of $4,048 million, and other of $9,247 million.

{2) At June 30, 2005, cther fiabilities consisted of contraciholder tunds and separate and variable
accounts of $66,139 million, insurance policy and claims reserves cf $14,370 million, and ether of
$2.333 million.
in addition to the accounting policies outlined in Note 1 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements on page 111, the follewing represents the

policies specifically related to the Life Insurance & Annuities Business that

wits sold:




Separate and Variable Accounts

Separate and variable accounts primarily represent funds for which
investment income and investment gains/losses accrue directly 1o, and
investment risk is borne by, the contractholders. The assets of each account
are legally segregated and are not subject to claims that arise out of any
other business of the Company. The assets of these accounts are generally
carried at market value. Amounts assessed to the contractholders for
management services are included in revenues. Deposits, net investment
income and realized investment gains and losses for these accounts are
excluded from revenues, and related liability increases are excluded from
benefits and expenses,

Contractholder Funds

Contractholder funds represent receipts from the issuance of universal life,
pension investment and certain deferred annuity contracts. Such receipts are
considered deposits on invesiment contracts that do not have substantial
mortality or morbidity risk. Account balances are increased by deposits
received and interest credited and are reduced by withdrawals, mortality
charges and adminisirative expenses charged to the contractholders.

The Spin-Off of Travelers Property Casuaity Corp. (TPC)
During 2006, releases from various tax contingency reserves were recorded as
the IRS concluded their tax audits for the years 1999 through 2002. Included
in these releases was $44 million related to Travelers Property Casualty Corp.,
which the Company spun off during 2002, This release has been included in
the provision for income taxes in the results for discontinued operations.

Combined Results for Discontinued Operations
The following is summarized financial information for the Life Insurance &
Annuities Business, Asset Management Business, and TPC:

in millions of doltars 2007 2008 2005
Total revenues, net of interest expense — N9 $10727
Income from discontinued

operations $— 327 % 908
Gain on sale _ 219 6,790
Provision {benefit) for income taxes and minority interest,

net of taxes —_ (43) 2,866
Income from discontinued operations, netoftaxes $—  $283  § 4,832
Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations
In mitlions of doliars 2007 2006 2005
Cash flows from operating activitics $— $— #3313
Cash flows from investing activities — 109 2,504
Cash flows from financing activities — — 763
Net cash (used in} discontinued operations $— 3109 § (48
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4. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Citigroup is a diversified bank holding company whose businesses provide a
broad range of financial services to consumer and corporate customers
around the world. The Company’s activities are conducted through the
Global Consumer, Markets & Banking, Global Wealth Management, and
Alternative Investments business segments.

The Global Consumer segment includes a global, full-service consumer
franchise delivering a wide array of banking, lending, insurance and
investment services through a network of local branches, offices, and
electronic delivery systems.

The businesses included in the Company’s Markets & Banking segment
provide corporations, governments, institutions, and investors in
approximately 100 countries with a broad range of banking and financial
products and services.

The Global Wealth Management segment is composed of the Smrith
Barney Private Client businesses, Citigroup Private Bank and Citigroup
Investment Research. Smith Barney provides investment advice, financial
planning and brokerage services to affluent individuals, companies, and
non-profits. Private Bank provides personalized wealth management
services for high-net-worth clients,

The Alternative [nvestments segment maages capital on behalf of
Citigroup and third-party clients across five asset classes, including private
equity, hedge funds, real estate, structured products and managed futures.

Corporate/Other includes net treasury results, unallocated corporate
expenses, offsets to certain line-item reclassifications (eliminations), the
results of discontinued operations, the cumulative effect of accounting
changes and unallocated taxes.

The accounting policies of these reportable segments are the same as
those disclosed int Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on
page 111.



The following table presents ceriain information regarding the Company’s continuing operations by segment:

Income (loss) from

continuing operations Identifiable
Revenues, Provigion {benefit) before cumulative effect of assets
net of interest expense ! for income taxes & accounting change @ ® @ atyear end

In milfions of doflars, except
Identifiable assets in biftions 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
Global Consurmer $56,984 350,299 $48,245 $2627 $4666 34904 $7.868 $12056 $10,897 $ 745 § 702
Markets & Banking 10,522 27,187 23,863 (5,216) 2,528 2818  {5,253) [AY) 6,895 1,224 1,078
Global Wealth Management 12,986 10,177 8,684 1,034 703 715 1,974 1,444 1,244 104 66
Alternative Investments 2,103 2,901 3,430 431 706 950 672 1,276 1,437 73 12
Corporate/Other ® (897) (949) (580 {1,077) {502) (3090  (1,644) (854} (667) 42 26
Total $81,658 $589.615 $83642  $(2,201) $8107 $9,078  $3,697 $21,249  §19,806 $2,188  $1,884

{1) Inchudes total revenues, net of interest expense, in the U.S. of $36.5 billion, $49.5 billion, and $47.4 billion; in Mexico of $6.7 billion, $6.1 billion, and $5.3 billion; and in Japan of $5.2 billion, $3.5 bilion, and $45
billion in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Figures exclude Alternative Investments ang Corporate/Other, which largely operate within the LS.

{2) The effective tax rates for 2006 reflect the impact of the resolution of the Federal Tax Audtit and the New York Tax Audits.

{3) mcludes pretax provisions (credits) for credit losses and for benafits and claims in the Global Consumer fesults of $17.0 billion, $7.6 billion, and $9.1 bilfion; in the Markets & Banking results of $1.4 biflion, $359
million, and $(42) million; and in the Global Wealth Management results of $100 million, $24 millian, and $29 million Sor 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively, Corporate/Other recorded a pretax credit of ${1) million
and $(2} millicn for 2007 and 2005, respactively, and a provision of $6 million for 2006. Includes pretax credit in the Altemative Investments resufts of ${13) milion in 2006 and ${2) million in 2005.

{4) For 2005, the Company recognized after-tax charges of $49 million for the cumufative effect of accounting change related to the adoption of FIN 47,

(5) Corporate/Cther reflects the restructuring charge, net of changes in estimates, of $1.5 billion for 2007. Of this total charge, $1 billien is attibutable to Global Consumer; $299 million to Markets & Banking; $36 million
1o Global Wealth Management; $7 million to Altemative Investments; and $122 million to Corporate/Other. See Note 10 on page 138 for further discussion.

5. INTEREST REVENUE AND EXPENSE 6. COMMISSIONS AND FEES
For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively, Commissions and fees revenue includes charges to customers for credit and
interest revenue and expense consisied of the following: bank cards, including transaction-processing fees and annual fees;

advisory, and equity and debt underwriting services; lending and deposit-

In mitions of doliars 2007 2006 2005 . .
related transactions, such as loan commitments, standby letters of credit,
Interest revente and other deposit and | ici tivities; investment management-
Loan interes1, including fees $ 66,194  $54,864  $47,089 other depostl And 104l SErvICng ACUVIUES, INVEStment Mandge
Deposits with banks 3,200 2,280 1,537 related fees, including brokerage services, and custody and trust services,
Federal funds sold and securities and insurance fees and commissions.
purchased under agreements to reselt 18,354 14,199 9,790 The following table presents commissions and fees reverue for the vears
Iavestmeats, including tiidends 13487 10399 7.338 ol Deceo N ¥
Trading acoount assets @ 18507 11865 8137 €N mber 31:
Other interest 4,725 2,881 2,031 In miliions of dollars 2007 2006 2005 0
Total interest revenue $124467  $96,497  $75,922 Investment banking $5228 $4093 $ 3456
Interest expense Credit cards and bank cards 5,066 5,228 4,498
ith
Deposits $28741  S2157  Suasop  omnbamey 3265 2958 2,306
. — Markets & Banking trading-related 2,706 2,464 2,295
Trading account liabilities 2 1,440 1,119 669 o
I Checking-related 1,258 1,033 997
Short-tesm debt and other liabilities 30,392 22,257 14,597 - .
Lon dobt 16 958 11910 7908 Transaction services 1,166 859 739
g-term de L d : Other Consumer 895 514 754
Total interest expense $ 77531 $56943 $36.676 Nikko Cordial-related @ 834 — _—
Net interest revenue $ 46936  $39,554  $39,246 Loan servicing 560 660 540
Pravision for loan losses 17,424 6,738 7,929 Primerica 455 399 374
. Qther Markets & Banking 295 243 346
Net interest revenue after provision tor Other n 58 122
loan losses § 29,512  $£32,816  $31,317 Corporate finance @ {667) 735 483
(1} Redassified to conform ta the curent period’s presentation. Total commissions and fees $21,132 $19,244  $16,930
{2} Interest expense on Trading account kabliities of Markets & Banking is reported as a reduction of
interest revenue for Trading account assets. (1} Reclassified to conform tc the current period's presentation,
{2) Commissions and fees for Nikkc Cordial have not been defatled due to unavailability of the
information.

{3) Includes fair value adjustments on morlgage servicing assets. The mark-to-market on the undertying
econormic hedges of the MSAs is included in Other revenue.

{4 Includes write-downs of approxdmately $1.5 billlon net of underwriting fees, o funded and untunded
highly leveraged finance commitments. Write-downs were recorded on al highly leveraged finance
commitmenis where there was value impairment, regardiess of funding date.
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7. PRINCIPAL TRANSACTIONS

Principal transactions revenue consists of realized and unrealized gains and
losses from trading activities. Not included in the table below is the impact of
net interest revenue related to trading activities, which is an integral part of
trading activities” profitability. The foliowing table presents principal
transactions revenue for the years ended December 31:

In millions of dollars 2007 200610 2005M
Markets & Banking:

Fixed income @ $ 4053 $5593  $3,923
Credit progucts @ {21,805) (744) 79
Equities # 818 870 271
Foreign exchange @ 1,222 693 604
Commodities © 686 487 843
Total Markets & Banking (15,026) 6,899 5,566
Global Consumer @ 1,371 513 397
Global Wealth Management @ 1,315 680 519
Alternative Investments @ (136) 4 9
Corporate/Other 397 {89) 165
Total principal transactions revenue $(12,079) $7.939  $6,656

{1} Reclassified to conform Lo the current period's presentation.

2) Includes revenues from government securities and corporate debt, municipal secynties, ieferred
stock, mortgage securities, and other debt instruments. Also includes spot and forward trading of
cumencies and exchange-traded and over-the-counter {OTC) currency options, options on fixed income
securities, interest rate Swaps, CUTRACY Swaps, Swap options, caps and ficors, financial futuces, 0TC
options, and forward contracts on lixed income securities.

(3 Includes revenues from structured credit products such a3 North America and Ewope collaterafized
detit obligations. In 2007, ksses recorded were related to subprime-related exposures in Markets &
Banking’s ending and structring business and exposures 1o super sanior CDOS.

{4) Includes revenues from common, preferred and convertible preferred stock, convertible corporate
debit, equity-linked notes, and exchange-traded and OTC equity options and warmants.

(5) Includes revenues from foreign exchange spot, forward, option and swap contracts, as well as
transtation gains and losses.

(6) Primarity inchudes the results of Phibro Inc., which trades crude ofl, refined ol products, natural gas,
and other commadities.

{7} Includes revenues from various fixed income, equities and foreign exchange transactions.

8. INCENTIVE PLANS

The Company has adopted a number of equity compensation plans under
which it administers stock options, restricted or deferred stock and stock
purchase programs. The award programs are used to attract, retain and
motivate officers, employees and non-emplovee directors, to compensate
them for their contributions to the Company, and to encourage employee
stock ownership. The plans are administered by the Personnel and
Compensation Committee of the Citigroup Board of Directors, which is
composed entirely of independent non-employee directors. At December 31,
2007, approximately 238 million shares were authorized and available for
grant under Citigroup's stock incentive and stock purchase plans. In
accordance with Citigroup practice, shares would be issued out of Treasury
stock upon exercise or vesting,
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The following table shows components of compensation expense relating
to the Company's stock-based compensation programs as recorded during
2007, 2006 and 2005:

in mifions of dollars 2007 2006 20056
SFAS 123(R) charges for January

2006 awards to retirement-gligible employees $ — $648 & —
SFAS 123(R) charges for estimated awards 1o

retirement-eligible employees through January

2007 and 2008 467 824 —
Option expense 86 129 137
Amortization of MC LTIP awards ™ 18 — —
Amortization of restricted and deferred stock awards

(excluding MC LTIF} @ 2,728 1,565 1,766
Total $3299  $3,166  $1,903

(1) Management Committee Long-Term tncentive Plan (MC LTIP) was created in 2007,

(2) Represents amortization of expense over the remaining iife of all unvested restricted and deferred
stock awards granted to all employees prior to 2006. The 2007 and 2006 periods also include
amortization expense 1o all unvested awards to non-retirement-efigible employees on or after
January 1, 2006. Amortization incluges estimated forfeitures of awards.

Stock Award Programs

The Company, pritnarily through its Capital Accumulation Program {CAP),

issues shares of Citigroup common stock in the form of restricted or deferred stock

to participating officers and employees. For alt stock award programs, during the
applicable vesting period, the shares awarded cannot be sold or transferred by the
participant, and the award is subject to cancellation if the panicipant’s
employment is terminated. After the award vests, the shares become freely
transferable (subject to the stock ownership commitment of senior executives).,

From the date of the award, the recipient of a restricted stock award can direct the

vole of the shares and receive dividend equivalents. Recipients of deferred stock

awards receive dividend equivalents, but cannot vote.

Stock awards granted in January 2007, 2006 and 2005 generally west 25% per
year over four years, except for awards 1o certain employees at Smith Bamey that
vest after two years and July 2007 Management Committee Long-Term [ncentive
Program awards (further deseribed below) that vest in January 2010. Stock
awards granted in 2003 and 2004 generally vested after a two- or three-year
vesting period. CAP participants in 2007, 2006 and 2005 could elect to receive all
or part of their award in stock options. The figures presented in the stock option
program tables include options granted under CAP. Unearned compensation
expense associzted with the stock awards represents the market value of Citigroup
common stock at the date of grant and is recognized as a charge to income
ratably over the full vesting period, except for those awards granted to retirement-
eligible emnplovees. As explained below, pursuant to SFAS 123(R), the charge to
income for awards made to retirernent-eligible emplovees is accelerated based on
the dlates the retirernent rules are met.



CAP and certain other awards provide that participants who meet certain
age and years of service conditions may continue to vest in all or a portion of
the award without remaining employed by the Company during the entire
vesting period, so long as they do not compete with Citigroup during that
time, Beginning in 2006, awards to these retirement-eligible employees are
recognized in the year prior to the grant in the same manner as cash
incentive compensation is accrued. However, awards granted in January
2006 were required to be expensed in their entirety at the date of grant. Prior
to 2006, all awards were recognized ratably over the stated vesting period, See
Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 119 for the impact
of adopting SFAS 123(R).

Ini 2003, special equity awards were issued lo certain employees in the
Markets & Banking, Global Wealth Management and Citigroup [ntemational
businesses. These awards were fully vested in January 2006.

From 2003 to 2007, Citigroup granted restricted or deferred shares annually
under the Citigroup Ownership Program (COP} to eligible employees. This
program replaced the WealthBuilder, CitiBuilder, and Citigroup Ownership
stock option programs. Under COP, eligible employees received either restricted
or deferred shares of Citigroup common stock that vest after three years. The
last award under this program was in 2007. Unearned compensation expense
associated with the stock grants represents the market value of Citigroup
comimon stock at the date of grant and is recognized as a charge to income
ratably over the vesting period, except for those awards granted to retirement-
eligible emplovees. The charge to income for awards made to retirement-
eligible employees is accelerated based on the dates the retirement rules are
met.

On July 17, 2007, the Personnel and Compensation Gommittee of
Citigroup’s Board of Directors approved the Management Committee Long-
Term Incentive Program (MC LTIF), under the terms of the shareholder-
approved 1999 Stock Incentive Plan. The MC LTIP provides members of the
Citigroup Management Committee, including the CEO, CFO and the named
executive officers in the Citigroup Proxy Statement, an opportunity to eam
stock awards based on Citigroup’s performance. Each participant will receive
an equity award that will be earned based on Citigroup’s performance for the
period from July 1, 2007 to December 31, 2009. Three periods will be measured
for performance (July 1, 2007 to Decernber 31, 2007, full year 2008 and full
year 2009). The ultimate value of the award will be based on Citigroup’s
performance in each of these periods with respect to (1) total shareholder
return versus Citigroup's current key competitors and (2) publicly stated retum
on equity (ROE) targets measured at the end of each calendar year. If, in any
of the three performance periods, Citigroup's total shareholder return does not
exceed the median performance of the peer group, the participants will not
receive awand shares for that period. The awards will generally vest after 30
months. In order to receive the shares, a participant generally must be a
Citigroup employee on January 5, 2010. The total estimated pretax expense is
approximately $107 million and will be amortized over the 30-month vesting/
performance period. The final expense for each of the three calendar years will
be adjusted based on the results of the ROE tests. No awards were eamed for
2007 because performance targets were not met.
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Asummary of the status of Citigroup’s unvested stock awards as of
December 31, 2007, and changes during the 12 menths ended Decernber 31,
2007, is presented below:

Weighted average

grant date

Unvested stock awards Shares fair valtue
Unvestad at January 1, 2067 126,972,765 $47.94
Awards 89,012,986 $53.30
Cancellations (8,738,508) $50.59
Deletions (621,417) $50.62
Vestings () (63,418,694 $45.49
Unvested at December 31, 2007 153,207,132 $50.70

{1) The weighted average market valus of the vestings during 2007 was approximatefy $51.94 per share.

&s of December 31, 2007, there was $3.1 billion of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested stock awards net of the forfeiture
provision. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 2.5 years.

Stock Option Programs

The Company has a number of stock option programs for its non-empleyee
directors, officers and employees. Generally, in 2007, 2006 and 2005, stock
options were granted only to CAP participarits who elected to receive stock
options in: liew of restricted or deferred stock awards, and to non-employee
directors who elected to receive their compensation in the form of a stock
option grant. All steck options are granted on Citigroup common stock with
exercise prices equal to the fair market value at the time of grant. Options
granted from 2003 through 2007 have six-year terms; directors’ options vest
after two yeass and all other options granted from fanuary 2005 through 2007
typically vest 25% each vear over four years. Options granted in 2004 and 2003
typically vest in thirds each year over three years, with the first vesting date
occurring 17 menths after the grant date. The sale of shares acquired through
the exercise of employee stock options granted since January 2003 is restricted
for a two-year periodd (and may be subject to the stock cvmership commitment
of senior executives thereafter). Prior to 2003, Citigroup options, including
options granted since the date of the merger of Citicorp and Travelers Group,
Inc., generally vested at a rate of 20% per year over five vears, with the first
vesting date occurring 12 to 18 months following the grant date. Certain
options, mostly granted prior to January 1, 2003, permit an employee
exercising an option under certain conditions to be granted new options
(reload options) in an amount equal to the number of commeon shares used to
satisfy the exercise price and the withholding taxes due upon exercise. The
reload options are granted for the remaining term of the related original option
and vest after six months. Reload options may in turn be exercised using the
reload method, given certain conditions. An option may not be exercised using
the reload method uniess the market price on the date of exercise is at least 20%
greater than the option exercise price.

To further encourage emplovee stock ownership, the Company's eligibte
employees participated in WealthBuilder, CitiBuilder, or the Citigroup
Ownership Program. Options granted under the WealthBuilder and the
Citigroup Ownership programs vest over a five-year period, and options
granted under the CitiBuilder program vest after five years. These options did
not have a reload feature. Options have not been granted under these
programs since 2002,




Information with respect to stock option activity under Citigroup stock option ptans for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 is as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Woighted average Intrinsic value Weigtted average  Inirinsic vawe Weighted average  Intrinsic value

Options exercise price per share exercise price per share Options exercise price pef share

Outstanding, beginning of period 212,067,917 $41.87 $13.83 277,255935 $40.27 $ 826 330910779 $39.28 $ 850

Granted—original 2,178,136 $54.21 — 3,259,547 $48.87 — 5,279,863 47.45 —

Granted—eload 3,093,370 $52.66 — 12,530,318 $52.30 — 3,013,384 48.85 —

Forfeited or exchanged (8,796,402) $46.26 152 {14123,10) $45.57 336  (17,726.910) 44.29 233

Expiced (843,256) $43.40 438 (2,021,955 $44.87 4,06 (2,572,189) 47.70 —

Exercised (34,932,643) $36.62 11.16 (64,832,818) $36.37 12.56 {41,648,992) nr2 14.90

Outstanding, end of period 172,767,122 $43.08 $ — 212067817 $41.87 $13.83 277,255,935 $40.27 $ 8.26
Exercisable at end of period 165,024,814 179,424,900 221,497,294

The following table summarizes the information about stock options outstanding under Citigroup stock option plans at December 31, 2007

Options outstanding QOptions exercisable

Weighted average
Number contractual life  Welghted average Number  Weighted average
Range of exercise prices qutstanding remaining exercise price exercisable exercise price
$7.77-89.99 1,627 3.6 years $ 777 1,627 $ 777
$10.00-$19.99 226,701 1.4 years $16.85 226,701 $16.85
$20.00-$29.99 13,703,748 0.8 years $23.23 13,691,305 $23.23
$30.00-$39.99 28,842,465 2.0 years $33.07 28,423,409 $33.08
$40.00-$49.99 107,890,017 2.8 years $46.35 104,018,070 $46.29
$50.00-556.83 22,102,564 2.6 years $52.77 18,663,702 $52.65
172,767,122 2.5 years $43.08 165,024,814 $42.78

4s of December 31, 2007, there was $16.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options; this cost is expected to be recognized over

a weighted average period of 17 months.

Stock Purchase Program

The Citigroup 2003 Stock Purchase Program, which was administered
under the Citigroup 2000 Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, allowed
eligible employees of Citigroup to enter into fixed subscription agreements
to purchase shares in the future at the lesser of the market price on the first
day of the offering period or at the market price at the end of the offering
period. For the June 15, 2003 offering only, subject to certain limis,
enrolled employees were permitted to make one purchase prior to end of the
offering period. The purchase price of the shares was paid with accumulated
payroll deductions plus interest. Shares of Citigroup’s common stock
delivered under the Citigroup 2003 Stock Purchase Program were sourced
from treasury shares. Offerings under the Citigroup 2003 Stock Purchase
Program were made in June 2003 and to new employees in June 2004. The
program ended in July 2005.

The folfowing were the share prices under the Stock Purchase Program:
The fixed price for the June 2003 oftering was $44.10, and the fixed price for
the June 2004 offering was $46.74. The market price at the end of the
program was $46.50. The shares under the June 2003 offering were
purchased at the offering price ($44.10), which was the market price at the
start of the offering period. The shares under the June 2004 offering were
purchased at the market price at the closing of the program (§46.50).

2007 2006 2005

Qutstanding subscribed shares at beginning of
year — — 7,112,678
Subscriptions entered into _ —_ —
Shares purchased - —  (4,498,358)
Ganceled or terminated —_ —  (2,614,320)

Outstanding subscribed shares at end of vear

Fair Value Assumptions

SFAS 123(R) requires that reload options be treated as separate grants from
the related original grants, Pursuant to the terms of currently outstanding
reloadable options, upon exercise of an aption, if employees use previously
gwned shares to pay the exercise price and surrender shares otherwise to be
received for related tax withhelding, they will receive a reload option
covering the same number of shares used for such purposes, but only if the
market price on the date of exercise is af least 20% greater than the option
exercise price. Reload options vest after six months and carry the same
expiration date as the option that gave rise to the reload grant. The exercise
price of a reload grant is the fair market value of Citigroup common stock
on the date the underlying option is exercised. Reload options are intended
to encourage employees Lo exercise options at an earlier date and (o retain
the shares acquired. The result of this program is that employees generally
will exercise options as soon as they are able and, therefore, these options
have shorter expected lives, Shorter option lives result in lower valuations,
However, such values are expensed more quickly due to the shorter vesting
period of reload options. In addition, since reload options are treated as
separate grants, the existence of the reload feature results in a greater
number of options being valued. Shares received through option exercises
under the refoad program, as well as certain other options, are subject to
restrictions on sale.




Additional valuation and related assumption information for Citigroup
option plass is presented below. Citigroup uses a lattice-type model to value
stock options.

For options granted during 2007 2006 2005

Welghted average per share fair value, at
December 31 $

Weilghted averaged expected life

652 § 659 § 723

9. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Company has several non-contributory defined benefit pension plans
covering substantially all U.S. employees in 2007 and has various defined
benefit pension and termination indemmnity plans covering employees
outside the United States. The U.S. qualified defined benefit plan provides
benefits under a cash balance formula. However, employees satisfying
certain age and service requirements remain covered by a prior final pay

Orlginal grants 468yrs.  457ys. 526y, formula under that plan. 1n 2006, the Company announced that

Reload grants 188yrs.  236ys 3294 commencing January 1, 2008, the U.S. qualified pension plan would be
Valuation assumptions frozen. Accordingly, no additional contributions would be credited to the

Expectad volatilty 121%  20.15%  2506%  o4h halance plan for existing plan participants. However, employees still

Risk-frae interest rate 4.79% 4.60% 3.66% . . :

Expectsd dividend yield 4.09% 2.05% 335y  covered under the prior final pay plan will continue to accrue benefits. The
Expected annual forfeitures Company also offers postretirement health care and life insurance benefits
Original and reload grants 7% 7% 7%  tocertain eligible U.S. retired employees, as well as to certain eligible

employees outside the United States.

The following tables summarize the cornponents of net expense
recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income and the funded status
and amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet for the
Company's U.S. qualified pension plan, postretiremnent plans and
significant plans outside the United States. The Company uses a
December 3] measurerent date for the U.S. plans as well as the plans
outside the United States.

Net Expense
Pension plans Postretirement banefit plans
U, plans Pians outside U.S. US. plans Plans outside U.S.
In millions of doliars 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Benefits earned during the year $301  $260 $257 $202 §164 $163 $1 $2 §2 $27 $21 $13
Interest cost on benefit obligation 641 630 599 318 274 281 59 61 63 75 65 48
Expecled return on ptan assets (889) {845) (806) 41N (384) (315) (12) {13} (14) {103) (78 (49)
Amartization of unrecognized:
et transition obligation _ — — 2 2 2 _ — — — — —
Prior service cost (benefit) {3 (19) (24) 3 1 1 (3) 4 {4) — 1 —
Net actuarial Joss 84 185 161 39 51 69 3 8 13 13 8 1
Curtaitment gain) loss @ - (80} — 36 7 i 9 — — — — —
Net expense $134 5131 $187 $123 §$115 §182 $57 $54 $60 $12 $17 $13

{1) The U.S. plans exclude nonqualified pension pians, for which the net expense was $45 million in 2007, $51 miflion in 2006, and $50 miltion in 2005.
{2) In 2007, the Company recognized a ret curtaiiment Joss primarily resuiting from accelerated vesting of benefits under reorganézation actions outside the U.S. in 2006, the Company recognized a curtaiiment gain

resutting from the January 1, 2008 freeze of the U.S. quatified pension plan,

The estimated net actuarial loss, benefits earned and net transition
obligation that will be amortized from Accurnulated Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss} into net expense in 2008 are approximately $26 million,
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$0.6 million and $2 million, respectively, for defined benefit pension plans.

For postretirement plans, $19 million is expected to be amortized for the
estimated net actuarial loss.




Net Amount Recognized

Penslon plans Postretirement benefit plans

U.5. plans 0 Ptans cutside U.S. U.5. plans Plans outside 1.5,
In miltions of dolfars 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Change in projected benefit obligation
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $11,109 $10984  $5363 34552 $1,101  $1,169 $ 825 $669
Benefits earned during the year an 260 202 164 1 2 27 21
Interest cost on benefit obligation 641 630 318 274 59 61 75 65
Plan amendments —_ — 12 -— 3 — —_ (1)
Actuarial loss {gain) (439) {147) {28) 220 {67) {67) 296 84
Benefits paid {583) (537) (269) {246} (75) {67) (39) {35)
Expected Medicare Part D Subsidy — — — — 1" 1 - —
Acquisitions — — 156 27 —_— — —_ ?
Divestitures - — —_ ) — — - —
Settlements —_— _ (21) (15 —_ — _ —
Curtaitments @ —_ (81) 25 (1) 9 — - —
Foreign exchange impact —_ — 249 393 — — 9 20
Projected benefit obligation at year end $11,029  $11,109 $6007 $5363 $1,042 $1.10 $1,193 $825
Change in plan assets
Plan assets at fair value at beginning of year $11,932  $10981  $5906 $4.784 $ 175§ 179 $ 984 $633
Actual return on plan assets 1,476 1,468 432 605 22 26 66 160
Company contributions @ 15 20 2 82 69 37 3 223
Employee contributions - - — 8 5 - — —_ —
Acquisitions — — 90 18 — — — —
Divestitures — — —_ 4] - — _ —
Settlements — — {21) (16} - — — —
Benefits paid (583) (537 (269) (246) (75) 67) {(39) (35)
Foreign exchange impact —_— — 260 376 — —— (6) 3
Plan assets at fair value at year end $12840 $11932 $6629 $5906 $ 191 3§ 175 $1,008 $984
Funded status of the plan at year end $1811  § 823 $ 62 % 543  §{851) $ (926) ${185)  $159
Met amount recognized
Benefit asset $1811 3§ 823 $1061 ¢ 908 § — & — $ 3 $355
Senefit ‘iability — — (439) (365) {851}  (926) {219) {196)
Net amount recognized on the balance sheet $1811 § 823 § $ 543  § (851) § (976) $ (185) $159
Amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss);
Net transition obligation $ — § — §$ 8 % 9 § — § — $ 2 $ 3
Prior service cost {benefit) m {0 30 13 1) a7 M ()
Net actuarial loss 467 1,577 786 817 23 103 374 45
Net amount recognized in equity—pretax $ 460 $1567 $ 824 $ 839 § 12 % 86 $ 375 $ 47
Accumulated benefit obligation at year end $10,960 $10982 $5,403 34846  $1,042  $1,101 $1,193 $825

(1) The LS. plans exclude nonqualified pension plans, for which the aggregate projected benefit obligation was $611 million and $660 milken, and the agaregate accumulated benefit obligation was $604 million and
$646 mition at December 33, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These plans are unfunded. As such, the funded status of these plans is $(611) milion and ${660) million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) includes pretax charges of $85 million and $133 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,

{2) Changes in projected benefit obligation due 1o curtailments in the non-U.S. pension plans in 2007 include ${7) million in cunailment gains and $32 million in Special Tesmination Benefits.

{3) Company contributions to the U.S. pansion plan include $15 million and $20 milllon during 2007 and 2006, respectively, relating to Certain investment advisory fees and adminisirative costs thal were absosbied by the
Company. Company contributions to the non-U.S. pension plans in 2007 incluge $47 million of benelits directly paid by the Company,

The following table shows the SFAS 158 impact on Accumnulated other comprehensive income for the year ended Decemntber 31, 2007

In milfions of dollars 2007 2006 Change
Other Assets

Prepaid benefit cost $2,906 32,086 $820
Other Liabilities

Accrued benefit liability 2120 2,147 (27)
Funded Status $76 § (B $ 847
Deferred taxes, net 4,261 4,687 {426)
Amortization and other 169
Change in Accumulated other comprehensive income (lossy" $ 590

{1) Primarily refated to changes in net actuarial gainoss of the Company’s pension and postretirement plans,
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At the end of 2007 and 2006, for both qualified and nongualified plans, the aggregate fair value of plan assets for pension plans with a projected

and both funded and unfunded plans, the aggregate projected benefit benefit obligation in excess of plan assets, and pension plans with an
obligation (PBO), the aggregate accurnulated benefit obligation {(ABD), and accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets, were as follows:
PB0 exceeds fair vatue of plan ABO exceeds fair value of plan
assets assets
U.S. plans  Plans outside U.S. U.S. plans Plans outside U.S.
In millions of doliars 207 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Projected benefit obligation $611 3660 $944  $2832  $611 5660 $804 $694
Accumulated benefit obligation 604 646 749 2517 604 646 668 832
Fair value of plan assets - — 505 2,467 —_ — 396 447

Combined plan assets for the U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans, excluding U.S. nonqualified plans, exceeded the accumulated benefit obligations by $3.1
bilkion and $2.0 billion at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively.

Assumptions
The discount rate and future rate of compensation assumptions used in determining pension and postretirement benefit obligations and net benefit expense for
the Company’s plans are shown in the following table:

At year end 2007 2006
Discount rate
U.S. plang:
Pension 6.2% 5.9%
Postretirement 6.0 5.7
Plans outside the L.S. -
Range 2.0t010.25 22500 11.0
Weighted average 6.2 6.5
Future compensation increase rate
U.S. Plans @ 30 4.0
Plans outside the U.S.
Range 3.0108.25 1.0t010.0
Weighted average 44 43
During the year 2007 2008
Discount rate
1.5, plans
Pension 5.9% 5.6%
Postretirement 57 55
Plan outside the U.S.
Range 22510 11.0 2010120
Weighted average 6.5 7.0
Future compensation increase rate
U.S. Plaps @ 4.0 40
Plans outside the U.S.
Range 1.0t010.0 201090
Weighted average 4.3 4.2

(1) Weighted average rates for the U.S. plans equal the stated rates.
(2) AtDecember 31, 2007, due o the fregze of the U.S. quatified pension plan commencing January 1, 2008, only the future compensation increases for the grandfathered employees will affect future pension expense
and obligations, Future compensation increass rates for small groups of employees was 4.0% or 8 0%.

A one percentage-point change in the discount rates would have the following effects on pension expense:
One percentage-point (ne percentage-point

increase decrease
In mitlins of doliars 2607 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Effact on pension expense for L.S. plans 0 $25  $(100) $(146) $(5) $120 %146
Effect on pension expense for foreign plans (59) (52) (68) 80 72 83

{1) Due tc the Ireeze of the U . qualified pension plan commencing January 1, 2008, the majority of the prospective senvice cost has been eliminated and the gain/ass amortization period was changed to the life
expectancy for inactive participants. As a resufl, pension expense for the LS. qualified pension plan is driven more by interest costs than senvice costs, and an increase in the discount rate would increase pension
expense while a decrease in the discount rate would decrease pension expense.
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Assumed health care cost trend rates were as follaws:

2007 2006
Health care cost increase rate
U.8. plans
Following year 80% 9.0%
Ultimate rate to which cost increase is assumed to decline 50% 5.0%
Year in which the ultimate rate is reached 20014 2011
A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:
One percentage- Une percentage-
point increase point decreass
In mitiions of dotiars 2007 2006 2007 2006
Effect on benefits eamed and interest cost for U.S. plans $3 $5 $(3} s
Eifect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation for 11.S. Plang 50 79 {44} {69)

Citigroup considers the expected rate of return to be a longer-term
assessmerit of return expectations, based on each plan's expected asset
allocation, and does not anticipate changing this assumption annually
unless there are significant changes in economic conditions or portfolio

evaluated covering a wide range of economic conditions to determine
whether there are sound reasons for projecting forward any past trends.

The expected long-term rates of return on assets used in determining the
Company’s pension expense are shown below:

compesition. Market performance over a number of earlier vears is

2007 2006
Rate of return on assets
LS, plans ™ 8.0% 8.0%
Plans outside the U.S.:
Range 3.25%to125%  3.25%to 10.0%
Weighted average 8.0% 8.9%
(1) Weighted average rates for the L.S. plans equal the siated rates.
A one-percentage-point change in the expected rates of return would have the following effects on pension expense;
One percentage- One percentage-
point increase point decrease
In millions of dollars 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Effect on pension expense for U.S. plans $(118) S0y $hon)  $118 110 $10t
Effect on pension expense for foreign plans {59) {61) {45) 59 61 45

Plan Assets

Citigroup’s pension and postretirement plan asset allocation for the U.S. plans at the end of 2007 and 2006, and the target allocation for 2008 by asset category

hased on asset fair values, are as follows:

Target asset U.S. pension assets  U.S. postretirement assats

ellocation ot December 31 at December 31

Asset Category 2008 2007 2006 2007 2006
Equity securities 3% to 43% 2% 35% 2 35%
Debt securities 20 to 62 17 18 17 18
Real estate 31010 6 7 6 7
Private Equity 0o 15 15 9 15 9
Other investments 111038 39 K1l 35 31
Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

{1) Ecquity securities in the U.S. pension ptans include: no Citigroup commion stock at the end of 2007. At the end of 2008, Citigroup commeon stock with a fair value of $141 million or 1.2% of plan assets was held by the

LS. pension plans. In January 2007, the 1.5, pension plans sold alk the Citigroup common stack it hetd (approximately $137.2 million) to the Company at its falr value.
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Third-party investment managers and affiliated advisors provide their
respective services 1o Citigroup’s U.S. pension plans. Assets are rebalanced as
the plan investment committee deems appropriate. Citigroup’s investment
strategy with respect to its pension assets is to maintain a globally diversified
investment portfolio across several asset classes targeting an annual rate of
return of 8% that, when combined with Citigroup's contributions to the

plans, will maintain the plans” ability to meet all required benefit
aobligations.

Citigroup’s pension and postretirement plans’ weighted average asset
allocations for the non-U.S, plans and the actual ranges at the end of 2007
and 2006, and the weighted average target allocations for 2008 by asset
category based on asset fair values are as follows:

Non-U.S. pension plans

Weighted
average Actual range  Weighted average
Target assel
allocation at December 31 at December 31
Asset Category 2008 2007 2006 2007 2006
Equity securities 536% 0.0%te751% 0.0%to796% 56.2% 57.8%
Debt securities 415 0.0 to 100 0.0ta 100 378 36.2
Real estate 0.6 0.0t0 35.9 00t 468 0.5 04
Qther investments 4.3 0.0 10 100 0.0t0 100 3.5 5.6
Total 100% 100% 100%
Non-U.S. postretirement plans
Weighted
average Actualrange  Weighted average
Target asset
allocation at December 31 at December 31
Asset Category 2008 2007 2006@ 2007 2006
Equity securities 59.0% 0.0%to58.4% 0.0% to 45.0% 57.4% 44.6%
Debt securit'es 41.0 41,610 100 0.0t0820 426 414
Real estate — — —_ — —
QOther investments — — 0.0t0 100 _ 14,0
Total 100% 100% 100%

{1) The weighted average asset allocation for 2006 i affected Dy the assets of one plan only, as the assets in the other postretirement plans ase insignificant and do not affect the weighting.

{2) Reclassified to conform to current period presentation.

Citigroup's global pension and postretirement funds’ investment
strategies are lo invest in 4 prudent manner for the exclusive purpose of
providing benefits to participants. The investment strategies are targeted to
produce a total return that, when combined with Citigroup’s contributions to
the funds, will maintain the funds’ ability to meet alk required benefit
obligations. Risk is controlled through diversification of asset types and
investments in domestic and international equities, fixed income securities
and cash. The target asset allocation in most locations outside the U.S. is to
have the majority of the assets in either equity or debt securities. These
allocations may vary by geographic region and country depending on the
nature of applicable obligations and various other regional considerations.
The wide variation in the actual range of plan asset allocations for the
funded non-U.S. plans is a result of differing local statutory requirements
and economic conditions. For example, in certain countries local law
requires that all pension plan assets must be invested in fixed income
investments, or in government funds, or in local country securities.
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Contributions

Citigroup’s pension funding policy for U.S. plans and non-U.S. plans is
generally to fund to applicable minimum funding requirements rather than
to the amounts of accumulated benefit obligations. For the U.S. plans, the
Company may increase its contributions above the minimum required
contribution under ERISA, if appropriate to its tax and cash position and the
plans’ funded position. For the U.S. pension plans, at December 31, 2007,
there were no minimum required contributions, and no discretionary or
nen-cash contributions are currently planned. For the non-11.S, pension
plans, discretionary cash contributions int 2008 are anticipated to be
approximately $154 million. In addition, the Company expects to contribute
$43 million in benefits to be directly paid by the Company for its unfunded
non-U.S. pension and post-retirement plans, For the U.5. postretirement
benefit plans, there are no expected or required contributions for 2008. For
the non-U.S. postretirement benefit plans, expected cash contributions for
2008 are $0.7 million. These estimates are subject to change, since
contribution decisions are affected by various factors, such as market




perfermance and regulatory requirernents; in addition, management has the
ability to change funding policy.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments
The Company expects to pay the following estimated benefit payments in
future years:

U.s.

plans Plans outside U.S.

Pension Pension  Postretirement

In millions of dollars benefits  benefits benefits
2008 $ 684 $ 284 $ 36
2009 695 269 38
2010 709 288 41
2011 733 308 44
2012 760 321 47
20132017 4,015 1,902 2495

Prescription Drugs

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modemization Act of 2003 (the “Act of 2003™) was enacted. The Act of 2003
established a prescription drug benefit under Medicare known s “Medicare
Part D, and a federal subsidy to sponsors of U.S. retiree health care benefit
plans that provides a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to
Medicare Part D. The benefits provided to certain participants are at least
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D and, accordingly, the Company is
entitled to a subsidy.

The expected subsidy reduced the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation (APBO) by approximately $141 million and $154 million as of
January 1, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and the 2007 and 2006
postretirement expense by approximately $18 million and $24 million,
respectively, for atl of the U.S. postretirement welfare plans for 2007 and
2006.
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The following table shows the estimated future benefit payments without
the effect of the subsidy and the amounts of the expected subsidy in future
vears.

Expected U.S.

postrefirement benefit payments

Before Medicare Medicare

in milkions of dollars Part D subsidy  Part D subsldy

2008 $108 1

2009 107 12

2010 108 13

201 107 12

2012 104 13

2013-2017 $478 $66
Citigroup 401(k)

Under the Citigroup 401(k) plan, a defined contribution plan, eligible

employees receive matching contributions of up to 3% of their

compensation, subject to an annual maximum of $1,500, invested in the

Citigroup common stock fund. Since January 1, 2007, employees are free to

transfer this matching contribution for the current and prior years to other

plan investment alternatives immediately and at any time thereafter. The

pretax expense associated with this plan amounted to approximately §81 \

milliont in 2007, $77 million in 2006, and $70 miltion in 2005. ‘
In connection with the announced changes o the 1.5, qualified pension

plan, the Corpany will increase its contributions to the Citigroup 401 (k)

plan. Beginning in 2008, eligible employees will receive a matching

contribution of up to 6% of their compensation, subject to statutory limits,

and, for employees whose total compensation is less than $100,000, 4 fixed

contribution of 2% of their total compensation,




10. RESTRUCTURING

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company completed a review of its
structural expense base in a Company-wide effort to create a more
streamlined organization, reduce expense growth and provide investment
funds for future growth initiatives.

The primary goats of the 2007 Structural Expense Review were:

Eliminate layers of management/improve workforce management;
Consolidate certain back-office, middle-office and corporate functions;
Increase the use of shared services;

Expand centralized procurement; and

Continue to rationalize operational spending on technology.

The following table details the Company’s restructuring reserves.

For the vear ended December 31, 2007, Citigroup recorded a pretax
restructuring expense of $1.528 billion, composed of a gross charge of
$1.582 billion and a credit of $54 million due to changes in estimates
attributable to lower than anticipated costs of implementing certain projects
and a reduction in the scope of certain initiatives. Buring the fourth quarter
of 2007, Citigroup recorded a pretax restructuring expense of $53 million,
composed of a gross charge of $107 million and a credit of $54 million
related to changes in estimates.

The implementation of these restructuring initiatives also caused certain
related premises and equipment assets to become redundant. The
remaining depreciable lives of these assets were shortened, and accelerated
depreciation charges began in the second quarter of 2007 in addition to
normal scheduled depreciation.

Additional charges totaling approximately $35 million pretax are
anticipated to be recorded by the end of the second quarter of 2008. Of this
charge, $15 million is atteibutable to Global Consumer, $3 million to
Global Wealth Management and $17 million to Corporate/Other.

Severance
Contract Asset Employee
termination write-  termination Total

In mittions of dollars SFAS 11210 SFAS 146 @ costs  downs & cost  Citigroup
Total Citigroup (pretax)

Originat restructuring charge, First quarter of 2007 $ 950 $11 $25 $ 352 $39 $1,377

Utitization — —_ — (268) _ {268}

Balance at March 31, 2007 $ 950 $1 $25 $ 84 $ 39 $1,109

Second quarter of 2007

Additionaf Charge $8 $12 $23 $ 19 $1 $ 63

Foreign exchange 8 —_ 1 — -_ 9

Utilization {197) (18) {12) {712) 4) (303)

Balance at June 30, 2007 $ 769 $5 $37 $ A $36 $ B78

Third quarter of 2007.

Additional Charge $ 1 $14 $— $ — $10 $ 35

Foreign exchange 8 — 1 —_ —_ g

Utilization (195) (13) (9} {10) {23) (250}

Balance at September 30, 2007 $ 503 $ 6 $29 $ $23 $ 672

Fourth quarter of 2007

Additional Charge 23 70 B 8 —_ 107

Foreign Exchange 3 — _ —_ - 3

Uilization {159) {44) M 13 (6) (225)

Changes in Estimates {39) —_ (6) {1} (8) {154)

Balance at December 31, 2007 $425 $32 $22 $ 15 $9 $ 503

{1} Accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 112, *Employer's Accounting for Post Employment Benefits™ (SFAS 112).
{@ Accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities® (SFAS 146).
@ Aocounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 144, *Accounting for the impatrment or Disposat of Long-Lived Assets™ [SFAS 144).

The severance costs noted above reflect the accrual to eliminate approximately 17,900 positions, after considering attrition and redeployment within the
Company.
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The total restructuring reserve hatance as of December 31, 2007 and the net restructuring charges fc r the three- and 12-month periods then ended are
presented below by business segment. These net charges were included in the Corporate/Other segment because this company-wide restructuring was a

corporate initiative.
Restructuring charges (%

Ending balance  Three months ended 12 months ended
In millions of doliars December 31, 2007 December 31,2007  December 31, 2007
Global Consumer $321 $28 $1,004
Markets & Banking 80 10 299
Global Wealth Management ¥ 7 96
Alternative Investments 3 — 7
Corporate/Other 62 8 122
Total Citigroup (pretax) $503 $53 $1,528

(1) Amounts shown net of $54 million related to changes in estimates, of which $41 is attributable to Global Consumer, $7 10 Markets & Bank ng, $2 to GWM and $4 to Corporate/Other.

11, INCOME TAXES

The reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the
Company’s effectivi: income tax rate applicable to income from continuing

in millions of doliars 2007 2006 2005 i . A .
operations (before ininority interest and the cumulative effect of accounting
current changes) for the yers ended December 31 was as foliows:
Federal $(2,027) $3850 § 3.908 B ¥ :
Foreign 3,961 3,963 4,507 2007 2005 2005
Sate 121 1% e Federal statutory rat: 38.0% 3I0% 3B5.0%
eral rite X ! '
Total current income taxes §2055 $8011 $ 9.259 State income taxes, n of federal benefit {26.1) 16 1.6
Deterred Foreign income tax ra e difierential (83.4) 4.2) (3.3)
Federal $(2237) $ (579 & 40 Audit settlements ¢ —_ 28 02
Foreign (1,213} 514 {104} Tax advaniaged inves ments . (39.9) {(1.8) (1.5
State {806) 155 (nn Other, net (15.0) (0.5 0.8)
Total deferred income taxes ${4,256) $ 90 § (181) Effective income ta.r rate & (129.4)% 27.3% 30.8%
I\ WQ&?“G raamwm;r%mmmma%?ﬂo:ﬁmmm 2%
Provision for income tax on continuing (2) The Company recorder| an income lax benefit for 2007. ective 12 rate (enefl) of (12¢
operations before minority interest ™ ${2,201) $8,101  $ 9,078 e ot e o L e o
Provision (benefit) for income tax on discontinued the tax benefit for not 1 roviding U.S, income taxes on the «Iuamings of certain foreign subsidiaries that
operations _ (46) 2 866 are indefinitety investa |, favorably impacted 1he Company's effective tax rate.
Provision {benefit) for income taxes on cumultative ; . o
effect of accaunting changes (109) . 1) Deferred income ta :es at December 31 related to the following:
Income tax expense {benefit) reported in In milligns of doliars 2007 2008
stockholders’ equity related to:
Foreign currency translation 565 52 119 Deferred tax assets
Securites available for sale (@9 211 (1,234  Credilossdeduclon ‘ $ 5977 § 249
Employes slock plans (410} (607) {463) Deferred c_ompensallcp and employee banefits 2,686 3,190
Restructuring and setl'ement reserves 2,388 2,410
cash flow hedges (1,705) “os 14 Unremitted foreign ea'nings 2,833 3,638
Pension liabifity adiustments 426 (1,033 69 ) gn ea' y '
yed ( ) €9 Foreign tax credit and state tax loss carryforwards 4,644 _—
Income taxes before minority interest $(4,193) $6332  $10,460 Other deferred fax assets 3,653 2,715
(1) tncludes the effect of securities transactions resuking in a provision of $409 miion in 2007, 5627 Gross deferred tax as: ets $22,181  $14,450
million in 2006 and $687 million in 2005, Valuation allowance — —
Deferved tax assets after valuation allowance $22181  §14,450
Deferred tax liabilitles
Investments $0.222 $(1,738)
Deferred policy acquis.tion costs
and value of insurance in force (761} (715)
L eases {1,865) {2,195
Fixed assets (765) {1,201}
Intangibles (2,361) {1,600
Other deferred tax liat llities {1,630) (2,314)
Gross deferred tax liat ilities $(8604) $(8,763)
Net deferred tax ass et $13,577 § 4,667
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The follewing is a roll-forward of the Company's FIN 48 unrecognized tax
benefits from January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2007,

The following are the major tax jurisdictions in which the Company and
its affiliates operate and the earliest tax year subject to examination:

in millions of dollars Jurisdiction Tax year

Total unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, 2007 $3,144 United States 2003
Net amount of increases for current year’s tax positions 1,100 Mexico 2004
Gross amount of increases for prior years' tax positions 120 New York State and City 2005
Gross amount of decreases for prior years lax positions (341) United Kingdom 1998
Amounts of decreases relating to settlements (349 Germany 2000
Reductions due to lapse of staiutes of limitation 50) Korea 2001
Foreign exchange and acquisitions 74 Japan 2006

Total unrecognized tax benefits a1 December 31, 2007 $3,658

Total amount of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2007 that, if
recognized, would affect the effective tax rate is $1.130 billion. In addition,
$799 million would dacrease goodwill if recognized in 2008. If recognized
after 2008, FAS 141R would require any such amounts to be included in the
provision for income taxes. The remainder of the uncertain tax positions
have offsetting amounts in other jurisdictions or are temporary differences.

Interest and penalties (not included in the “unrecognized tax benefits”
above) are a component of the provision for income taxes.

In milfions of doliars Pretax  Net of tax
Total interest and penalties in the

balance sheet at January 1, 2007 $532 $335
Total interest and penatties in the 2007

statement of operations $ 93 $ 58
Total interest and penalties in the

balance sheet at December 31, 2007 $618 $389

The Cornpany is currently under audit by the Internal Revenue Service
and other major taxing jurisdictions around the world. It is thus reasonably
possible that significant changes in the gross balance of unrecognized tax
benefits may occur within the next 12 months, but the Company does not
expect such audits to result in amounts that would cause a significant
change to its effective tax rate, other than the following items. The Company
is currently at IRS Appeals for the years 1999-2002. One of the issues relates
to the timing of the inclusion of interchange fees received by the Company
relating to credit card purchases by its cardholders. It is reasonably possible
that within the next 12 months the Company can either reach agreement on
this issue at Appeals or decide to litigate the issue. This issue is presently
being litigated by another company in a docketed United States Tax Court
case. The gross uncertain tax position for this item at Decernber 31, 2007 is
$554 million. Since this is a temporary difference, the only impact to the
Company's effective tax rate would be due to net interest assessments and
state tax rate differentials. If the reserve were to be released, the tax benefit
could be as much as $146 million, In addition, the Company has requested a
prefiling agreement with the IRS to resolve computational questions relating
to a distribution from an acquired foreign entity. The gross uncertain tax
position at December 31, 2007 is $235 million. Any change to this balance in
2008 would primarily decrease goodwill.
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Foreign pre-tax eamings were approximately $9.1 billion in 2007, $13.6
bitlion in 2006, and $10.8 billion in 2005. As a U.S. corporation, Citigroup
and its U.S. subsidiaries are subject to U.S. taxation currently on all foreign
pre-Lax earnings earned by a foreign branch. Pre-tax eamings of a foreign
subsidiary or affiliate are subject to U.S. taxation when effectively repatriated.
The Company provides income taxes on the undistributed earnings of
non-U.S. subsidiaries except to the extent that such eamings are indefinitely
invested outside the United States. At December 31, 2007, $21.1 billion of
accunutated undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries were
indefinitely invested. At the existing U.S. federal income tax rate, additional
taxes (net of U.S. foreign tax credits) of $6.2 billion would have to be
provided if stuch earnings were remitted currently. The current year's effect
on the income tax expense from continuing operations is included in the
“Foreign income tax rate differential” line in the reconciliation of the federal
statutory rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate on the previous
page.

The Homeland Investment Act provision of the American Jobs Creation Act
of 2004 (2004 Tax Act”) provided companies with a one time 85%
reduction in the U.S. net tax liability on cash dividends paid by foreign
subsidiaries in 2005, to the extent that they exceeded a baseline level of
dividends paid in prior years. In 2005, the Company recognized a tax benefit
of $198 million in continuing operations, net of the impact of remitting
income earned in 2005 and prior years that would have been indefinitely
invested overseas.

Income taxes are not provided for on the Company's “savings bank base
year bad debt reserves” that arose before 1988 because under current U.S. tax
rules such taxes will become payable only to the extent such amounts are
distributed in excess of limits prescribed by federal law. At December 31,
2007, the amount of the base year reserves totaled approximately $358
million (subject to a tax of $125 million).

The valuation allowance is $0 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006

At December 31, 2007 the Company had a U.S. foreign tax credit
carryforward of $4.3 billion, whose expiry date is 2017. The Company has
state and local net operating loss carryforwards of $3.1 billion and $1.8
billion in New York State and New York City, respectively, whose expiry date
is 2027 and for which the Company has recorded a net deferred tax asset of
$278 million, along with less significant net operating losses in various other
states for which the Company has recorded a net deferred tax asset of $56
million and which expire between 2012 and 2027.




Management believes that the realization of the recognized net deferred has reported pre-t:x financial statement income from continuing

tax asset of $13.6 billion is more likely than not based on existing carryback operations of appiaxinately $20 billion, on average, over the last three

ability and expectations as to future taxable income in the jurisdictions in years.
which it operates. The Company, which has a history of consistent earnings,

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The foliowing is a reconciliation of the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings er share computations for the years ended December 31:

in millions, except per share amounts 2007 2006 2005
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 3617 $21,249 $19,806
Discontinued operaticns _ 289 4,832
Cumulative effect of accounting change - — (49}
Prefarred dividends (36) {64) (€8)
Income available to common stockholders for basic EPS 3,581 21,474 2451
Effect of dilutive securities —_ — —
Income available to common stockholders for diluted EPS $ 3581 $21474 §24521
Weighted average common shares outstanding applicable fo basic EPS 4,905.8 4,887.3 5,067.6
Effect of dilutive securities:
Options 182 27.2 336
Resiricted and deferred stock 713 rali 59.2
Adjusted weighted average common shares outstanding aEEllcabIe to diluted EPS 4,995.3 4.986.1 5,160.4
Basic eamnings per share
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 073 § 433 § 390
Discontinued operations — 0.06 0.95
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — 0.01)
Net income $§ 073 § 439 & 4384
Diluted eamings per share
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change $ 072 § 425 § 382
Discontinued operations —_ 0.06 0.94
Cumulative effect of accounting change —_ — 0.01)
Net income $ 072 § 431 § 475
During 2007, 2006 and 2005, weighted average options of 76.3 million, Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to
69.1 million, and 99.2 milkion shares, respectively, with weighted average repurchase, at their respective fair values, consisted of the following at
exercise prices of $50.40, $49.98, and $49.44 per share, respectively, were December 31:
exFlllded from the computation of diluted EPS_because the options’ exercise In s of dolars at year end 2007 2006
prices were greater than the average market price of the Company's Federal funds purchacad $ 6270 § 18316
common stock. Securities sold under . \greements i repurchase 230880 270542
13. FEDERAL FUNDS, SECURITIES BORROWED, DEpUSilS recelved for securities loaned 87,084 60,377
LOANED, AND SUBJECT TO REPURCHASE Total $304,243  $349,235
AGREEMENTS '

Federal funds sold and securities borrowed or purchased under agreements
to resell, at their respective fair values, consisted of the following at

The resale and r:purchase agreements represent collateralized financing
transactions used tc generate net interest income and facilitate trading
activity. These insirments are collateralized principally by government and

December 31: government agency securities and generally have terms ranging from

in millions of doflars at year end 2007 2006 overnight to up to a year.

Federal funds sold $ 1% § 33 It is the Company's policy to take possession of the underlying collateral,
Securities purchased under agreesnents t0 resel 88,258 120603 monitor its market “:alue relative to the amounts due under the agreements,
Deposits pald for securities borrovwed 175612 162,181 and, when necessar, require prompt transfer of additional collateral or
Total $274.066  $282817
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reduction in the batance in order to maintain contractual margin
protection, In the event of counterparty default, the financing agreement
provides the Company with the right to liquidate the collateral held. As
disclosed in Note 26 on page 167, effective January 1, 2007, the Company
elected fair value option accounting in accordance with SFAS 159 for the
majority of the resale and repurchase agreements. The remaining portion is
carried at the amount of cash initially advanced or received, plus accrued
interest, as specified in the respective agreements. Resale agreements and
repurchase :igreements are reported net by counterparty, when applicable,
pursuant to FIN 41, Excluding the impact of FIN 41, resale agreements
totaled §151.0 billion and $165.7 billion at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Amajority of the deposits paid for securities borrowed and deposits
received for securities loaned are recorded at the amount of cash advanced or
received and are collateralized principally by government and government
agency securities and corporate debt and equity securities. The remaining
portion is recorded at fair value as certain securities borrowed/loaned
portfolios were elected for fair value option accounting in accordance with
SFAS 159. This election was made effective in the second quarter of 2007.
Securities borrowed transactions require the Company to deposit cash with
the lender. With respect to securities loaned, the Company receives cash
collateral in an amount generally in excess of the market vatue of securilies
loaned. The Company monitors the market value of securities borrowed and
securities loaned daily, and additional collateral is obtained as necessary.
Securities borrowed and securities loaned are reported net by counterparty,
when applicable, pursuant o FIN 3.

14, BROKERAGE RECEIVABLES AND BROKERAGE
PAYABLES

The Company has receivables and payables for financial instruments
purchased from and sold to brokers and dealers and customers. The Company
is exposed to risk of loss from the inability of brokers and dealers or customers
to pay for purchases or to deliver the financial instruments sold, in which case
the Company would have to sell or purchase the financial instruments at
prevailing market prices. Credit risk is reduced to the extent that an exchange
or clearing organization acts a5 a counterparty to the transaction.

The Company seeks to protect itself from the risks associated with
customer activities by requiring customers to maintain margin colfateral in
compliance with regulatory and intemal guidelines. Margin levels are
monitored daily, and customers deposit additional collateral as required.
Where customers cannot meet collateral requirements, the Company will
liquidate sufficient underlying financial instruments 1o bring the customer
into compliance with the required margin level.

Exposure to credit risk is impacted by market volatility, which may impair

the ability of clients o satisfy their obligations to the Company. Credit limils
are established and closely monitored for customers and brokers and dealers
engaged in forwards and futures and other transactions deerned to be credit

sensitive,

Brokerage receivables and brokerage payables, which arise in the normal
course of business, consisted of the following at December 31:

In millions of dollars 2007 20086
Receivables from customers $30,137  $27.408
Receivables from brokers, dealers, and clearing organizations 18,222 17,037
Total brokerage receivables $57,359  $44.445
Payables o customers $54,038 346,185
Payabtes to brokers, dealers, and tlearing arganizations 30,913 36,934
Total brokerage payables $84,951  $85.119

15. TRADING ACCOUNT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Trading account assets and Liabilities, a1 fair value, consisted of the following
at December 31:

i milfions of daitars 2007 2006
Trading account assets

U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities $ 32,180 § 44,661
State and municipal securities 18,574 17,358
Foreign government securities 52,332 33.067
Corporate and other debt securities 181,333 93,89
Derivatives 1 76,881 49,541
Equity securities 106,868 92,518
Mortgage loans and collateralized morigage securities 56,740 37,104
(hher 14,076 25,795
Total trading account assets $538,884  $393.925
Trading account liabilities

Securities sold, aot yet purchased $ 78541 § 71,083
Derivatives 0 103,541 74,804
Total trading account liabilities $182,082  $145,887

(1} Pursuant fo master netting agreements.




16. INVESTMENTS

In milions of doltars 2007 2006
Securities available-for-sale $193,113  $258,124
Non-marketable equity securities carried at fair value @ 13,603 10,662
Non-marketable equity securities carried at cost @ 8,291 4,804
Debt securities hald-to-maturity ¢ 1 1
Total $215,008  $273.591
{1) Reclassified to conform to the current period's presentation.
{2) Unrealized gains and losses for non-marketabla equity securities caried at fair value are recognized in eamings.
(3 Non-marketable equity securities carried at cost are pericdically evaluated for other-than-temporary impairment,
{4) Recorded at amortized cost.
The amortized cost and fair value of securities available-for-sale at Decemnber 31, 2007 and December * 1, 2006 were as follows:
200! 2006 m
Gross Gross Gross Gioss
Amortized  unrealized  unrealized Amortized  unrealized unrealized
in miflions of doflars cast gains losses  Fairvalu: cost gains losses Fair value
Securities available-for-sate
Mortgage-backed securities $ 63,888 $ 158 $ N $ 63,07 $100.264 § 262 $ 292 $100,234
U.S. Treasury and federal agencies 19,428 66 70 19,42} 24,872 12 353 24,531
Siate and municipal 13,342 120 256 13,200 15,152 512 10 15,654
Foreign government 72,339 396 660 72,074 73,943 567 727 73,783
U.S. comporate 13,250 70 470 12,85 14,490 3 237 14,634
Other debt securities 8,734 a7 114 8,71 25,108 262 63 25,307
Total debt securities available-for-sale $180,981 $ 907 $2,501 $189,34  $253829  $1,996 $1,682 $254,143
Marketable equity securities available-for-sale $ 1404 $2,420 $ 58 $ 376§ 3.0m $1.229 $ 259 $ 3941
Total securities available-for-sale $192,385 $3,327 $2,599 $193,11: $256,840 $3,225 $1,941 $258,124

{1) Reclassified to conform to the current peried's presentation,

Citigroup invests in certain complex investment company siructures known as Master-Feeder funds Ty making direct investments in the Feeder funds. Each
Feeder fund records its net investiment in the Master fund, which is the sofe or principal investiment of tf e Feeder fund, and does not consolidate the Master
Fund. Citigroup consolidates Feeder funds where it has a controlling interest. At December 31, 2007, the total assets of Citigroup's consolidated Feeder funds
amounted to approximately $0.5 billion. Citigroup has not consolidated appoximaely $4.3 billion of aiditional assets and liabilities recorded in the related

Master Funds’ financial statements.

At December 31, 2007, the cost of approximately 5,000 investments in
equity and fixed income securities exceeded their fair value by $2.599
biltion. Of the $2.599 bilkion, the gross unrealized loss on equity securities
was $58 million. Of the remainder, $689 million represents fixed incorne
investments that have been in a gross unrealized loss position for less than a
vear, and of these 86% are rated investment grade; $1.852 billion represents
fixed income investments that have been in 2 gross unrealized loss position
for a year or more, and of these 95% are rated investment grade.

Management has determined that the vnrealized losses on the
Company’s investments in equity and fixed income securities at
December 31, 2007 are temporary in nature. The Company conducts
periodic reviews to identify and evaluate investments that have indications
of possible impairment, An investment in a debt or equity security is
impaired if its fair value falls below its cost and the decline is considered
other than temporary. The Company conducts and documents periodic
reviews of all securities with unrealized losses to evaluate whether the
impairment is other than temporary, in line with FASB Staff Position FAS
No. 115-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and lis
Application to Certain [nvestments™ (FSP FAS115-1). Any unrealized loss
identified as such would be recorded directly in the Consolidated Staternent
of Income. Factors considered in determining whether a loss is temporary
include:
¢ The length of time and the extent to which fir value has been below cost;
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‘The severity of t e impairment;

The cause of the impairment and the financial condition and near-term
prospects of the issuer;

Activity in the meirket of the issuer which may indicate adverse credit
conditions; and

The Company's :tbility and intent to hold the investment for a period of
time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery

The Company's 1eview for impairment generally entails:

Identification an1 evaluation of investments that have indications of
possible impainy ent;

Analysis of individual investments that have fair values less than
amortized cost, including consideration of the length of time the
investment has ben in an unrealized loss position and the expected
recovery period;

Discussion of evidential matter, including an evatuation of factors or
lriggers that could cause individual investments to qualify as having
other-than-temparary impairment and those that would not support
other-than-temporary impainment; and

Documentation ¢f the results of these analyses, as required under
husiness policies.




The table below shows the fair value of investments in available-for-sale securities that have been in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 menths or for

12 months or longer as of December 31, 2007 and 2006:

Less than 12 manths 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair  unrealized Fair  unrealized Fair unrealized
In mitlions of ciollars at year end vatue losses valug losses value losses
2007
Securities available-for-sale
Mortpage-backed securities $ 4,432 $65 $27.221 $ 906 $ 31,653 $ M
U.S. Treasury and federal agencies 7,369 28 4,40 42 11,800 70
State and municipal 7,944 190 1,079 66 9,023 256
Foreign government 34,929 305 9,593 355 44,527 660
U.S. corporate 1,489 52 1,789 418 3,278 470
Other debt securities 3,214 49 879 65 4,093 114
Marketable equity securities available-for-sale 60 12 39 46 9 58
Total securities available-for-sale $59,437 $701  $45,036 $1,898 $104,473 $2,599
2006:
Securities available-for-sale
Mortgage-backed securities $26,817 $53 §4172 $ 239 $3098 $ 202
U.S. Treasury and fegderal agencies 14,755 42 4,562 an 19,317 353
State and municipal 1,500 10 42 — 1,542 10
Foreign governmem 29,385 258 6,888 439 36,273 727
LS. corporate 1,208 g 1,946 228 3154 237
(ther debt sacurities 4,389 3z 1,024 K1l 5,413 63
Marketable equity securities available-for-sale 830 257 27 2 857 259
Total securities available-for-sale $78.804 3691 $18,661 $1,250  $ 97,545 $1,941

{1) Reclassified %o conform to curent period's presentation.
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The following table presents the amortized cost, fair value, and average
vield on amortized cost of debt securities available-for-sale by contractual

maturity dates as of December 31, 2007;

Amortized
In millions of doliars cost Fair valus Yield
U.S. Treasury and federal agencies ()
Due within 1 year $ 7792 § 7778 384%
After 1 but within 5 years 8,518 8564 372
After 5 but within 10 years 2,423 2398 697
After 10 years @ 23,579 22880 531
Total § 42312 $ 41620 4.81%
State and municipal
Due within 1 year $ 24 & 24 600%
After 1 but within 5 years 68 69 588
After 5 but within 10 years 316 325 538
After 10 years @ 12,934 12,788 4.96
Total $ 13342 $ 13206 497%
All other &
Due within 1 year $28917 328835 481%
After 1 but within 5 years 45,872 45,560 5,95
After 5 but within 10 years 12,017 11,614 8.57
After 10 years @ 48,527 48512 529
Total $135,327  $134521  5.43%
Total debt securities available-for-sale $190,981  $189,347  5.26%

(1} Includes mortgage-backed securities of U.5. federal agencies.

(2} Investments with no stated maturities are included as contractual maturites of greater than 10 years.
Actual maturities may differ due to ¢all or prepayment rights.

(3} includes foreign government, U.S. corporate, asset-backed secunties issued by U.S. cororations, and
aﬂéer debt securities. Yietds reflect the impact of local interest rates prevailing in countries outside the
LS.

The following table presents interest and dividends on investments:

17. LOANS
In mitions of doliars at year end 2007 2006 @
Consumer
In .S, offices
Mortgage and rea estate $251,927  $225,900
Instaliment, revolving credit and other 140,797 131,008
Lease financing 3,151 4,743
$395,875  $361,651
In offices outside the U.S.
Morigage and rea estate $ 55,152  § 44,457
Installment, revohing credit and other 139,369 105,393
Lease financing 1,124 960
$195645  3$150,810
$591,520  $512.461
Net unearned incomiy 787 460
Consumer loans, net of uneamed incoma $592307  $512.921
Corporate
In U.S. offices
Commercial and iidustrial @ $ 38870 3 27437
Lease financing 1,630 2,10
Mortgage and rea estate 0 2,220 168
$ 42720 3 29,706
In offices outside the LJ.S.
Commercial and industrial $116145  $105,872
Mortgage and rea estate ™ 4,156 5,334
Loans 1o financial institutions 20,467 21,827
Lease financing 2,292 2,024
Governments and official institutions 442 1,857
$143,502 $136,914
$186222  $166,620
Net uneamed incomi: (536} (349)
Corporate loans, n it of uneamed income $185686  $166,271

{1) Loans secured prima ily by real estate.
{2) Reclassified to confoi 7 to current year's presentation.
(3) Includes loans not ofl erwise separately categorized.

in millions of dokars 2007 2006 2005
Taxable interest $12233 $ 9155  $6,546
Interest exempt from U.S. federal income tax 897 660 500
Dividends 357 584 292
Total interest and dividends $13,487  $10399 $7,338
The following table represents realized gains and losses from sales of
investments:

in millions of doliars 2007 2006 2005
Gross realized investrent gaing $1,435  $2119 32275
Gross realized investment losses (267) (328) {313}
Net realized gains $1,168 31,791 $1,962

Included in the previous loan table are lending products whose terms
may give rise to additional credit issues. Credit cards with below-market
introductory interest rates, multiple loans supperted by the same collateral
(e.g., home equity loans), or interest-only loans are exaraples of such
products. However these products are not material to Citigroup’s financial
position and are closely managed via credit controls that mitigate their
additional inherent risk.

Impaired loans are those on which Citigroup believes it is probable that it
will not collect all amounts due according to the contractuzat terms of the
loan. This exclude; smaller-balance homogeneous loans that are evaluated
collectively for impairment, and are carried on a cash basis. Valuation
allowances for the-e loans are estimated considering all available evidence
including, as appr.priate, the present value of the expected future cash flows
discounted at the 1>an’s contractual effective rate, the secondary market
value of the loan and the fair value of collateral less disposal costs.



The following table presents information about impaired loans:

In millions of dovars at year end 2007 2006 2005
Impaired corperate loans $1,735 $458 § 925
Qther impaired lpans 21 360 327
Total impaired loans @ $1,976 $8i18  $1,252
Impaired loans with valuation aflowances $1,724  $439 § 919
Total valuation aflowances & 388 122 238
During the year

Average balance of impaired loans $1,050 $767  $i,432
Interest income recognized on impaired loans $ 101 $63 §$ 99

(1) Prienasily commercial market loans managed by the Consumer business.
@ Excludes loans purchased for investment purposes.
(3 included in th Allowance for koan losses.

In addition, included in the loan table are purchased distressed loans,
which are loans that have evidenced significant credit detericration
subsequent to origination but prior to acquisition by Citigroup. [n
conforming to the requirements of Statement of Position No. 03-3,

“Accounting for Certain Loans or Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer”
(SOP 03-3), which became effective in 2005, these purchased loans were
reclassified from Other assets to Loans.

In accordance with SOP 03-3, the difference between the total expected
cash flows for these loans and the initial recorded investments musi be
recognized in income over the life of the loans using a level yield.
Accordingly, these loans have been excluded from the impaired loan
information presented above. In addition, per the SOP 03-3, subsequent
decreases to the expected cash flows for a purchased distressed loan require
a build of an allowance so the loan retains its level vield. However, increases
in the expected cash flows are first recognized as a reduction of any
previously established allowance and then recognized as income
prospectively over the remaining life of the loan by increasing the loan’s
leve! vield. Where the expected cash flows cannot reliably be estimated, the
purchased distressed 1oan is accounted for under the cost recovery method.

The carrving amount of the purchased distressed loan portfolio at
Decernber 31, 2007 was $2,399 million gross of an allowance of
$76 million.

The changes in the accretable yield, related allowance and carrying amount net of accretable yield for 2007 are as follows:

Carrying

Accretable amount of loan
In millions of dollars yield recetvable Allowance
Beginning balance $ N $ 949 $59
Purchases (! 325 2,468 —_
Disposals/payments received ] {1,206) -
Accretion (157) 157 _—
Builds {reductions) to the allowance (39) 22 17
Increase io expected cash flows 26 9 —
Balance, December 31, 2007 @ $219 $23%9 $76

(1) The balance reported in the column *Carrying amount of loan receivable” consists of $2,097 millien of p